Université de Mons Faculté de Psychologie et Sciences de l'Education

UMONS

Speech sound processing by children with cochlear implants: what impact on linguistic development? Analysis of acoustic production profiles and their relation to phonological and morphosyntactic components.

Sophie Fagniart

Thèse défendue le 25 octobre 2024 pour l'obtention du diplôme de docteur en Sciences Psychologiques et de l'Éducation

Jury

Prof. Crouzet Olivier, Université de Nantes Prof. Huet Kathy (Directrice), UMONS Prof. Grandon Bénédicte, Université de Nantes Prof. Lahaye Willy, UMONS Prof. Leybaert Jacqueline, Université Libre de Bruxelles Prof. Piccaluga Myriam (Co-directrice), UMONS Prof. Rinaldi Romina, UMONS

Remerciements

Beaucoup de personnes ont contribué à ce que cette thèse voie le jour et à qui je souhaiterais adresser des remerciements.

Avant tout chose, je remercie les Professeurs Olivier Crouzet, Bénédicte Grandon, Willy Lahaye, Jacqueline Leybaert et Romina Rinaldi d'avoir accepté de faire partie du jury de cette thèse. Leur regard critique et leurs remarques seront, sans aucun doute, une source d'enrichissement.

Je remercie mes directrices de thèse, Kathy et Myriam, pour leur encadrement de qualité, leurs précieux conseils tout au long des étapes de ce travail, leurs minutieuses relectures et leur soutien indéfectible. Un énorme merci également à Véronique d'avoir suivi de très près ce travail tout du long, avec toujours d'excellents conseils mais aussi les bons mots réconfortants pendant les moments de doute – et évidemment l'expertise nasalité !

Bernard, c'est avec vous que tout a commencé, aussi bien les débuts à l'UMONS que du projet de thèse. Merci d'avoir cru en moi et de m'avoir donné l'opportunité de travailler sur ce sujet passionnant, merci également pour nos longues discussions qui auront fait naître le projet.

Brigitte, ce projet n'aurait pas vu le jour sans vos questionnements partagés avec notre laboratoire et les premières études réalisées en commun : je vous remercie de m'avoir fait confiance et de m'avoir ouvert les portes du Centre Comprendre et Parler, ainsi que pour vos précieux conseils tout au long du projet. J'en profite pour également chaleureusement remercier toute l'équipe de logopèdes du Centre Comprendre et Parler pour leur collaboration dans le recrutement et la réalisation des testings, plus particulièrement Magali, Françoise, Bénédicte, Dominique et Virginie. Je remercie également Catherine Hage, Chantal Ligny, Cathy Vanvlierberghe et Laurence Matagne pour leurs conseils dans la constitution du matériel. Et bien sûr un merci tout spécial à Anne pour sa grande implication dans le recrutement, les mises en contact avec les parents et équipes de logopèdes et son précieux regard clinique sur les questionnements et résultats. Je souhaite également témoigner ma profonde reconnaissance à tous les enfants ayant participé aux études menées dans le cadre de ce travail, ainsi que leurs parents. Tout ce projet n'aurait pas pu voir le jour sans vous, merci de m'avoir offert un peu de votre temps et de votre enthousiasme !

Durant mon parcours, j'ai eu l'occasion de recevoir un suivi de qualité par les différents membres de mon comité d'accompagnement : je remercie Brigitte, Patricia, Mandy, Bernard, Kathy, Myriam et Véronique pour leurs conseils avisés et les riches échanges dans le cadre de nos réunions.

Ma gratitude s'adresse également à tous les anciens étudiants ayant contribué aux recrutements, à la réalisation des testings ou au traitement des données : Isabelle Watterman, Chloé Doutriaux, Louise Demoulin, Cloé Basso, Manon Duquaine, Martin Nopère, Clotilde Mottart, Louise Maréchal, Marie Vandermiers et Marie Fripiat.

Pendant toutes ces années, j'ai eu l'occasion de travailler avec des collègues formidables qui ont été d'un soutien sans faille et qui m'ont épaulée quand j'en avais besoin. Je remercie très sincèrement Virginie et Lola avec qui j'ai partagé de belles années en tant qu'assistantes : les fous-rire, les moments de (décom)pression et les rushs en tout genre ! Merci à Martin qui nous a rejoint dans cette folle expérience. Pauline et Eva, merci pour votre bonne humeur contagieuse ! Merci également à Sara, Mélissa, Marina pour toutes les marques de soutien. Mes tout grands remerciements également à Alain, dit « le magicien », pour m'avoir concocté de superbes illustrations pour mes tâches expérimentales et pour toute l'aide technique – mais surtout ta bonne humeur durant toutes ces années. Quelle super équipe, je n'y serai pas arrivée sans votre aide, vos encouragements constants et votre appui inconditionnel ! Un merci aussi à tous les anciens collègues avec qui j'ai partagé de très bons moments, Sophie (la grande) pour avoir vécu de belles premières années ensemble, et aussi à Luc, Marie, Yizhi, Manon, Mélanie et Laure.

Durant toutes ces années j'ai eu également l'occasion de partager d'excellents moments avec de nombreuses personnes de la Faculté, et tout particulièrement avec les « copains de la cuisine ». Dimitri, Mélanie, Karim, merci pour ces huit années de pauses midi à parler de tout et de rien, à blaguer (avec un humour parfois, voire souvent, douteux), à ragoter et surtout à décompresser. De nombreux nouveaux collègues ont agrandi la bande, notamment Léa, Lisa, Justine, Audrey, Sabrin, Clémence, Sarah, Alice et tous les habitués qui se reconnaîtront. Merci à tous pour ces beaux moments de détente passés ensemble, surtout les vendredis, où tout est permis...

Je remercie également tous mes amis pour leurs marques de soutien et encouragements pendant le temps qu'ont duré les travaux de thèse, mais aussi pour les moments de détente qui ont apporté de la légèreté quand il le fallait. Petit remerciement spécial à Jeffrey, qui m'a fait mon premier script Python et qui m'a initiée au code : ça m'aura fait gagner un temps précieux (et j'y ai pris goût !).

Maman, je te remercie pour ton aide, ton soutien et tes encouragements pendant toutes ces années. Merci aussi de m'avoir donné l'opportunité de réaliser les études qui me plaisaient (finalement, pas si courtes que ça...). Caro, un grand merci pour tes encouragements et ton soutien dans les moments de doute, les appels en panique mais aussi pour les moments de relâchement plus que bienvenus.

Charles, tu es évidemment la personne qui m'aura le plus soutenue tout au long de ces années, et plus particulièrement ces derniers mois : merci d'avoir assuré pour deux. Merci pour ta patience, tes encouragements, ton écoute et ton calme olympien pendant mes (nombreux ?) moments de stress. A charge de revanche, c'est ton tour très bientôt ! Et enfin, je termine en remerciant ma petite Lucie, ma Luciole, qui est arrivée à mi-parcours de ce projet. Merci pour ta légèreté, ta joie de vivre et ta gaieté qui auront donné du sens à tout ce travail et m'auront permis de garder les pieds sur terre dans les moments plus difficiles (mais aussi un peu de piquant avec les nuits très courtes...). Être ta maman est ma plus grande fierté.

Abstract

The doctoral thesis investigates the phonetic and linguistic skills of groups of children with cochlear implants (CIs) and children with typical hearing to explore the links between the perceptual limitations of CIs and language skills. At the phonetic level, various phonetic segments are compared, whose acoustic correlates reflect contrasting difficulties related to sound coding by CIs: nasal and oral vowels (related to low-frequency information), fricative consonants (related to high-frequency information), and voiced and voiceless stop consonants (where the distinction relies on temporal cues that are expected to be better coded by CIs). The results highlight a specific impact of the perceptual limitations of CIs on the productive skills involving vocalic nasality and fricatives, as well as specificities in the phonetic implementation of the voiced/voiceless stop consonant distinction. However, compensation strategies are observed among groups of children who are exposed early and intensively to Cued Speech, demonstrating the value of multimodal speech activation in their management. Positive effects of early implantation are also found. The study of lexical and grammatical skills shows specific difficulties in processing grammatical and lexical morphemes whose morphophonological alternations are carried by nasal and oral vowels, as well as narrative production skills characterized by lower Mean Length of Utterances and fewer occurrences of function words and complex verbal forms. Lexical diversity is also lower in the CI group. A specific link between phonological and grammatical skills is observed in the CI group, revealing a strong interdependence that is discussed in connection with phonological theories of morphosyntactic difficulties. Finally, phonological, lexical, and grammatical skills are linked to acoustic production profiles through factor analyses and hierarchical ascending analyses, which identify different profiles among the children: some with very low performances and others with performances approaching those of their peers with typical hearing of the same auditory age. A one-year follow-up conducted on a subgroup of children, however, reveals a stagnation in performance among the majority of retested children, suggesting slower developmental profiles probably due to the limitations related to perceptual processing.

Table of contents

Chapter 1	General introduction	1
1.	Theoretical background	3
1.1.	Deafness: Definition, Etiology, and Diagnosis	3
1.2.	Conventional hearing aids	7
1.3.	Cochlear Implant	8
2.	Language and communication development in deaf children	. 11
2.1.	Communication Modes	. 11
2.2.	Language development in deaf children with cochlear implants	. 16
3.	The present work	. 19
3.1.	Aims	. 19
3.2.	Method	. 20
3.3.	Structure of the thesis	. 23
Chapter 2	Perception of the vowel nasality feature	. 25
1.	Introduction	
1.1.	Limitations of sound transmission through the implant	
1.2.	Spectral resolution and speech sound processing in cochlear	
implant	recipients	
1.3.	Impact on speech processing	
1.4.	Nasal vowels : phonology and phonetics	. 29
1.5.	Cochlear implant and nasality perception	. 32
1.6.	Inter-subject influencing factors in sound processing	. 33
1.7.	Aims of the study	. 33
2.	Method	. 35
2.1.	Participants	. 35
2.2.	Stimuli	. 37
2.3.	Experimental tasks	. 42
2.4.	Procedure	. 43
2.5.	Data analyses	. 44
3.	Results	. 45
3.1.	Identification	. 46
3.2.	Discrimination	. 50
3.3.	Performance in relation to the acoustical properties of the stimuli.	. 52
4.	Discussion	. 53
5.	Conclusion	. 61

Abstract. 1. Introduction 1. 1.1. French nasal vowels: acoustic features and metrics 1. 1.2. Perception of the vowel nasality feature in French-speaking CI recipients. 1.3. Nasalization in the speech productions of CI recipients 1.4. Aims of the study 7 2. Method 7 2.1. Participants 7 2.2. Data collection 7 2.3. Analysis of the speech productions 7 2.4. Statistical analyses 7	 63 63 65 68 69 70 72 72 74 75
 Introduction French nasal vowels: acoustic features and metrics Perception of the vowel nasality feature in French-speaking CI recipients Nasalization in the speech productions of CI recipients Nasalization in the study Method Method Participants Data collection Analysis of the speech productions 	 63 65 68 69 70 72 72 74 75
 1.1. French nasal vowels: acoustic features and metrics	 65 68 69 70 72 72 74 75
 Perception of the vowel nasality feature in French-speaking CI recipients. Nasalization in the speech productions of CI recipients. Aims of the study	68 69 70 72 72 74
recipients 1.3. Nasalization in the speech productions of CI recipients 1.4. Aims of the study 2. Method 2.1. Participants 2.2. Data collection 2.3. Analysis of the speech productions 2.4. Statistical analyses	68 69 70 72 72 74
 Nasalization in the speech productions of CI recipients	69 70 72 72 74
1.4.Aims of the study2.Method2.1.Participants2.2.Data collection2.3.Analysis of the speech productions2.4.Statistical analyses	70 72 72 74
 2. Method	72 72 74
 2.1. Participants	72 74
 2.2. Data collection	74
2.3. Analysis of the speech productions	7-
2.4. Statistical analyses	15
	78
3. Results	79
3.1. Perceptual judgements on speech productions	81
3.2. Forced-choice identification scores	82
3.3. Acoustic measurements on speech productions	84
4. Discussion	90
4.1. Perceptual judgments of productions	91
4.2. Acoustic analyses of productions	92
4.3. Link between perceptual judgments and acoustic analyses	96
4.4. Contributions and limitations of the study	96
5. Conclusion	97
Chapter 4 Production of fricative consonants	98
1. Introduction	99
1.1. Speech sound production and cochlear implants	99
1.2. Acoustic of fricative consonants	00
1.3. Aims of the study	01
2. Method 10	01
2.1. Participants	01
2.2. Task	02
2.3. Data processing and statistical analysis	02
3. Results	03
3.1. Phonological analysis10	03
3.2. Acoustical analysis	04
3.3. Correlation between phonological and acoustical data10	07
4. Discussion	08
5. Conclusion	10
Chapter 5 Consonant and vowel production an integrative study 1	11
1 Introduction 1	12
	17

2.1	Participants	117
2.2	Data collection and treatment	119
2.3	Statistical analysis	124
3.	Results	125
3.1	Naming task performance	125
3.2	Phonological analysis	126
3.3	Acoustic analysis	127
3.3.2	Fricative consonants	132
3.3.3	Stop consonants	135
3.3.4	Multiple factor analysis of acoustic measures	137
3.4	Link between phonological performance and acoustic dimension	s.141
4.	Discussion	141
4.1	Phonological form retrieval of the target words	142
4.2	Nasal-oral vowels distinction	143
4.3	Fricatives production	144
4.4	Voiced/voiceless stops production	146
4.5	Acoustic profiles	146
5	Conclusion	148
Chapter 6	Lexical, morphological and morphosyntactic skills	149
Abstract.	~ 1 1	149
1.	Introduction	150
1.1.	Grammatical skills in children with CI(s)	151
1.2.	Relationship between processing limitations and grammatical	1.50
develop	oment	153
1.3.	Speech sound processing: focus on nasality feature in French	156
1.4.	The present study	157
2.	Method	159
2.1.	Participants	159
2.2.	l asks	161
2.3.	Procedure	162
2.4.	Measures	163
2.5.	Statistical analysis	165
3.	Results	166
3.1.	Phonological accuracy	166
3.2.	Sentence/word-picture marching task	167
3.3.	Results of narrative productions	. 168
3.4.	Links Between Receptive and Productive Tasks and Phonologic	al
Scores.	D' '	175
4.		179
A 1		
4.1.	Grammatical and lexical morphemes processing	179

4.3.	Is there a link between lexical, phonological and grammatical	
abilities	?	183
4.4.	Individual and environmental factors	185
4.5.	Limitations	188
5.	Conclusions	189
Chapter 7	Phonetic, phonological, morphologic, lexical and	
morphosynt	actic skills: an integrative study	190
l.	Introduction	190
1.2.	Aims of the study	192
2.	Method	194
2.1.	Participants	194
2.2.	Tasks	196
2.3.	Procedures	198
2.4.	Measures	198
2.5.	Statistical analysis	201
3.	Results	204
3.1.	Results at T1	204
3.2.	Results at 12	212
4.	Discussion	217
5.	Conclusion	226
Chapter 8	General discussion	227
Chapter 8 1.1.	General discussion . A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys	227 tem227
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2.	General discussion. A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception	227 tem227 230
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2.	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development	 227 tem227 230 232
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1.	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax	227 tem227 230 232 232
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2.	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface	227 tem227 230 232 232 235
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3.	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive peri	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive periodenet?	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4.	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive perior ment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5.	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive perior ment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238 241
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive peri ment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications Limitations and future research directions	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238 241 243
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7.	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive perior ment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications Limitations and future research directions Conclusion	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238 241 243 244
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7. Appendix	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive peri oment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications Limitations and future research directions Conclusion	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 235 238 241 243 244 244 291
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7. Appendix Appendix	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive perioment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications Limitations and future research directions Conclusion	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238 241 243 244 244 291 295
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7. Appendix Appendix Appendix	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive perior ment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications Limitations and future research directions Conclusion 1	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238 241 243 244 244 291 295 298
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7. Appendix Appendix Appendix	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive perioment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications Limitations and future research directions Conclusion	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238 241 243 243 244 291 295 298 300
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7. Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive perior ment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications Limitations and future research directions Conclusion 1	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238 241 243 244 291 295 298 300 303 205
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7. Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix	General discussion	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 ods 235 238 241 243 243 244 291 295 298 300 303 305
Chapter 8 1.1. 1.2. 2. 2.1. 2.2. 3. of develop 4. 5. 6. 7. Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix	General discussion A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual sys Multimodality of speech perception Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax Acoustic-linguistic interface Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive perior ment? Sources of variations: a synthesis model Clinical implications Limitations and future research directions Conclusion 3	227 tem227 230 232 232 235 ods 235 238 241 243 244 241 243 244 291 295 298 300 305 307 200

List of figures

Figure 1.1: Anatomy of the peripheral auditory system. From (Kelly, s. d.), Figure 1.2: Illustration of the cochlear tonotopy. From Kelly (s. d.), figure Figure 1.4: Representation of an electrode carrier inserted into the cochlea. Figure 1.5: Representation of the keys and hand positions used to code consonants and vowels in Cued Speech for French. Adapted from Kiersch (2024) Figure 2.1: Correct identification ratio (mean and 95% CI) for each target phoneme, for the CI/CS- subgroup (dot), CI/CS+ subgroup (triangle) and TH group (square). Significant differences between groups are indicated with * Figure 2.2: d' scores distribution (mean and 95% CL) for both groups (CI and TH) and pair type (phonological vs phonetic)......52 Figure 3.1: Spectra of an oral vowel /a/ (left) and a nasal vowel (right) and illustration of the methods for calculating the A1-P0, A1-P1, and A3-P0 cues. Figure 3.2: Density plot of the nasality judgement scores distribution among the CI/CS- (red and solid line), CI/CS+ (green and dashed line) and TH (blue and Figure 3.3: Mean and standard deviation (error bars) of duration values (ms) among the CI and TH group for the oral and nasal target vowels. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the difference is significant Figure 3.4: Mean and standard deviation (error bars) of F1, F2 and F3 frequency values converted in z-scores among the CI and TH groups for the oral and nasal target vowels. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the difference is significant at .05 (*), .001 (**) or <.001 (***).....86 Figure 3.5: Boxplots of NAF values among the CI and TH group for the target vowels. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the Figure 3.6: Boxplots of delta durations, F1/F2/F3 Euclidean distances and delta NAF values among the CI and TH groups for the nasal-oral pairings. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the difference

Figure 4.1: Mean and confidence interval of the spectral peak (top graphs), levelD (middle) and AmpDiff (down) values for the TH (blue) and CI (red) groups for the 6 target fricatives at three segmental temporal points (b= beginning ; m = middle; e = end of the fricative)......105

Figure 5.2: Means and 95% confidence intervals of the spectral peak, ampDiff and levelD values of the different fricative segments of the CI and TH groups.133

Figure 6.6: Pearson coefficients and associated significance levels between sentence/word-picture matching task scores and MLUm values. Solid arrows refer

Figure 7.1: Correlation circle of the initial variables for dimensions 1 and 2 (left) and 2 and 3 (right), according to their degree of contribution to the construction of the axes (indicated by the length of the arrows)......204

Figure 7.4: Dendrogram of the hierarchical ascending classification (left) and graph showing the distribution of inertia related to the cut-off heights (top right).

Eigure 7.5. Distribution of the 4 slusters along DCA dimensions 1 and 2 (left)

Figure 7.8: Individual plot of children at T1 and T2 on dimensions 1 and 2 (left) and dimensions 2 and 3 (right). The arrows connect the coordinates between the two assessments.

List of tables

Table 1.1: Summary of the data collections, participants, administered tasks,
associated studies, and their objectives
Table 2.1: Characteristics of the CI children
Table 2.2: Age characteristics of main groups (CI and TH) and subgroups
based on chronological or auditory age
Table 2.3: Nasal targets and their corresponding oral phonological and
phonetic counterparts
Table 2.4: Acoustic characteristics of target vowels in both syllable positions
(medial and final). Last line indicates the level of significance of a Mann-Whitney
test conducted between nasal and oral vowels
Table 2.5: Distances between the various acoustic indices among the
members of different pairs in the discrimination task. Last line indicates the level
of significance of a Mann-Whitney test conducted between phonological and
nhonetic pairs
Table 2 6: Pairs of stimuli in the discrimination task 43
Table 2.7: Correct identification scores (marginal means and standard
deviations calculated with the EMMEANS package) (in $\frac{1}{2}$) for TH and CI groups
and the different inter, and intro subject variables, with associated significance
levels
Table 2.8. CL group correct identification scores (marginal many and
standard deviations) (in %) for the inter subject variables "Implementation" and
(In 76) for the inter-subject variables « Implantation » and
Table 2.0. Configure motivity for each target phonome, for TU and CL groups
1 able 2.9: Confusion matrix for each target phoneme, for TH and CI groups.
Table 2.10: Number of substitutions (and % of total number of responses) for
each substitution type in TH and CI groups, with associated statistical test,
Table 2.11: Pairwise d' scores for each group (marginal mean and standard
deviation), for the different inter- and intra-subject variables, with significance
level of statistical tests 50
Table 2 12: CI group d' score marginal means (and standard deviations) for
the inter-subject variables « Implantation » and « Cued Speech exposure » with
associated significance level 51
Table 3.1: Characteristics of the CL group (N/A) indicates that the
information is not available 73
Table 3.2: Nasal targets and their phonological and phonetic counterparts 74
Table 3.3. Mean values of the different dependent variables (percentual
iudgements and acoustic measures) by yowel and yowel types among the different
groups. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the
groups. Significance revers for partwise comparison tests are shown when the

presented for mean values but pairwise tests were realized on the z-score values. Table 3.4: Identification matrix of the judge's identification percentages among the CS/CS-, CI/CS+ and TH groups. In diagonal and bold typology are Table 3.5: Results of the multiple regression modeling across the CS-, CS+ and TH groups for nasal vowels predicting perceived nasality in perceptual judgements......90 Table 4.1: Description of participants in each group and age subgroups 102

 Table 5.1: Characteristics of the CI children.
 118

 Table 5.2: Groups and age subgroups distribution.
 119

 Table 5.3: Variables related to subject and stimulus characteristics and their Table 5.4: Percentage correct phonemes among the Cochlear Implant (CI) and Table 5.5: Acoustic analysis according to auditory status and exposure to Table 5.6: Correlations between phonology and acoustic analysis. Legend: ns, Table 6.2: Means and p-values of the test associated with MLUm values, verb/utterances ratio, and D index according to the type of narrative and group Table 6.3: Means of the percentages of occurrence of different function and content words according to the CI and TH groups, and p-values associated with Table 6.4: Means of the percentages of occurrence of different verbal forms according to the CI and TH groups, and p-values associated with the different Table 6.5: Means of the percentages of occurrence of different error types according to the CI and TH groups, and p-values associated with the different group comparisons......174

 Table 7.1: Characteristics of the CI children.
 196

 Table 7.2: Counts or means of the different clusters based on auditory status, chronological and auditory age, and SES with associated group comparison tests Table 7.3: Counts of the clusters based on CS exposure and implantation age groups among CI children with associated group comparison tests (Chi-square). Table 7.4: Chronological (CA) and auditory ages (AA), along with cluster

List of Abbreviations

AA = auditory age aD = ampDiffCA = chronological ageCI(s) = cochlear implant(s) CS = Cued SpeechE.D. = Euclidean distance F1 = first formantF2 = second formant F3 = third formantHAC = hierarchical agglomerative clustering lD = levelDMS = morphosyntax/morphosyntactic NAF = Nasalization from Acoustic Features PCA = Principal components analysis SES = socioeconomic status SWPM = sentence/word picture-matching TH = typical hearingVOT = voice onset time VP = velopharyngeal

Chapter 1 General introduction

Deafness is among the most prevalent sensory impairments in children, affecting approximately 34 million worldwide (World Health Organization, 2024). The impact of deafness on the development of oral language in cases of moderate to severe or profound deafness is significant, often leading to delayed and/or atypical development. Sign languages have been developed to establish a gestural communication mode without relying on spoken language. Conventional hearing aids, which can compensate for moderate hearing loss, are insufficient in more severe cases to achieve a level of auditory acuity that allows adequate perception of spoken language (Leybaert & Colin, 2007).

In this context, the introduction of the cochlear implant, a device that restores some of the auditory function lost due to inner ear impairment, has led to a revolution in audiology: it has become possible to provide auditory input directly within the inner ear, thus offering crucial assistance for severe to profound sensory hearing loss in both children and adults. The benefits of cochlear implantation are well established: with appropriate follow-up and care, children and adults are capable of achieving a sufficient level of perceptual ability for effective oral communication (Tamati et al., 2022).

However, the cochlear implant does not restore a typical hearing. The device is constrained by current technological limitations and can only transmit partial acoustic information, as will be further described in Chapter 2. Therefore, it is essential to question the precision with which children can acquire all the phonological contrasts of their native language and their associated phonetic representations, and subsequently develop various linguistic competencies such as lexical and morphosyntactic skills with similar efficiency to their typicallyhearing peers.

Investigating how children with prelingual deafness, who have had delayed and partial access to the acoustic information of their auditory environment, doctoral thesis will attempt to answer.

develop their language skills is of great interest. Indeed, most theories on language acquisition mechanisms agree on the necessity of rich, complete, varied, and, above all, early language input for harmonious linguistic development. How do these same mechanisms operate in children with cochlear implants? Can intrauterine and early postnatal auditory deprivation be compensated for after the implantation? Moreover, if the implant provides only partial access to acoustic information, what about the perception of phonological contrasts and prosodic variations which in the child's native language typically rely on this missing or degraded information? Children with cochlear implants may have difficulties perceiving and processing the speech signal as precisely as those with normal hearing. What about the acquisition of so-called *higher-level* language skills, such as lexical and morphosyntactic skills, in the context of perceptual limitations in *lower-level* aspects related to speech sound perception? Can relationships be established between initial perceptual deficits and the level of development of language skills such as morphosyntax? These are some of the questions that this

By deepening our understanding of the language development of deaf children with cochlear implants, we aim to better comprehend the general mechanisms of native language acquisition, particularly the impact of potentially degraded linguistic input on various language skills, as well as the interactions that these skills may have with each other.

In this context, the present thesis aims to study how deaf children with cochlear implants develop various components of language compared to hearing children. This investigation will take the form of experimental articles addressing specific aspects related to our research questions. This introductory chapter will briefly present the central theoretical concepts related to deafness, the different types and their etiologies, and the possibilities for remediation, as well as the functioning of cochlear implants and the different modes of communication available to deaf individuals. The main research questions of the thesis will be outlined, and a brief overview of the experimental studies conducted to investigate the language skills of deaf children will also be presented. The following chapters will each focus on a specific experimental study targeting particular aspects of language ability and the associated research questions, with a dedicated theoretical introduction providing the relevant context.

1. Theoretical background

1.1. Deafness: Definition, Etiology, and Diagnosis

The term *deafness* refers to the reduction of hearing acuity, encompassing various levels, types, and etiologies of hearing loss. This section will clarify the different types of deafness, their characteristics, and etiologies before addressing the various remediations that can be offered for hearing impairments.

The auditory system can be divided into three parts: the outer (or external) ear, consisting of the auricle and external auditory canal; the middle ear, consisting of the tympanic membrane, tympanic cavity, ossicular chain, Eustachian tube, and middle ear muscles; and finally, the inner ear, which consists of the membranous labyrinth, including the vestibule and cochlea (see Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Anatomy of the peripheral auditory system. From (Kelly, s. d.), figure 8.5

The sound signal, a mechanical wave caused by variations in air pressure, is captured by the auricle of the ear and directed from the external auditory canal to the tympanic membrane. The tympanic membrane, a flexible membrane at the entrance to the middle ear, vibrates, triggering the movement of the ossicles, first the malleus, then the incus, and finally the stapes. The movements of the ossicular chain mechanically amplify sound vibrations. The stapes, by its back-and-forth motion, exerts pressure on the oval window, the interface between the middle and inner ear, and thus transmits the sound vibration to the inner ear, which primarily contains a liquid medium. The mechanical energy transmitted by the ossicular chain transforms into vibrations within the liquid medium of the cochlea. The sound vibrations set the cochlear fluids in motion and move a membrane in its center, the basilar membrane, on which the organ of Corti is located.

The organ of Corti contains the sensory cells, called hair cells, responsible for mechano-electrical transduction, meaning the transformation of the mechanical vibration caused by the sound stimulation into variations of electrical energy interpretable by the brain. The cochlea transmits sound information tonotopically, meaning that each sound frequency is transmitted to a specific location on the basilar membrane. This tonotopic organization is linked to the biomechanical properties of the basilar membrane: it is flexible and narrow at its base, favoring the vibration of high-frequency sounds, and wide and rigid at its apex, favoring the amplification of low-frequency (see Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2: Illustration of the cochlear tonotopy. From Kelly (s. d.), figure 8.10

It should be noted that the frequency ranges represented within the membrane determine the human auditory field and that the distribution of these frequency zones is not linear: the distance between two zones on the membrane does not

meaning by these a

correspond to a fixed gap between two frequencies processed by these zones. Thus, the human auditory field ranges from 20 to 20,000 Hz, and the sounds commonly used by humans (speech sounds) are located at frequencies more widely represented on the basilar membrane, particularly from 125 to 8,000 Hz.

The mechanisms causing deafness can be related to incomplete transmission of sound to the cochlea, resulting in what is known as *conductive* deafness, or due to damage to the inner ear and, therefore, to the coding of sound, resulting in what is known as *sensorineural* deafness.

Conductive deafness can occur due to damage to the outer ear, hindering sound passage through the auditory canal. These outer ear pathologies are usually benign (presence of earwax plugs or foreign objects, external ear infections) but can also be related to congenital malformations that completely obstruct the auditory canal (atresia with stenosis of the auditory canal). Most conductive deafness is related to damage to the middle ear, known as "middle ear infections". Otitis media is one of the most common afflictions in children. Acute otitis media, inflammation of the middle ear following bacterial penetration, with signs and symptoms of infection, is distinguished from serous otitis media, characterized by the presence of non-purulent fluid in the middle ear. The most likely etiology of serous otitis media is related to mechanical or functional dysfunction of the Eustachian tube, preventing proper ventilation of the middle ear. Middle ear infections cause conductive deafness due to reduced mobility of the ossicular chain and tympanic membrane due to fluid presence in the tympanic cavity. Prolonged and untreated acute and serous otitis media can lead to what are called *chronic* middle ear infections, which may complicate into tympanosclerosis (scarring tissue development on the tympanic membrane) or cholesteatoma (epidermal cyst development on the inner surface of the tympanic membrane), potentially leading to more lasting hearing loss. In cases of conductive deafness, hearing loss is generally between 21 and 40 dB, considered mild, but in more severe cases, moderate hearing loss with a loss of 41 to 55 dB can be observed (Dulguerov, 2005).

Sensorineural deafness is caused by damage to the inner ear, auditory pathways, or auditory nerve centers. Hearing loss is caused by a defect or inability of sensory cells to transform sound into an electrical signal (endocochlear damage) or by a defect in transmitting electrical information to the brain through the auditory pathways (retrocochlear damage). Congenital deafness is present from the child's birth, and genetic causes are distinguished from *acquired* causes. Sensorineural hearing loss of genetic origin is the most common and accounts for two-thirds of observed hearing loss cases (Lina-Granade & Truy, 2017). Ninety percent of genetic hearing loss is non-syndromic, while 10% is associated with genetic syndromes that affect other organs. Non-syndromic genetic hearing loss is linked to mutations in genes that are primarily transmitted in an autosomal recessive manner, leading to bilateral hearing loss of varying severity, but most often severe to profound (Ciardelli & Ligny, 2020). Many genetic syndromes cause sensorineural deafness, the most frequent being Pendred, Usher, Waardenburg-Klein, and Alport syndromes, which are associated with various organic impairments and different degrees of deafness. Acquired deafness in children most often results from prenatal damage to the child's inner ear, caused by infections contracted by the mother during pregnancy, the most common being cytomegalovirus infection. Perinatal deafness can occur following anoxia during childbirth (distress, respiratory insufficiency of the newborn) or extreme prematurity. Postnatal deafness in children is most often due to bacterial meningitis. Acquired deafness in adults can be of infectious origin (labyrinthitis, Lyme disease, herpes zoster, etc.), traumatic (fracture, concussion, barotrauma, noise exposure, etc.), related to inner ear conditions (Ménière's disease, acoustic neuroma, presbycusis, etc.), or related to the aging process of sensory cells (presbycusis) (Sauvaget & Tran Ba Huy, 2005).

Differential diagnosis between conductive and sensorineural deafness is made through a clinical examination, including a precise history, observation of the outer ear and tympanic membrane, and subjective (pure-tone and speech audiometry) and objective (tympanometry, evoked otoacoustic emissions, medical imaging) auditory tests. The clinical examination will aim to determine the type of deafness, its etiology, and its severity.

Deafness can be qualified in terms of severity, judged by the level of intensity (in decibels) required to perceive a sound. The severity of hearing loss can be assessed using pure-tone audiometry. In a pure-tone audiometry test, the patient is exposed to sounds of increasing (or decreasing, depending on the technique) intensity across the various frequency ranges of the auditory field (from 125 to 8,000 Hz). The patient must respond (by raising a hand, pressing a button) as soon as they perceive the sound, allowing the determination of minimal perceptual thresholds (the minimum intensity at which the patient perceives the sound) for the tested frequencies. It is then possible, for each ear, to determine an average hearing loss. Hearing thresholds are considered normal if they range between 0 and 20 dB. Deafness is considered to begin at hearing thresholds of 20 to 40 dB, classified as mild; a loss of 40 to 70 dB is considered moderate, while losses above 70 dB and 90 dB are classified as severe and profound, respectively (Bonfils & Avan, 2005). In these latter cases, speech cannot be perceived correctly without a hearing aid, while in less severe losses, speech can be perceived but inaccurately.

Deafness occurring before the age of 1 to 2 years is called *prelingual* as it occurs before the onset of the child's language learning. Between the ages of two to 3-4 years, it is classified as *perilingual*, while deafness occurring after the establishment of the child's language, around 4-5 years, is classified as *postlingual*.

1.2. Conventional hearing aids

While the majority of conductive hearing losses can be restored through medical or surgical intervention, sensorineural hearing loss is irreversible and requires the use of hearing aids to establish a certain level of auditory acuity.

The goal of a hearing aid is to transmit sound through amplification in order to restore optimal access to oral communication (Klinck et al., 2020). Conventional hearing aids are the most common and involve removable devices that aim to amplify sound waves and transmit them to the ear via air conduction (i.e., through the transmission of sound waves by the vibration of the tympanoossicular chain). These devices are equipped with microphones, a processor, and a speaker. The microphones capture the surrounding sounds and transmit them to processor, which the performs various operations (filtering and reducing/amplifying frequency ranges to improve the signal-to-noise ratio). The speaker then transmits the resulting sound into the external auditory canal. These devices come in the form of behind-the-ear models or in-the-ear systems. Boneanchored hearing aids aim to transmit sound vibrations through bone conduction, using a device that is either removable or screwed into the mastoid bone. Middle ear implants may be proposed in cases of anatomical impossibility or ineffectiveness of conventional hearing aids. They are surgically placed on the tympano-ossicular system to directly amplify vibration. Finally, devices that function through electro-acoustic stimulation can be offered when conventional hearing aids are not sufficient to achieve a comfortable level of auditory acuity. This includes cochlear implants, which will be described below, and auditory brainstem implants. The latter are placed at the cochlear nucleus and are recommended in cases of auditory nerve damage.

1.3. Cochlear Implant

The first cochlear implant prototypes were tested between 1957 and the 1970s, when they began to be marketed. The first cochlear implant in a child was performed in 1990 (Tamati et al., 2022). Its use has become increasingly widespread, and the technologies it comprises are constantly improving. By 2019, approximately 736,900 people worldwide had been implanted (NIDCD, 2024). Since its introduction, the rencommendation for cochlear implants has significantly evolved to include increasingly diverse profiles, allowing for very early implantation in children with congenital hearing loss. Currently, the recommendations of the Haute Autorité de Santé suggest that cochlear implantation in children should be performed as early as possible in cases of severe to profound hearing loss where conventional hearing aids are insufficient (HAS, 2012). The French Society of Otolaryngology (SFORL) has recently recommended bilateral cochlear implantation for all children with severe to profound bilateral hearing loss (Simon et al., 2019). In Belgium, the National Institute for Health and Disability Insurance (Institut National d'Assurance Malalide-Invalidité - INAMI) covers the implantation of both ears in cases of severe bilateral hearing loss up to the age of 18. In cases of unilateral deafness, the implantation of the deaf ear is reimbursed up to the age of 4 for congenital deafness and up to the age of 18 for acquired deafness (Moniteur Belge, 2023).

The cochlear implant is a device consisting of external and surgically implanted internal parts. The external component includes a microphone, a processor, and an external antenna, while the internal component includes an internal antenna (the internal and external antennas are magnetically linked through the skin), a receiver-stimulator, and electrodes (placed in an electrode array). The microphone captures sound and converts acoustic information into an electronic signal (see Figure 1.3). This information is transmitted to the processor, which filters and decomposes the signal portions according to their characteristics (frequency, intensity, duration). This filtering is done to transmit the different filtered frequency bands to specific points on the cochlear membrane, recreating the tonotopic mechanism of the healthy ear.



Figure 1.3: Cochlear implant functionning. From Friesen (2019)

The microphone and processor system is adjustable to regulate the device's volume and sensitivity. The decomposed signal is sent to the external antenna, which transmits it to the internal antenna and then to the receiver-stimulator, which decodes the information and stimulates the electrodes corresponding to the signal portions decomposed by the processor. The stimulation of the electrodes within the cochlea stimulates the auditory nerve fibers through electrical impulses transmitted by the electrodes. This mechanism replaces the function of deficient or absent sensory cells and preserves a certain cochlear tonotopy, allowing discrimination of sounds of different frequencies.

There are different models of implants, with the main manufacturers being MXM in France (marketing the "Digisonic" implant), Advanced Bionics Corporation ("Clarion" implant), Cochlear Corporation ("Nucleus" implant), and MedEI Corporation ("Combi 40" implant) (Grandon, 2016). Different coding systems define the types of processes involved in converting the input signal into electrical signals to be transmitted to the auditory nerve, with the aim of providing

as much information as possible. The first models contrasted two types of strategies: those that prioritized spectral information (e.g., "Multi-Peak" or "Spectral Peak" strategies) and those that prioritized temporal information (e.g., "Simultaneous Analog Stimulation", "Continuous Interleaved Sampling" or "Multi-Pulse Stimulation"). Current models combine more complex processes to better transmit both types of information (Matagne et al., 2020). For a comprehensive review of current coding systems, see Carlyon & Goehring (2021) or Wouters et al. (2015).

All these devices use electrical pulse transmission, the speed of which depends on the technologies and strategies employed . The faster the pulse rate, the closer it gets to the sound coding rate of the healthy ear, but technological limitations mean that increasing the rate reduces the processor's processing capacity. A balance must therefore be found by the audiologist for each patient to determine the optimal stimulation rate and the most effective strategy (Truy & Lina, 2003).



Figure 1.4: Representation of an electrode carrier inserted into the cochlea. From Carlson (2020)

However, as will be described in more detail in Chapter 2, the current cochlear implant, despite the incredible technological advancements it has undergone since its early models, is not capable of accurately transmitting the entire sound signal. Indeed, current technologies cannot entirely replicate the

cochlear tonotopy due to the limited number of electrodes capable of transmitting an electrical signal independently, without causing interference between adjacent electrodes (Başkent et al., 2016). Furthermore, the implant is limited in its ability to precisely transmit low and high-frequency information (see figure 1.4). As a result, the signal transmitted by the implant is reduced in spectral resolution, which impacts the ability of its recipients to process speech sounds.

2. Language and communication development in deaf children

To sum up thus far, cochlear implantation can be offered to children with severe to profound sensorineural hearing loss although the implant is not able to transmit all the acoustic information from the captured sound signal, which may impact language development. Before presenting the relevant literature on language and communication development in deaf children, the communication modes available to them will be discussed.

2.1. Communication Modes

In a typically hearing child, the acquisition of language skills usually occurs naturally and without the need for specific adult intervention other than daily oral interactions. The child is born with cognitive processes that will develop and become more complex, provided they are exposed to a rich and complete language environment from an early age through interactions with those around them. In a child born deaf, the development of language and communication skills must be supported through the learning of a gestural communication mode (Sign Language) and/or through the integration of methods that use multisensory stimulation to enhance the perception of spoken language.

Historically, two modes of communication have been in opposition. In the 16th century, Pedro Ponce de León, a Benedictine monk from Spain, developed the first dactylological alphabet based on gestural signs (Martinand-Flesch et al., 2016). The primary objective of this alphabet was to provide an effective communication interface for teaching deaf people to speak. Indeed, according to Spanish law at the time, speaking was necessary to have rights. In the 17th century, Conrad Amman also claimed that speech is essential in the Christian tradition, advocating that God made man in His image, endowed with speech (van den Bogaerde et al., 2016). From the 18th century, the "unmuting" of deaf people was advocated in France, creating the foundations of what is now called the *oralist* approach, aiming for the integration of deaf people into the oral world

through auditory and multisensory education, and the use of the first hearing aids. At the same time, Charles Michel de L'Epée opened a school for so-called *deaf-mutes* to teach them the dactylological alphabet and to develop gestural communication incorporating different aspects of the grammar of spoken French. His school received visitors from other countries in Europe and even from the United States, leading to the development of other schools for the deaf that integrated his gestural method. He supported the idea that spoken language is not essential for communication and that gestures can be just as effective in conveying thoughts. According to this vision, he created the National Institute for the Deaf in Paris. The first forms of a community sign language began to develop.

In the 19th century, despite the recognition and adoption of sign language by an increasingly large community worldwide, a school of thought, led notably by Dr. Itard, who was convinced of the necessity of establishing spoken language, banned the use of sign language. During the Second International Congress of Teachers of Deaf-Mutes, held in Milan in 1880, the assembly voted to ban the use of sign language and imposed oralist methods as the method of educating deaf children. Following this congress and for about a hundred years, the "pure oralist" method dominated the education of deaf children worldwide, and the use of gestural methods was tacitly prohibited in French institutions. In the 19th century, trends gradually changed due to the observation of severe difficulties in learning spoken and written language through purely oralist education. On the scientific front, linguists began to take an interest in sign languages, highlighting that they are natural languages following a similar acquisition process to spoken language (van den Bogaerde et al., 2016). It was not until 1977 that the use of sign language was reintroduced in France, and the free choice of oral, gestural, or bilingual communication was authorized by the Fabius law in 1991. In Belgium, sign language was recognized by the French Community in 2003 (Moniteur Belge, 2003).

Today, oralist and gestural methods coexist and can be used together. The educational path will depend on the parents' choice. Indeed, the deaf child, due to their lack of auditory input, will have great difficulty, if not an inability, to control what is known as the audio-phonatory loop. The audio-phonatory loop, which depends on the maturation of auditory neural circuits, allows the child to hear and control his own voice. The deaf child, having only limited access to auditory input, does not hear their own productions and, therefore, has great difficulty controlling the parameters (frequency, intensity). Speech development, which occurs naturally in a hearing child, may not occur in a deaf child, leading to what have been called *deaf-muteness*. The child may then spontaneously tend towards gestural communication to interact with their environment (Virole, 2005). An orientation towards communication based on spoken language is only possible with specialized education and appropriate care, which must be provided by the child's environment in collaboration with various professionals (audiologists, speech therapists, psychomotor therapists, etc.), in line with the oralist tradition. These two educational paths can be developed concurrently, leading to bilingualism in spoken and sign language, allowing for early communication through sign language while developing auditory neural circuits and the audiophonatory loop. The present work will not focus on methods for learning gestural communication, as the objective is centered on the acquisition of a spoken language. It should be noted that this position is entirely scientific in nature; our interest focuses on the mechanisms of acquiring an oral language through limited input and does not have any prescriptive intent regarding the preferred mode of communication between oral and signed languages with deaf children.

Oralist methods, aimed at acquiring spoken language, prioritize multisensory auditory stimulation, relying partly on residual hearing (with or without hearing aids or implants) and partly on other preserved sensory channels, such as vision (lip-reading), kinesthetic and somatosensory sensations (verbo-tonal method), or even gestural methods designed to accompany speech (Cued Speech). Lip-reading enhances phonological discrimination by visualizing articulatory contrasts through lip and jaw movements. Lip-reading allows only a partial perception of speech. However, it is insufficient to gather all the phonetic information necessary to code all the phonological contrasts of spoken languages, as many contrasts (especially those related to voicing, nasality, and backness) are "invisible" due to the limited information from lip movements. Various methods have been developed to promote language emergence despite auditory deprivation and the insufficiency of lip-reading. Notably, the verbo-tonal method, developed in the 1960s by Guberina in Zagreb (Guberina, 1963), is a comprehensive auditory education method based on multisensory stimulation, using vibrating floors, body movements, and speech amplifiers with vibrators. Auditory education activities aim to work on rhythm and melodic variations in both speech and musical contexts (Crnkovic, 2005). Several adaptations of this method have emerged more recently, such as the "Dynamique Naturelle de la Parole" ("Dynamic Natural *Speech*") method (Dunoyer de Segonzac, 1991) or the "Langue en mouvement" ("*Language in Motion*") method (André-Faber, 2006).

In parallel with these various methods, gestural cueing methods have also been developed, using hand movements to resolve visual ambiguities in lipreading during speech. The Cued Speech (CS) method was created in 1967 by Cornett in the United States and adapted in France in 1975 (Cornett, 1967). In this method, the spoken sounds are accompanied by manual movements (manual key) positioned at different locations near the face (see Figure 1.5). Words are coded syllable by syllable, with the hand's positioning coding the information related to the vowel produced, while the manuel key codes the information related to the consonant within the syllable. Several consonants are coded with the same cueing gesture, and several vowels are coded with the same hand position to simplify the system, with lip-reading helping to identify the target phoneme among the different candidates.



Figure 1.5: Representation of the keys and hand positions used to code consonants and vowels in Cued Speech for French. Adapted from Kiersch (2024)

Thus, the deaf child who perceives Cued Speech hears the spoken sounds and simultaneously visualizes the speaker's lip movements and cueing gestures (Virole, 2005). The goal is for the child to perceive the entire message, with the combination of information from cueing gestures, hand positioning, and lip-reading covering all the phonological contrasts of the language. Numerous experimental studies confirm that Cued Speech is an effective tool for language acquisition (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert & LaSasso, 2010; Machart et al., 2024; Van Bogaert et al., 2023).

Whatever communication path is chosen, the goal should be the early rehabilitation of an effective communication system for the deaf child. The present work, aiming to document the development of oral language, will focus on the pediatric population enrolled in education for oral communication or in bilingual communication involving both spoken language and sign language.

2.2. Language development in deaf children with cochlear implants

Despite its undeniable benefits in acquiring sufficient auditory acuity to communicate orally and promoting oral language development, the cochlear implant does not provide a complete auditory signal (Guevara & Macherey, 2018). Furthermore, unlike typically hearing children, who are exposed to linguistic inputs from the intrauterine stage, children with cochlear implants have been exposed to spoken language in a very limited way before their implantation. This delay in exposure to spoken language through auditory inputs may impact the organization of auditory brain areas during sensitive developmental periods, potentially affecting their functioning in the long term and their interactions with language areas (Kral et al., 2016). Numerous experimental studies have examined how children with cochlear implants develop their oral language in this context of delayed and partial exposure to auditory input. In this section, a brief literature review will be presented regarding the main experimental findings across different language components. More comprehensive and specific literature reviews targeting particular aspects of language will be presented within each following chapter.

Given the limitations of the implant in terms of sound transmission, various aspects of perceptual processing and associated phonological skills are likely to be disrupted in children with CI. Several studies have observed difficulties in phoneme discrimination, with increased vulnerability for phonemes whose acoustic correlates are poorly coded by the cochlear implant. Indeed, the cochlear implant is believed to be more effective at transmitting slow-varying temporal acoustic cues, or envelope cues (E cues), as opposed to temporal fine structures (TFS cues), according to the classification of acoustic cues proposed by Rosen (Rosen, 1992). TFS cues are critical for perceiving distinctive features such as the place of articulation of consonants. Therefore, the impact of implant-related perceptual limitations may be selective and depend on the acoustic correlates of the distinctive features which are actually exploited in the phonological system of the child's native language. Bouton et al. (2012) showed that, in French, children
with cochlear implants had increased difficulty discriminating minimal pairs that differed by the place of articulation of consonants or the nasalization of vowels. A greater vulnerability of segments distinguished by fine phonetic cues has also been confirmed in various studies from different languages (Cheng & Chen, 2020; Medina et al., 2004; Moon & Hong, 2014; Peng et al., 2019). Difficulties in distinguishing nasal and oral vowels in the French language were the subject of thorough investigations by Borel (2015; Borel et al., 2019) with adults who used cochlear implants (CIs). These investigations led to the finding that this population has a specific difficulty in distinguishing nasal vowels from phonetically similar oral vowels. This finding was attributed to the specific challenges in processing the fine spectral details of the signal which are precisely associated with nasality.

These findings led to the implementation of Study 1 and Study 2 in the present thesis, which tested the perceptual and productive abilities of children with cochlear implants and their typically hearing peers in the case of French oral and nasal vowels. Study 3 focuses on the production of fricative segments, for which significant difficulties among CI users have been reported in the literature (Giezen et al., 2010; Hedrick et al., 2011; Lane et al., 2001; Mildner & Liker, 2008; Warner-Czyz & Davis, 2008), presumably due to their acoustic correlates being related to high frequencies that approach the limits of the CI device (Loizou, 2006). Study 4 aims to jointly examine the production abilities of both nasal and oral vowels, fricative segments, as well as voiced and voiceless plosive segments within the same group of children. Voiced and voiceless plosive segments were included because their distinction relies on temporal cues that are thought to be better encoded by CIs. The combined study of these three types of segments thus provided an overall view of the children's productive abilities and allows us to compare between segments that are highly contrasted in terms of the quality of the transmission of their acoustic correlates by the implant.

From a lexico-semantic and morphosyntactic perspective, previous studies reported mixed findings as to children with CI: while some studies indicate lexical levels comparable to those of typically hearing children of the same auditory age, grammatical performance, in both perception and production, is more often reported as significantly lower (Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Rinaldi et al., 2013). A discrepancy between the lexical and morphosyntactic language levels has been consistently observed in populations of

children with specific language impairments, leading to the development of phonological theories of morphosyntactic difficulties (Chiat, 2001; Joanisse & Seidenberg, 1998; Leonard et al., 1992; for a comparison of the theories, see Parisse & Maillart, 2008). According to these theories, phonological difficulties impact the processing of morphemes, particularly grammatical morphemes, which are less perceptually salient and have less conceptual substance than lexical elements of language, making them more vulnerable in cases of phonological challenges. These postulated mechanisms also apply to the population with cochlear implants: perceptual limitations in processing speech sounds most probably result in underspecified phonological representations, which will particularly affect the morphosyntactic level, thereby explaining the findings of lower grammatical performance in the literature. In this context, Study 5 aimed to examine the morphological processing and grammatical production skills of children with cochlear implants (CIs) in comparison to their peers with typical hearing, as well as the connections these skills may have with phonological development on the one hand and lexical development on the other. Finally, Study 6 investigated the link betweeb the acoustic production profiles, as studied in Study 4, and the phonological, lexical, morphological, and morphosyntactic skills identified in Study 5 through factor analyses and the creation of clusters among all the children recruited. A comparison of all performances over a oneyear interval have been conducted for a subgroup of children with cochlear implants, allowing for a longitudinal comparison of performance profiles.

The primary objective of this work is to further substantiate the hypotheses linking the linguistic development of children to their specific perceptual limitations. Indeed, significant variability has been reported in studies investigating the different components of language, particularly the morphosyntactic component. Understanding the extent to which this variability can be explained by the level of perception of language contrasts in children would allow for more targeted interventions focusing on these crucial aspects, while ensuring that the interventions are tailored to the specific difficulties encountered by the children.

3. The present work

3.1. Aims

The literature highlights significant variability in the linguistic performance of children with cochlear implants, with increased vulnerability in the development of phonological and morphosyntactic components. These specific difficulties at these levels of language are often attributed to the perceptual limitations associated with cochlear implant technology. However, to our knowledge, no study has directly attempted to link these competencies in an integrative manner, i.e. within the same group of children. Given the variability reported in most studies, it seems valuable to directly investigate these links within a study examining the different components of language in relation to the perceptual profiles of children with cochlear implants.

To this end, we attempted to identify perceptual profiles of children through perceptual tasks (Study 1) and the analysis of their productions (Study 2, 3, 4, 6). Indeed, the perceptual limitations manifested by the processing of speech sounds through the implant should be reflected in their productive profiles, in light of the dichotomy of acoustic cues (TFS vs. envelope cues) observed in experimental studies. Specifically, we aimed to study segments that are more vulnerable due to their acoustic correlates in the French language: nasal and oral vowels. In Chapter 2 and 3, we will see that the mechanisms of perception and production of these segments require the mastery of different classes of acoustic cues, some of which may be more severely affected in children with cochlear implants. Attention will also be given to two types of consonantal segments: fricative segments (Chapter 4), carried by high-frequency cues, and stop consonants, contrasting voiced and voiceless stop consonants, where the distinction is carried by temporal cues. The study of these three types of segments will provide an integrated view of the productive-and, by extension, perceptual-mechanisms in the tested children (Chapter 5). Lexical and morphosyntactic components will be investigated in Chapter 6, and these skills will be connected to the perceptive-productive profiles identified through acoustic investigations in Chapter 7. Within these different studies, the effect of individual and environmental variables will be investigated, specifically chronological/auditory age, age at implantation, and the level of exposure to CS.

3.2. Method

The various studies were conducted through two data collections: the first data collection was carried out to conduct Studies 1 and 2, which focused on investigating the vocalic nasality feature in perception and production, while the second data collection was conducted to investigate all components of language for the following four studies. The section below aims to provide a brief description of the methodological aspects associated with the two data collections. A detailed description will be provided for each study in the corresponding chapters.

3.2.1. Data collection 1

The first data collection was conducted with a group of children with cochlear implants (CI group) and a control group of children with typical hearing (TH group). The CI group consisted of 13 children aged between 5 years 8 months and 11 years 6 months (mean: $8;7 \pm 2;4$ years) with profound pre-lingual bilateral sensorineural hearing loss. All participants had bilateral cochlear implants (Cochlear brand) implanted between 9 and 30 months of age. The TH group consisted of 25 children aged 5 to 12 years (mean: $8;6 \pm 2;4$ months), all monolingual French speakers.

Two perceptual tasks were administered:

- A word identification task: Participants were asked to identify target pseudo-words (C₁V₁C₂V₂ structure, with vowels being either nasal or oral) within sentences. Eight sentences were constructed, with the pseudo-word placed in either the middle or final position, resulting in a total of 56 items.
- A discrimination task: Participants were presented with pairs of pseudowords from the identification task. The pairs were designed to evaluate the children's ability to discriminate between nasal and oral vowels based on their phonological or phonetic proximity.

Children completed also a productive task:

- A repetition task: Children were asked to reproduce part of the stimuli from the identification task, specifically the 4 sentences with pseudo-words in

the final position (28 items). The experimenter produced the sentences while showing the corresponding pseudo-word card to provide visual cues, and the child was asked to repeat the sentence. Recordings were made using a portable audio recorder.

The results of the two perceptual tasks (identification and discrimination) will be presented in Study 1 (Chapter 2), while the results of the repetition task will be presented in Study 2 (Chapter 3).

3.2.2. Data collection 2

The study involved two groups of children: a group with typical hearing (TH) and a group with cochlear implants (CI). The TH group consisted of 47 monolingual French-speaking children aged 56 ± 13 months. The CI group included 23 French-speaking children (mean age: 67 ± 15 months) with congenital bilateral profound hearing loss, 22 of whom had bilateral implants, and one had a unilateral implant. The information and consent letters provided to the parents of the children are available in Appendices 1 and 2.

The two groups of children completed four tasks:

- Naming Task: This task aimed to document the phonetic, phonological, and lexical skills of the children. Children named pictures representing 48 target words, which covered all French phonemes in various syllable positions. The words were chosen for their early age of acquisition to facilitate retrieval (for a detailed description, see Philippart De Foy et al., 2018). If the child could not produce the target word, semantic and phonological cues were provided, and, if necessary, the experimenter named the word for repetition. The list of words used for the task can be found in Appendix 3.
- Sentence/Word-Picture Matching Task (SWPMT): This task was designed to assess the children's receptive morphological skills. Children were asked to match a word or sentence they heard to a target picture from a pair of images, where the distractor formed a minimal pair with the target. The task included 28 items that varied in grammatical number, gender, and as well as lexical minimal pairs. The variations between the target word/sentence and the distractors were based on different morphophono-

logical alternations: substitutions between nasal/oral vowels, oral/oral vowels, nasal/nasal vowels, or through phonemic additions. The list of target words/sentences and their distractors, as well as an illustration of the testing interface, can be found in Appendix 4.

- Induced and free narrative production tasks: Two narrative production tasks were proposed to study the children's morphosyntactic production skills. In the first task, an induced narrative, a story with animations was presented to the children, who were then asked to retell the story using the animations as visual support. An illustration of the presentation interface and a transcription of the presented narrative can be found in Appendix 5. In the second task, a free narrative, the children were asked to narrate a story from the wordless picture book "Frog, Where Are You?" (Mayer, 1969).

The tasks were administered in a set order: naming, induced narrative, comprehension, and free narrative, over 35 to 60 minutes.

The results of these various tasks will be described in Studies 3, 4, 5, and 6.

3.3. Structure of the thesis

The experimental development of the various questions addressed in this thesis will be presented in the form of six experimental articles. Each article aims to present a specific theoretical context associated with the conducted experiment. Some studies have been published or submitted in referenced journals:

- Study 1, described in Chapter 2 *Perception of the vowel nasality feature*, was published in the Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research (Fagniart et al., 2024a).
- Study 2, described in Chapter 3 *Production of oral and nasal vowels*, has been submitted and is currently in press in the Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research (Fagniart et al., in press).
- Study 3, described in Chapter 4 *Production of fricative consonants*, was published in the proceedings of the Interspeech 2024 conference (Fagniart et al., 2024c).
- Study 4, described in Chapter 5 *Consonant and vowel production: an integrative study*, was published in Frontiers in Audiology and Otology (Fagniart et al., 2024b).
- Study 5, described in Chapter 6 *Lexical, morphological and morphosyntactic skills*, will be submitted in Frontiers in Human Neurosciences.

The final study, Study 6, described in Chapter 7 - *Phonetic, phonological, morphologic, lexical and morphosyntactic skills : an integrative study*, will be the subject of a future publication and is currently included in a continuous draft form within this document.

Table 1.1 summarizes the two data collections, the participants, the tasks conducted, the associated studies, and their respective objectives.

The document concludes with a general discussion in Chapter 8, where the findings of the various studies will be synthesized and connected in relation to the research questions.

Data collection	Collection period	Recruitment	Participants	Tasks	Study	Study objective	Type of study	Study sample
1	December 2018 to May 2019	Rehabilitation	13 children with CI - 25 children with TH	Identification and discrimination of pseudowords with nasal and oral vowels	1	Perception of vowel nasality feature		A 11 - 2 ¹ - 2
		Schools		Repetition of pseudowords with nasal and oral vowels	2	Perceptual judge- ments and acoustic analysis of nasal and oral vowels produc- tions	Cross-sectional	
	February	Rehabilitation centers - Schools -			3	Phonological and acoustic analysis of fricative consonants		A 11
			23 children with CI - 47 children with TH	Picture naming task	4	Integrative study of production of nasal- oral vowels, fricative and stop consonants	Cross-sectional	All participants
2	November 2023	Announce- ments and word of mouth		Picture naming task -	5	Morphemic pro- cessing and gram- matical production		CI group = 19 (4 bilingual sub- jects excluded)
				matching task - Narrative productions	6	Integrative study of acoustic production profiles, phonologi- cal, lexical and grammatical skills	Partially longitu- dinal: retest after one year of a subgroup of chil- dren with CI	All for T1 - T2 : 13 children with CI

 Table 1.1: Summary of the data collections, participants, administered tasks, associated studies, and their objectives.

Chapter 2 Perception of the vowel nasality feature

This initial study aims to expand on the findings in the literature regarding perceptual difficulties with the vowel nasality feature among French-speaking adults (Borel, 2015; Borel et al., 2019) and children (Bouton et al., 2012) with cochlear implants (CI). The study focuses on comparing the perception of oral versus nasal vowels within different types of nasal-oral pairs (based on their acoustic characteristics) to gain further insight into the specific difficulties related to speech sound processing through cochlear implants. It was conducted as part of the initial data collection involving 13 children with CI and 25 children with typical hearing (TH). The effects of chronological and auditory age, as well as the level of exposure to Cued Speech, is also examined.

This study is published under the reference:

Fagniart, S., Delvaux, V., Harmegnies, B., Huberlant, A., Huet, K., Piccaluga, M., Watterman, I., & Charlier, B. (2024a). Nasal/Oral Vowel Perception in French-Speaking Children With Cochlear Implants and Children With Typical Hearing. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 67(4), 1243-1267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2024_JSLHR-23-00274</u>

The present chapter presents the manuscript in its finalized form.



Research Article

Nasal/Oral Vowel Perception in French-Speaking Children With Cochlear Implants and Children With Typical Hearing

Sophie Fagniart,^{a,b} ^[1] Véronique Delvaux,^{a,b,c,d} ^[1] Bernard Harmegnies,^{b,c} ^[1] Anne Huberlant,^e Kathy Huet,^{a,b} ^[1] Myriam Piccaluga,^{a,b} ^[1] Isabelle Watterman,^{c,e} and Brigitte Charlier^{c,e}

^a Language Sciences and Metrology Unit, University of Mons, Belgium ^b Research Institute for Language Science and Technology, University of Mons, Belgium ^cUniversité Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium ^dFund for Scientific Research (F.R.S.–FNRS), Brussels, Belgium ^eFunctional Rehabilitation Center "Comprendre et Parler," Brussels, Belgium

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article History: Received April 26, 2023 Revision received September 28, 2023 Accepted January 15, 2024

Editor-in-Chief: Rachael Frush Holt Editor: Chang Liu

https://doi.org/10.1044/2024_JSLHR-23-00274

ABSTRACT

Purpose: The present study investigates the perception of vowel nasality in French-speaking children with cochlear implants (CIs; CI group) and children with typical hearing (TH; TH group) aged 4-12 years. By investigating the vocalic nasality feature in French, the study aims to document more broadly the effects of the acoustic limitations of CI in processing segments characterized by acoustic cues that require optimal spectral resolution. The impact of various factors related to children's characteristics, such as chronological/auditory age, age of implantation, and exposure to cued speech, has been studied on performance, and the acoustic characteristics of the stimuli in perceptual tasks have also been investigated. Method: Identification and discrimination tasks involving French nasal and oral vowels were administered to two groups of children: 13 children with CIs (CI group) and 25 children with TH (TH group) divided into three age groups (4-6 years, 7-9 years, and 10-12 years). French nasal vowels were paired with their oral phonological counterpart (phonological pairing) as well as to the closest oral vowel in terms of phonetic proximity (phonetic pairing). Post hoc acoustic analyses of the stimuli were linked to the performance in perception. Results: The results indicate an effect of the auditory status on the performance in the two tasks, with the CI group performing at a lower level than the TH group. However, the scores of the children in the CI group are well above chance level, exceeding 80%. The most common errors in identification were substitutions between nasal vowels and phonetically close oral vowels as well as confusions between the phoneme /u/ and other oral vowels. Phonetic pairs showed lower discrimination performance in the CI group with great variability in the results. Age effects were observed only in TH children for nasal vowel identification, whereas in children with Cls, a positive impact of cued speech practice and early implantation was found. Differential links between performance and acoustic characteristics were found within our groups, suggesting that in children with Cls, selective use of certain acoustic features, presumed to be better transmitted by the implant, leads to better perceptual performance. Conclusions: The study's results reveal specific challenges in children with Cls when processing segments characterized by fine spectral resolution cues. However, the CI children in our study appear to effectively compensate for these difficulties by utilizing various acoustic cues assumed to be well transmitted by the implant, such as cues related to the temporal resolution of stimuli. Supplemental Material: https://doi.org/10.23641/asha.25328704

1.Introduction

In recent decades, numerous studies have examined the language development of deaf children who have received cochlear implants. These devices have proven to be highly beneficial for acquiring or restoring functional hearing

JSLHR

acuity and developing oral language (Tamati et al., 2022). However, research has consistently highlighted substantial variability in performance, particularly in speech perception skills, which often do not reach the level of typically hearing peers. Several factors contribute to the remaining perceptual difficulties of CI users.

1.1. Limitations of sound transmission through the implant

The primary limiting factor is the way in which the implant transmits sound. The sound signal passing through the implant undergoes various transformations, including bandpass filtering, envelope extraction, and low-pass filtering within the processor (Guevara & Macherey, 2018). These transformations reduce spectral information, particularly temporal fine structures (TFS) (Moon & Hong, 2014). The resulting sound is then transmitted to the neurons of the spiral ganglion through different electrodes positioned along the basilar membrane. The arrangement of these electrodes partially recreates cochlear tonotopy, with lowfrequency information transmitted by electrodes farthest from the base (stimulating apical regions) and high-frequency information handled by electrodes in contact with basal regions. However, the number of electrodes capable of independently transmitting auditory information is limited due to activation diffusion and interactions between adjacent electrodes (channel-tochannel interactions). Moreover, the position of the electrode array within the cochlea can further influence the quality of the transmitted signal. The depth of electrode array insertion impacts the covered frequency range, with lowfrequency coding depending on the shallow of the array insertion and potential misalignments in frequency mapping (Başkent & Shannon, 2005). These factors collectively exert a notable influence on speech perception outcomes (Canfarotta et al., 2021; Fan et al., 2023; Mertens et al., 2022). Additional sources of interindividual variability in sound processing quality include the presence of residual hearing in low-frequency areas, the integrity of auditory nerve cells, anatomical and surgical abnormalities, and device-specific characteristics, such as soundcoding strategies (for a description, see Başkent et al., 2016).

1.2. Spectral resolution and speech sound processing in cochlear implant recipients

Many studies have aimed to understand how adults and children with cochlear implants process spectral resolution, in comparison to their typically-hearing counterparts. These investigations typically employ perceptual paradigms using synthesized sounds, such as the Spectral/Temporal Modulated Ripple Test (Aronoff & Landsberger, 2013), which involves tasks like rippled noise discrimination. Research reveals that spectral resolution processing undergoes age-related changes in typically-hearing children (DiNino & Arenberg, 2018; Horn et al., 2017; Jahn et al., 2022). Conversely, children with cochlear implants often exhibit lower performance in spectral resolution (Henry & Turner, 2003), and their performance doesn't consistently correlate with age or auditory experience with the implant (DiNino & Arenberg, 2018; Horn et al., 2017; Landsberger et al., 2018). These findings suggest that the information provided by the implant alone may be insufficient for the development of adequate spectral resolution skills in children. Landsberger et al. (2018) investigated spectral resolution processing in adults and children to understand how their perceptual systems adapt to degraded auditory signals. The results show that pediatric CI recipients have lower spectral resolution abilities compared to post-lingually implanted adults, emphasizing the importance of prior auditory experience. However, unlike adults, children do not consistently link speech perception performance with spectral resolution scores (Gifford et al., 2018), suggesting that they can develop perceptual skills in the absence of optimal spectral processing, possibly relying on other acoustic cues. Additionally, Landsberger et al. (2018) observed different effects of bilateral implantation on spectral resolution skills in post-lingually implanted adults and children with early implanted children. While adults might exhibit a detrimental effect of spectral processing when listening through both of their implants, which could be attributed to challenges in integrating potential frequency misalignments between the two ears, children, on the contrary, showed improved performance in bilateral listening conditions. These findings support the idea that early implantation helps congenitally deaf children adapt to degraded acoustic signals by extracting relevant information for speech sound discrimination in their language. Children may rely more on temporal information in the signal, as confirmed in a study of Landsberger et al. (2019), where children with cochlear implants showed superior temporal modulation detection compared to adult CI recipients.

1.3. Impact on speech processing

Acoustic limitations affecting spectral resolution impact the processing of speech by CI user. For example, it has been demonstrated in studies examining vocal gender identification and/or speaker discrimination based on characteristics

such as vocal-tract length (VTL). Indeed, CI users appear to have more difficulty processing VTL-related cues precisely, presumably because this processing relies on good spectral skills (Gaudrain & Başkent, 2018).

Moreover, the difficulties in processing certain types of acoustic information may explain performance patterns in the processing of speech contrasts by individuals with CI. Indeed, some phonological features, such as the voicing feature or manner of articulation within consonants, seem to cause fewer perceptual difficulties than the features of place of articulation or nasality within vowels and consonants (Bouton et al., 2012; Grandon et al., 2017; Medina & Serniclaes, 2009; Pisoni et al., 1999). Some authors (Bouton et al., 2012; Cheng & Chen, 2020; Peng et al., 2019) attribute these patterns of difficulties to the fact that different phonological features are carried by specific acoustic information, some of which may be well transmitted by the implant (slowly varying envelope cues) and others not (temporal fine structures cues), following the dichotomy of the acoustic cues proposed by Rosen (1992). This dichotomy in the types of cues used by the pediatric CI population has been confirmed in several studies (Cheng & Chen, 2020; Moon & Hong, 2014; Peng et al., 2019). Although allowing access to sufficient acoustic input to acquire most phonological contrasts, CI may not be sufficient in processing phonetic details associated with certain phonological features. In this paper, we will focus on one of those phonological features which phonetic implementation relies on precise spectral processing, namely the [nasal] feature for French vowels.

1.4. Nasal vowels : phonology and phonetics

Vocalic nasality occurs when the velopharyngeal port opens during vowel production, allowing coupling between the oropharyngeal and nasal tracts, thereby adding nasal resonances and anti-resonances to the vocal tract transfer function. In many languages, vocalic nasality is a phonetic phenomenon associated with coarticulation, whereby a nasal consonant follows and/or precedes an oral vowel, and the nasal and oral gestures overlap. While the nasalization that occurs in such cases isn't contrastive, it serves as a useful cue during speech perception. However, in French, as in nearly 30% of the world languages (e.g. Portuguese, Polish or Hindi; Styler, 2017), vowel nasality is phonological, i.e. nasal vowels contrast with oral vowels in minimal pairs and the [nasal] feature is a constituent of the phonological system. The French language has four nasal vowels in its vocalic system: the open back nasal vowel $\langle \tilde{a} \rangle$; the mid-open front nasal vowel $\langle \tilde{e} \rangle$; the mid-open rounded back nasal vowel $\langle \tilde{a} \rangle$; and the mid-open front nasal vowel $\langle \tilde{e} \rangle$. It is noteworthy that the distinction between $\langle \tilde{e} \rangle$ and $\langle \tilde{e} \rangle$ is progressively disappearing in French, in favor of the anterior variant (Borel, 2015; Fougeron & Smith, 1993). To avoid specificities related to the regional origin of the participants, and for the sake of simplicity, we will only focus on the nasal vowels $\langle \tilde{a} \rangle$, $\langle \tilde{a} \rangle$ and $\langle \tilde{e} \rangle$ in the present paper. Within the French phonological system each of these nasal vowels contrasts with an oral counterpart based on the sole [nasal] feature: $\langle \tilde{a} / - \langle \alpha \rangle$, $\langle \tilde{3} / - \langle \sigma \rangle$, and $\langle \tilde{e} / - \langle \varepsilon \rangle$. This phonological opposition supports a large array of morphophonological alternations in French grammar ("paysan/paysanne": $\langle \tilde{a} / - \langle a n \rangle$, "bon/bonne": $\langle \tilde{3} / - \langle n \rangle$, "vilain/vilaine": $\langle \tilde{e} / - \langle \varepsilon \rangle$). Thus, in cases of difficulty in perceiving vocalic nasalization, these oral vowels may be good candidates for substituting their corresponding nasal counterparts.

However, this phonological opposition between oral and nasal vowels, which is functionally and historically anchored, is not necessarily consistent with empirical data regarding the phonetic differences between nasal and oral vowels. Indeed, different authors (Carignan, 2014; Delvaux, 2012; Maeda, 1993; Montagu, 2007) have observed that nasal vowels and their corresponding oral phonological counterparts differ not only in terms of nasality but also in terms of their oropharyngeal articulatory configuration (positioning of the lips and tongue). This phenomenon can be explained by the chain shifts that can occur in the world's languages and that have led, here in the French language (Fagyal et al., 2006), to modifications in the phonetic realization of nasal vowels, which have deviated from the classical description set in phonology. These observations are supported by the various acoustic studies carried out around these pairs of nasal-oral vowels. Montagu (2007), for example, isolated the first non-nasalized portions of nasal vowels (portions corresponding to a delayed opening of the velum) produced by French-speakers, and had them identified by listeners. The listeners identified the portion of nasal vowel $[\tilde{a}]$ as $[\mathfrak{d}]$, $[\tilde{\epsilon}]$ as $[\mathfrak{a}]$, and $[\mathfrak{d}]$ as $[\mathfrak{d}]$, suggesting that the oral vowels /5, a, o/ seem to be the closest phonetic counterparts of nasal vowels $\tilde{a}, \tilde{\epsilon}$, 5/. Carignan (2014) conducted an acoustic study of the formant patterns of nasal vowels and their corresponding oral phonological counterparts with different French-speakers. The author observed that the acoustic productions of nasal vowels differ from those of their oral counterparts, following modifications of labial and/or lingual articulator configurations. Carignan proposed a revision of the

phonetic notations of French nasal vowels in the International Phonetic Alphabet (IPA) that is more faithful to the actual acoustic realization of these vowels: $[\tilde{\alpha}]$ revised to $[\tilde{\mathfrak{I}}]$, $[\tilde{\mathfrak{E}}]$ to $[\tilde{\mathfrak{V}}]$, and $[\tilde{\mathfrak{I}}]$ to $[\tilde{\mathfrak{I}}]$.

Considering only the phonetic aspects of vowel nasalization - i.e. those associated with velopharyngeal opening independently of other articulatory adjustments - the study of the acoustic effects of nasal resonance presents a challenge for researchers, as the acoustic coupling of nasal cavities with pharyngeal and oral cavities generates a complex resonance system (Delvaux, 2012). Nasal resonance involves numerous acoustic changes in the spectrum of a vowel, resulting in multiple but subtle changes throughout the frequency range, with the most critical for perception occurring in the low frequencies. Many authors have attempted to identify the acoustic cues most relevant for vowel nasalization, without successfully identify a common property, shared across different languages and little sensitive to inter-speaker variations. To name just a few, nasal resonance has been reported to influence the frequency and intensity of F1 (Delattre, 1954) but also an increase of F1 (and F3) bandwidth (Delvaux, 2002, 2012), with a decrease in the overall vowel intensity (House & Stevens, 1956; Maeda, 1993). Maeda (1993) reports that the main cue of vowel nasality is carried by the flattening of spectral peaks around F1 and F2, resulting in a widening of the first peak or the addition of a formant around this first spectral peak. Based on perceptual studies using semi-synthetic stimuli, Delvaux (Delvaux, 2002; Delvaux et al., 2004) proposes that the Compactness of the vowel (operationalized as an increase in bandwidths of F1 and F3 with respect to that of F2) leads to the perception of phonetic nasality. Chen (1995, 1997) identifies that nasal resonance, associated with the appearance of nasal poles and zeros, leads to a change in the relative intensity levels between the first harmonics and the first formant. To quantify these changes, Chen developed the measures A1-P0 and A1-P1, which measure the relative amplitude deltas between the first formant and the first (for A1-P0) and second (for A1-P1) nasal pole. Although not without flaws (especially for high vowels), these measures are the most widely used nowadays to characterize phonetic vowel nasalization.

To sum up, the acoustic correlates associated with nasal resonance are complex and require the ability to precisely process acoustic information with a certain degree of frequency selectivity and sensitivity to amplitude variations, especially among low-frequency harmonics. Due to a deficit in frequency selectivity related to electrode spacing on the basilar membrane, the potential frequency compression in low frequencies and the lower spectral resolution of the sound transmitted, the distinction between nasal and oral vowels is likely to be a source of perceptual difficulty for cochlear implant users. To date, only a limited number of studies have addressed this issue.

1.5. Cochlear implant and nasality perception

In 2012, Bouton et al. conducted a study to evaluate the perception abilities of different phonetic features in French consonants and vowels, such as nasality, among children CI users. The study involved minimal pair identification and discrimination tasks with 25 children between 7 and 12 years old with bilateral profound deafness and wearing unilateral CI. Twenty-five typical hearing (TH) children were also included in the study as age-matched controls. The results showed significantly lower scores in the CI users' group, for both consonants and vowels. However, the differences between the two groups were more pronounced for certain features, such as place of articulation for consonants, but especially for nasality which caused more errors within consonants and vowels. The authors justify the increased difficulty in perceiving the features of nasality and place of articulation by the fact that they could be carried by temporal fine structure (TFS cues; Rosen, 1992), unlike voicing and manner of articulation features which would be carried by the temporal envelope of the signal (E cues; Rosen, 1992), and therefore better transmitted by the CI. The authors suggest that children with CI exhibit lower spectral resolution abilities, particularly in the low frequencies, which may have a greater impact on nasal vowels, as these present additional poles and/or zeros in F1 vicinity.

Borel (2015) and Borel et al. (2019) has conducted various studies on the perception of vowel nasality among French-speaking adult CI users. In a first study, 82 severely deaf adult participants with unilateral (n=76) and bilateral (n=6) CI showed significantly lower performance compared to their hearing peers in identifying nasal vowels in a phonemic identification task, perceiving them as oral vowels, regardless of their age or their CI use duration. Borel (2015) continued her investigation with a discrimination task of oral and nasal vowel pairs in 15 unilaterally CI adult and 6 typical hearing (TH) participants, involving "phonological" pairs based on the classical morpho-phonological opposition described above (/ $\tilde{\alpha}$ /-/a/, / $\tilde{\delta}$ /-/ ε /), and "phonetic" pairs contrasting nasal vowels with the oral vowels that are phonetically closest to them based on the literature and the author's clinical experience $(/\tilde{\alpha}/-/\mathfrak{d}/, /\tilde{\delta}/-/\mathfrak{d}/)$. The results confirm that the CI participants have significantly lower performance than TH subjects for both types of oral-nasal pairs, and that phonetic pairs are significantly less recognized than phonological pairs. By examining the characteristics of the stimuli used in the discrimination task, the author observed that the vowels in the socalled "phonetic" nasal/oral pairs were very similar in terms of spectral peaks, the differences being mainly differences in relative intensity between the lowfrequency peaks. Considering the limitations in spectral processing associated with the implant, phonetic pairs are therefore more likely to cause difficulties for CI recipients than phonological pairs, leading to more difficulties in discrimination tasks and more substitution errors during identification tasks.

1.6. Inter-subject influencing factors in sound processing

Several factors are known to be key influencers of language performance in general, and speech perception in particular, for children with cochlear implants. Among these, the age of implantation stands out as a critical determinant. Early implantation is essential to ensure the optimal development of cortical areas dedicated to auditory signal processing and speech perception during sensitive periods of development (Gao et al., 2021; Kral et al., 2019; Sharma et al., 2020). Auditory experience also plays a crucial role, as evidenced by the positive effects of the duration of cochlear implant use in both adults (Holder et al., 2020) and children (Park et al., 2019), as well as the influence of chronological or auditory age (Dunn et al., 2014). The quantity and quality of language stimulation before and after implantation are other crucial factors in enhancing perceptual skills (Sharma et al., 2020). Some language rehabilitation tools also have an impact on perceptual abilities. For example, Cued Speech (Cornett, 1967) is a manual code used in addition to spoken language to supplement the lipreading, aiming to enable visual access to all distinctive features of speech sounds. Its integration into the care and communication of children with cochlear implants has been recognized as having positive effects on speech perception (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert et al., 2016; Leybaert & LaSasso, 2010; Van Bogaert et al., 2023) and speech production (Machart et al., 2021).

1.7. Aims of the study

The studies by Bouton et al. (2012) and Borel (2015, 2019) highlight difficulties in perceiving the distinction between nasal and oral vowels among Frenchspeaking adults and children CI recipients. However, it's worth noting that both studies focused on unilaterally implanted recipients. In contrast, bilateral cochlear implantation has been reported as beneficial for speech perception (Anand et al., 2022; Caselli et al., 2012; Sarant et al., 2014; Sharma et al., 2020; Zeitler et al., 2008) even in noise (Dunn et al., 2010; Müller et al., 2002), but also in terms of spectral resolution (Landsberger et al., 2018). Given that perceiving vowel nasality requires precise spectral resolution, one can assume that bilateral implantation could have a positive impact on the processing of this phonetic feature in Frenchspeaking children. Moreover, the phonological vs. phonetic proximity effect suggested by Borel (Borel, 2015) in adults seems very interesting to investigate in children. It has been shown that children, even without the experience of hearing undegraded signals, may develop enhanced skills in processing degraded auditory signals due to early implantation (Landsberger et al., 2018). As a result, children could exhibit different response patterns to adults because they exploit acoustic cues differently. Additionally, we lack data regarding open-set identification of nasal vowels in children. A fuller description of the types of error they make most often would provide a better understanding of the processing (dis)similarities underlying their difficulties. Similarly, an analysis of perceptual performance in relation with the acoustic characteristics of the stimuli should provide further insight into the specific cues CI children recipients use to process vowel nasalization. In this context, the present study pursues several objectives:

- Our first aim is to compare the performance of groups of French-speaking children with bilateral cochlear implants to that of children with typical hearing in the processing of contrastive vowel nasalization. Given the limitations of acoustic processing in cochlear implants, we may expect poorer performance in implanted children, as observed in previous literature. However, bilateral and early implantation could be positive factors influencing processing skills, which might bring the performance closer to that of children with typical hearing. Furthermore, we consider here several inter-individual factors known to influence speech perception and spectral resolution processing. Within the two groups, we thus formed groups based on chronological age, as well as auditory age for implanted children. For the children with implants, we also study whether sustained exposure to Cued Speech (CS) and early implantation (< 10 months) are associated with better performance.</p>
- In light of the results obtained by Borel (2015) with implanted adults, we aim to investigate the differential impact of phonological vs. phonetic proximity within pairs of nasal and oral vowels in children with CI. We

hypothesize that in identification tasks, children may be more inclined to substitute nasal vowels with their phonetically similar oral counterparts and may have lower performance in discriminating phonetically close nasal/oral pairs, similar to the implanted adults in Borel's (2015) study. However, these difficulties may be more compensated for in children whose phonological system has developed based on linguistic input degraded by the implant, as suggested by Landsberger (2018).

- The literature suggests that children developing their phonological system through a cochlear implant make differentiated use of the different acoustic cues available to support certain phonological contrasts. The present study aims at exploring this possibility in the case of distinctive vowel nasalization, a contrast which relies on fine spectral resolution skills, by analyzing which acoustic features of the stimuli are best related to children's performance in our perceptual tasks. More specifically, we have measured a variety of acoustic cues related to overall vowel intensity, fine spectral properties (formant frequencies, bandwidths, and amplitudes; nasal poles) and temporal envelope. Children with cochlear implants who rely more on cues better encoded by the implant (such as temporal envelope) can be expected to perform better in perceptual tasks.

2. Method

2.1. Participants

The study was conducted with two groups of children aged between 5 and 12 years old: a group of children with hearing loss and wearing bilateral cochlear implants (CI group) and a control group of children with typical hearing (TH group). The CI group included 13 children (7 girls and 6 boys), aged between 5;8 years and 11;6 years (mean: $8;7 \pm 2;4$ years), with prelingual bilateral profound hearing loss. All children of the CI group used bilateral cochlear implants (implanted between 9 and 30 months, mean: $13;7 \pm 6$ months). Children who were implanted before the age of 10 months were considered to be early implanted (recent studies have shown that implantation before 10 months allows for more natural language development, Karltorp et al., 2020), and there were 7 of them in the sample. Their vocal audiometry curve with CI for word/pseudoword repetition ranged from 88% to 100% at 55/60 dB. All of them received an oralist auditory rehabilitation, both in their rehabilitation center and in their family context. We have taken into account the level of Cued Speech (CS) exposure: 6 of the children are exposed occasionally (during their speech therapy sessions with an average of

3 sessions per week but not in their home environment) whereas 7 have been exposed early in their development and intensively (in their family context as well as during their speech therapy sessions). More specifically, parents of children with early and sustained exposure have been trained to code in CS and appreciate the importance of using it to support spoken language. CS was used on a daily and sustained basis from an early age, but for some to a lesser extent as the children were able to use their implants appropriately. The list of participants and their characteristics are presented in Table 2.1.

Subject	Sex	Chronological age (years ; mon- ths)	Chronologi- cal age group	Auditory age group	Age at implanta- tion (mon- ths)	Implanta- tion age group	Cued speech exposure
CI1	М	5;11	4-6y.	4 - 6y.	12	>10m.	Occasionnal
CI2	М	5;10	4-6y.	4-6y.	9	≤10m.	Early&frequent
CI3	М	6;8	4-6y.	4 - 6y.	10	≤10m.	Early&frequent
CI4	F	6;10	4-6y.	4-6y.	13	>10m.	Early&frequent
CI5	М	6;11	4-6y.	4-6y.	10	≤10m.	Early&frequent
CI6	F	8;6	8-9y.	4-6y.	19	>10m.	Occasionnal
CI7	F	8;8	8-9y.	8-9y.	12	>10m.	Early&frequent
CI8	М	9;7	8-9y.	8-9y.	9	≤10m.	Occasionnal
CI9	F	10;8	10-12y.	8-9y.	19	>10m.	Occasionnal
CI10	М	10;8	10-12y.	8-9y.	10	≤10m.	Occasionnal
CI11	М	10;11	10-12y.	10-12y.	10	≤10m.	Occasionnal
CI12	F	11;5	10-12y.	10-12y.	12	>10m.	Early&frequent
CI13	F	11;6	10 - 12y.	10-12y.	30	>10m.	Early&frequent

Table 2.1: Characteristics of the CI children.

The TH group consisted of 25 children (11 girls and 14 boys) aged 5 to 12 years old (mean: 8; 6 ± 2 ;4 years). Subjects who received or were undergoing speech therapy were excluded during recruitment. Three age subgroups were formed: 4-6 years old, 7-9 years old, and 10-12 years old. To compare the effect of the two kinds of grouping, the CI children were grouped on their chronological age as well as on their auditory age (Table 2.1). The TH children were grouped only on their chronological age.

Group	Number of participants	Mean age (years ; months)	Chronological age subgroups	Auditory age subgroups
CI group	13	8;7	4-6 years (3), 7-9 years (6), 10-12 years (4)	1-2 years (7), 3-4 years (3), 5-6 years (3)
TH group	25	8;6	4-6 years (9), 7-9 years (8), 10-12 years (8)	N/A (typical hearing)

 Table 2.2: Age characteristics of main groups (CI and TH) and subgroups based on chronological or auditory age.

2.2. Stimuli

2.2.1. Stimuli construction

The stimuli consisted of C1V1C2V2 pseudowords where C1=C2=/t/ and V1=V2= / \tilde{a} , \tilde{s} , $\tilde{\epsilon}$, a, s, ϵ , u/. The phonological and phonetic correspondences for each nasal are reported in Table 2.3.

Nasal target	Oral phonological	Oral phonetic
8-	correspondent	correspondent
/ã/	/a/	/ɔ/
$ \tilde{e} $	/ɛ/	/a/
/ɔ̃/	/ɔ/	/u/

Table 2.3: Nasal targets and their corresponding oral phonological and phonetic counterparts.

Note that for the nasal $\frac{5}{}$, phonotactic rules (position law: Fougeron and Smith, 1993) prevent the creation of stimuli with identical syllabic structure bearing the semi-open /o/ vs. semi-closed /o/. In an open syllable, only the sequence /toto/ is possible, typically realized as [toto] in Belgian French. Consequently, the considered phonetic correspondence for this study is the high vowel /u/. Note that this choice is entirely congruent with the data of Carignan (2014). Indeed, based on acoustic analyses of nasal and oral vowel productions in French, it was observed that the oro-pharyngeal configuration of the nasal vowel [5] corresponded more closely to the production of the oral vowel [o] with higher tongue position (Carignan thus proposes the phonetic notation $[\tilde{0}]$). The phoneme /u/ is the French vowel closest to this articulatory configuration and is therefore a relevant oral phonetic counterpart. The constructed stimuli were thus /tãtã/, /tãtã/, /tɛ̃tɛ̃/, /tata/, /toto/, /tete/, /tutu/. These pseudowords were produced repeatedly by a male speaker and recorded in a soundproof room. One iteration per item was selected as being the most neutral in terms of prosody with typical articulation. Within the selected items, vowels were normalized in terms of durations (V1: 100 ms; V2: 150 ms) intensity (mean value : 72 dB) and pitch (mean value : 122 Hz) using PRAAT Toolkit (Corretge, 2019).

2.2.2. Acoustic characteristics of the stimuli

Table 2.4 presents the acoustic characteristics of the 7 target vowels extracted from the stimuli, in medial (vowel 1) and final (vowel 2) positions. We collected a series of acoustic features that have been documented as being associated with the distinction between oral and nasal vowels (for a complete review, see Styler, 2017) : 1) the frequency values of the first three formants, 2) their bandwidths and 3) their amplitudes, 4) A1-P0 and A1-P1 values (demonstrated to be associated with nasal resonance – Chen, 1995, 1997 ; Styler, 2017) and 5) the overall vowel intensity. All these measures were taken in the middle of the most stable portion of the vowel using a PRAAT script adapted from the one provided by Styler (2017).

	Vowel	F1	bF1	aF1	F2	bF2	aF2	F3	bF3	aF3	A1-P0	A1-P1	Intensity	ENV
	• • • • • •	(Hz)	(Hz)	(dB)	(Hz)	(Hz)	(dB)	(Hz)	(Hz)	(dB)	(dB)	(dB)	(dB)	(dB)
Vowel 1	/ã/	448	239	40,3	964	395	28,9	2520	631	9,2	-1,69	14,75	0,057	307,00
	/ĩ/	457	232	41,2	1445	204	26,4	2604	731	15,5	-2,00	19,10	0,076	377,00
	/3/	336	174	41,7	1285	851	7,9	2783	269	9,6	-2,27	33,29	0,088	398,00
	/a/	560	41	44,6	1440	161	28,5	2676	510	19,3	5,18	24,01	0,089	479,00
	/0/	379	64	45,4	1162	550	19,7	2584	405	12,8	4,01	28,27	0,079	272,00
	/u/	345	131	42,6	1171	181	8,7	2136	375	11,4	0,33	27,59	0,069	193,00
	/ɛ/	310	36	45,4	1846	241	22,0	2575	477	18,0	2,88	35,86	0,101	477,00
Vowel 2	/ã/	444	232	41,0	1072	422	24,5	2554	664	7,1	-3,07	22,31	0,066	542,00
	/ĩ/	379	371	40,2	1430	300	25,7	2639	2667	11,7	-3,22	16,44	0,053	459,00
	/3/	340	158	43,4	1183	1405	13,0	2245	550	7,2	-1,88	31,99	0,081	461,00
	/a/	551	54	47,8	1332	166	28,9	2678	267	21,9	4,83	20,09	0,088	811,00
	/ o /	358	81	45,6	1026	436	22,7	2641	504	7,3	2,18	27,27	0,075	601,00
	/u/	329	194	44,9	1153	592	11,2	2034	652	4,5	-2,29	31,79	0,068	498,00
	<i>\</i> 8/	336	31	47,1	1829	309	22,7	2501	730	17,0	4,27	36,29	0,091	775,00
	Nasal-	NS	.003	.001	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	.008	NS	NS	NS
	Oral													

 Table 2.4: Acoustic characteristics of target vowels in both syllable positions (medial and final). Last line indicates the level of significance of a Mann-Whitney test conducted between nasal and oral vowels.

In order to compare the acoustic characteristics of oral and nasal vowels in our stimuli, the two groups of vowels were first compared using Mann-Whitney tests on all these measures. It can be observed that only the bandwidth and amplitude values of F1, along with the A1-P0 values, demonstrate a significant difference between nasal and oral vowels considered as a group (see Table 2.4), which is congruent with the literature (see section 1.1). As a second step, we calculated the difference between the acoustic values of the two members of each phonetic and phonological pair (Table 2.5). For the formant values, we also computed the Euclidean distance between the two vowels of each pair in the F1-F2 space. Since it is a parameter that may be preferentially utilized in children with cochlear implants, the temporal envelope of the vowel productions was compared within pairs using the "Envelope Index Difference" (Fortune et al., 1994) with a script developed by Nambi (2023). We used the intermediate values of envelope amplitude means to further characterize the vowels in Table 2.4. The Mann-Whitney tests comparing the phonetic and phonological pairs on the various differential parameters reported in table 2.5 show a significant difference only in the Euclidean distances in the F1-F2 space. This difference confirms that the phonological pairs indeed differ from the phonetic pairs in their oro-pharyngeal configuration, as expected. Spectral representations of nasal vowels and their phonetic and phonological correspondents are available in Appendix 1.

	Dair type	Dair	Δ	Δ	Δ	Δ	Δ	Δ	Δ	Δ	Δ	D.E.	Δ	Δ	Δ	FDI
	I all type	1 all	F1	bF1	aF1	F2	bF2	aF2	F3	bF3	aF3	F1/F2	A1-P0	A1-P1	Intensity	EDI
	Phonological	/ã/-/a/	-112	198	-4,3	-476	235	0,4	-155	121	-10,1	489	-6,87	-9,27	-0,031	0,11
		3/-/3/	-43	110	-3,8	483	300	-11,7	199	-137	-3,3	130	-6,28	5,02	0,009	0,06
Vowel		/ẽ/ - /ɛ/	146	196	-4,2	-401	-37	4,4	29	254	-2,5	427	-4,89	-16,77	-0,025	0,04
1	Phonetic	/ã/-/3/	69	175	-5,1	-198	-155	9,3	-64	226	-3,6	209	-5,70	-13,53	-0,022	0,13
		/3/-/u/	125	42	-0,9	339	-1040	-0,8	615	-106	-1,9	114	-2,59	5,70	0,019	0,06
		/ẽ/-/a/	-103	191	-3,4	4	44	-2,1	-72	222	-3,8	103	-7,18	-4,92	-0,012	0,07
	Phonological	/ã/-/a/	-108	178	-6,8	-260	256	-4,5	-123	397	-14,7	281	-7,90	2,22	-0,022	0,09
		3 - 3	-18	78	-2,3	157	969	-9,7	-396	45	-0,1	158	-4,06	4,72	0,006	0,08
Vowel		/ẽ/ - /ɛ/	43	340	-6,9	-398	-10	3,0	138	1937	-5,3	401	-7,49	-19,85	-0,038	0,12
2	Phonetic	/ã/-/ɔ/	86	152	-4,7	46	-14	1,8	-86	160	-0,1	97	-5,25	-4,96	-0,009	0,13
		/3/-/u/	95	-36	-1,5	-577	813	1,8	-560	-102	2,7	32	0,41	0,20	0,013	0,07
		/ẽ/-/a/	-172	317	-7,5	99	133	-3,3	-38	2400	-10,2	199	-8,05	-3,65	-0,035	0,05
	Phonological- Phonetic		NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	.026	NS	NS	NS	NS

 Table 2.5: Distances between the various acoustic indices among the members of different pairs in the discrimination task. Last line indicates the level of significance of a Mann-Whitney test conducted between phonological and phonetic pairs.

2.3. Experimental tasks

2.3.1. Identification

The identification task consisted of presenting a sentence in which the CVCV pseudoword target was embedded. The sentences were naturally produced by the same male speaker as the pseudowords. Four pairs of carrier sentences were structured so that the pseudoword was placed in two different prosodic positions (for example: "I saw /tãtã/ near the bus" or "Near the bus, I saw /tãtã/"), for a total of 56 sentences (8 carrier sentences * 7 target pseudowords; the 7 pseudowords remained identical across the different sentences). The choice of placing pseudowords in two positioning was made in order to generate more stimuli without multiplying the carrier sentences to avoid overburdening the task for children. The carrier sentences were deliberately constructed to exclude nasal vowels and to maintain a concise length of 7 to 8 syllables, minimizing the demand on shortterm memory. During the identification task, each pseudoword was associated with a character represented on a card placed on the table. In a first learning phase, the experimenter taught the child the name of the characters by associating a gesture and a supporting phrase (a phrase containing a rhyme with the pseudoword target) to facilitate retention. This learning phase aimed to ensure that the child was able to associate each pseudoword with the corresponding character. The experimenter conducted this learning phase until perfect accuracy was achieved in the identification of the various characters, providing feedback when necessary. In the actual task, the child was instructed to select the card that matched the character mentioned in a spoken sentence and place it next to the image that corresponded to the sentence produced. For example, when given the sentence "I saw /tɔ̃tɔ̃/ on the ball", the child would select the card labeled "/tɔ̃tɔ̃/" and place it next to the image of the ball. Given that the task's objective was to determine whether the child correctly identifies the target pseudoword, the response was considered correct when the child selected the correct card, regardless of where they placed it.

2.3.2. Discrimination

The discrimination task consisted of the presentation of pairs of pseudowords with an inter-stimulus gap of 100 ms. A total of 63 pairs were presented in a random order, i.e., 9 blocks of 7 pairs: 5 pairs of different stimuli and 2 pairs of same stimuli. The choice of an unequal distribution between identical and different pairs was guided by the intention to enhance participants' attention and motivation while preventing fatigue from too many identical stimuli. This consideration was particularly important given that perceptual difficulties might have arisen where differences would not have been perceived. These 9 blocks aimed to assess the perceptual distance between phonetically matched nasal and oral vowels, and between phonologically matched nasal and oral vowels. Pairs of oral/oral control were also included (Table 2.6).

	ã		ĩ		5	
	Pairs	Ν	Pairs	Ν	Pairs	Ν
Dhanalagian	Different :/tãtã/ – /tata/	5	Different : $/t\tilde{\epsilon}t\tilde{\epsilon}/ - /t\epsilon t\epsilon/$	5	Different : /tɔ̃tɔ̃/ – /tɔtɔ/	5
Phonological	Same : /tãtã/ – /tãtã/	1	Same : $/t\tilde{\epsilon}t\tilde{\epsilon}/ - /t\tilde{\epsilon}t\tilde{\epsilon}/$	1	Same : /tõtõ/ – /tõtõ/	1
puring	Same : /tata/ – /tata/	1	Same : /tɛtɛ/ – /tɛtɛ/	1	Same : /toto/ – /toto/	1
Dhanatia nai	Different : /tãtã/ – /tɔtɔ/	5	Different : /tɛ̃tɛ̃/ – /tata/	5	Different : /tɔ̃tɔ̃/ – /tutu/	5
rnoneuc pui-	Same : /tãtã/ – /tãtã/	1	Same : /tɛ̃tɛ̃/ - /tɛ̃tɛ̃/	1	Same : /tõtõ/ – /tõtõ/	1
ring	Same : /toto/ – /toto/	1	Same : /tata/ – /tata/	1	Same : /tutu/ – /tutu/	1
	Different: /tata/ – /tətə/	5	Different : /tɛtɛ/ – /tata/	5	Different : /tutu/ – /tətə/	5
Oral/oral con- trol	Same: /tata/ – /tata/	1	Same : $/t\epsilon t\epsilon / - /t\epsilon t\epsilon /$	1	Same: /tutu/ – /tutu/	1
uroi	Same: /toto/ - /toto/	1	Same : /tata/ - /tata/	1	Same: /toto/ - /toto/	1

Table 2.6: Pairs of stimuli in the discrimination task.

The discrimination task consisted in a two-alternative forced-choice procedure. Children had to judge whether the stimuli within each pair were the same or different. Children's responses were collected using a computer application on a touchscreen tablet (Microsoft Surface Pro3). To facilitate the understanding of the instructions, pictograms were placed on the response areas. A brief training phase was provided to the children, during which they were asked to judge as identical or different 6 pairs of stimuli (3 identical, 3 different) from the overall protocol. Feedback was provided during this training phase to help the child correctly select what they had heard as identical or different.

2.4. Procedure

The testing involved the completion of the identification task followed by the discrimination task, in this same order for all children. For both tasks, the auditory stimuli were presented to the children in free field through loudspeakers (Bose Soundlink II) which mean sound level was controlled using a sound level meter

and adjusted to 60 dB SPL (the usual threshold for perception tests), placed 1 meter away from the participants in a very quiet room.

2.5. Data analyses

The main independent variable is the auditory status of the participants (CI group vs. TH group). Another child-related variable was the chronological/auditory age (three subgroups in each group, see Table 2.2). The age of implantation was also considered by comparing children in the CI group who received their first implant early (< 10 months) or later (> 10 months). The effect of French Cued Speech (CS) exposure frequency was also studied for CI children, comparing those with occasional exposure (CI/CS-) to those with intensive exposure (CI/CS+). Regarding the task-related variables, we studied the effect of the type of vowel (oral/nasal) and the type of pair (phonologically matched oralnasal/phonetically matched oral-nasal).

For the identification task, the dependent variable was the accuracy of the response for each target phoneme of the task (56 stimuli * 38 participants). For the discrimination task, we calculated d' scores, obtained by subtracting normalized, centered, and reduced scores of correct detection proportions (rejecting a different pair) from those of false alarms (rejecting an identical pair) (MacMillan & Creelman, 1991). Extreme responses .0 and 1 were converted to .01 and .99 to allow for the calculation of z-scores on these proportions. A d' score was calculated for each vowel pair discriminated by each participant (9 pair types * 38 participants).

Identification responses and d' discrimination scores were analyzed with linear generalized mixed models using the lme4 package (1.1-34; Bates et al., 2015) in the R software (R Core Team, 2022). Models were parametrized with binomial distribution for the identification task (binary dependent variable: correct/incorrect) and with Gaussian distribution for the discrimination scores (continuous dependent variable: d' scores).

Different models were created, using each child-related variable (auditory status, chronological/auditory age group, CS exposure group, implantation age group) and its interaction with task-related variables (vowel type for identification; pair type for discrimination). A random intercept effect (subject) was included in the models to control inter-subject variability. The different models were compared using the AIC criterion, to determine the best predictor of the performance. Following a procedure described in Ditges et al. (2021), statistical significance of the fixed effect of categorical variables with only two levels were determined with Z-values and p-values within the model estimates. Interaction effect and fixed effects of categorical variables with three levels were determined with Chi-squared and p-values using the ANOVA function of the Car package (Fox & Weisberg, 2018) applied on the model. Power calculations have been performed on the fixed and interaction effects obtained within the best-fitting model to quantify their reliability, using the powersim function of the SimR package (Green & MacLeod, 2016), with N=200 Monte Carlo simulations. Pairwise comparisons between the levels of the different independent variables were also conducted with the emmeans package (Lenth et al., 2023) and reported in the result Tables below. The analyses were conducted on participants' responses in the two tasks (2128 data point for identification, 342 data point for discrimination), allowing us to work with a sufficient number of statistical subjects to partition the data based on our variables of interest (TH vs. CI groups; CI exposure among the CI group) despite the small number of subjects in the constituted subgroups. The precautions taken in the selection of acoustic analyses to control for inter-subject variability (random subject effects within the models) also seem pertinent in this regard.

Finally, we calculated association measures for both of our tasks using our acoustic measurements, which were treated as an ordinal scale (7 levels for identification, corresponding on each vowel of the stimuli, and 6 levels for discrimination, corresponding on the 6 pairs). For the identification task using a dichotomous scale (correct/incorrect), we employed the rank biserial correlation coefficient (effectsize package; Ben-Shachar et al. (2020), while for the discrimination task using a metric scale (d' scores), we used the eta-squared coefficient (BioStatR package, Bertrand & Maumy-Bertrand (2009).

3. Results

In supplementary materials, all the features of the best-fitting models presented are available, namely parameter values for the levels of fixed effects variables, along with p-values and associated power analyses.

3.1. Identification

3.1.1. Correct identification scores

The percentages of correct answers in the identification task are presented in Table 2.7.

		TH	CI	Sig.
Total		97,8 (0,003)	88,5 (0,011)	<.001
Vowel	ã	95,6 (0,017)	79,2 (0,07)	.004
	$ ilde{\jmath}$	99,1 (0,005)	94,2 (0,029)	.01
	$\widetilde{arepsilon}$	99,5 (0,003)	92,6 (0,035)	.001
	а	99,5 (0,003)	90,1 (0,04)	<.001
	ε	99,9 (0)	98,6 (0,011)	NS
	u	100 (0)	80,1 (0,072)	NS
	0	100 (0)	98,6 (0,011)	NS
	sig.	<.001	<.001	
Vowel type	Nasal	98 (0,009)	88,7 (0,04)	.001
	Oral	99,8 (0,001)	92,1 (0,03)	<.001
	sig.	<.001	NS	
Chronological age	<i>4-6y</i> .	95,3 (0,03)	91,8 (0,025)	NS
	7-9y.	99,7 (0,002)	87,4 (0,045)	<.001
	10-12y.	99,8 (0,002)	88,8 (0,031)	<.001
	sig.	.008	NS	
Auditory age	<i>4-6y</i> .	95,3 (0,03)	89,2 (0,03)	.04
	7-9y.	99,7 (0,002)	89,9 (0,02)	<.001
	10-12y.	99,8 (0,002)	90,7 (0,04)	<.001
	sig.	.008	NS	

Table 2.7: Correct identification scores (marginal means and standard deviations calculated with the EMMEANS package) (in %) for TH and CI groups and the different inter- and intra-subject variables, with associated significance levels.

The best-fitting model includes the global identification score of the CI group (88.5%), which is significantly lower than that of the TH group (97.8%) (β = -2.37, SE = 0.55, z = -4.28, p < .001). Notably, 17 out of 25 children in the TH group scored 100% on this task, while the maximum score in the CI group was 98%. Across all groups, nasal vowels showed lower identification scores than oral vowels (oral: 96.4%, nasal: 92.2%; β = 0.89, SE = 0.21, z = 4.31, p < .001). Furthermore, an interaction between auditory status and vowel type was found (β =

2.27, SE = 0.66, z = 3.42, p < .001), with the TH group showing lower scores for nasal vowels (oral-TH: 99.6%, nasal-TH: 95.3%; β = 4.10, SE = 0.815, z = -5.036, p < .0001), while no significant vowel type effect was found in the CI group (oral-CI: 90.1%, nasal-CI: 86.2%; β = -0.404, SE = 0.240, z = -1.685, p = 0.09). Examining the vowels affected by these differences between our groups, we observed lower scores for the three nasal vowels / \tilde{a} / (p = .008), / \tilde{a} / (p = .01), / $\tilde{\epsilon}$ / (p = .002), and for the oral vowel /a/ (p = .0006).

Given the different child-related variables, the best-fitting model for analyzing the identification response includes auditory status, auditory age group, and vowel type. A chronological age effect was found only in the TH group, with scores increasing significantly from ages 4-6 to 7-8 ($\beta = 2.052$, SE = 1.0366, z = 1.98, p = 0.0478) and from ages 4-6 to 10-12 ($\beta = 3.3185$, SE = 1.459, z = 2.275, p = 0.0229) for nasal vowels but not significantly for oral vowels. In the CI group, no effect of chronological age or auditory age was found for the two vowel types.

In the CI group, the best-fitting model includes a significant effect of CS exposure grouping, without an interaction with vowel type: children with more supported exposure to Cued Speech (CI/CS+) show significantly higher scores than children with occasional exposure (CI/CS-) (83% vs. 93.1%; $\beta = 1.02$, SE = 0.307, z = 3.342, p < .001) for both oral ($\beta = -1.15$, SE = 0.401, z = -2.857, p = .004) and nasal vowels ($\beta = -0.904$, SE = 0.388, z = -2.33, p = .01). This effect is observed for the phonemes / $\tilde{\epsilon}$ / (p = .04) and /u/ (p < .001) and marginally for / $\tilde{3}$ / ($\chi^2(1) = 2.9$; p = .08). However, the scores of the CI group with frequent Cued Speech exposure remained overall significantly lower than those of the TH group (93.1% vs. 97.8%; $\beta = 2.05$, SE = 0.788, z = -2.6, p = .009), with significant differences for the phoneme /a/ ($\beta = -2.885$, SE = 0.956, z = -3.016, p = .007) (see Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Correct identification ratio (mean and 95% CI) for each target phoneme, for the CI/CS- subgroup (dot), CI/CS+ subgroup (triangle) and TH group (square). Significant differences between groups are indicated with * (p<.05), ** (p<.005) or *** (p<.001).

The model including the effect of early implantation (without interaction with vowel type) was the second best-fitting model for the CI group (Table 2.8). The results show a marginal advantage of early cochlear implantation (< 10 months) on correct identification scores ($\beta = -0.65$, SE = 0.37, z = -1.767, p = .07). This difference was significant only in nasal vowels ($\beta = 0.904$, SE = 0.459, z = 1.992, p = .04), particularly for nasal vowels / \tilde{a} / (p = .07), with no significant differences found for oral vowels. However, the scores of early CI children remained lower than those of the TH children (92 vs. 97.5%; $\beta = 2.29$, SE = 0.883, z = 2.589, p = .009).

CI group		
Implantation	<10m.	92,6 (0,019)
	>10m.	86,6 (0,028)
	sig.	.07
Cued speech exposure	Occasional	83,5 (0,03)
	Frequent	93,4 (0,014)
	sig.	<.001

Table 2.8: CI group correct identification scores (marginal means and standard deviations) (in %) for the inter-subject variables "Implantation" and "Cued speech exposure", with associated significance levels.

3.1.2. Identification errors analysis

The confusion matrix (Table 2.9) provides information about the substitutions made by the two groups. In the TH group, the main error was substitutions of the phonemes $|\tilde{a}|$ by $|\tilde{b}|$ (10% of the stimuli), other substitutions being negligible (occurring with 2% or less of the total). In the CI group, the most frequent error was also confusions between $|\tilde{a}|$ and $|\tilde{b}|$, with a greater proportion ($|\tilde{a}| \rightarrow |\tilde{b}|$: 24%, but also conversely $|\tilde{b}| \rightarrow |\tilde{a}|$: 5.8%). Substitutions of the oral vowel /u/ was also frequent, with 15.4% of substitutions by /b/ and 6.7% by / ϵ /. The other main substitution is a confusion between nasal and oral vowels of the phonetic pair $|\tilde{\epsilon}/-a|$: substitutions $|\tilde{\epsilon}| \rightarrow |a|$ and $|a| \rightarrow |\tilde{\epsilon}|$ each occurred with a proportion of 9.6%.

	Response									
		ã	5	ĩ	a	Э	u	3		
	ã	TH : 90%	TH : 10%	TH : /	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/		
	u	CI:76%	CI : 22,1%	CI : 0,9%	CI : /	CI : 1%	CI: /	CI: /		
	ã	TH:/	TH : 97,5%	TH:/	TH:/	TH : 2%	TH : 0,5%	TH:/		
	3	CI : 5,8%	CI : 92,3%	CI:1%	CI : /	CI : 1%	CI : /	CI: /		
timulus	ĩ	TH:/	TH:/	TH : 98,5%	TH : 1,5%	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/		
	£	CI : /	CI : /	CI : 90,4%	CI : 9,6%	CI : /	CI : /	CI:/		
	0	TH : 0,5%	TH:/	TH : 1%	TH : 98,5%	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/		
	a	CI : 1,9%	CI : /	CI : 9,6%	CI:87,5%	CI : /	CI : /	CI:1%		
		TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH : 100%	TH:/	TH:/		
	3	CI : /	CI : 1,9%	CI : /	CI : /	CI : 98,1%	CI : /	CI : /		
		TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH:100%	TH:/		
	u	CI : /	CI:1%	CI : /	CI : /	CI : 15,4%	CI : 76,9%	CI:6,7%		
	0	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH:/	TH : 100%		
	ε	CI : /	CI : /	CI : /	CI : /	CI : 1,9%	CI : /	CI : 98,1%		

Table 2.9: Confusion matrix for each target phoneme, for TH and CI groups.

To observe whether a phonetic/phonological proximity effect is observed, errors were classified on this substitution types: substitutions between nasal and oral vowels (or vice versa) that are phonologically related and substitutions between nasal and oral vowels (or vice versa) that are phonetically related (Table 2.10). Children in the CI group substitute more nasal vowels with phonetically related orals than TH children ($\chi^2(1) = 27.2$; p<.001). On the other hand, there were no significant differences of substitutions between phonologically matched oral and nasal vowels between the two groups ($\chi^2(1) = 0.638$; p =.424).

Substitution type	TH	CI	χ^2 ; p-value	
$Nasal \leftrightarrow Oral$	5 (0 4%)	4 (0, 5%)	$x^{2}(1) = 0.638 \cdot n = 424$	
- phonological pairing	5 (0,470)	4 (0,370)	$\chi(1) = 0,038$, p = .424	
$Nasal \leftrightarrow Oral$	6(0.4%)	22(30/2)	$y^{2}(1) = 27.2 \cdot n < 0.01 * * *$	
- phonetic pairing	0 (0,470)	22 (370)	$\chi(1) = 27.2$, p<.001	

 Table 2.10: Number of substitutions (and % of total number of responses) for each substitution type in TH and CI groups, with associated statistical test.

3.2. Discrimination

		TH	CI	Sig.
Total		4,41 (0,09)	4,12 (0,13)	.04
Pair	/ã/-/a/	4,41 (0,15)	4,11 (0,21)	NS
	/3/-/3/	4,34 (0,15)	3,86 (0,2)	.04
	$ \tilde{\epsilon} $ - $ \epsilon $	4,56 (0,15)	4,15 (0,2)	NS
	$ \tilde{\epsilon} $ -/a/	4,34 (0,15)	4,04 (0,2)	NS
	/ã/-/ɔ/	4,31 (0,15)	4,26 (0,21)	NS
	/ <i>3/-/u/</i>	4,48 (0,15)	4 (0,2)	.06
	sig.	NS	NS	
Pair type	Phonological	4,44 (0,1)	4,03 (0,152)	.03
	Phonetic	4,38 (0,1)	4,1 (0,152)	NS
	sig.	NS	NS	
Chronological age	<i>4-6y</i> .	4,2 (0,2)	4,18 (0,22)	NS
	7 - 9y.	4,47 (0,15)	3,73 (0,29)	.02
	10-12y.	4,48 (0,16)	4,15 (0,22)	NS
	sig.	NS	NS	
Auditory age	<i>4-6y</i> .	4,2 (0,2)	3,99 (0,2)	NS
	7 - 9y.	4,47 (0,15)	4,22 (0,25)	NS
	10-12y.	4,48 (0,16)	4 (0,29)	NS
-	sig.	NS	NS	

In the discrimination task, we analyzed the d' scores, which ranged from 0 to 4.65 (see Table 2.11).

 Table 2.11: Pairwise d' scores for each group (marginal mean and standard deviation), for the different inter- and intra-subject variables, with significance level of statistical tests.

The best-fitting model included the subject random effect and the group effect, without interaction with the pair type (phonetic or phonological). Notably, the average d' score of the TH group (4.41) was significantly higher than that of the CI group (4.06) ($\beta = 0.3427$, SE = 0.1667, t = 2.055, p = .04). The two groups differed significantly only in their performance on phonological pairs ($\beta = -0.41$, SE = 0.18, t = -2.19, p = .03), while there was no significant difference for phonetic pairs ($\beta = -0.27$, SE = 0.18, t = -1.5, p = .14). We found no effects of the child-related variables, including chronological/auditory age for both groups, age of implantation and CS exposure in the CI group, regardless of the type of pairs studied (Table 2.12).

CI group		
Implantation	<10m.	4,06 (0,27)
	>10m.	4,07 (0,25)
	sig.	NS
Cued speech exposure	Occasional	3,9 (0,27)
	Frequent	4,21 (0,25)
	sig.	NS

 Table 2.12: CI group d' score marginal means (and standard deviations) for the inter-subject variables "Implantation" and "Cued Speech exposure" with associated significance level.

It's noteworthy that 15 out of 25 (60%) of the typically hearing children and 4 out of 13 (30%) of the CI children achieved the maximum d' score. No effects of the child-related variables (chronological/auditory age for both groups, CS exposure, age of implantation for the CI group) were found to influence the distribution of children between those with and without this ceiling effect. Regarding the pairs investigated, 275 out of the 342 pairs studied obtained the maximum d' score. There were proportionally fewer TH children (13.3%) obtaining the maximum score for phonological pairs than CI children (33.3%) ($\chi^2 = 6.3$; p = .012). However, this proportion was statistically equivalent for phonetic pairs (TH = 17.3%, CI = 28.2%; $\chi^2 = 1.8$; p = .177). Among the d' values of the 67 pairs that didn't obtain the maximum scores, a differential effect of auditory status on pair type was observed. While no significant group effect was found for phonological pairs (TH = 3.04; CI = 2.77; $\beta = 0.268$, SE = 0.253, t = 1.059, p = .302), a significant difference in favor of TH children was observed for phonetic pairs (TH = 3.05; CI = 2.69; $\beta = 0.359$, SE = 0.17, t = 2.114, p = .04), as shown in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: d' scores distribution (mean and 95% CL) for both groups (CI and TH) and pair type (phonological vs phonetic).

Additionally, a Pearson correlation test revealed a moderate positive correlation between the scores obtained in the discrimination and identification tasks (r = 0.39; p = 0.015).

3.3. Performance in relation to the acoustical properties of the stimuli

The measures of association between scores on perceptual tasks and various acoustic characteristics (rank biserial correlation values for identification task, eta-squared values for discrimination task) of the stimuli are available in Tables 1 and 2 in the appendices.

In the identification task, moderate to strong links are observed between the TH group performance and various categories of acoustic cues. These include formant frequency (F1, F2), bandwidth (F1, F3), amplitude (F1, F2, F3), as well as the A1-P0 and A1-P1 values. A moderate link is also found with vowel intensity. In the CI group, only weak to moderate links are observed between performance and the acoustic features of the stimuli. Links greater than 0.3 are found for formant amplitude (F1, F3) and A1-P1 values. Upon closer examination of these same associations within the CI/CS- and CI/CS+ groups, slightly different profiles emerge. Indeed, within the CI/CS- group, additional moderate links are
found with the bandwidth of F1, A1-P0 values as well as the intensity and amplitude of the temporal envelope of the vowel.

In the discrimination task, children in the TH group exhibit weak correlations between their performance and within-pair differences in F2 frequency, as well as the temporal envelope of the entire pseudoword. Similarly in the CI group, there are only weak associations between performance and acoustic cues, including the bandwidth of F3, formant amplitudes (F1, F2), and A1-P1 values. A closer look at the CS- and CS+ groups reveal slightly different profiles. Specifically, in the CS+ group, there is a moderate correlation between discrimination performance and the index of temporal envelope difference computed on the first vowel (0.04), and a stronger correlation when envelope difference index is on the second vowel (0.06). In contrast, in the CS- group there are associations between discrimination scores and differences in formant frequencies (F2, F3, and the Euclidean distance F1/F2), as well as in the bandwidths of F1 and F2 and in the amplitude of F3.

4. Discussion

This research aimed to assess the perception skills of French oral and nasal vowels in children with typical hearing (TH) and children with cochlear implants (CI) aged between 5 and 11 years. The vocalic nasality in French seems to be of significant interest to investigate, given its reliance on spectral resolution skills that can indeed pose challenges for cochlear implant (CI) recipients. The investigation comprised two tasks: an identification task involving pseudowords containing oral or nasal vowels in a sentence context and a discrimination task featuring pairs of the same pseudowords. The discrimination task was designed to contrast nasal vowels with their phonological and phonetic oral counterparts, following a methodology inspired by Borel's research (2015). Our research had three main objectives: 1) to compare the performance of children with cochlear implants to that of children with typical hearing, with a specific focus on various factors that could potentially yield more favorable results (chronological/auditory age, exposure to Cued Speech, and early implantation); 2) to explore the potential impact of phonological vs. phonetic proximity between nasal and oral vowels; and 3) to investigate how different types of acoustic cues (related to spectral vs. temporal resolution) in the stimuli used in perceptual tasks might affect children's performance.

An effect of auditory status was found in both tasks, with children in the CI group showing lower scores than their TH peers in the identification and discrimination of oral and nasal vowels. In the identification task, difficulties specifically with nasal vowels were expected. However, children in the CI group also showed difficulties in identifying oral vowels, particularly for the phoneme /u/ which had the lowest identification rate after the phoneme $/\tilde{a}$. Although this pattern of performance was unexpected, it seems to confirm our hypothesis of processing difficulties related to the mode of sound signal transmission through the cochlear implant, making certain phonemes, including nasal vowels, more vulnerable. Due to the relative lack of spectral information transmitted by the implant, particularly in low frequencies, and lower frequency selectivity due to the distribution of electrodes in the cochlea, spectral information related to nasal sounds may be perceived with less efficiency and result in confusion for certain types of segments. The distinction between nasal and oral vowels is, as explained in section 1.1, based on subtle acoustic cues, particularly intensity ratios between low-frequency harmonics (and thus, formant bandwidth) that are modified compared to their oral counterparts. Some oral vowels, having very close F1 and F2 values in the low frequencies, such as /u/, may also be vulnerable for similar reasons. Hawks et al. (1997) demonstrated increased difficulties in identifying phonemes with synthetically widened F1 bandwidths and suggested that this widening, causing activation to spread to adjacent electrodes corresponding to the formant frequency center, may be responsible for the lower identification performance. Furthermore, CI devices may be less efficient in encoding low-frequency components of the sound signal, possibly due to a lesser coverage by the implant of the apical regions of the cochlea.

Considering this, the difficulties of CI users would not concern specific phonemes, but rather the ability to distinguish them from counterparts with comparable and better-preserved acoustic properties. This hypothesis is supported by the error patterns of the CI children in our study: while TH children make only confusions between nasal vowels, implanted children make confusions between nasal and oral vowels that are close in their oropharyngeal articulatory configuration (F1 and F2 formants), similar to the error patterns presented by Borel which motivated the decision to include "phonetic pairs" in our discrimination tasks. The error patterns observed in the identification of the /u/ phoneme also support this proposition: the /ɔ/ phoneme, which has similar spectral values, is a good candidate for substitution. Additionally, /u/ and /ɔ/ have a similar articulatory configuration, at least on the most visible dimension, namely lip rounding. The acoustic cues related to oro-pharyngeal configuration appear to have a double advantage for the cochlear implanted population: they are carried by frequency information that, as long as they are not too close (as, for example, /u/), can be relatively well perceived, and they are also accompanied by articulatory gestures that are partially visually accessible (like anterior segments : anteriority effect on phonetic production being shown in CI children by Grandon, 2016).

The fact that CI children also substitute oral vowels with close nasal vowels in terms of F1/F2 supports the idea that their difficulties do not concern a particular class of phonemes, but rather certain characteristics of the sound signal, affecting in particular nasal vowels, and therefore not allowing them to be effectively discriminated from phonetic close segments. Note that to perceive the differences between nasal and oral vowels, implanted children, in natural language situations, can rely on their perception of typical formant patterns of these vowels. They can also rely on temporal parameters, which are reported to be well transmitted by the implant. Since French nasal vowels segments are generally longer than their oral counterparts (Delattre & Monnot, 1968; Delvaux, 2012), the characteristic lengthening of these segments can be an effectively exploitable clue not degraded by the cochlear implant to distinguish nasal and oral segments. The stimuli in our study were controlled in terms of their segmental length, forcing the children to rely solely on the processing of spectral information, and thus explaining the confusions between close nasal and oral vowels on their F1-F2 configurations. Moreover, the most frequent error in the identification task within the CI group was on the nasal phoneme $/\tilde{a}/$ confused with another nasal $/\tilde{a}/$. This confusion can also be explained by the phonetic proximity on their F1/F2 patterns, as these two phonemes have a close oropharyngeal configuration. However, this confusion, also present in the group of hearing children, does not seem to indicate specific difficulties for children with cochlear implants.

Furthermore, in line with our hypotheses, the results of the present work contrast with the studies previously cited on one major aspect. Indeed, the performance, reaching almost 90% for the identification task and 95% for the discrimination task, are very high compared to those obtained by Bouton et al. (2012) and Borel (2015, Borel et al. 2019). These high scores can first be explained by the fact that, unlike the participants in the studies by Borel and Bouton, in which adults and children were mostly unilaterally implanted, all children in our experimental group were bilaterally implanted. The advantage of bilateral cochlear implantation has been demonstrated for speech perception, both in noise (Dunn et al., 2010; Müller et al., 2002), and in experimental situations (Anand et al., 2022; Caselli et al., 2012; Sarant et al., 2014; Zeitler et al., 2008). Furthermore, a positive impact of bilateral hearing has been demonstrated by Landsberger et al. (2018) in spectral resolution processing and by DiNino et al. (2020) in the better utilization of salient acoustic cues (cue-trading, developed below). The present results appear to support the findings of these different authors. It could be hypothesized that, in the case of nasality perception, which relies on the perception of fine spectral cues, bilateral implantation may maximize the chances for the electrodes in both ears to improve spectral resolution and cover critical frequencies for the perception of speech sounds. Sarant (2014) mentioned a benefit of bilateral implantation, particularly the "binaural redundancy effect", which means that speech perception could be improved because the brain is presented with two opportunities to process the same signal, which is entirely congruent with this idea. This performance can also be related to the early age of implantation in our sample, with the CI children in the study mostly being implanted before the age of 2 (9 to 30 months), whereas the average age of implantation was higher in Bouton et al.'s study (22 to 42 months). Many studies document the beneficial impact of early implantation on language performance and linguistic abilities (Dettman et al., 2016; Karltorp et al., 2020; Tamati et al., 2022).

The present results support the use of CS to enhance speech sound perception: indeed, children who are exposed more intensively to CS present significantly higher performance than those who are exposed occasionally (83 vs. 93% in identification), even if the perceptual tasks here were only based on acoustic information. It should be noted that the use of CS may explain some surprising substitutions made by children in the CI group: the vowels /u/, /ɔ/ but also /ɛ/ - which are also confused with /u/ in identification tasks - are coded in the same manual position in the CS code, as the system does not anticipate confusion on these phonemes based on lipreading. It is possible that children with cochlear implants (CIs) who have been exposed to Cued Speech (CS) have internalized a representation of this manual code and may use it in cases of perceptual ambiguity. This could potentially lead to confusion between these phonemes when one of them is ambiguously perceived, and lipreading is not available to disambiguate them. Bayard et al. (2014), which have tested the McGurk effect through the presentation of stimuli in audio, visual, and audiovisual conditions with CS manual codes,

supported the beneficial contribution of CS coding for visual and audiovisual speech perception and showed similar substitution patterns. Indeed, when stimuli containing incongruent auditory and visual information were presented, the use of CS manual codes led to responses consistent with the CS manual code, demonstrating integration of the CS code and its privileged use in cases of perceptual conflict. This could also partly account for confusions between $/\tilde{a}/$ and $/\tilde{b}/$, which are also coded in the same location in the CS system.

An effect of chronological age in children with typical hearing was found in the identification task: children aged 4 to 6 have lower scores than those aged 7 to 9 and 10 to 12. These results are in line with various studies that have shown a positive correlation between chronological age and spectral resolution performance in typically hearing children, while this link with age (chronological or auditory) was not found in the CI population (DiNino & Arenberg, 2018; Horn et al., 2017; Jahn et al., 2022). Vocalic nasality perception, involving the perception of various fine acoustic cues, can thus be particularly linked to the maturation of spectral resolution skills in typically hearing children, explaining this performance profile. Moreover, improvement within the typically hearing (TH) group starts at the age of 7, which may reflect, in addition to maturation effects, the positive impact of the introduction of written language in the school environment on perceptual performance. Indeed, it is commonly accepted that high-quality phonological representations are essential for optimal acquisition of written language, but conversely, the acquisition of written language can help stabilize or even clarify certain phonological contrasts, as demonstrated with foreign language learners (Chadee, 2013; Detey, 2005). The orthographic code, which has the advantage of being available visually, could, once correctly encoded in long-term memory, facilitate the phonological processing of certain contrasts. However, this age effect is not found in implanted children, in accordance with the literature on spectral resolution. In this population, the acoustic limitations of the transmitted signal led to perceptual adaptations that have already been discussed, which do not appear to be related to maturation effects, at least not within the age range covered by this present study.

The hypotheses elaborating on Borel's study (2015), which suggested greater difficulties for CI children in discriminating phonetically paired (vs. phonologically paired) oral and nasal vowels, were partially confirmed here, even if the discrimination scores were rather complex to study due to some ceiling effects. More

than half of the TH children obtained a ceiling score on all pairs on this task, compared to one third of the CI children. The lowest scores in the CI group were for the two oral-nasal pairs containing the phoneme $\sqrt{3}$, the oral-nasal pair $\frac{\epsilon}{-\tilde{\epsilon}}$ and the oral-oral pair /u/-/ɔ/. Taking all participants' results into account, the differences between groups did not reach the level of significance, most probably due to large variability in the CI group. However, by studying only the scores not reaching the ceiling we found more discrimination errors for phonetic pairs in the CI group, as did Borel, confirming the hypothesis of an increased vulnerability of these nasal/oral pairs in the implanted population and supporting the explanatory leads formulated previously. Borel (2015) reported scores below or just at chance level (26% to 42% within 4 months or less post-implantation; 43% to 69% within 12 months or more post-implantation) on a nasal vowel identification task in postlingually deaf adults. The children in our study, who have congenital deafness and were implanted very early, exhibited superior performance. As suggested by Landsberger et al. (2018), young children developing their perceptual system around the acoustic signal transmitted by the implant may process this signal more efficiently than an adult who has developed their auditory system based on a more complete auditory signal. Indeed, babies with cochlear implants, with the support and assistance of early auditory rehabilitation during their sensitive periods of linguistic development, could develop sufficient discrimination abilities by exploiting the acoustic cues best transmitted by their cochlear implants. The implanted adults, who always had access to auditory information until the onset of deafness, would still tend to rely on spectral cues that are later absent or too imprecisely transmitted to allow them to identify certain speech units, such as nasal vowels. Brain plasticity can explain some differences between postlingually deafened adults and prelingually deafened children language outcomes: it is well established that adult brains retain some degree of plasticity, but it tends to be more limited compared to children which are highly adaptable and flexible (Ismail et al., 2017). This could also explain why the phonetic proximity of nasal/oral pairs had a lower impact on the performance of the children in this study, compared to the adult participants in Borel's study.

The analysis of potential links between performance in both tasks and the acoustic properties of the stimuli allows us to explore certain explanations for how the different groups of children process acoustic features. Firstly, let's high-light that the two tasks involve different perceptual mechanisms, which can lead to a different exploitation of perceived acoustic cues. In the case of identification,

the participants must necessarily consider relevant cues to identify the target phoneme in reference to their phonological representations stored in memory. However, when discriminating between two pseudowords, the participants may not necessarily rely on their phonological representations but can solely rely on their perceptual system to identify even minor differences based on the accessible acoustic features. Furthermore, the performance between the two tasks is only moderately correlated (r=0.4), indicating that the perceptual mechanisms are not strictly identical. Indeed, the types of indices primarily associated with performance differed between the two tasks. In the identification task, children in the TH group had their performance linked to various types of acoustic cues: frequencies, bandwidths, formant amplitudes, as well as indices related to the detection of nasal poles (A1-P0, A1-P1), and more global (vowel intensity) and temporal (amplitude of the temporal envelope) indices. Conversely, children in the CI group exhibited performance associations only with formant amplitude indices and the detection of the second nasal pole (A1-P1). Different profiles emerged based on exposure to Cued Speech (CS): children in the CS- group also showed links with the utilization of F1 bandwidth, vowel intensity, and the amplitude of the temporal envelope. In discrimination, the utilization of acoustic cues was more limited for both groups of children. For children in the TH group, performance was solely associated with differences between pairs involving F2 frequency and the temporal envelope of vowels. Children in the CI group again primarily had their performance associated with differences related to formant amplitude and differences linked to the second nasal pole (A1-P1 values). Once again, differences were observed among children in the CI group based on their exposure to CS. CS- children had their performance linked to differences in F1 bandwidth, while CS+ children benefited from differences related to the temporal envelope of the vowels. Considering that the CS+ group significantly outperforms in both tasks, it is interesting to examine these different relationships between performance and acoustic features. Overall, CS- group relies on a greater number of acoustic cues (similar to the TH group), while CS+ children primarily rely on formant amplitude cues for identification and temporal envelope differences for discrimination. This strategy proves to be successful in terms of performance. This more efficient use of a more limited number of acoustic cues could be linked to the study by DiNino et al. (2020), which demonstrated that children with implants who had the best phonetic perception were also those capable of prioritizing the acoustic cues that were presumably salient to them (i.e. they were better at "cue-trading"). Regular and early practice of CS, which is recognized for

leading to better phonological representations (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert et al., 2016; Leybaert & LaSasso, 2010; Van Bogaert et al., 2023), could therefore lead to a more efficient use of the acoustic cues that are better perceived through the implant, ultimately resulting in better speech perception performance. However, these different observations should be treated with caution. Acoustic characteristics were established a posteriori, i.e. once the construction of stimuli based on natural productions had been completed; they therefore do not vary linearly along the seven target stimuli studied. Additionally, due to the relatively high performance of our children's groups, we have limited variability in the scores, which ultimately revealed only weak to moderate links. Future studies could explore the use of natural or synthetic sound manipulation methods on these different acoustic parameters to induce more linear variations and observe their impact on phoneme perception, similar to the study about nasality perception conducted by Delvaux et al. (2012) on typically-hearing adults. This could involve more precise phonetic cue-weighting pattern comparisons about nasality perception, as seen in the work of DiNino et al. (2020).

This study presents certain limitations, the most important being the sample size of the CI group. As previously stated, the linguistic performance of children with cochlear implants varies greatly, and it would have been interesting to observe the results of our experimental tasks on a larger group with more diverse characteristics. However, the analyses conducted, considering inter-individual variability, revealed main effects (effect of auditory status, status*type of vowel interaction, effect of CS practice) with a statistical power exceeding 80% for the identification task. Effects with lower statistical power were related to age; therefore, it would be of great interest to validate the findings by better balancing the groups in terms of chronological/auditory age. In addition, the very high scores in the discrimination task led to more moderate effects. It would be interesting to replicate this type of study (discrimination of phonological vs. phonetic nasal/oral pairs) by varying the size of the stimuli. Bouton et al. (2012) and Borel (2015) used monosyllabic stimuli in their paradigms; our bisyllabic stimuli may have made the discrimination task easier. Furthermore, the average pitch of our male speaker was low, i.e., 122 Hz, and the perceptual performance of CI children may have been different with other speakers having a higher intrinsic F0. Finally, it would seem particularly interesting to include, in future studies assessing vocalic nasality contrast, non-linguistic tasks related to spectral resolution processing. Indeed, understanding to what extent these scores can explain the ease of processing vowel nasality from a developmental perspective in children with cochlear implants and typically hearing peers would help deepen our knowledge of the adaptive mechanisms by which implanted children build a phonological system based on a degraded auditory signal.

5. Conclusion

The results of this study confirm an increased difficulty for children with cochlear in identification and discrimination of speech sounds whose spectral characteristics differ in the low frequency zones and/or include close F1/F2 values, as is the case with French nasal vowels and certain oral vowels like /u/. These results, although specific to French sounds, are of great interest for understanding the specificities of the cochlear implant signal processing, and for inferring potential difficulties in other languages of the world that include sounds with these characteristics. Furthermore, it is worth noting that the performance, while remaining significantly lower than those of typically hearing peers, are relatively high (80% and above). This contrasts with previous studies that investigated nasal vowel perception in unilaterally implanted adults and children. This suggests a potential advantage of bilateral implantation for the perception of nasal/oral distinctions. Moreover, the associations between performance and the acoustic characteristics of the stimuli appear to indicate that a selective and prioritized utilization of acoustic cues (cue-trading) that are presumed to be better coded by the implant, such as the temporal envelope, can lead to improved perceptual skills. Finally, these results support the literature regarding the importance of early implantation in the development of phonological perception skills, as well as the interest in using visual support for speech perception, such as Cued Speech, to enhance better perceptual skills development in children with cochlear implants.

Chapter 3 Production of oral and nasal vowels

After studying the perceptual skills related to the vowel nasality feature, the present chapter examines the productive skills associated with nasal and oral vowels in the same children, through acoustic analyses of their speech productions as well as perceptual judgments performed on these productions. To our knowledge, this study is the first to study these skills in children with CI. The acoustic analyses aim to explore how different production strategies are used by the different groups of children for the distinction between nasal and oral vowels, as well as the impact of exposure to CS among children with CI. This study was conducted as part of the initial data collection related to the thesis, involving the same children as in Study 1 presented in the previous chapter.

The study has been submitted and, at the time of writing, has just been accepted for publication in the Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, with a reference that is, at this stage, still incomplete:

Fagniart, S., Delvaux, V., Harmegnies, B., Huberlant, A., Huet, K., Piccaluga, M., & Charlier, B. (in press). Producing nasal vowels without nasalization? Perceptual judgments and acoustic measurements of nasal/oral vowels produced by children with cochlear implants and typically hearing peers. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*.

The chapter presents a revised version of the manuscript, taking into consideration two rounds of reviewer feedback.

Abstract

Purpose: The objective of the present study is to investigate nasal and oral vowels production in French-speaking children with cochlear implants and children with typical hearing. Vowel nasality relies primarily on acoustic cues that may be less effectively transmitted by the implant. The study investigates how children with cochlear implants manage to produce these segments in French, a language with contrastive vowel nasalization.

Method: The children performed a task in which they repeated sentences containing a CVCV-type pseudoword, the vowel being a nasal or oral vowel from French. Thirteen children with cochlear implants (CI) and 25 children with typical hearing (TH) completed the task. Among the children with cochlear implants, the level of exposure to Cued Speech (CS) was either occasional (CS-) or intense (CS+). The productions were analyzed through perceptual judgments and acoustic measurements. Different acoustic cues related to nasality were collected: segmental durations, formant values and predicted values of nasalization. Multiple regression analyses were conducted to examine which acoustic features are associated with perceived nasality in perceptual judgments.

Results: The perceptual judgements realized on the children's speech productions indicate that children with sustained exposure to Cued Speech (CS+) exhibited the best-identified and most distinct oral/nasal productions. Acoustic measures revealed different production profiles among the groups: children in the CS+ group seem to differentiate between nasal and oral vowels by relying on segmental duration cues and variations in oropharyngeal configurations (associated with formant differences) but less through nasal resonance.

Conclusion: The study highlights 1) a benefit of sustained CS practice for CI children for the intelligibility of nasal-oral segments; 2) privileged exploitation of temporal (segmental duration) and salient acoustic cues (oropharyngeal configuration) in the CS+ group; 3) difficulties among children with CI in distinguishing nasal-oral segments through nasal resonance.

Keywords: Cochlear implant, vocalic nasality, phonetics, Cued Speech.

1. Introduction

In prelingually deaf children with cochlear implants (CI), specific characteristics in productive skills have already been observed in numerous studies. For oral vowels, children with CIs differed from typically-hearing (TH) peers in F1 and F2 frequency values and showed a tendency of vowel centralization and vowel space reduction (Liker et al., 2007; Neumeyer et al., 2010; Ryalls et al., 2003; Verhoeven et al., 2016; Yang & Xu, 2021). For consonants, studies have shown lower distinction between voiced and voiceless stops (Horga & Liker, 2006) and among the different fricative consonants (Liker et al., 2007; Mildner & Liker, 2008; Todd et al., 2011; Uchanski & Geers, 2003). In French, various investigations have shown shorter Voice Onset Time values for voiceless stops compared to individuals with typical hearing, with a significant difference for the velar /k/ (Grandon et al., 2017), as well as specificities in the distinction between fricatives /s/ and /f/(Grandon et al., 2020). In the production of vowels, differences have been observed between French-speaking children with cochlear implants (CIs) and those with typical hearing (TH) in terms of place of articulation, with rounded front vowels being more posteriorized (Grandon, 2016). Grandon has suggested that the lack of perceptual disambiguation in the visual modality for these different segments may explain these difficulties. A speech intelligibility test revealed lower performance in implanted children, despite a beneficial effect of early implantation (Grandon et al., 2020).

These difficulties can be explained by delayed or limited access to auditory input and potential limited spoken language experiences during sensitive periods of language development, which can make the development of production skills more challenging. Furthermore, since productive skills are based on complete phonological and phonetic representations, requiring auditory discrimination of all the acoustic features of spoken language (Stackhouse & Wells, 1993), the particularities observed in production could be linked to specific perceptual difficulties associated with the partial auditory input transmitted by the implant. Indeed, the sound transmitted to the auditory nerve by the implant undergoes various processing, affecting its spectral resolution, especially the temporal fine structure (TFS) cues (Moon & Hong, 2014). The resulting sound signal is then divided into frequency channels transmitted by a limited number of electrodes capable of independently transmitting electrical information to the hair cells' neurons. Various other factors related to the surgical procedure, the subject's anatomy or the etiology of deafness also impact the quality of the transmitted sound (for further explanations, see Başkent et al. (2016). Furthermore, the auditory input through the implant exhibits inaccuracies in encoding low frequencies. Indeed, depending on the depth of electrode array insertion within the cochlea, the apical regions of the basilar membrane may not have enough contact points to adequately encode low frequencies, leading to frequency compression in the lower range. The degree of coverage of the apical regions by the electrode array is also highly dependent on the subject's anatomy (Escudé et al., 2006). These degradations in the sound transmitted through the implant have been shown to have an impact on the processing of spectral resolution (Henry et al., 2005; Jahn et al., 2022; D. M. Landsberger et al., 2018) and also affect speech sounds differently depending on their acoustic characteristics. Indeed, various studies have highlighted difficulties in discriminating speech sounds where differences are conveyed by fine spectral cues or TFS cues, whereas differences conveyed by temporal envelope cues appear to be better perceived (K. Cheng & Chen, 2020; Eshaghi et al., 2022; Peng et al., 2019). This paper will specifically focus on a phonological feature carried by fine acoustic cues and therefore likely to be problematic for cochlear implant users, namely, the vowel nasality feature in French.

1.1. French nasal vowels: acoustic features and metrics

In many languages, vocalic nasality results from coarticulation, where nasal consonants precede or follow oral vowels, causing an overlap in oral and nasal gestures. While this nasalization isn't phonologically distinctive in these languages, it aids in speech perception. In French and many other languages, nasal vowels are phonologically opposed to oral vowels, and vocalic nasality constitutes a distinctive feature in the phonological system. French vocalic system consists of four nasal vowels: the open back nasal vowel $/\tilde{\alpha}/$, the mid-open front nasal vowel $/\tilde{\epsilon}/$, and the mid-open rounded back nasal vowel $/\tilde{\alpha}/$. The phoneme $/\tilde{e}/$ is increasingly rare among French speakers from different regiolects, sociolects and age groups, so this study will concentrate on the remaining three nasal vowels. In the French phonological system, the nasality feature distinguishes nasal vowels from their oral counterparts through the following phonological contrasts: $/\tilde{\alpha}/$ versus $/\alpha/$, $/\tilde{3}/$ versus /5/, and $/\tilde{\epsilon}/$ versus $/\epsilon/$. Specific morpho-phonological alternations in French grammar are supported by this contrast.

The adequate production of a nasal vowel requires a combination of two elements: 1) adopting an oropharyngeal configuration inherent to a specific vowel quality; 2) adding nasal resonance through the opening of the soft palate. At the suprasegmental level, a lengthening of the duration of nasal vowels has been reported (Delattre, 1954; Delattre & Monnot, 1968), and segmental lengthening has also been shown to correlate with listeners' perception of nasality (Delvaux, 2012). From an acoustic point of view, the study of oropharyngeal configuration is typically carried out through the analysis of vowel formant frequencies, where F1 is more closely associated with the position of the tongue on the low-high dimension, F2 with the position of the tongue on the front-back dimension and F3 with lip movement (Fant, 1960). In French, the phonological system implies that each nasal vowel has an oral counterpart solely differing in nasal resonance, while maintaining similar articulatory characteristics such as place of articulation and rounding. However, chain shifts that occur in languages including French (Fagyal et al., 2006), have caused deviations from classical phonological descriptions. Empirical studies, including both perceptual (Montagu, 2007) and acoustic (Carignan, 2014) research, have demonstrated that in French, nasal vowels not only differ in nasality but also in oropharyngeal articulatory configuration from their oral counterparts with changes in the values of F1, F2, and F3.

Regarding the acoustic study of the effects of lowering the soft palate, it is more difficult to identify direct acoustic correlates that do not vary significantly according to the quality of the vowel, the phonetic environment and the speaker. Indeed, the opening of the velopharyngeal port during the production of nasal vowels results in an acoustic coupling between the nasal cavities and the main vocal tract consisting of the pharyngeal and oral cavities. The resonance system, therefore, includes three components: the pharyngeal, nasal, and oral cavities, and the resonances and anti-resonances associated with them, which makes it extremely complex and challenging to characterize (Delvaux, 2012). Several authors have identified measurable spectral changes related to vocalic nasality, like a reduction in the intensity of the first formant (Delattre, 1954; Delattre & Monnot, 1968), an overall decrease of vowel intensity and increase of formant bandwidths (House & Stevens, 1956) or the flattening of spectral peaks around F1 and F2 (Maeda, 1993). Delvaux (Delvaux, 2002; Delvaux & Metens, 2002) suggests that vowel "compactness" (operationalized as a decrease in relative intensities/increase in bandwidths of F1 and F3 with respect to F2) contributes to the perception of nasality. Chen (1995, 1997) created acoustic measures reflecting the intensity difference between the nasal poles (P0, P1) and the intensity of the first formant, thus providing a quantitative measure of spectral changes related to nasality, i.e. "A1-P0" (intensity difference between the first nasal pole and the first formant) and "A1-P1" (intensity difference between the second nasal pole and the first formant). Styler (2017) conducted a study to compare the validity of a series of acoustic measures that were assumed to be correlated with nasality in English

and French. The author investigated various cues related to the appearance of nasal poles (frequencies and amplitudes of nasal poles, as well as A1-P0, A1-P1 measures) and the frequencies, amplitudes, and bandwidths of formants. The author also studied A3-P0 values which reflect the difference in amplitude between the first nasal pole and the third formant (figure 3.1). The results indicated that A1-P0, F1 bandwidth, and A3-P0 are the most robust indices of vowel nasalization, independently of the vowels studied and the language. Styler cautions about the significant inter-subject variability of the measurements, demonstrating that the acoustic manifestations of nasality were speaker- and language-specific.



Figure 3.1: Spectra of an oral vowel /a/ (left) and a nasal vowel (right) and illustration of the methods for calculating the A1-P0, A1-P1, and A3-P0 cues. Figure from Styler, 2017.

In view of the difficulty of identifying a single metric for nasalization that is sufficiently precise and robust, Carignan proposed a new system for quantifying the time-varying degree of nasalization (Carignan, 2021). The method, called NAF (for "Nasalization from Acoustic Features"), consists, for each speaker, of a model of how nasal and oral vowels are produced, based on a series of acoustic cues validated in the literature as being associated with nasalization. When tested, the resulting system generated measurements strongly correlated with objective nasalance data collected on productions, proving its accuracy and robustness. The NAF method has since been adapted to generate speaker-specific modeling based on gradient-boosting decision tree to study the degree of vowel nasalization of Arabana speakers (Carignan et al., 2023).

It can be suspected that the three components of nasal vowel production (vowel lengthening, oropharyngeal configuration and velopharyngeal coupling) are processed differently in perception in CI recipients. Indeed, since temporal acoustic cues have been shown to be better transmitted by the implant, one can imagine that this information will be processed in a privileged way. The oropharyngeal configuration may have the perceptual advantage of being visually salient, at least for certain acoustic features (tongue height, lip-rounding) and also benefit from the somatosensory system for perception and production (Ashokumar et al., 2023; Ito et al., 2009): this productive mechanism of vowel nasality could also be favored among CI children. On the other hand, acoustic cues related to nasal resonance, which rely on precise spectral resolution, are less likely to be adequately transmitted by the implant and CI recipients do not have the opportunity to compensate by visual disambiguation or proprioceptive input. One of the main aims of the study is to examine how CI children differentially use these three components when producing nasal vowels in French.

Perception of the vowel nasality feature in French-speaking CI recipients

In French, Bouton et al. (2012) studied the ability to identify and discriminate minimal pairs containing the phonological contrasts of the French language in a group of 25 children with cochlear implants and age-matched typically-hearing peers. The results demonstrated more pronounced difficulties in perceiving the place of articulation and nasality for consonants and vowels, as these phonological distinctions rely on TFS cues, whereas voicing or manner of articulation, which depend more on temporal envelope cues, were better processed. Borel's research (Borel, 2015; Borel et al., 2019) investigated the perception skills of 82 French-speaking adults with unilateral cochlear implants. The results showed that nasal vowels were the least accurately identified segments in an identification task, with significantly lower performance compared to typically hearing adults, even after one year of implant use. The author also administered a discrimination task to a subgroup of 15 subjects in which each French nasal vowel was contrasted with "phonologically" paired oral vowels based on the classical morphophonological opposition used in French ($(\tilde{a}/-a), (\tilde{a}/-s), (\tilde{\epsilon}/-s), \tilde{\epsilon}/s)$ see section 1. 2) in comparison with "phonetically" paired oral vowels $(/\tilde{a}/-/\mathfrak{I}), /\tilde{\mathfrak{I}}/-/\mathfrak{I})$. The socalled "phonetic" pairs consisted of each nasal vowel paired with the oral vowel closest to it from an articulatory/acoustic point of view, i.e. in terms of formant values (reflecting the oropharyngeal configuration), according to the literature (Carignan, 2014; Maeda, 1993; Montagu, 2007); these pairings also being consistent with the most common errors found in identification. Participants with CI exhibited lower scores in discriminating both types of pairs compared to those with typical hearing, but with increased difficulties in phonetic pairs. These re-

69

sults confirm the difficulty in perceiving the vocalic nasality feature, with challenges in using the spectral cues characteristic of nasal resonance to distinguish a nasal vowel from its closest oral counterpart (phonetic pairs).

In a previous study (Fagniart et al., 2024a), identification and discrimination abilities of pseudowords containing a target nasal or oral vowel have been tested in 13 French-speaking children with bilateral implants and 25 age-matched typically-hearing peers. The oral vowels were selected to follow Borel's (2015) phonological and phonetic nasal-oral pairings. The most frequent and specific errors in the identification and discrimination among the CI group included substitutions between nasal vowels and their close phonetic counterparts. There were also difficulties in identifying and discriminating the vowel /u/, which was interpreted as a specific challenge in accurately interpreting the formant patterns of this vowel with very close F1 and F2 values, likely due to reduced frequency selectivity. A significantly positive effect of intensive and early exposure to Cued Speech (CS) on the performance was also observed among the CI recipients. Post-hoc acoustic analyses of the administered stimuli suggested different use of acoustic cues across groups of participants. More specifically, while the performance of typically-hearing children was correlated both to acoustic variations in the fine spectral characteristics of the stimuli (frequencies, formant bandwidths and amplitudes) and to more global characteristics (intensity, temporal envelope), the bestperforming CI children (those with the most experience with CS) saw their performance linked mainly to variations in the temporal envelope of the stimuli. This suggested that in perceiving French nasal vowels, children with CIs might compensate for their initial difficulties in processing fine spectral information by using acoustic cues that are better transmitted by the implant.

Considering the perceptual challenges associated with vocalic nasality perception, there is an interest in exploring how children with CIs manage to produce this contrast. This interest forms the basis for the current study.

1.3. Nasalization in the speech productions of CI recipients

Among individuals with hearing impairments, hypernasal voice quality is well-documented and has been observed through perceptual studies, acoustic analysis (Chen, 1995), and nasalance measurements (Fletcher et al., 1999). The most direct explanation for this phenomenon would be that the closure of the velopharyngeal port (VP) is not properly accomplished (absent, incomplete, or not maintained) due to inadequate auditory feedback. Lock & Seaver (1984) proposed that perceived hypernasality might not only be associated with VP opening but also with speech rate, pitch variations, or intelligibility. It is also suggested that significant posterior tongue displacement could result in abnormal resonance (described as "cul-de-sac" resonance according to Boone, 1966), which could be perceived as nasality. The introduction/restoration of auditory input through cochlear implantation allows for the normalization of the nasal/oral balance in the voices of deaf individuals, as demonstrated in various studies comparing pre- vs post-implantation performances (Nguyen et al., 2008) or with implant turned on vs off (Svirsky et al., 1998). More recently, Baudonck et al. (2015) studied nasality in 36 Flemish-speaking deaf children with cochlear implants, comparing them to 26 typically-hearing children and 25 deaf children with conventional hearing aids (HA), with an average age of 9 years. Their subjective (evaluators' perceptual judgments) and objective (nasalance) analyses showed that both groups of deaf children (CI and HA) had a significantly more nasalized voice than their hearing peers. They reported more nasality during the production of oral phonemes than typically hearing children, while showing less nasality during the production of nasal phonemes – all segments being slightly nasalized, which is consistent with hypernasal voice quality. Among the deaf children, children with HA behaved more differently from TH children than CI recipients' children.

To our knowledge, no study has investigated the production of the nasal contrast for French vowels in CIs users. Given the perceptual difficulties observed for this contrast in French-speaking adults and children using CIs and the hypernasality associated with impaired velopharyngeal control reported in children with CI, it seems very interesting to document how children with CI produce oral and nasal vowels in French.

1.4. Aims of the study

The present study investigates the production of nasal and oral vowels in French-speaking children with early bilateral cochlear implantation and typically hearing children, using perceptual judgments and acoustic analyses of the productions. The purpose of this dual analysis is to examine the diverse acoustic parameters of nasality to infer children's production strategies, and to account for the perceptual outcomes associated with these production strategies among listeners. The acoustic analyses aim to objectively characterize the nasal and oral productions by studying different types of acoustic cues: 1) cues associated with oropha-

71

ryngeal configuration (F1, F2, F3); 2) cues associated with velopharyngeal coupling (using the NAF method); and 3) segmental durations. Each nasal vowel is compared to its corresponding oral vowel phonologically (as per the International Phonetic Alphabet, "phonological pairs") and phonetically (based on oropharyngeal configuration similarity, "phonetic pairs" as described by Borel, 2015). The use of Cued Speech aims to create a complete and stable phonological system by providing visual cues (hand shapes and positions) to lip reading, making all the phonological contrasts of a language accessible. Its beneficial effects have been demonstrated in various perceptual aspects of language (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert et al., 2016; Van Bogaert et al., 2023), including the perception of vocalic nasality (Fagniart et al., 2024a). Since the productive system relies on complete phonological and phonetic representations, the positive impact of practicing CS should also be observed in production, as has been shown in articulatory and acoustic investigations (Carignan et al., 2023; Machart et al., 2021). In this perspective, the performances of children with typical hearing will be compared to those of children with CIs to evaluate the effect of auditory status in general. However, comparisons will also be conducted taking into account the level of CS exposure among CI children. This will allow us to distinguish effects related to the children's auditory condition from effects that may be modulated by the intervention for children with CIs. The present study pursues three major aims:

- Our first objective is to document how the nasal and oral vowels produced by CI children are perceived by listeners in comparison to those produced by typically hearing peers. It can be expected that: a) listeners have lower rates of correct identification for nasal vowels produced by children with CIs and confuse them more with phonetically close oral vowels, b) nasal productions will be perceived as less nasalized, and oral productions will be perceived as more nasalized. Given that intensive CS practice has been noted as beneficial in the perception of the nasal/oral contrast, better-identified and more distinct productions in terms of nasalization could also be anticipated for vowels produced by children with extensive CS practice.
- 2. Secondly, we aim to acoustically characterize the productions of the three groups of children to document the production strategies they use to distinguish between nasal and oral vowels. For this purpose, the acoustic characteristics of all vowels are measured, and each nasal vowel is compared with a matched oral vowel based on phonological

contrast or phonetic similarity, following the classification proposed by Borel in 2015. Considering the literature demonstrating a differential use of acoustic cues at the perceptual level by cochlear implant recipients, it is hypothesized that children will exhibit distinct productive profiles according to their auditory status. More precisely, it is expected that children with cochlear implants, compared to children with typical hearing, differentiate between oral and nasal vowels:

- a. using more segmental lengthening (as evidenced by vowel durations);
- b. based more on differences in oropharyngeal configuration (as evidenced by formant values);
- c. making less use of the cues associated with velo-pharyngeal coupling. This effect may manifest as reduced phonetic nasalization of nasal vowels and/or increased nasal resonance in oral vowels.
- 3. Finally, the last objective is to determine the link between the perceptual judgments obtained (i.e. nasality perceived by the judges) and the acoustic characteristics of the vowels produced, thus making it possible to link our first two objectives. More specifically, the different subject variables and the different acoustic variables will be studied to see which best predict perceived nasality in the productions of the different groups of participants.

2. Method

2.1. Participants

The study was conducted on the same participants as reported in a previous study (Fagniart et al., 2024a): a group of prelingually deafened children with bilateral cochlear implants (CI group) and a control group of children with typical hearing (TH group). The CI group consisted of 13 children (7 girls and 6 boys), aged between 5;8 years and 11;6 years (mean: $8;7 \pm 2;4$ years), with prelingual bilateral profound hearing loss. All children in the CI group received sequential bilateral implants and received their first implant between 9 and 30 months (mean: $13;7 \pm 6$ months). Their vocal audiometry curve with CI for word/pseudoword repetition ranged from 88% to 100% at 55/60dB. All of them received an oralist auditory rehabilitation, both in their rehabilitation center and in their family context. This group was divided based on their level of Cued Speech exposure: 6 of the children were exposed only occasionally (during their speech therapy ses-

sions, with an average of three sessions per week), constituting the CI/CS- group, whereas 7 were exposed early in their development and intensively (in their family context as well as during their speech therapy sessions), constituting the CI/CS+ group. The children were recruited from the same rehabilitation center as well as a partner center in the same region, ensuring that all participants spoke the same form/dialect of French. The selection criteria for the CI group children were that they had received sequential bilateral implantation, with the first implantation before the age of 36 months. Special attention was given to CS exposure to balance the CI/CS- and CI/CS+ groups. The list of participants and their characteristics are presented in Table 3.1.

Subject	Sex	Chronological age (years ; months)	Age at first implan- tation (months)	Age at second im- plantation (months)	Cued speech exposure
CI1	М	5;11	12	23	Occasionnal
CI2	Μ	5;10	9	18	Early & frequent
CI3	Μ	6;8	10	22	Early & frequent
CI4	F	6;10	13	57	Early & frequent
CI5	Μ	6;11	10	15	Early & frequent
CI6	F	8;6	19	22	Occasionnal
CI7	F	8;8	12	25	Early & frequent
CI8	Μ	9;7	9	51	Occasionnal
CI9	F	10;8	19	N/A	Occasionnal
CI10	Μ	10;8	10	N/A	Occasionnal
CI11	Μ	10;11	10	29	Occasionnal
CI12	F	11;5	12	33	Early & frequent
CI13	F	11;6	30	43	Early & frequent

Table 3.1: Characteristics of the CI group. "N/A" indicates that the information is not available.

The TH group comprised 25 children, with 11 girls and 14 boys, ranging in age from 5 to 12 years (mean: 8; 6 ± 2 ;4 years). Children who had received or were currently undergoing speech therapy were not included in the recruitment process. Mann-Whitney and Krusal-Wallis tests demonstrated that the groups were equivalent in terms of chronological ages measured in months when compared on auditory status (CI vs. TH; U(1)=0.903; p >.05) as well as on CS exposure (CI/CS- vs. CI/CS+ vs. TH; H(2) = 0.753; p > .05).

This study was approved by the scientific committee of the rehabilitation where the children of CIs were recruited. Informed consent was obtained from the parents or legal guardians of all children.

2.2. Data collection

2.2.1. Task

The productions were obtained through a sentence repetition task. The sentences contained pseudowords already known to the participants because they were used in two perceptual tasks administered prior to the production task (for a description, see Fagniart et al., 2024a). The target pseudowords were in the form of C1V1C2V2 where C1=C2=/t/ and V1=V2 = /ã, 5, $\tilde{\epsilon}$, a, \mathfrak{o} , ϵ , u/. The selected oral vowels were either the phonological or the phonetic counterpart of nasal vowels, as illustrated in table 3.2. The constructed stimuli were thus /tãtã/, /tõt5/, /tɛ̃tɛ̃/, /tata/, /tɔto/, /tɛtɛ/, and /tutu/.

Nasal target	Oral phonological correspondent	Oral phonetic correspondent
/ã/	/a/	/ə/
$ \tilde{arepsilon} $	/ɛ/	/a/
/3/	/ə/	/u/

Table 3.2: Nasal targets and their phonological and phonetic counterparts.

2.2.2. Procedure

To make it easier for the children to process the pseudowords, they were associated with a character illustrated on a card. During an initial familiarization phase, the experimenter taught the child the names of the characters through the association of a gesture and a supporting sentence (sentence containing a rhyme with the target pseudoword) to facilitate their retention. This learning phase aimed to ensure that the child could associate each pseudoword with the corresponding character.

For the repetition task, the pseudowords were inserted into carrying sentences. Four sentences were used, with the target pseudoword in the final position (e.g. : "Near the bus, I saw /tãtã/"), resulting in a total of 28 items (4 sentences * 7 target words). During the task, the experimenter pronounced the sentence (with visible orofacial movements) while placing the card of the target pseudoword on the corresponding scene to illustrate the target sentence being produced. For example, the experimenter would take the card for /tãtã/ and place it on a picture of a lake, producing the sentence "Near the lake, I saw /tãtã/"). The child was then invited to orally reproduce the sentence. The productions were recorded using a portable Zoom H5 recorder placed at 25cm from the child. During the assessments, some children did not complete the task for various reasons, such as fatigue. Out of the 1064 sentences expected (28 x 38 participants), 27 were missing, which accounts for 2.5% of the expected number of produced sentences. As a result, 1037 sentences were collected, totaling 2074 registered vowels. The productions of the children were manually segmented and annotated using the PRAAT software (Boersma & Weenink, 2023) to isolate the 2074 vowels.

2.3. Analysis of the speech productions

2.3.1. Perceptual judgements

All the vowels produced by the children were used in judgement tasks performed by a panel of different raters. Eight native French-speaking adults experienced in phonetic annotation of corpora were recruited as raters. The vowels produced by the 38 children were presented in isolation and distributed semirandomly among the raters, ensuring that all productions from the same child were assigned to the same rater. To assess the inter-judge agreement, the productions of one same child of the TH group were evaluated by all the judges. Each rater had to judge from 280 to 336 productions, i.e. all the vowels produced by 5 to 6 children (from both TH and CI groups). Additionally, first author evaluated the entire sample of vowels to permit a second measure of agreement on the entire set of productions.

The raters were asked to perform two tasks: 1) a nasality judgment task for which the raters positioned each vowel production on an Osgood-type semantic differential scale ranging from 1 (oral) to 9 (nasal), and 2) a forced-choice identification task for which the raters identified each vowel production and chose from the 14 nasal and oral vowels ($\tilde{\alpha}$, $\tilde{\epsilon}$, $\tilde{\sigma}$, a, e, ϵ , φ , i, ∞ , \emptyset , o, φ , u, y; N=14). The same set of vowel productions was used for both tasks.

For perceived nasality, the average score across the judges and the first author rating was calculated for each vowel. For the identification task, the judge's responses were selected to be presented in the 'results' section.

The eight judges showed excellent agreement on the nasality task performed with the same participant (56 productions), as revealed by a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.931. Their agreement on the forced-choice identification task of productions from the same participant is more moderate, with a Fleiss Kappa of 0.41. Agreement between the 8 raters and the first author was also measured on the entire set of production (2074 productions), with Cronbach's alpha equal to 0.801 (good agreement) for the nasality task and Cohen's kappa of 0.497 (moderate agreement) for the forced-choice identification task.

2.3.2. Acoustical analysis

Semi-automatic measurements were conducted using PRAAT scripts to collect various types of acoustic cues. Formant measurements were obtained through an automated procedure, calculating the median of formant values obtained every 5 ms within the portion of the vowel located between 25% and 75% of its total duration. Since formant values detection can be sensitive to spectrogram parameters, especially for children with high F0 values, several precautions and verifications were taken. Firstly, the formant detection parameters were adjusted for each vowel and for each child. This was done by performing a manual verification of the adequacy of the settings to correctly identify the targeted formants for each child for each phoneme. The objective was to avoid measurement errors related to significant pitch differences often found among children of various ages. After extracting the formant values based on the selected parameters, a visualization of the productions on the F1/F2 space was used to identify any aberrant values. An identification of aberrant values was also carried out to detect productions with F1, F2, or F3 values that did not fall within plus or minus three standard deviations of the subject formant mean values. All outliers were checked manually, with the spectrogram inspected to correct formant values or to exclude vowels in the case of unreadable/unclear signals (approximately 2% of the total productions). Eight productions were excluded because the formants were not clearly identifiable. The raw data were transformed into Z-scores using Lobanov's formula (1971) to neutralize the effects of speaker-specific characteristics that could be related to age and sex differences between the children, among other things.

To obtain measures of the degree of nasality in the productions, the NAF (Nasalization from Acoustic Features) method was employed (Carignan, 2021; Carignan et al., 2023). Different measures were collected through semi-automated procedures to extract a series of acoustic indices at eleven time points within the vowels. These measures included amplitude, formant bandwidth, A1-P0, A1-P1, A3-P0 (measured using the "Nasality Automeasure Praat" script by Styler, 2017), and various indices proposed by Carignan (spectral moments and nasal murmur). It is important to note that, in the approach proposed in the present methodology, the NAF method is used only to capture the acoustic effects associated with nasal resonance, while effects related to oropharyngeal configuration changes were measured separately. Consequently, certain relevant acoustic indices used in the initial method proposed by Carignan, such as formant frequency values and the first 9 Mel-frequency cepstral coefficients (MFCCs), which show moderate correlations with formant values, were not included here. Obtaining predicted nasality values using Carignan's method requires the use of supervised machine learning techniques, more specifically the gradient-boosted decision tree model. This technique requires a model to be trained on a certain proportion of data, which in turn requires a training and test sample. To obtain NAF values for the productions of all children that are comparable, a common model was constructed based on the productions of children from the TH group. Indeed, it seemed important to obtain a model calibrated on productions without specific production-level characteristics. To achieve this, we selected timepoints from the most stable part of the vowel, excluding points at 0, 10, 90, and 100% of the total vowel duration. Then, we extracted timepoints at 20, 40, 60, and 80% of the total vowel duration, solely from the productions of children in the TH group, to constitute the training sample. The testing sample was composed of timepoints at 30, 50, and 60% of the total vowel duration, within the productions of children from both the TH and CI groups. Within the training sample, productions were tagged as oral (0) or nasal (1) depending on the status of the target vowel to be produced. A gradientboosting decision tree model (XGBoost R Package, Chen & Guestrin, 2016) with linear regression outcomes was realized. In order to optimize the model, the values of four hyperparameters (max depth, eta, gamma, subsample) were tuned using a 5-fold cross-validation. The values of these hyperparameters that led to the lowest cross-validation error were retained for the final model. The other hyperparameters were left at their default values. The final model using the tuned hyperparameters was trained and employed to generate predictive nasality responses on the testing sample, encompassing all the children, thereby obtaining the so-called NAF values. These values numerically range between 0 and 1 and can be interpreted as a continuum on a production scale ranging from "oral" to "nasal", where productions close to 0 are not nasalized, while values close to or greater than 1 are highly nasalized. Intermediate productions close to 0.5 correspond to half-degrees between oral and nasal production.

To study the strategies used in the phonetic implementation of the phonological contrast between nasal and oral vowels, we conducted additional paired comparison analyses taking into consideration the phonetic/phonological proximity (Borel, 2015, see table 3.2) of oral-nasal pairs in French. For each child, each produced nasal vowel was paired with all its orally produced vowels that were phonetically or phonologically close, thus creating a listing of all oral/nasal pairs produced. A total of 13844 pairs were formed, allowing for comparisons of acoustic cues between each nasal-oral pair:

- Euclidean distances in the F1-F2-F3 planes (as described in Calabrino, 2006), which were calculated as follows:

For V1, a nasal vowel with coordinates (F11, F21, F31) for the three first formants in Hz, and V2, an oral vowel with coordinates (F12, F22, F32), the Euclidean distance d between these vowels points is given by

- $d_{v_1v_2} = \sqrt{((F_1v_2 F_1v_1)^2 + (F_2v_2 F_2v_1)^2 + (F_3v_2 F_3v_1)^2)}$
- Differences between segmental duration values
- Differences between NAF values

2.4. Statistical analyses

Linear generalized mixed models were used with the lme4 package (version 1.1-34; Bates et al., 2015) within the R software (R Core Team, 2022) to analyze the data. These models were configured with binomial distributions for the perceptual identification task (a binary outcome: correct/incorrect) and Gaussian distributions for all the other metric variables.

Models were constructed by including the variables related to subject characteristics (auditory status : CI vs. TH group; CS exposure among children with CIs : CI/CS- vs. CI/CS+ vs. TH), stimulus characteristics (vowel type for the speech production analysis : nasal vs oral; pair type for the nasal-oral pairwise analysis: $/\tilde{\alpha}/-/\alpha/, /\tilde{\delta}/-/\delta/, /\tilde{\epsilon}/-/\epsilon/, /\tilde{\alpha}/-/\delta/, /\tilde{\delta}/-/u/, \tilde{\epsilon}/-/\alpha/)$, and the interaction between these variables. To account for inter-subject variability, a random intercept effect for the subject was included in the model. The significance of fixed effects for categorical variables with only two levels was assessed through Z-values and associated p-values from the model estimates, following a procedure detailed in Ditges et al., (2021). Interaction effects and fixed effects of categorical variables with three levels were evaluated using Chi-squared tests and corresponding p-values, performed using the ANOVA function of the Car package (Fox & Weisberg, 2018) on the model. Pairwise comparisons between different levels of independent variables were also carried out using the emmeans package (Lenth et al., 2023). Power calculations have been performed on the fixed and interaction effects obtained within the different model to quantify their reliability, using the powersim function of the SimR package (Green & MacLeod, 2016), with N=200 Monte Carlo simulations. Effects with a calculated statistical power of less than 80% will be indicated within the results to be qualified.

Multiple regression models were also conducted to investigate which sets of acoustic cues predicted perceived nasality in perceptual judgments among nasal vowels. The regression model included the various acoustic variables (duration, F1, F2, F3, NAF values) as well as the children's chronological and auditory age. This model was tested with the different subgroups of children (TH vs CI/CS+ vs CI/CS-) to compare the impact of the different variables on the level of perceived nasality among the groups of children.

3. Results

Table 3.3 shows the mean score values for perceptual judgments as well as the mean values for the various acoustic variables studied, by vowel and by vowel type (nasal/oral) across the different groups (CI vs. TH groups; CI/CS- vs. CI/CS+ vs. TH groups), with the associated significance levels of pairwise comparison tests. Full details of the various models (estimates and standard deviations, z or t-values and associated p-values) and the associated power ratings are available in supplementary material.

			Val	lues	Test p-values					
Maaguma	Vowel/vowel	CI	CS	CS	TU	CI	CS-	CS-	CS+	
Ivieasure	type	CI	C3-	CST	ΙП	/TH	/CS+	/TH	/TH	
	ã	7.55	7.3	7.7	7.6					
	$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}$	7.13	6.6	7.6	7.1		*			
	$ ilde{arepsilon}$	6.72	5.6	7.7	6.9		***	***	*	
Judges' nasality	a	2.11	2.4	1.8	2.3					
ratings (from 1 to	ε	1.88	2	1.8	2					
9)	0	2.74	3	2.5	2.8					
	u	3.12	3.3	3	3.4					
_	Nasal	7.13	6.5	7.7	7.2		***	*		
	Oral	2.49	2.7	2.3	2.6					

-

-

=

-

_

	ã	143	142	144	126	*			
	$ ilde{\it \Im}$	145	145	145	129	.06			
	$\widetilde{arepsilon}$	147	141	154	133	.07	.06		
	а	98	98	99	96				
Duration (ms)	Е	102	108	98	91				
	0	109	117	103	95	.09			
	u	107	112	103	89	*			
_	Nasal	145.8	143	148	129	*			
	Oral	104.6	109	101	93.3				
	ã	95	3	472	502		*		*
	${\mathfrak I}$	423	415	429	428				
	$ ilde{arepsilon}$	507	568	455	502		***	***	***
	а	679	641	713	642		*		*
F1 (Hz)	ε	530	490	564	529		***	***	
	0	463	460	464	451				
	u	402	388	415	388				*
_	Nasal	475	503	450	477		***		**
	Oral	519	495	539	501		**		*
	ã	1124	1072	1166	1251	**		**	
	${\mathfrak Z}$	1181	1653	1375	1205		**		
	$ ilde{arepsilon}$	1505	1087	1261	1424	***	***	***	
	а	1835	1729	1927	1883		*	*	
F2 (Hz)	ε	2477	2373	2568	2383				
	0	1327	1327	1331	1385	.07			
	u	1239	1252	1227	1210				
_	Nasal	1271	1275	1269	1293				
	Oral	1717	1670	1757	1714				
	ã	2533	2732	2365	2595	**	***		***
	${ ilde {\mathfrak I}}$	2620	2672	2574	2453				
	$ ilde{arepsilon}$	2863	2958	2782	2909	***			***
	а	3492	432	548	502				
F3 (Hz)	ε	3549	3397	3683	3603		*	*	
	0	2957	2914	2989	2832	.06			
	u	2668	2605	2726	2317	***	*		***
_	Nasal	2671	2790	2568	2651	*	*		**
	Oral	3166	3087	3235	3061	*			*
	ã	0.73	0.76	0.71	0.77				
	$ ilde{\jmath}$	0.53	0.56	0.5	0.59	*			*
NAF	ĩ	0.62	0.49	0.74	0.75	***	***	***	
	a	0.43	0.4	0.45	0.3	***		**	***
	e E	0.14	0.13	0.15	0.11				
	C		J.1.J	5.15					

				-			
0	0.31	0.3	0.32	0.24	**		*
U	0.39	0.42	0.37	0.3	***	**	*
Nasal	0.63	0.61	0.65	0.70	***	**	
Oral	0.32	0.31	0.32	0.23	***	**	**

Table 3.3: Mean values of the different dependent variables (perceptual judgements and acoustic measures) by vowel and vowel types among the different groups. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the difference is significant at .05 (*), .001 (**) or <.001 (***). Raw values are presented for mean values but pairwise tests were realized on the z-score values.

3.1. Perceptual judgements on speech productions

3.1.1. Nasality judgement ratings

Analysis of the nasality judgment ratings showed no significant effect of auditory status (CI: 4.46, TH: 4.57; $\beta = 0.05$; SE = 0.2; t = 0.28; p=.78) nor any significant interaction effect between auditory status and vowel type ($\chi^2(1) = 0.14$; p=.71). Considering CS exposure, the CI/CS+ group exhibited higher perceived nasality ($\beta = 1.2$; SE = 0.29; t = 4.15; p < .001) and an interaction effect with vowel type ($\beta = -1.56$; SE = 0.26; t = -6.01; p < .001) with the difference being significant for nasal vowels ($\beta = -1.21$; SE = 0.29; t = -4.15; p < .001). These differences were associated with the nasal vowels / δ / ($\beta = -1.01$; SE = 0.42; t = -2.44; p = .04) and / $\tilde{\epsilon}$ / ($\beta = -2.19$; SE = 0.41; t = -5.29; p < .001). Comparisons between the CS-, the CS+ and the TH groups revealed that the CS- group also differed from the TH group in terms of values associated with nasal vowels ($\beta = -0.7$; SE = 0.26; t = -4.02; p < .001). Additionally, the TH group displayed significantly lower values for the same vowel / $\tilde{\epsilon}$ / compared to the CS+ group ($\beta = -0.83$; SE = 0.32; t = -2.59; p = .02).

Figure 3.2 depicts the density of nasality rating values among the TH, CI/CS-, and CI/CS+ groups. While the scores indicating less nasalized productions (1-3) were evenly distributed among the three groups, the scores indicating more nasalized productions (7-9) were less frequent for vowel produced by children of the CI/CS- group. Furthermore, there was a higher prevalence of productions judged as intermediate in terms of nasality (4-6) in the CI/CS- group.



Figure 3.2: Density plot of the nasality judgement scores distribution among the CI/CS- (red and solid line), CI/CS+ (green and dashed line) and TH (blue and longdash line) groups.

3.2. Forced-choice identification scores

The percentage of productions correctly identified by the judges revealed no effect of auditory status (CI: 52.3%, TH: 45.8%; $\beta = -0.05$; SE = 0.28; z = -0.19, p = .8), but a significant interaction effect of auditory status with vowel type ($\beta = -0.42$; SE = 0.19; z = -2.14, p = .03). Indeed, the judges had higher identification accuracy for the oral vowels produced by the CI group (CI oral: 50.8%, TH oral: 39.9%; z = 1.75; p = .07), while no group effect was observed for the nasal vowels (CI nasal: 54.2%, TH nasal: 53.6%; z = 0.19; p = .8).

A significant effect of the level of exposure to Cued Speech in favor of the CS+ group was observed (CI/CS-: 45.6% - CI/CS+: 58%; $\beta = 0.93$; SE = 0.46; z = 2; p = .04) as well as an interaction effect with vowel type ($\beta = -0.7$; SE = 0.32; z = -2.15; p = .03). Nasal vowels produced by the CI/CS+ group were significantly better identified than those produced by children in the CS- group (CI/CS- nasal: 43.3% - CI/CS+ nasal: 63.6%; z = 2.1; p = .04), the difference not being significant for oral vowels (CI/CS- oral: 47.4% - CI/CS+ oral: 53.8%; z = -2.31; p = .6). The comparisons with the TH group showed no significant differences with the CS- and CS+ group. It is important to note that the various effects were only moderate (57.5 to 62%) in terms of statistical power (see supplementary material) and should therefore be interpreted with caution.

-															
	Identified vowel														
			ã	õ	ĩ	a	0	3	u	Э	e	œ	ə	Ø	у
		CI/CS-	48.9	25.5	2.1	14.9	2.1	/	/	4.3	/	2.1	/	/	/
	ã	CI/CS+	62.5	17.9	17.9	1.8	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
		TH	50.5	20.6	10.8	9.8	2.6	/	/	4.1	/	1.0	0.5	/	/
		CI/CS-	10.9	65.2	2.2	/	8.7	/	6.5	4.3	/	/	2.2	/	/
	5	CI/CS+	7.1	73.2	5.4	5.4	1.8	/	1.8	/	/	1.8	1.8	1.8	/
		TH	13.0	63.7	2.1	4.1	3.6	1.0	5.7	1.6	/	1.0	3.1	0.5	0.5
		CI/CS-	16.7	16.7	16.7	31.3	2.1	4.2	/	/	/	6.3	4.2	2.1	/
vel	ĩ	CI/CS+	27.3	5.5	56.4	7.3	/	/	1.8	/	/	/	1.8	/	/
VOV		TH	19.9	9.4	46.6	13.1	3.1	1.0	1.0	2.6	/	1.0	1.0	0.5	0.5
et		CI/CS-	10.4	/	2.1	70.8	/	/	4.2	/	2.1	6.3	2.1	2.1	/
arg	a	CI/CS+	5.6	/	5.6	68.5	/	7.4	1.9	/	1.9	3.7	1.9	1.9	1.9
T.		TH	1.6	1.1	5.3	47.6	0.5	21.2	2.1	0.5	5.3	8.5	5.8	0.5	/
		CI/CS-	/	22.9	2.1	2.1	33.3	2.1	6.3	14.6	6.3	8.3	2.1	/	/
	0	CI/CS+	1.8	10.5	/	1.8	21.1	1.8	17.5	24.6	/	/	10.5	10.5	/
		TH	4.1	10.2	1.0	1.0	16.3	3.1	8.7	14.3	3.6	13.3	9.2	11.2	4.1
		CI/CS-	/	6.3	4.2	2.1	/	41.7	/	/	27.1	14.6	2.1	/	2.1
	3	CI/CS+	1.8	/	/	/	/	78.2	/	/	20.0	/	/	/	/
		TH	1.6	2.1	0.5	2.1	/	60.6	2.1	/	21.2	3.1	4.7	1.0	0.5
		CI/CS-	/	29.2	4.2	/	8.3	/	43.8	6.3	/	/	/	2.1	4.2
	u	CI/CS+	1.9	17.0	1.9	/	11.3	/	47.2	11.3	/	/	3.8	3.8	1.9
		TH	1.6	22.9	3.6	1.6	7.8	1.0	35.4	6.8	3.1	2.1	5.7	3.1	4.2

Table 3.4: Identification matrix of the judge's identification percentages among the CS/CS-, CI/CS+ and TH groups. In diagonal and bold typology are represented correctly identified productions.

Table 3.4 shows the identification matrix of the judges' identification responses across the three groups of children (TH, CI/CS+, CI/CS-), allowing to document typical substitutions. Overall, the most frequent substitutions concerned substitutions between oral vowels (CI/CS-: 18.6%, CI/CS+: 19.9%, TH: 26.4%). These substitutions often involved differences in vowel height, such as between $\langle 0/-/5 \rangle$ or $\langle e/-/\epsilon \rangle$, $\langle e/-/c\epsilon \rangle$. Substitutions among nasal vowels were also observed in equal proportions across all three groups (CS-: 10.5%, CS+: 10.5%, TH: 10.8%) and mainly consist of $\langle \tilde{\alpha} / - \langle \tilde{\epsilon} \rangle$ and $\langle \tilde{\alpha} / - \langle \tilde{3} \rangle$ substitutions. Notably, there was a substantial proportion of substitutions between a nasal vowel and its phonetic counterpart which were pronounced by children of the CS- group (15.3%) and to a lesser extent of the TH group (10.5%), followed by the CS+ group (6.5%). These substitutions primarily involve phonemes such as ($\langle \tilde{\epsilon} / - \langle \alpha / , \langle \tilde{\alpha} / - \langle o / , \langle \delta / - \langle \delta / , \langle \delta /$

3.3. Acoustic measurements on speech productions

3.3.1. Segmental duration values

A significant effect of auditory status was observed on the segmental durations, with the CI group displaying overall longer segmental values (CI: 122, TH: 108; $\beta = -16.25$; SE = 7.77; t = -2.09; p = .04 – moderate effect size of 52%), with an interaction with vowel type at the borderline of significance ($\chi^2(1) = 3.12$; p = .07). Figure 3.3 shows indeed that the difference in duration between nasal and oral vowels was greater in the productions of CI children. Pairwise analyses confirmed the group effect among nasal productions (CI: 146, TH: 129; z = 2.09; p = .04) but not among oral productions (CI: 105, TH: 93; z = 1.46; p = .15).



Figure 3.3: Mean and standard deviation (error bars) of duration values (ms) among the CI and TH group for the oral and nasal target vowels. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the difference is significant at .05 (*), .001 (**) or <.001 (***).

There was no effect of CS exposure level, but an interaction effect between this variable and vowel type is retrieved ($\chi^2(2) = 10.28$; p = .005). This interaction effect was related to the CI/CS+ group showing the largest difference between nasal and oral pairs in terms of vowel duration.

3.3.2. Formant values

The F1 values didn't show an effect of auditory status ($\beta = 0.06$; SE = 0.07; t = -0.91; p = .36) or an interaction with vowel type. Figure 3.4 displays the values of F1, F2, and F3 for the nasal and oral vowels in the TH, CS-, and CS+ groups. Considering CS exposure, an interaction effect was observed for F1 values be-

tween the three groups of participants and vowel type ($\chi^2(2) = 26.88$; p < .001). Indeed, F1 values were significantly lower in the CI/CS+ group for nasal vowels and higher for oral vowels compared to the other two groups. This effect was significant for nasal vowels $|\tilde{a}|$ and $|\tilde{\epsilon}|$, as well as oral vowels |a| and |u|. Vowel $|\epsilon|$ exhibited significantly lower values in the CI/CS- group than in the other two groups. For F2 values, there was no significant effect of the auditory status or CS exposure variables. However, there were significantly lower values for $\tilde{\epsilon}$ and a/ain the CI/CS- group compared to the other two groups and for $/\tilde{a}/$ compared to the TH group. F2 was higher for $\frac{5}{1}$ in the CI/CS- group than in the CI/CS+ group. For F3 values, an effect of auditory status was observed, with values being higher in the TH group ($\beta = 0.15$; SE = 0.06; t = 2.31; p = .02 – with a moderate effect size of 63%), along with an interaction with vowel type ($\chi^2(2) = 8.99$; p = .002). In fact, while for nasal vowels, the CI group showed higher values ($\chi^2(2) = -2.31$; p = .02 – with a moderate effect size of 68.5%), children in this group exhibited lower values for oral vowels ($\gamma^2(2) = 1.91$; p = .05). Considering CS exposure, an interaction effect between groups and vowel types was identified ($\chi^2(2) = 18.27$; p < .001). The CS+ group had lower F3 values for nasal vowels than the other two groups. This effect was significant for nasal vowels $|\tilde{\alpha}|$ and $|\tilde{\epsilon}|$ (only compared with the TH group). For oral vowels, lower values were observed for ϵ in the CS- group compared to the others, and higher values for /u/ in the CS+ group.



Figure 3.4: Mean and standard deviation (error bars) of F1, F2 and F3 frequency values converted in z-scores among the CI and TH groups for the oral and nasal target vowels. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the difference is significant at .05 (*), .001 (**) or <.001 (***).

In summary, as displayed in Figure 3.4, children from the CS+ group differed from other children in that they distinguish nasal vowels more from oral vowels in terms of F1 and F3 frequencies.

3.3.3. VP-coupling effect: predicted degree of nasalization (NAF)

A significant effect of auditory status was observed on the predicted degree of nasalization from acoustic features (NAF values) ($\beta = 0.07$; SE = 0.02; t =3.53; p < .001), along with a significant interaction effect between auditory status and vowel type ($\chi^2(1) = 63.28$; p < .001). With reference to children with CIs, TH children had higher values for nasal vowels (CI : 0.63, TH : 0.70; $\beta = -0.07$; SE = 0.02; t = -3.53; p < .001) and lower values for oral vowels (CI : 0.32, TH : 0.23; $\beta = 0.08$; SE = 0.02; t = 4.53; p < .001), leading to greater distinction between nasal and oral vowels in terms of nasal resonance. This effect was retrieved for the nasal vowels / $\tilde{\beta}$ / and / $\tilde{\epsilon}$ / as well as for the oral vowel /a/, /o/ and /u/.

An interaction effect between CS exposure grouping and vowel type ($\chi^2(2)$ = 64.52 ; p<.001) was observed. Indeed, TH children had higher NAF values for

the nasal vowels than CI/CS- group ($\beta = -0.09$; t =-3.53; p < .001), but lower values for the oral vowels than the CI/CS+ group ($\beta = 0.09$; t =3.9; p = .001) and CI/CS- group ($\beta = 0.08$; t =3.2; p = .006). Figure 3.5 shows predicted degree of nasalization (NAF) for all vowels according to the three groups of participants. Among nasals, the CS+ group had NAF scores equivalent to the TH group for $\tilde{\epsilon}$ and higher than CI/CS- group. TH group showed significantly lower NAF values for the oral vowel /a/ than CI/CS- and CI/CS+ group, lower than CI/CS+ group for /o/ and lower than CI/CS- for /u/.



Figure 3.5: Boxplots of NAF values among the CI and TH group for the target vowels. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the difference is significant at .05 (*), .001 (**) or <.001 (***).

3.3.4. Nasal-oral pairwise comparisons

To investigate the production strategies by which children distinguish between nasal and oral vowels, the vowels were compared in pairs, establishing pairs between each nasal vowel and its phonological and phonetic oral counterparts. An interaction effect was observed for the duration values between auditory status and pair type, i.e. one of the six pairs (Table 3.2) (χ^2 (5) = 73.78; p <.001), indicating larger differences in duration within the / $\tilde{\alpha}$ /-/ α / (β = 15.42; z=2.68; p=.007) and / $\tilde{\epsilon}$ /-/ α / (β = 13.1; z=2.28; p=.02) pairs among CI group children. With regard to Euclidean distances in F1/F2/F3 space, an interaction effect between hearing status and pair type was also observed ($\chi^2(5) = 61.02$; p <.001). The pairwise analyses show no significant auditory status group difference for any tested pairs. For NAF values, an auditory status effect with higher NAF value differences in the TH group was found ($\beta = 0.17$; SE = 0.04; z = 3.6; p < .001) as well as an interaction effect between auditory status and pair type ($\chi^2(5) = 102.46$; p < .001), this effect being retrieved for all pairs with greater extent for / $\tilde{\alpha}$ -o/ and / $\tilde{\epsilon}$ - ϵ /.

Figure 3.6 illustrates the pairwise comparisons across the TH, CI/CS+, and CI/CS- groups for the three types of acoustic cues. For duration values, an interaction effect was observed between the CS exposure grouping and pair type ($\chi^2(10)$) = 104.47; p < .001). Indeed, differences in duration are greater in the CS+ group than in the TH group for the /ã/-/a/ (β = 16.28; z = 2.29; p = .05) and / $\tilde{\epsilon}/\text{-/a/}$ (β = 19.37; z = 2.72; p = .01) pairs. Also, CS+ children had significantly higher values than CS- children for $\tilde{\epsilon}/-\epsilon$ pairs. Regarding Euclidean distances in the F1/F2/F3 space, an interaction effect was also observed between the CS exposure grouping and pair type (γ^2 (10) = 316.25; p < .001). This effect was significantly observed within the pairs $|\tilde{\alpha}|/|a|$ and $|\tilde{\alpha}|/|o|$. For the pairs $|\tilde{\epsilon}|/|\epsilon|$ and $|\tilde{\epsilon}|/|a|$, we found again more within-pair differences in duration in the CS+ group, followed by the TH group, then the CS- group. For the differences in terms of NAF values, an effect of the CS exposure grouping was found ($\chi^2(10) = 468.57$; p < .001), with greater differences between the oral and nasal members of the pairs for children in the TH group compared to CS- ($\beta = -0.17$; z = -2.78; p = .01) and CS+ ($\beta = -0.14$; z = -2.47; p = .03) groups. Looking more closely at the nasal-oral pairs (as shown in figure 3.6), CI/CS+ group had significantly lower NAF value differences than TH group for $/\tilde{a}$ -a/, $/\tilde{a}$ -o/, $/\tilde{a}$ -o/ and $/\tilde{a}$ -u/ while CI/CS- group had significantly lower values than TH and CI/CS+ group for $\tilde{\epsilon}$ -a/ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$ - ϵ /.


Figure 3.6: Boxplots of delta durations, F1/F2/F3 Euclidean distances and delta NAF values among the CI and TH groups for the nasal-oral pairings. Significance levels for pairwise comparison tests are shown when the difference is significant at .05 (*), .001 (**) or <.001 (***).

3.3.5. Relation between perceived nasality and acoustical data

Multiple regression modeling was performed in three groups of participants, respectively, in order to uncover the speaker-related and task-related variables as well as the acoustic cues which better predict perceived nasality among nasal vowels as measured by degree of nasality ratings (table 3.5). Duration values were significantly associated with perceived nasality in the three groups, with the greatest impact in the CI/CS- group. Similarly, the predictive values of the formant values were similar across the three groups, with a significant impact of F2 and F3 values on the perceived nasality values. NAF values, on the other hand, showed a different trend, being significantly associated predictors of perceived nasality in the CI/CS- and TH groups, but not in the CI/CS+ group. Thus, the acoustic cues associated with VP-coupling were not significantly associated with perceived nasality in the CI/CS+ model.

	CS-	CS+	TH
Intercept	3,99***	5,74***	6,2***
Chronological age	0,033	0,012	-0,005*
Auditory age	-0,03	-0,003	NA
Duration	1,05***	0,51***	0,31***
F1	-0,23	0,05	-0,14
F2	-0,59*	-0,95***	0,36*
F3	-0,36*	0,43*	-0,41***
NAF	1,91*	0,67	1,97***
Model R-squared	0,38***	0,2***	0,08***

 Table 3.5: Results of the multiple regression modeling across the CS-, CS+ and TH groups for nasal vowels predicting perceived nasality in perceptual judgements.

4. Discussion

The purpose of this study was to investigate the production of nasal and oral vowels in children with early bilateral cochlear implantation compared to typically-hearing peers. Among children with CI, Cued Speech (CS) exposure has been considered as a potential explaining factor. This investigation was carried out by means of perceptual evaluations of the recorded productions, as well as their acoustic analysis based on a variety of acoustic cues reflecting the key elements of oral and nasal vowel production in French. These cues included segmental duration, formant frequencies associated with oropharyngeal configuration, and nasal resonance predicting values associated with velopharyngeal coupling. The nasal vs. oral vowels were acoustically compared based on phonologically and phonetically matched nasal-oral pairs, similar to comparisons used in previous perceptual tasks (Fagniart et al., 2024a), and previously described by Borel (2015).

4.1. Perceptual judgments of productions

The first objective of the study was to examine the accuracy of the vowel productions as evaluated through perceptual judgments. Judges listened to the nasal and oral vowels produced by the children and performed a task of identifying the vowel and quantifying the degree of perceived nasality. Contrary to what was expected, no effect of auditory status was observed on the percentage of vowel identification. It was only by considering the exposure of children with cochlear implants to CS (CS- group: late and occasional exposure vs. CS+ group: early and sustained exposure), that differences between groups emerged. Indeed, the CI/CS+ group had the most accurately identified productions. The performance of the typically hearing children closely followed that of the CI/CS+ group, with the CI/CS- group having the least well-identified productions. These results highlight the positive impact of CS exposure on the intelligibility of vowel productions, reinforcing findings in the literature on the benefits of CS practice (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert et al., 2016, 2016; Machart et al., 2021; Van Bogaert et al., 2023). It may have been surprising to find that the CI/CS+ group had productions judged to be more intelligible than those of the TH group. The CI/CS+ children, being more accustomed to testing situations and paying greater attention to their pronunciation through the practice of CS, may have demonstrated better performance than the typically hearing children, who are less focused on their production skills. It should be noted that the identification rates of the three groups of children are relatively low, which can be explained by the non-ecological presentation context (isolated vowel, unimodal audio presentation) and the fact that listeners had to choose from the entire set of French phonemes (N=14), leading to more uncertainty. Furthermore, most errors concerning oral vowels involved confusions in terms of tongue height $(/o/-/o/; /e/-/\epsilon/)$ in roughly equal proportions in all three groups. This result can be explained by their close acoustic proximity (associated with French mid vowels specific phonological patterns: Fougeron & Smith, 1993; Nguyen & Fagyal, 2008), which is usually disambiguated in ecological situations through lip-reading and lexical context. However, we found errors in the identification task consisting in confusions between nasal and oral vowels more frequently in the CI/CS- group, primarily between phonetically similar nasal and oral

vowels $(\tilde{z}/-a/, \tilde{z}/-u/a/)$, but also within phonologically matched pairs $(\tilde{a}/a/)$. It is worth noting that this type of error was also found in a smaller proportion for the vowels produced by the typically hearing group, demonstrating the proximity of these productions in typically developing children. Substitutions between oral and nasal vowels were the least frequent for productions from the CS+ group, further supporting the contribution of CS in building robust phonetic and phonological representations, at least in the case of the vowel nasality feature. It is also noteworthy that $\frac{5}{w}$ was the most accurately identified nasal vowel, but that oral vowels /o/ and /u/ were frequently misidentified as /5/. In this sense, it appears that the judges tended to favor the nasal vowel $\frac{5}{10}$ in cases of uncertainty, leading to very good identification scores for this vowel when it was actually presented. In terms of perceived degree of nasality, the CI/CS+ children produced the most appropriately polarized vowels in terms of absence of nasalization for oral vowels and presence of nasalization for nasal vowels. Performance on the vowels of typically hearing children is close to that of the CI/CS+ group. Perceived nasality was significantly higher for the oral vowels pronounced by the CS- group, and more of their productions were judged to be intermediate in terms of nasalization, indicating that their productions were difficult overall for the judges to classify in terms of nasality.

4.2. Acoustic analyses of productions

Our second objective was to acoustically characterize the children's productions, specifically focusing on three categories of acoustic cues: segmental durations, formant values, which are mainly associated with oropharyngeal configuration, and NAF values reflecting degree of phonetic nasalization. Regarding duration cues, it had been hypothesized that children with cochlear implants (CI) would exhibit a more significant differentiation between nasal and oral vowels through segmental lengthening, which was confirmed by the results. Indeed, children in the CI group had overall longer segmental durations, especially for nasal vowels. Furthermore, among the CI children, it was observed that those with sustained CS practice marked the nasal-oral difference even more in terms of segmental durations. Segmental lengthening is a feature that has been shown to be strongly related to the perception of nasality in vowels (Delattre & Monnot, 1968; Delvaux, 2021) making it an effective production strategy, which seems to be confirmed by the fact the vowels produced by the CI/CS+ group were better perceived overall. Given that temporal cues are well-coded by the cochlear implant, it is probably not surprising that segmental duration is favored by children with cochlear implants to implement the oral-nasal contrast in their vowel productions. In a previous study (Fagniart et al., 2024a), we found that the CI children who achieved the best performance in the perception of nasal and oral vowels – in fact, the very same CI/CS+ children as in the current study – , were those whose perceptual performance was (moderately) correlated with temporal envelope variation in the stimuli. It would therefore seem that sustained practice of CS is associated with better use of temporal cues, both in speech perception and speech production.

As for the characterization of the productions in terms of formant patterns, a more pronounced differentiation between oral and nasal vowels on this parameter was expected in children with cochlear implants (CI), perhaps even more so in children with sustained exposure to CS. A simple auditory status effect (CI vs. TH) was only found for the values of F3. However, the CI/CS+ group exhibited significantly higher F1 and F3 values for nasal vowels, and significantly lower F1 and F3 values for oral vowels compared to the other groups. Children with extensive exposure to CS thus seem to differentiate nasal and oral vowels more in terms of oropharyngeal configuration. Indeed, lower F1 and F3 values would be associated respectively with lower opening and greater rounding of the lips for the nasal vowel. Conversely, oral vowels, produced with higher F1 and F3 values, seem to have been produced with greater tongue height and less rounding. Nasal vowels therefore seem to have been better distinguished from their oral counterparts through visually accessible acoustic cues to production in the CS+ group. This hypothesis seems convincing since exposure to CS, which emphasizes speech perception through lip-reading and manual cues, can make oropharyngeal configurations more salient in perception and, in this case, during the production of vocalic segments. The study of comparisons between nasal and oral pairs in Euclidean distances on F1-F2-F3 planes confirms a better distinction in terms of oropharyngeal configuration in the CS+ group, particularly for pairs including the nasal $|\tilde{a}| (|\tilde{a}|-|a|)$ and $|\tilde{a}|-|o|$) and $|\tilde{\epsilon}| (|\tilde{\epsilon}|-|\epsilon|)$ and $|\tilde{\epsilon}|-|a|$). The benefit of CS in phonetic production had already been highlighted by Machart (Machart, 2021) in the differentiation of plosive and fricative consonants in French, assessed through acoustic and articulatory analyses. These new findings extend this observation to the differentiation of vowel segments based on nasality. In contrast, children in the CS- group consistently showed the lowest distinction values; hence, it can be suspected that in the absence of a system aiding in the perception of phonological features like CS, children with CI are vulnerable in distinguishing between nasal

94

and oral vowel segments, even on more visually salient features. Pairs including the nasal $\sqrt{5}$ show the lowest values across all groups, signifying perceptual proximity at the oropharyngeal level, with even significantly lower scores for the $\sqrt{5}$ /-/o/ pair in the CS- group. This proximity may explain the judges' frequent responses for $\sqrt{5}$ when identifying productions: the nasal vowel $\sqrt{5}$, very close to its /o/ and /u/ counterparts, was a preferred response by listeners.

To characterize the distinction between nasal and oral vowels in terms of phonetic nasalization, various acoustic cues related to nasal resonance were collected and modeled per speaker to obtain predicted nasality values using the method proposed by Carignan (Carignan, 2021; Carignan et al., 2023). Given the limitations of cochlear implants in precisely transmitting spectral resolution (Jahn et al., 2022), these acoustic cues associated with velopharyngeal port opening may be more challenging for children with cochlear implants (CI) than for their typically hearing peers. Results of the present study provided evidence in favor of this hypothesis: children in the CI group (CS+ and CS-) produced nasal segments with less phonetic nasality and oral segments with more phonetic nasality, which results in less distinction between these two types of vowels. This finding is consistent with the observations of Baudonck (Baudonck et al., 2015) who found that Dutch-speaking implanted children showed more nasalance in oral vowels and less nasalance in nasal vowels in sentence production. Baudonck et al. (2015) suggested possible difficulties in the control of the velopharyngeal port movements to explain the lesser differentiation between oral and nasalized segments. In the case of French, it is also possible that this reduced marking of vowel nasality through nasal resonance cues reflects a reduced perceptual detection of vowel nasal resonance, which is also congruent with results in the identification and discrimination of oral and nasal vowels in a previous study (Fagniart et al., 2024a). If the partially complete auditory input transmitted by the cochlear implant does not allow children to perceive the oral/nasal distinction in terms of phonetic nasalization with sufficient precision, their discrimination abilities and, subsequently, their production abilities of this distinctive feature may be impaired. This can be manifested as both less oralization of oral vowels and less nasalization of nasal vowels. However, these difficulties seem to be effectively compensated by using more salient temporal cues (segmental duration) or visual cues (tongue/jaw height or lip-rounding) to distinguish these segments when children are exposed to methods that make all phonological features accessible, such as the CS, as the previous results have demonstrated.

Indeed, early and intensive exposure to CS appears to compensate for the perceptual difficulties associated with cochlear implants. A prior study demonstrated the positive impact of CS in the identification and discrimination of nasal and oral vowels (Fagniart et al., 2024a). In the present production study, the oral and nasal vowels produced by children with sustained CS exposure were identified most accurately, and their degree of nasality was judged to be more congruent with their phonological status. CS, through the addition of manual cues to lip-reading, aims to enable complete differentiation of all the sounds in the language using visual cues. The auditory input from the cochlear implant, combined with intensive use of CS, seems to have allowed children in the CS+ group to better distinguish nasal and oral vocalic segments, both in perception and production. The specific production strategies observed in children in the CS+ group appear to indicate a preference for using temporal cues as well as acoustic cues related to oropharyngeal configuration cues, which may reflect the better utilization of these cues observed in perception. It has already been shown in the literature that children with cochlear implants who perform best in speech perception are also those who make better use of acoustic cues (cue-weighting, DiNino et al., 2020).

Many studies have already highlighted a visual bias in the perception of spoken language among both adult and child cochlear implant users through paradigms such as McGurk (Rouger et al., 2008, 2012), especially among users of CS (Bayard et al., 2014). In the "Weight Fuzzy Logical Model of Perception" (WFLMP; Schwartz, 2010) the weighting of visual and auditory modalities in speech perception can depend on the individual and the task. In the present case, children in the CI/CS+ group could be considered as giving more weight to visual information to distinguish between nasal and oral vowels. Targeting the visual cues associated with the oropharyngeal configuration of French nasal vowels can be an effective perceptual strategy to compensate for the difficulties in processing spectral resolution related to simple nasal resonance. Children in the CI/CS+ group who employ this strategy have the most polarized scores in perceptual judgments (low perceived degree of nasalization for oral vowels and high perceived degree of nasalization for nasal vowels), even in the absence of large variations in nasal resonance. On the other hand, children in the CS- group may turn out to be less efficient in processing visual information and may rely more on the auditory modality, even if it is impaired. In view of the limitations of the implant in sound processing, this strategy may not be sufficient to perceive and produce the nasal-oral distinction as accurately. Note that the presentation of the stimuli

(presentation through repetition by the experimenter, with access to lip reading) might have reinforced the preferential use of the visual modality in CS+ children. It would be interesting to know whether similar results were obtained with an audio-only presentation: perhaps the advantage demonstrated by the children in the CS+ group would be less pronounced.

4.3. Link between perceptual judgments and acoustic analyses

Our final objective was to study, in the different groups of participants, the link between the degree of nasality perceived by the judges among nasal vowels and the acoustic characteristics of the productions. Multiple regression analyses confirmed that a different set of acoustic characteristics was related to the percept of nasality depending on the group of participants, with the CI/CS+ group once again standing out from the other groups. While the modelling of the CI/CS+ group only includes formant values and segmental duration cues as predictors of perceived nasality, the CS- and TH groups also include cues associated with velopharyngeal port opening. These analyses confirm the discussion points mentioned earlier: the CS+ group had productions that were judged better than those of the CS- group in both perceptual tasks. However, the CI/CS+ group productions differed from those of the TH group, especially regarding the acoustic cues associated with nasal resonance. This multiple regression analysis confirmed that there was no link between the perceived degree of nasality and nasal resonance in the CI/CS+ group. These children manage to convey correctly the oral-nasal phonological contrast for vowels, even in the absence of a clear distinction in terms of nasal resonance in their productions, through effective use of other relevant acoustic cues. Conversely, children in the CS- group, with the least wellidentified productions and the fuzziest nasal quality, appear to use velopharyngeal coupling more similarly to the TH group in the implementation of nasal contrast. This does not seem to be effective in achieving adequate perceptual correlates of the oral-nasal distinction in French vowels.

4.4. Contributions and limitations of the study

This study has provided valuable initial results on the productive skills of children with cochlear implants compared to typically hearing peers in the case of the vowel nasality contrast, setting the stage for further work on this topic. Some methodological aspects of the present study are worth noting in that perspective. First, the number of participants, although in line with most of the relevant literature, remains of moderate proportion. It seems of great interest to continue research on this topic and validate the observations with larger samples of participant. Second, the experimental task used in the present study to collect the productions consisted of a repetition task. The target pseudowords had been presented beforehand, and their memorization had been trained through a learning phase. It is therefore difficult to know whether the children relied on their memory representations of the target pseudowords, or whether they relied solely on their verbal short-term memory to repeat the productions. It would be interesting to replicate this study by contrasting the data collection method between a simple repetition and a naming task, in order to assess the phonological stability of the productions (Grandon & Vilain, 2020). Finally, it would also be appropriate to investigate the productive skills of post-lingually deaf adults with CIs in the case of French oral and nasal vowels, to find out whether prior auditory experience enables better control of nasal resonance cues.

5. Conclusion

The results of the study highlight: 1) a benefit of sustained CS practice in children with CI for the intelligibility of their oral and nasal vowels; 2) a privileged exploitation of the acoustic characteristics associated with visually salient cues in the CS+ group, i.e. acoustic cues dependent on the oropharyngeal configuration of the vowel (in particular, tongue height and lip rounding); 3) difficulties among children with CI in distinguishing nasal-oral vowels on the basis of phonetic nasalization (i.e. nasal resonance resulting from velo-pharyngeal coupling). These findings shed light on the importance of understanding the mechanisms through which children with cochlear implants can compensate for the acoustic limitations of their implants to support the development of effective articulatory strategies to implement the phonological contrasts of their language.

Chapter 4 **Production of fricative** consonants

The present chapter aims to study the production skills of children with CI in the case of another type of segment: fricative consonants. Indeed, the distinction between the different places of articulation for fricative consonants relies on highfrequency spectral information, which may be imprecisely coded through a CI. Various investigations in the literature have shown increased difficulties in accurately producing these segments (Mildner & Liker, 2008; Reidy et al., 2017; Todd et al., 2011; Warner-Czyz & Davis, 2008), including among French-speaking children (Grandon & Vilain, 2020). This study explores the subject in greater depth by examining, in addition to cues related to distinctions between places of articulation, those associated with the degree and quality of frication. Regarding the variables associated with the participants, the effects of chronological/auditory age, expo-sure to CS, and the timing of implantation are evaluated. This study was conducted as part of the second data collection and includes 23 children with CI and 47 children with typical hearing.

This study was published under the reference:

Fagniart, S., Charlier, B., Delvaux, V., Harmegnies, B., Huberlant, A., Piccaluga, M., Huet, K. (2024c). Production of fricative consonants in Frenchspeaking children with cochlear implants and typical hearing: acoustic and phonological analyses. *Proc. Interspeech* 2024, 877-881, doi: 10.21437/Interspeech.2024-871

The present chapter presents the associated manuscript in its finalized form.

Interspeech 2024 1-5 September 2024, Kos, Greece



Production of fricative consonants in French-speaking children with cochlear implants and typical hearing: acoustic and phonological analyses.

Sophie Fagniart¹, Brigitte Charlier^{2,3}, Véronique Delvaux^{1,2,4}, Bernard Harmegnies^{1,2}, Anne Huberlant³, Myriam Piccaluga¹ & Kathy Huet¹

¹Language Sciences and Metrology Unit, UMONS, Mons, Belgium
 ² ULB - Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium
 ³Functional Rehabilitation Center « Comprendre et Parler », Brussels, Belgium
 ⁴Fund for Scientific Research (F.R.S.-FNRS), Belgium
 sophie.fagniart@umons.ac.be

Abstract

The following study investigates fricative consonant production skills in 23 children with cochlear implants (CI group) and 47 children with typical hearing (TH group), matched by chronological and auditory age. The voiceless (/f/,/s/,/ʃ/) and voiced (/v/,/z/,/3/) fricative consonants of French were studied from children's productions to a picture naming task. The results showed lower percentages of correct fricatives as well as fricativization and stopping errors in the CI group. Acoustic analyses showed productions differing between our two groups, with lower mid-frequency amplitude peak values for the /f,s,z/ phonemes, higher amplitude in the low-frequency bands and lower high-frequency energy in the CI group. Furthermore, links between phonological performance and acoustic productions is demonstrated: higher spectral values distinction are associated with a higher percentage of correct phonological production and fewer stopping/fricativization errors.

Index Terms: cochlear implants, fricative consonants, phonetics, phonology.

1. Introduction

1.1. Speech sound production and cochlear implants

Cochlear implantation, by providing partial auditory input, can significantly improve oral language intelligibility. However, numerous studies on speech sound production have shown specificities compared to age-matched peers with typical hearing, especially for fricative segments among consonants. Warner-Czyz & Davis (2008) studied consonant and vowel inventories and error patterns in a longitudinal study of young children with implants, compared with peers with typical hearing. Although production improved with age and CI use, consonants remained less accurate than vowels overall, with specific difficulties for children with CIs for fricative consonants. The authors suggest that the degraded auditory input provided by the implant may diminish the distinctiveness of fricative segments, carried by very high frequency ranges of lower intensity than vowels and less well encoded by the implant. This auditory-based theory is supported by various acoustic studies of fricative segment production. For example, studies showed less distinction in the /s/-/ʃ/ contrast (Mildner & Liker, 2008; Reidy et al., 2017; Todd et al., 2011), but also specificities in /f/-/s/ in French (Grandon & Vilain, 2020) as well as overall lower spectral values (Yang & Xu, 2021) in children with CI compared with typical-hearing peers of the same chronological and/or auditory age. However, it is noteworthy that some authors reach different conclusions regarding the developmental profile of children with CI. For example, Kim & Chin (2008) observed error patterns in children with CI in terms of fortition errors (stopping of fricatives, devoicing) or lenition errors (fricativization of stops, voicing) typology in connection with Jakobson's markedness theory (Jakobson, 1968). The prevalence observed in the study of fortition-type errors in children's development is consistent with the early phonological development stages of typically hearing children, suggesting a chronologically delayed acquisition profile but not specific to these children. Faes & Gillis (2016) reach similar conclusions, noting that performance in the production of fricative consonants is delayed when comparing children with CI to typically hearing (TH) children of the same chronological age, but not when they are matched by lexicon size. Considering these various studies and perspectives, it seems interesting to study the link between phonological production (with subjective analysis of the level of phonological accuracy and error patterns) and objective acoustic analysis of fricative segments among CI users. This constitutes the main objective of the present study.

1.2. Acoustics of fricative consonants

Fricative consonants are produced by the partial obstruction of airflow by the articulators, resulting in the generation of a noise source filtered by the shape of the vocal tract. Frication noise covers thereby a wide frequency and dynamic range that can vary over time (Shadle et al., 2023). The acoustic study of fricative segments is conventionally conducted through the measurement of spectral moments (Forrest et al., 1988). However, the values of spectral moments can vary depending on recording conditions and are highly dependent on analysis parame-

ters (Shadle et al., 2023). Additionally, these values are often challenging to interpret in terms of effects related to the source or the filter (Koenig et al., 2013), prompting the development of new measurement techniques. Various studies have validated the relevance of using spectral peak measured within midfrequency well as measurements of amplitude ratios range, as (AmpDiff/AmpRange) and acoustic energy (levelD) between low/mid and mid/high-frequency ranges (Jesus & Shadle, 2002; Koenig et al., 2013; Shadle et al., 2023). These measures allow the differentiation of various places of articulation for fricative consonants and distinguish voiced from voiceless fricatives. Voiced segments exhibit lower amplitudes in mid and high-frequency ranges compared to their voiceless counterparts (Shadle et al., 2023). These measurements are performed within spectra generated by the Multitaper Method (MTPS) (Blacklock, 2004), which averages a series of periodograms obtained through the collection of mutually orthogonal windows (tapers). The MTPS method is recognized for its reduced errors and higher temporal precision (Sfakianaki et al., 2024).

1.3. Aims of the study

This study pursues three main objectives: a) documenting production performance in terms of accuracy in the phonological production of fricatives within words, as well as error patterns ; b) characterizing productions using recently developed acoustic indices aimed at assessing the articulatory and aerodynamic characteristics of fricatives (spectral peak, levelD, and ampDiff/ampRange) based on their place of articulation and voicing mode within our groups; c) studying potential links between phonological performance profiles and characteristic errors of children's groups with their production profiles in terms of acoustics.

2. Method

2.1. Participants

The TH group consists of 47 French-speaking children with typical hearing, with an average age of 56 ± 13 m., who do not exhibit any learning delays or auditory disorders. The CI group is composed of 23 French-speaking children (mean age: 67 ± 15 m.) with congenital bilateral profound deafness, fitted with bilateral implants. Both groups were divided into three/four chronological age groups: 2;6-3;6 years (only for TH group), 3;7-4;6 years, 4;7-5;6 years, and 5;6-7 years (see

Group	Chronological age subgroups	Auditory age subgroups	
CI	3;7-4 (7), 4;7-5;6 (6),	3;7-4 (12), 4;7-5;6 (7),	
	5;7-7y. (11)	5;7-7y. (5)	
TH	2;6-3;6 y. (9), 3;7-4 (10),	N/A (typical hearing)	
	4;7-5;6 (17), 5;7-7y. (11)		

table 4.1). For children in the CI group, auditory age groups were also formed, considering their age from the time of their first implantation.

Table 4.1: Description of participants in each group and age subgroups

2.2. Task

The children's productions were collected through an image naming task, for which target words were selected to encompass all the phonemes of French in initial, medial, and final positions. Additionally, these words were chosen for their frequency and low age of acquisition to facilitate their production among young children. The target words containing fricative consonants total 25 fricative phonemes per child. The productions related to target words, such as demonstratives like "ça" (/sa/- (this) or "ça c'est" - /sa sɛ/ (this is) containing a fricative phoneme, have been retained for analysis, totaling 1947 target fricative phonemes. The children's productions were recorded using a portable Zoom H5 recorder.

2.3. Data processing and statistical analysis

All audio files underwent annotation by an initial examiner and were subsequently reviewed and corrected, if necessary, by the first author using Phon 3.1 software (Hedlung & Rose, 2020). Inter-annotator agreement was high (> 90%). These annotations facilitated the extraction of the Percentage of Correct Phonemes (PCP), Correct Fricatives (PCF), and the identification of various types of production errors made by the children when there were discrepancies between the annotation and the target segment. Different types of errors involving fricatives were identified, including changes in manner of articulation (fricativization: stop to fricative; stopping: fricative to stop), changes in place of articulation, or substitutions between voiced and voiceless segments. The annotations were then exported to PRAAT (Boersma & Weenink, 2023) textgrid, with manual correction of the phoneme alignments. A script for automatic extraction of acoustic measures was subsequently employed for the analysis of the produced fricatives. The script extracts various measures at three temporal points: the beginning, middle, and end of the phoneme. For each temporal point, a multitaper power spectra (MTPS) (Blacklock, 2004) using 8 tapers was generated. Three acoustic measures were then collected from the generated spectra: spectral peak, levelD, and ampDiff for each target sibilant /s, z, f, z/ or ampRange for each target non-sibilant /f-v/. These measures require defining ranges for low, mid, and high frequencies within the spectrum. Given the absence of references for young children, we established these ranges through a meticulous analysis of the spectra, employing trial-and-error to identify parameters that most accurately represent our data. Finally, we adopted the values proposed by Shadle for adult females (Shadle et al., 2023) with slight changes. Notably, we adjusted the maximum threshold for the mid-frequency range in the detection of spectral peaks for /s, z/ by elevating it to 10000 instead of 8000 and to 8000 instead of 4000 for /f, 3/. The spectral peak was obtained by extracting the frequency of the amplitude peak in the mid frequencies, levelD was obtained calculating the difference in acoustic power between mid and high frequencies, and ampDiff the amplitude difference between low and mid frequencies. Precise definitions of these measures are provided in (Shadle et al., 2023). Linear generalized mixed models were conducted using the lme4 package (version 1.1-34) (Bates et al., 2015) in the R software (R Core Team, 2022), employing Gaussian regression for all metric variables derived from the acoustic analysis of all produced segments. For phonological analysis, percentages of correct phonemes (total, nasal vowels, fricatives, and stop consonants), as well as percentages of various types of errors observed, were calculated per subject to enable group comparisons. The models incorporated subject-related characteristics (auditory status, chronological/auditory age group), stimulus characteristics (fricative time point, fricative identity, place of articulation and voicing mode), and the interaction between these variables. To control inter-subject variability, a random intercept effect for the subject was included in the models. Significance testing for fixed effects were assessed using Chi-squared tests and corresponding p-values, conducted through the ANOVA function of the Car package (Fox & Weisberg, 2018) on the model. Pairwise comparisons between different levels of independent variables were also conducted using the emmeans package (Lenth et al., 2023).

3. Results

3.1. Phonological analysis

The CI group exhibits significantly lower percentages of correct phonemes (PCP) compared to the TH group (75% vs. 91.1%; $\chi^2(1) = 30.024$; p < 0.001), as

35.857; p < 0.001). An effect of chronological age is observed in the typically hearing group (TH) for both PCC ($\chi^2(3)=8.1$; p=.04) and PFC scores ($\chi^2(3)=13.7$; p=.003), with scores increasing with age. In contrast, no effect of chronological or auditory age groups is observed in the cochlear implant group (CI). The most frequent errors in both groups involve substitutions of voiced fricatives (CI : 11% – TH: 8.7%; $\chi^2(1)=1.2$; p>.05) and substitutions between the phonemes /s/ and /f/ (CI: 7.27%, TH: 6.1%; $\chi^2(1)=0.74$; p>.05). Fricativization errors were found in the CI group, which were minimal or absent in the TH group (CI: 10%, TH: 0.8%; $\chi^2(1)=94.9$; p<.001) as well as stopping errors (CI: 4.2%, TH: 0.7%; $\chi^2(1)= 29.8$; p<.001) and voicing errors (CI: 4.8%, TH: 1.8%; $\chi^2(1)= 29.8$; p<.001). A significant chronological age effect was observed for /s/-/ʃ/ substitutions in both the TH ($\chi^2(3)$ = 26.6; p<.001) and CI groups ($\chi^2(2)$ = 18.2; p<.001), but only for the TH group for devoicing ($\chi^2(3) = 8.6$; p=.03) – older age groups showed fewer occurrences of these errors. Concerning specific errors in the CI group, an auditory (not chronological) age group effect was observed for fricativization errors ($\chi^2(2) = 29.2$; p<.001), but not for stopping and voicing errors.

3.2. Acoustic analysis

Figure 4.1 displays the values of various spectral measures and amplitudes within the TH and CI groups at three temporal points for the six target fricatives.



Figure 4.1: Mean and confidence interval of the spectral peak (top graphs), levelD (middle) and AmpDiff (down) values for the TH (blue) and CI (red) groups for the 6 target fricatives at three segmental temporal points (b= beginning ; m = middle ; e = end of the fricative)

Concerning spectral peak values, a group effect was observed, indicating lower spectral peak values in the CI group ($\chi^2(1) = 9.4$; p = 0.002). Additionally, there was a temporal point effect, showing higher values at the midpoint ($\chi^2(2) =$ 337.5; p < 0.001). A significant interaction effect was found between group and phoneme type ($\chi^2(5) = 23.9$; p < 0.001), with group differences noted for the phonemes /f/, /s/, and /z/, and a group*temporal point interaction ($\chi^2(10) = 40.4$; p < 0.001) revealing a greater increase at the midpoint for the TH group. In the TH group, an effect of chronological age was observed ($\chi^2(3) = 11.6$; p = 0.008), with spectral peak values decreasing with age. An age*phoneme interaction effect $(\chi^2(15) = 66.4; p < 0.001)$ revealed higher decreases for /f/ and /s/, resulting in improved distinction of articulation places among voiceless fricatives /f, s, \int /. Among voiced fricatives, /v/ and /z/ did not show distinction in terms of spectral peak values. In the CI group, no effect of chronological age was found. Instead, an interaction effect of auditory age group*phoneme ($\chi^2(10) = 22.6; p = 0.01$) was observed, with greater spectral peak value distinction in the older auditory age group for the voiceless /f, s, \int / but not for the voiced /z, $_3$ /, which were not distinguished.

Regarding the levelD values, a significant group effect is observed, with significantly higher values in the CI group ($\chi^2(1) = 5.6$; p =.01), along with a temporal point effect, indicating decreasing values at the midpoint ($\chi 2(2) = 231.7$; p < 0.001). A group*phoneme interaction effect ($\chi^2(5) = 98.6$; p < 0.001) is also noted, with values significantly higher for /f, s, and z/z in the CI group. An interaction effect between chronological age group is observed in the CI group, demonstrating greater distinction between the three places of articulation for the voiceless f, s, f and the voiced v, z, z, with values increasing with posteriority in the older group. A chronological age group effect is also noted in the TH group $(\chi^2(3) = 14; p = 0.002)$, with significantly lower values in the younger children age group, and an interaction between age group and phoneme, with this decrease being significant for /s, \int , z/. A marginal voicing*group interaction ($\chi^2(1) = 2.8$; p = 0.09) was also found, with significant difference between voiced and voiceless levelD values in the TH group, but not in the CI group. A place of articulation*group interaction ($\chi^2(1) = 89$; p < .001) reveals that, in the TH group, /s,z/ has the lowest values, followed by f_v , and then f_3 , whereas in the CI group, the order is /f, v/ < /s, z/ < /(-3).

AmpDiff values are marginally lower in TH group ($\chi^2(1) = 3.5$; p =.06) and a group*phoneme interaction effect is observed ($\chi^2(1) = 14.1$; p =.01) with significantly lower values for /s,z/ in the TH group. A time point effect is retrieved, with higher values for the midpoint ($\chi^2(2) = 687.7$; p <.001). In the TH group, a chronological age group effect was observed ($\chi^2(3) = 16.6$; p < .001) with significantly lower values in the younger age group and an age group*phoneme interaction ($\chi^2(15) = 69.9$; p < .001), indicating an increasing distinction between the three places of articulation for voiceless and voiced fricatives in the older group. In the CI group, both chronological and auditory age group effects were found, leading to an increased distinction between the voiceless /f/ and /s, J/ and the voiced /3/

and /v, z/ for the fricatives. It is noteworthy that the values of ampDiff are significantly lower for voiceless fricatives overall in both groups ($\chi^2(1) = 73.7$; p < .001), except for the /f-v/ pair in the CI group.

3.3. Correlation between phonological and acoustical data

The mean values per subject and per phoneme for each type of acoustic measure were compared to assess differences in articulation places (/f/-/s/, /s/-/f/, /v/-/z/, /z/-/3/) and between voiceless (/f, /s, /f/) and voiced (/v, /z, /3/) fricatives. Correlations between these values and percentages of correct phonemes and fricatives, as well as various types of errors, were examined.



Figure 4.2: Correlations among TH and CI group between PCF and /z/-/3/. spectral peak mean value differences.

A positive correlation was observed in both groups between the percentage of correct fricatives and the average spectral peak values difference between the phonemes /z/ and /ʒ/ (r=0.52; p =.01; see figure 4.2). Additionally, positive correlations were found for the phonemes /s/-/ʃ/ for the CI group (r=0.44; p=0.03) and the TH group for /v/-/ʒ/ (r=0.29; p=0.04). Mean differences in AmpdDiff between voiceless and voiced fricatives were also positively correlated with PCF in the CI group (r=0.42; p=0.05). In the CI group, the fricativization count is negatively correlated with spectral peak mean differences for /v-ʒ/ (r=-0.38; p=0.07), and

stopping count is negatively correlated with spectral peak mean differences between /s/ and /J/ (r=-0.45; p=0.03) and /z- $\frac{1}{2}$ (r=-0.53; p=0.009).

4. Discussion

This research aimed to compare potential links between phonological performances and acoustic profiles of fricative consonant in children with CIs and their typically hearing peers. The first part of the analyses involved comparing the accuracy percentages of productions as judged by two listeners, as well as error patterns. Lower accuracy percentages, encompassing all phonemes, and lower percentages of correct fricatives were observed in the CI group. Examining the types of errors revealed specific error patterns in both groups, such as well-documented /s/-/ſ/ substitutions and devoicings, considered classical errors in language development. Additionally, errors specific to the CI group were identified, including articulatory mode errors (fricativization, stopping) and voicing errors involving voiceless segments. While an effect of chronological age is observed on the percentage of total phonemes and correct fricatives in the TH group, along with a decrease in the number of devoicings and /s/-/ʃ/ substitutions, a chronological age effect is only found in the decrease of /s/-/ʃ/ substitutions in the CI group. The accuracy percentages and the number of other error types are not influenced by chronological or auditory age in the CI group. Although certain error patterns (stopping, devoicing) are consistent with Kim & Chin's (Kim & Chin, 2008) hypothesis of a similar but chronologically delayed development compared to typically hearing peers, the prevalence of certain atypical errors (fricativizations, voicing), and the fact that these different error types do not decrease with chronological/auditory age, seems more in line with the auditory-based hypothesis.

Acoustic analyses revealed overall lower spectral peak values in the CI group and especially for the phonemes /f/, /s/, and /z/. These lower values indicate more energy in the lower frequencies which can be associated with a longer anterior oral cavity, which may be related to a posteriorization of the constriction location and/or a more pronounced lip rounding. Sfakianaki et al. (2024) obtained similar results for the phoneme /s/ in adults with hearing impairments (HI). The authors linked their results to Nicolaidis's study (Nicolaidis, 2004), in which a more pronounced posteriorization of the /s/ phoneme had been highlighted through electropalatography in adults with HI. However, it is noteworthy that the reduction of these values, although diminishing the distinction between the three places of articulation (/f-v/,/s-z/,/ʃ-ʒ/) compared to the TH group, does not result in a lesser distinction of these places of articulation according to our statistical analyses. The observed age effects indeed demonstrate that chronological age advancement in the TH group and auditory age in the CI group are associated with a greater distinction of the voiceless /f-s-J/. Conversely, the voiced /v-z/ in the TH group and /z-3/ in the CI group didn't differ in the older age groups.

Children in the CI group also exhibit overall higher values of levelD and lower values for the AmpDiff measure. These two trends are consistent: children seem to show less reinforcement of amplitudes in mid-frequencies, leading to a decrease in AmpDiff values (differences between low and mid-frequencies), as well as less reinforcement in high frequencies, resulting in a higher levelD (ratio of mid to high frequencies). The reinforcement of mid and high-frequency spectral regions is associated with the strength of the noise source (Shadle et al., 2023); therefore, less reinforcement may be associated with a weaker constriction, resulting in less cancellation of the back-cavity resonances (Koenig et al., 2013). Also noteworthy is that these measurements can distinguish between voiced and voiceless phonemes, with the former marked by a weakening of acoustic energy. While the distinction between voiced and voiceless fricative phonemes is well pronounced in the TH group, evident in both levelD and AmpDiff values, the voicing effect is only found in the distinction between the pairs /s,z/ and /ʃ, ʒ/ within the AmpDiff values in the CI group.

All the acoustic characteristics observed in the CI group within our results appear entirely consistent with the limitations discussed in signal processing by the implant. Indeed, if the implant cannot accurately encode the entire high-frequency range, it may not be capable of transmitting relevant information to 1) distinguish between voiced and voiceless fricative segments and the appropriate degree of constriction; 2) capture higher frequency spectral peaks such as /f, v, s, z/, consequently impacting productive skills. These perceptual limitations, in addition to resulting in distinctive production characteristics, will have a direct impact on phonological development – a conclusion supported by the correlations we have identified. Notably, it has been observed that children in the CI group with better distinction of the /s- \int / and /z- $_3$ / segments by spectral peak values, as well as voiced/voiceless segments by AmpDiff values, also had the highest percentage of correct fricatives and fewer errors in fricativization/occlusivication. This relationship appears consistent with the auditory-based hypothesis of the phonological difficulties of CI users. Moreover, it also highlights that the characteristic varia-

bility in the performance of children with CI could be associated with variability in the quality of the auditory signal coded by the implant (for a review, see Başkent et al., 2016) and this interaction with the child's cognitive system's processing of the signal.

5. Conclusion

The study highlighted, on one hand, atypical performance profiles in phonology and phonetics in the production of fricative segments in children with CIs compared to their typically hearing peers. On the other hand, it revealed connections between acoustic and phonetic profiles, where children with more pronounced acoustic distinctions among segments also exhibited better phonological performance. These findings support the hypothesis that the degraded signal transmitted by the implant may be the cause of more pronounced difficulties with certain speech sounds for these children and the variability in their performances.

Chapter 5 Consonant and vowel production: an integrative study

After examining the perception and production skills of nasal vowels in a first group of children with CI and the production of fricative consonants in a second larger group, the present chapter aims to jointly study the production skills of nasal/oral vowels as well as fricative and plosive consonants in the same children, i.e. those forming the latter group. The joint analysis of these three types of segments, which are highly contrasted in terms of acoustic correlates, allows us to better understand the perceptual-productive mechanisms in these children and determine whether distinct profiles of common difficulties and/or compensatory strategies may be observed among the children.

The study is published under the reference:

Fagniart, S., Charlier, B., Delvaux, V., Harmegnies, B., Huberlant, A., Piccaluga, M., & Huet, K. (2024b). Consonant and vowel production in children with cochlear implants: Acoustic measures and multiple factor analysis. *Frontiers in Audiology and Otology*, 2. https://doi.org/doi: 10.3389/fauot.2024.1425959

The present chapter presents the associated manuscript in its finalized form.

Frontiers | Frontiers in Audiology and Otology

TYPE Original Research PUBLISHED 27 August 2024 DOI 10.3389/fauot.2024.1425959

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Hung Thai-Van, Institut Pasteur, France

REVIEWED BY Marie Thérèse Le Normand, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France David Tomé, Polytechnic of Porto (P.Porto), Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Sophie Fagniart ⊠ sophie.fagniart@umons.ac.be

RECEIVED 30 April 2024

ACCEPTED 05 August 2024 PUBLISHED 27 August 2024

CITATION

Fagniart S, Charlier B, Delvaux V, Huberlant A, Harmegnies BG, Piccaluga M and Huet K (2024) Consonant and vowel production in children with cochlear implants: acoustic measures and multiple factor analysis. Front Audiol Otol 2:1425959 doi: 10.3389/fauot.2024.1425959

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Fagniart, Charlier, Delvaux, Huberlant, Harmegnies, Piccaluga and Huet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creati License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Consonant and vowel production in children with cochlear implants: acoustic measures and multiple factor analysis

Sophie Fagniart^{1,2*}, Brigitte Charlier^{3,4}, Véronique Delvaux^{1,2,5}, Anne Huberlant⁴, Bernard Georges Harmegnies^{1,2,3}, Myriam Piccaluga^{1,2} and Kathy Huet^{1,2}

¹] anguage Sciences and Metrology Unit. University of Mons (UMONS), Mons. Belgium. ²Research Institute for Language Science and Technology, University of Mons (UMONS), Mons, Belgium, ³Université Libre de Brussels, Free University of Brussels, Brussels, Belgium, ⁴Functional Rehabilitation Center "Comprendre et Parler", Brussels, Belgium, ⁵National Fund for Scientific Research, Brussels, Belgium

Introduction: The acoustic limitations of cochlear implants (CIs) can lead to perceptual limitations and consequently to imprecise phonological representations and production difficulties. The aim of the study is to document the phonological and phonetic skills of children with CIs and their typically hearing peers. Phonetically, three types of segments were targeted, each characterized by contrasting acoustic information: nasal/oral vowels, fricative segments, and voiced/voiceless stops.

Methods: Forty-seven typically hearing children (TH) and 23 children with CIs performed a picture-naming task. Productions were analyzed to obtain phonological measures (percentages of correct phonemes, types of errors), and various acoustic measures were collected to characterize the productions on the three types of segments investigated. Multiple factor analyses were conducted to study productive profiles on the various acoustic measures, and the dimensions were correlated with phonological measures.

Results: The results showed lower performance in lexical (target word retrieval) and phonological (percentages of correct phonemes) skills among children with CIs (CI group), although with better performances among children exposed to CS. Acoustically, children in the CI group exhibited productions significantly different from those of the TH group in terms of the distinction of fricative consonants, marking nasalization through nasal resonance cues, and in the production of voiceless stops. However, the CI group demonstrated compensatory strategies (lengthening of VOT for voiced stops, marking of nasalization through oropharyngeal configuration cues).

Conclusions: The results indicate that children with CIs are at risk of experiencing difficulties in both phonetic and phonological domains. However, there are opportunities for compensation through the exploitation of acoustic cues better coded by the CI and/or through perceptual means (utilization of visual cues).

KEYWORDS

cochlear implant, speech, acoustic, nasal vowels, fricative consonants, stop consonants, multiple factor analysis

Introduction 1.

Cochlear implantation is now commonly provided to people with severe to profound deafness and has been shown to effectively restore hearing function and promote oral language development in children (Sharma et al., 2020; Tamati et al., 2022). However, numerous studies on speech sound production by children with cochlear implants have shown specificities compared to age-matched peers with typical hearing, as well as significant variability in performance. Difficulties in production can be explained primarily by delayed access to oral language associated with a lack of oral language stimulation during sensitive periods in the development of the auditory areas associated with language. Another explanatory factor is related to perceptual difficulties that may arise from processing speech through a cochlear implant, as productive skills require precise support from acoustically and phonologically specified representations (Stackhouse & Wells, 1993). The cochlear implant degrades the spectral structure of sound before transmitting it to the auditory nerve. This degradation is related to the limited number of electrodes capable of independently coding the frequency information of the original sound without activation diffusion or interactions between adjacent electrodes (channel-to-channel interactions). Furthermore, frequency ranges perceived via the implant may be limited in both high and low frequencies. The coding of low frequencies depends on the shallowness of the array insertion and potential mismatches in frequency mapping (Başkent et al., 2016; Başkent & Shannon, 2005). Frequencies above approximately 8000 Hz reach the limits of the processor in current implants (Loizou, 2006; Reidy et al., 2017), meaning that speech sounds with acoustic cues relying on high frequencies are more likely to be perceived and encoded imprecisely by individuals with cochlear implants. The present study aims to investigate how French-speaking children with cochlear implants produce three types of speech segments: nasal and oral vowels, where the distinction is primarily carried by low-frequency information; fricative consonants, where acoustic cues are mainly carried by high-frequency information; and voiced/unvoiced plosive consonants, where the voicing contrast is supported by temporal acoustic cues, presumed to be better encoded by the cochlear implant than spectral cues.

In French, the production of contrastive nasal vowels involves nasal resonance and a specific vowel quality associated with a characteristic oropharyngeal configuration (lip, tongue, and larynx positioning). The acoustic coupling of nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal cavities results in various acoustic changes compared to oral vowels, including shifts in frequency, intensity, and bandwidth of the first formant (Delattre, 1954; Delattre & Monnot, 1968; House & Stevens, 1956; Maeda, 1993), as well as changes in intensity ratios between the first harmonics and among different formants (Chen, 1995, 1997; Delvaux, 2002; Delvaux & Metens, 2002). These acoustic differences between vowels contrasting for nasalization necessitate the precise processing of acoustic information with a sufficient degree of frequency selectivity and sensitivity to amplitude variations, particularly among low-frequency harmonics, which may pose challenges for cochlear implant recipients. The study of nasal and oral vowels in CI users has been the subject of a limited number of studies, possibly due to the non-contrastive nature of vowel nasalization in many languages worldwide. However, Bouton (Bouton et al., 2012) highlighted difficulties in discriminating minimal pairs based on nasal and oral vowels among French-speaking children with cochlear implants, attributing the challenges to insufficient spectral resolution and difficulty in coding low-frequency information. Borel (Borel, 2015; Borel et al., 2019) noticed challenges in identifying nasal vowels among adult French speakers with cochlear implants, particularly when these vowels were phonetically similar in oropharyngeal configuration to other oral vowels in the French system. This observation led to the development of a discrimination task involving phonologically contrasting nasal and oral vowels (according to the nasal-oral distinction in the French phonological system: $(\tilde{a}/-/a), (\tilde{a}/-/s), (\tilde{e}/-/e)$ as well as phonetically divergent pairs in which the oral and nasal vowels were close in terms of oropharyngeal configuration ($(\tilde{\alpha}/-3), (\tilde{\beta}/-3), (\tilde{\epsilon}/-3)$). A recent study (Fagniart et al., 2024a) confirmed these findings in children CI recipients, who have greater difficulty discriminating phonetically matched nasal-oral pairs. Intensive exposure to Cued Speech led to a better utilization of temporal acoustic cues, resulting in improved performance in these children. Subsequent analyses of nasal and oral vowel productions from the same children revealed reduced differentiation based on acoustic cues related to nasal resonance, but increased differentiation based on formant frequencies (i.e. oropharyngeal configuration) and segmental length (Fagniart et al., in press). These results support the hypothesis of increased difficulty in detecting nasal antiresonances and other acoustic cues related with phonetic nasality, although this can be compensated for by exploiting more accessible cues conveying the oralnasal contrast such as formant values or temporal differences.

The production of fricative consonants involves a constriction in the vocal tract generating turbulent airflow. The resulting aperiodic signal (noise source) covers a wide frequency range with significant energy in the high frequencies. It is then filtered by the vocal tract, resulting in a concentration of energy in the mid to high frequencies depending on the location of the constriction (place of articu-

lation). Due to limitations in processing high frequencies by the implant processor, these segments are prone to causing perceptual and productive difficulties in CI recipients. Identifying and discriminating the places of articulation is more challenging for children with CIs (Bouton et al., 2012; Lane et al., 2001; Mildner & Liker, 2008), especially for the phonemes /s/ and /ſ/ (Giezen et al., 2010; Hedrick et al., 2011). On the production side, late and imprecise emergence of fricative consonants has been observed in the phonemic repertoires of children with implants, although performance improves with age and duration of CI use (Warner-Czyz & Davis, 2008). Concerning phonological accuracy, some authors (Kim & Chin, 2008) identified typical error patterns in CI children, which are associated with fortition errors (e.g., cessation of fricatives, devoicing). These errors match those observed in the early stages of phonological development in typically hearing children (Jakobson, 1968), suggesting delayed acquisition patterns that are not unique to CI children. In the same vein, Faes & Gillis (2016) have shown that phonological accuracy in fricative consonants is delayed when comparing CI and typically hearing children based on age, but not when matched in terms of vocabulary size. Several acoustic studies have also documented difficulties related to the production of fricatives segments in children with CI compared to their age-matched typically hearing peers, such as : diminished differentiation in the /s/-/ʃ/ contrast (Mildner & Liker, 2008; Reidy et al., 2017; Todd et al., 2011), specific patterns in implementing the /f/-/s/ contrasts in French (Grandon & Vilain, 2020), and overall lower spectral values (Yang & Xu, 2021).

The production of stop consonants involves the active and complete closure of the vocal tract by movements of the articulators towards each other, followed by a quick opening that releases a burst of acoustic energy. In voiced stops, vocal cord vibration accompanies the closing phase, contributing to the addition of a periodic sound source voiced. Voice Onset Time (VOT) serves as the acoustic marker for the voicing contrast in stop consonants. VOT represents the duration of the period of time between the release of the oral closure and the onset of vocal cord vibration (Lisker & Abramson, 1964). Since the voicing contrast in stop consonants is carried by temporal cues, one could presume that it is appropriately encoded by CI. This was suggested by Bouton (Bouton et al., 2012), who noted better performance in children with CIs in discriminating minimal pairs opposing stop consonants on the basis of the voicing feature, compared to other distinctive features. However, this finding has not been consistently verified. For instance, Peng et al. (2019) reported lower performance in discriminating minimal pairs in-

116

volving voiced vs. voiceless stops among young cochlear implant recipients compared to their hearing peers. Studies using categorical perception paradigms have also yielded contradictory results regarding the performance of children with CIs, with some studies showing lower categorical perception (Giezen et al., 2010), while others did not find any difference when compared to typically hearing children (Medina et al., 2004) for the voicing contrast. Few studies have examined VOT measurements to objectively assess how voiced and voiceless stops are distinguished in the speech productions of children with CI. Uchanski & Geers (2003) and Horga & Liker (2006) observed shorter VOT values for voiceless stops, leading to a reduced voiced-voiceless distinction compared to typicalhearing peers. Grandon et al. (2017) observed shorter VOT values for voiceless stops in French-speaking CI children, but only for the velar consonant /k/. Despite the voicing feature of stop consonants being indicated by temporal cues, studies on the perception and production of this distinctive feature show contrasting results, warranting including them in our study of the speech productions of Frenchspeaking children with CI.

As most studies have focused on a single distinguishing feature in isolation, the main purpose of the present study is to document the productive skills of different types of distinction with the same children, to jointly observe their productive profiles based on phonological and phonetic analysis. To this purpose, we focused on three types of segments: nasal/oral vowels, fricative consonants, and stop consonants, to examine whether there are common production profiles across different types of targeted phonetic features. Productions will be collected through a picture-naming task, to study the phonological representations stored in the children's memory. Taking the literature into account, it can be expected that, children with a cochlear implant (CI):

- a) may have difficulty finding the precise phonological form of target words considering their perceptual limitations. These difficulties may manifest in lower naming performance (less retrieval of the target word in the first instance) and/or in more phonemic substitution when producing the target word;
- b) may distinguish nasal and oral vowels relying more on better-encoded cues, like formant frequencies related to oropharyngeal configuration rather than nasal resonance cues (Fagniart et al., in press);

- c) may produce fricative consonants with less distinction of place of articulation (Mildner and Liker, 2008; Todd et al., 2011; Reidy et al., 2017; Grandon and Vilain, 2020);
- d) may produce voiceless stops with shorter values (Uchanski and Geers, 2003; Horga and Liker, 2006; Grandon et al., 2017)

The originality of the study lies in jointly examining these different segments, aiming to identify distinct profiles of common difficulties and/or compensatory strategies that may be observed among the children. In addition to studying these different hypotheses through comparisons between CI children and typical hearing peers, different variables likely to have an impact on performance will also be studied, namely chronological age as well as hearing age, age of implantation and exposure to Cued Speech among CI children.

2. Materials and method

2.1 Participants

Two groups of children were recruited: a group of children with typical hearing (TH group) and a group of children with cochlear implants (CI group). The TH group comprises 47 French-speaking children with typical hearing, with an average age of 56±13 months, who do not exhibit any learning delays or auditory disorders. The CI group consisted of 23 French-speaking children (mean age: 67±15m.) with congenital bilateral profound hearing loss, 22 of whom had bilateral implants, and one child with a unilateral implant. All CI participants received oralist auditory rehabilitation, both at their rehabilitation center and in their family environment. This group was divided based on their exposure to Cued Speech: 8 of the children were not exposed to CS (CS0), while 15 were exposed to CS during their speech therapy sessions (2 at 3 sessions per week) and/or in their family context (CS1). Implantation age groups were also created, with children who received their first implant before 16 months considered as early implantations (CI/EI, n=12), and those implanted after 16 months considered as late implantations (CI/LI, n = 11). The age of 16 months was chosen to be in line with various studies showing a significant benefit from implantation before 18 months (Sharma et al., 2020). Given the distribution of implantation ages, we lowered the threshold to 16 months, enabling us to create equivalent groups. The list of participants and their characteristics are presented in Table 5.1.

Subject	Sex	Chronological age (years ; months)	Chronological age group	Age at first implantation (months)	Implantation age group: early (E) – late (L)	Auditory age group	Implantation type	CS ex- posure group
CI1	Μ	4;6	3;7-4;6 y.	9	Е	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0
CI2	Μ	6;5	5;7-7 y.	39	L	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0
CI3	F	5;10	4;7-5;6 y.	15	E	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0
CI4	F	6;7	5;7-7 y.	7	E	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0
CI5	F	6;6	4;7-5;6 y.	31	L	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI6	F	4;7	4;7-5;6 y.	7	Е	3;7-4;6 y.	Unilateral	CS1
CI7	F	7;3	5;7-7 y.	13	Е	4;7-5;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI8	Μ	4;7	4;7-5;6 y.	13	Е	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI9	Μ	4;9	4;7-5;6 y.	13	Е	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI10	Μ	4;6	3;7-4;6 y.	12	Е	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI11	F	4;6	3;7-4;6 y.	18	L	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI12	Μ	5;6	4;7-5;6 y.	9	Е	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0
CI13	F	7;3	5;7-7 y.	24	L	4;7-5;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI14	G	7;10	5;7-7 y.	26	L	4;7-5;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
C15	G	6;11	5;7-7 y.	23	L	4;7-5;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
C16	F	6;9	5;7-7 y.	20	L	4;7-5;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
C17	Μ	6;0	5;7-7 y.	20	L	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0
CI18	F	3;9	3;7-4;6 y.	23	L	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0
CI19	F	5;0	4;7-5;6 y.	12	Е	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI20	F	3;8	3;7-4;6 y.	32	L	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI21	Μ	4;11	4;7-5;6 y.	11	Е	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0
CI22	F	6;7	5;7-7 y.	17	L	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1
CI23	F	5;0	4;7-5;6 y.	13	Е	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS1

Table 5.1: Characteristics of the CI children.

Both groups were divided into three/four chronological age groups: 2;6-3;6 years (only for TH group), 3;7-4;6 years, 4;7-5;6 years, and 5;6-7 years (see table 5.2). For children in the CI group, auditory age groups were also formed, considering their age from the time of their first implantation.

Group	Chronological age subgroups years ; months (N)	Auditory age subgroups years ; months (N)	
	3;7-4;6 y. (5)	2;6-3;6 y. (11)	
CI	4;7-5;6 y. (9)	3;7-4;6 y. (7)	
	5;7-7 y. (9)	4;7-5;6 y. (5)	
TH	2;6-3;6 y. (9)		
	3;7-4;6 y. (10)	N/A (typical bearing)	
	4;7-5;6 y. (17)	N/A (typical hearing)	
	5;7-7y. (11)		

Table 5.2: Groups and age subgroups distribution.

2.2 Data collection and treatment

2.2.1 Procedure

Children's speech samples were collected using a picture naming activity (Philippart De Foy et al., 2018). Target words were carefully chosen by the authors to include all French phonemes in initial, medial, or final syllabic position. In addition, these words were selected for their high lexical frequency and early age of acquisition, to facilitate their retrieval by young children. In terms of target segments, the target words contained 25 fricative consonants, 13 nasal vowels and 69 oral vowels, as well as 42 stop consonants.

The target word pictures were presented to the child one at a time via a booklet, and he or she was asked to orally name each picture. Different prompts were provided if the child did not respond or if the produced word did not match the target (semantic paraphasia or random response). First, semantic cues related to the target word were provided (e.g. for example: "you can use it when it rains" for "umbrella".). If the target word was still not produced, a phonological cue was offered by presenting its initial phoneme (e.g. "it starts with /s/" for "/suri/" mouse). If these two cues were not sufficient for the child to retrieve the target word, the experimenter would produce the target word and ask the child to repeat it. Thus, each target word could be elicited through four types of elicitation: spontaneous naming, naming after semantic prompt, naming after semantic and phonological prompts, or simple repetition. Production based on naming and on repetition can imply different mechanisms: while naming requires retrieval of a phonological form stored in memory, repetition relies on auditory skills while allowing direct imitation of the stimulus. Based on this principle, the effect of the type of elicitation (direct naming or prompt vs. repetition) will also be studied within productions. The children's productions were recorded using a H5 Zoom portable recorder.

2.2.2 Phonological analysis

All the audio files were annotated by an initial examiner and subsequently verified by the first author using the Phon 3.1 software (Hedlung & Rose, 2020). By comparing them with the canonical phonological content of the target words, these annotations made it possible to the extraction of the Percentage of Correct Phonemes (PCP), Correct Fricatives (PCF), Correct Nasal vowels (PCN), Correct Stops (PCS) and to identify the various types of production errors made by the children such as substitution based on place or manner of articulation or voicing.

2.2.3 Acoustic analysis

The annotations performed in Phon were subsequently exported to Praat (Boersma & Weenink, 2023). Phoneme alignments were manually corrected to enable the use of semi-automated scripts for extracting acoustic measures on the segments of interest.

2.2.3.1 Nasal vowels

The acoustic description of vowels aimed to study the two main aspects of nasal/oral vowel production: the adoption of an articulatory configuration specific to the vowel quality, on one hand, and the resonance with the nasal cavities (only for nasal vowels) on the other hand. To investigate the acoustic characteristics associated with oropharyngeal configuration, formant values were examined. For the study of nasal resonance, Nasalization from Acoustic Features (NAF) values (Carignan et al., 2023) were generated. A total of 6605 vowels were analyzed.

Formant measurements were obtained using a semi-automated procedure. For F1, F2 and F3, the formant value used is the median value of the series of values obtained every 5ms in the interval between 25% and 75% of the total vowel duration. Given the sensitivity of formant value detection to spectrogram parameters, particularly in children, several precautions and verifications were implemented to avoid errors in formant detection. Initially, formant detection parameters were adjusted individually for each vowel and child. After extracting the formant values based on these parameters, a visualization of the productions in the F1/F2 space was utilized to identify any aberrant values. Aberrant values were identified

by checking if F1, F2, or F3 values fell beyond plus or minus three standard deviations from the mean formant values of the subject. All outliers were manually verified, with spectrograms examined to correct formant values or exclude vowels with unreadable or unclear signals (with a negligible number of occurrences, around 1%).

To assess the degree of nasality in the vowel productions, a procedure largely inspired by the NAF (Nasalization from Acoustic Features) method (Carignan, 2021; Carignan et al., 2023) was employed. First, a large array of measures was collected through semi-automated procedures to extract acoustic indices at eleven time points within the vowels. These measures included overall amplitude, formant bandwidths for F1, F2 and F3, as well as relative amplitude deltas between formants and poles : A1-P0, A1-P1, A3-P0 (measured using the "Nasality Automeasure Praat" script by Styler, 2017) and various indices proposed by Carignan (spectral moments and nasal murmur). Note that some acoustic indices used in Carignan's initial method, such as formant frequency values and Melfrequency cepstral coefficients (MFCC), were not included here since effects pertaining to oropharyngeal configuration alterations were measured separately with formant values. Secondly, a model was built to reduce the various acoustic cues linked to vowel nasality to a value that would characterize the oral-nasal dimension. Indeed, it is currently complicated to isolate a single acoustic metric to reflect the degree of nasal resonance (Carignan, 2021). Based on this principle, we drew inspiration from the NAF method to build a machine learning model that predicts a metric value quantifying the oral/nasal character of children's productions based on the series of acoustic cues collected. A supervised machine learning technique was employed: the gradient-boosted decision tree model. This technique necessitates training the model on a portion of the data, requiring a training and test sample. For this purpose, part of the time points over which acoustic measurements were collected within each vowel were used for training, the other for testing. To avoid capturing the effects of pre- and post-vocalic phonetic context, we excluded the time points corresponding to the 0, 10, 90, and 100% portions of the vowel, leaving 7 time points. Next, we partitioned the dataset by extracting the time points at 20, 40, 60, and 80% of the duration of each vowel from the children in the TH group to form the training sample. We chose to include these time points because they represent a relatively stable portion of the vowel that is most likely to carry information related to vowel nasality. The training sample was made up of children from the TH group only, so that the model could be trained on supposedly typical productions. Within the training sample, productions were labeled as oral (0) or nasal (1) based on the target vowel to be produced. Subsequently, a gradient-boosting decision tree model (XGBoost R Package, Chen and Guestrin, 2016) was trained on the scaled selected acoustic features with multiple iterations to optimize hyperparameters and minimize crossvalidation errors. Finally, the trained model was used to predict nasality responses on the testing sample. The model was defined with minimized linear regression error, to permit the obtention of values on a scale from 0 to 1 on an oral-nasal mapping dimension. The resulting NAF values ranged numerically from 0 to 1, with higher values indicating a higher predicted degree of nasality, and intermediate values corresponding to those that are halfway to the acoustic characteristics of nasal and oral vowels.

To examine strategies employed in the phonetic implementation of the phonological contrast between nasal and oral vowels, paired comparison analyses were conducted, considering the phonetic $(/\tilde{\alpha}/-/\mathfrak{o}/, /\tilde{\epsilon}/-/\mathfrak{a}/)$ and phonological $(/\tilde{\alpha}/-/\mathfrak{a}/, /\tilde{\delta}/-/\mathfrak{o}/, /\tilde{\epsilon}/-/\mathfrak{e}/)$ proximity (Borel, 2015) of oral-nasal pairs in French. We also included the pairs $/\tilde{\alpha}/-/\mathfrak{o}/$, as the distinction between $/\mathfrak{o}/$ and $/\mathfrak{o}/$ is sometimes subtle in children's productions, and $/\tilde{\sigma}/-/\mathfrak{u}/$, as these segments are also very close phonetically (Fagniart et al., 2024a). For each child, each produced nasal vowel was paired with all orally produced vowels that were phonetically or phonologically similar, resulting in a listing of all oral/nasal pairs produced. A total of 30,402 pairs were formed, allowing for comparisons of acoustic cues within each nasal-oral pair. Euclidean distances in the F1-F2-F3 (Bark) planes (as described in Calabrino, 2006) and differences between NAF values were examined for each pair.

2.2.3.2 Fricative consonants

The acoustic characterization of fricative consonants was conducted using recently developed measures (Shadle et al., 2023), allowing for the examination of both the place of articulation, i.e., the location of airflow obstruction, and the quality of the frication noise generated by analyzing intensity ratios across low, mid, and high-frequency bands. These measurements were conducted within spectra generated by the Multitaper Method (MTPS) (Blacklock, 2004), which averages a series of periodograms obtained through the collection of mutually orthogonal windows (tapers). The MTPS method is renowned for its minimized errors and enhanced temporal precision (Sfakianaki et al., 2024).

A total of 1917 fricatives were analyzed. A R script adapted from the script developed and provided by P. Reidy (2018) generated a MTPS using 8 tapers at the temporal midpoint of the phoneme. Three acoustic measures were then collected from the generated spectra: spectral peak, levelD, and ampDiff for each target sibilant /s, z, f, z/ or ampRange for each target non-sibilant /f-v/. The spectral peak was obtained by extracting the frequency of the amplitude peak in the mid frequencies, levelD was obtained by calculating the difference in acoustic power between mid and high frequencies, and ampDiff represented the amplitude difference between low and mid frequencies. It is worth noting that the indices levelD and ampDiff quantify the energy ratios in low, mid, and high frequencies. A good frication noise source should have a significant portion of acoustic energy in mid and, particularly, high frequencies. Therefore, a good noise source should result in high ampDiff values (as mid frequencies are reinforced compared to lows) and low levelD values (indicating a large proportion of energy in high frequencies). These three measures required the definition of ranges for low, mid, and high frequencies within the spectrum. Since there were no references available for young children, these ranges were established through a meticulous analysis of the spectra, employing trial-and-error to identify parameters that most accurately represented our data. Finally, the values proposed by Shadle for adult females (Shadle et al., 2023) with slight modifications were adopted. Notably, the maximum threshold for the mid-frequency range in the detection of spectral peaks for s, z/swas adjusted to 10000 Hz instead of 8000 Hz, and to 8000 Hz instead of 4000 Hz for $/\int$, 3/.

2.2.3.3 Stop consonants

A total of 3012 stops were analyzed. To calculate VOT, stop consonants were manually annotated on Praat by identifying the consonant burst, which represents the moment of stop release, and the onset of voicing, which could precede the burst in the case of voiced consonants or follow it in the case of voiceless consonants. Subsequently, a Praat script was used to extract the VOT of all the annotated stops.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Linear generalized mixed models, employing the lme4 package (version 1.1-34; Bates et al., 2015) within the R software (R Core Team, 2022), were used to compare groups among the various acoustic measures on the children's speech productions. These models were constructed by including subject and stimulus characteristics (the variables and their levels are specified in Table 5.3) and the interaction among these variables. It is worth noting that it was the expected segments relative to the target word that allowed for labeling the identity of the productions. For example, the / \tilde{a} / in "pantalon" (/p \tilde{a} tal \tilde{a} / - "pants") was labeled as / \tilde{a} / regardless of the actual production of the segment, i.e. even if it was denasalized. To address inter-subject variability, a random intercept effect for the subject was integrated into the model. Significance assessment of fixed effects were examined using Chi-squared tests and corresponding p-values, conducted via the ANOVA function of the Car package (Fox and Weisberg, 2018) applied to the model. Additionally, post-hoc analysis were conducted using the emmeans package (Lenth et al., 2023).

LGM Variables	Variables and their levels		
	Auditory status: cochlear implant children (CI) – typical hearing children (TH)		
	CS exposure : CI/CS0 = no CS exposure - CI/CS1 = CS exposure - TH		
Subject characteristics	Chronological age group: 2;6-3;6 / 3;7-4;6 / 4;7-5;6 / 5;7-7		
	Auditory age group: 2;6-3;6 / 3;7-4;6 / 4;7-5;6 / 5;7-7		
	Implantation age group : CI/EI = early (< 16m.) – CI/LI = late (> 16 m.) – TH		
	Segment identity:		
	- Nasal/oral pair: $(\tilde{a}/-/a), (\tilde{a}/-/o), (\tilde{a}/-/o), (\tilde{o}/-/o), (\tilde{o}/-/u), (\tilde{o}/-/u), (\tilde{\epsilon}/-/\epsilon, (\tilde{\epsilon}/-/a))$		
Stimulus characteris-	- Fricative consonants: $/f/-/s/-/f/-/v/-/z/-/3/$		
tics	- Stop consonants: /p/-/t/-/k/-/b/-/d/-/g/		
	Voicing type: voiced - voiceless (for fricative and stop consonants)		
	Elicitation type: naming - repetition		

Table 5.3: Variables related to subject and stimulus characteristics and their levels.

Multiple factor analyses were conducted using the FactoMineR package (Husson et al., 2024), and graphical representations were created using Factoextra (Kassambara & Mundt, 2020). They were performed on a dataset consisting of subject-wise averages of various acoustic measures aggregated as means, namely:
- Euclidean distance values of F1-F2-F3 and NAF for all nasal-oral pairs, where higher average values indicate a greater distinction between nasal and oral configurations in terms of oropharyngeal configuration and nasal resonance.

- Spectral peak values by place of articulation, averaged levelD and ampDiff for fricatives, where one would expect to observe better articulation places marked by higher and well-distinguished spectral peak values, lower values for levelD, and higher values for ampDiff, representing a reinforcement of highfrequency acoustic energy associated with a good frication source (Shadle et al., 2023);

- Mean differences between VOT values of voiceless and voiced stops, where higher values indicate a greater distinction in voicing between voiced and voiceless stops.

The subjects' characteristics (hearing status, age groups, CS exposure) were added as supplementary variables not actively involved in constructing the dimensions. This addition allows for observing the distribution of different subgroups based on the constructed dimensions. The description of the generated dimensions along with their constituent variables and the additional variables was performed using the dimdesc function (package FactoMineR). Finally, to determine whether a relationship exists between children's phonological performance and their acoustic profiles, we conducted Pearson correlations between the dimensions of the multiple factorial analysis and the various phonological accuracy scores obtained.

3. Results

3.1 Naming task performance

As explained in section 2.2.1, children produced all target words of the naming task but may have done so using different types of elicitation: spontaneous naming or after semantic prompt, after semantic and phonological prompts, or through simple repetition. The percentages of the first type of elicitation, spontaneous naming, are significantly higher in the TH group (84.4%) than in the CI group (77.4%; $\chi^2(1)=4.96$; p=.02). No group effect is observed for the second type of elicitation, i.e. naming on semantic cue (TH: 2.79%; CI: 1.96%; $\chi^2(1)=$ 1.26; p=.26), while the third, based on phonological priming, is found significantly more frequently in the TH group (6.22%; CI: 2.03%; $\chi^2(1)=$ 10.05; p=.001). Production based on repetition of the target word, the fourth type of elicitation, is significantly more common among children in the CI group (18.38%; TH: 5.95%; $\chi^2(1)=17.06$; p<.001). An effect of CS exposure is observed on the percentage of spontaneous naming (elicitation 1): only children in the CI/CS0 group differ significantly from the TH group (70.8%; t(67)=-13.65; p=.02), with the CI/CS1 group showing similar performance (80.3%; t(67)=-4.15; p=.47). No effect of chronological or auditory age or age of implantation group was observed.

3.2 Phonological analysis

The percentages of correct phonemes are analyzed to document phonological accuracy. Children in the CI group have significantly lower percentages of correct total phonemes (CI: 77.5% - TH: 91.1%; $\chi^2(1)=31.87$; p<.001), correct nasal vowels (CI: 74% - TH: 91.5%; $\chi^2(1)=35.43$; p<.001), correct fricative consonants (CI: 74.3% - TH: 90.4%; $\chi^2(1)=36.67$; p<.001) and correct stop consonants (CI: 76.9% - TH: 90.7%; $\chi^2(1)=29.07$; p<.001). Table 5.4 presents the percentages of different error types on the target segments. The most frequently observed error type is denasalization of nasal vowels with significantly higher rate than TH children ($\chi^2(1)=27.07$; p<.001). Fricativization ($\chi^2(1)=10.19$; p=.001) and stopping ($\chi^2(1)=10.8$;p=.001) errors are also retrieved at a significantly higher rate in the CI group as well as voicing of voiceless stops ($\chi^2(1)=25.96$; p<.001), these errors being negligible in the TH group (<1%). Devoicing errors are retrieved in the two groups, with a marginally higher rate in the CI group ($\chi^2(1)=3.04=p=.08$) while nasalization of oral vowels is negligible in the two groups.

	G	oup per	ormance	5 (70)	Signin	Significance of group comparison tests				
Measure	CI	CS0	CS1	TH	CI/ TH	CS0/ CS1	CS0/ TH	CS1/ TH		
% correct phonemes (PCP)	77.5	72.5	79.6	91.1	***		***	**		
% correct nasal vowel (PCN)	74.0	65.7	77.6	91.5	***	*	***	***		
% correct fricatives (PCF)	74.3	69.4	76.5	90.4	***		***	***		
% correct stops (PCS)	76.9	71.7	79.2	90.7	***		***	***		
% vowel nasalization	0.53	1.28	0.2	0.16		**	***			
% vowel denasalization	15.25	23.23	11.76	2.65	***	*	***	**		
% voicing errors	2.94	3.33	2.77	0.41	***		**	***		
% devoicing errors	5.14	3.33	5.93	3.72				*		
% stopping errors	3.37	3.33	3.38	0.56	**			*		
% fricativization errors	1.29	2.26	0.87	0.31	**	*	***			

Group performances (%) Significance of group comparison tests

Table 5.4: Percentage correct phonemes among the Cochlear Implant (CI) and Typically Hearing
(TH) groups. ns, *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001</th>

CS exposure displays a significant effect on the correct percentages of nasal vowels ($\chi^2(2)$ = 43.14; p<.001), with the CI/CS1 group showing significantly

higher score than the CI/CS0 group (77.6 vs. 65.7; t(67)=-11.8; p=.05) but lower than the TH group (t(67)=-13.9;p<.001). As for the different error types, the CS/CS0 group also shows higher percentages of nasalization of oral vowels and of fricativization of stops than the two other groups. For nasal vowels denasalization, the CI/CS1 group show lower error percentages than the CI/CS0 group but the percentage remain higher than the TH group. Devoicing of voiced stops was observed at a higher percentage in the CI/CS1 group compared to the two others. No effect of chronological or auditory age was observed, nor were there any effects of the age group at implantation.

3.3 Acoustic analysis

Table 5.5 presents the means, as well as the significance of the associated group comparison tests, for the various acoustic measurements carried out on the studied segments, grouped according to auditory status (TH vs CI) and exposure to CS (CS0 vs CS1).

C		Tanat		Group	means		Group comparison tests				
type	Measure	vowel	CI	CI/CS0	CI/CS1	TH	CI - TH	CS0 - CS1	CS0 - TH	CS1 · TH	
		/ã/ - /a/	4.41	4.39	4.42	4.6					
		/ã/ - /ɔ/	3.62	3.34	3.72	3.49					
		/ã/ - /o/	3.45	3.97	3.28	3.06	*	*	**		
	E.D. F1-	/3/ - /3/	4.01	3.5	4.19	3.68	*	*		*	
	F2-F3 (brk)	/3/ - /0/	3.42	3.47	3.42	2.74	***		*	**	
		/ 5 / - /u/	3.32	3.52	3.27	2.84	**		*	*	
		/ĩ/ - /ɛ/	3.97	3.37	4.17	4.01		*	*		
Vowel		/ẽ/ – /a/	3.14	3.11	3.16	2.86	.06				
	delta NAF	/ã/ - /a/	0.114	0.08	0.13	0.17	***		**	*	
		/ã/ - /ɔ/	0.019	0.002	0.027	0.06	***		*		
		/ã/ - /o/	0.071	0.034	0.087	0.127	**		**	*	
		/3/ - /3/	0.052	0.05	0.05	0.11	***		**	*	
		/3/ - /0/	0.109	0.097	0.114	0.178	***			**	
		/3/ - /u/	0.051	0.062	0.045	0.08	*			*	
		/ĩ/ - /ɛ/	0.076	0.05	0.08	0.113	*				
		/ĩ/ - /a/	0.08	0.06	0.09	0.124	**		*	*	
		/ f /	6689	6009	6990	7611	***	*	***	*	
		/s/	6085	5749	6232	6702	**		*		
	Spectral	/ ʃ /	4720	4207	4943	5014		.08	*		
Vowel	peak (Hz)	/v/	6421	5948	6620	6618					
		/z/	5775	5284	5981	6925	***		**	*	
Fricatives		/3/	4921	4302	5198	4587					
		/ f /	6	7.81	5.21	3.93	*		**		
Fricatives		/s/	6.98	8.89	6.17	2.72	**		***	**	
	levelD	/ ʃ /	8.27	10.4	7.34	7.29		.07	*		
	(dB)	/v/	5.19	5.13	5.17	5.26					
		/ z /	6.99	7.96	6.57	1.89	***		***	***	
		/3/	8.46	10.23	7.67	9.23					
		/ f /	13.99	13.69	14.13	13.13					
	ampDiff	/\$/	19.09	22.23	17.77	16.91	*	*	**		
	(dB)	/J/ /x/	19.11	20.43	18.55	19.38					
		/ V/	12.93	14.0	12.20	11.42					

		/z/	16.16	13.15	17.34	13.21	**	.08		**
		/3/	16.06	16.54	15.84	16.63				
Stops	VOT	/p/	23	29.6	20.1	32.1	*			*
		/t/	34	33	34.4	44.6	*			
		/k/	38.2	34.8	39.7	45.3				
	(ms)	/b/	-57.3	-67.5	-53.4	-48.9	.07		*	
		/d/	-78.8	-87	-75.7	-57.3	*		.09	
		/g/	-42.6	-60.2	-36.7	-36.6				

Table 5.5: Acoustic analysis according to auditory status and exposure to Cued Speech (CS). Legend: ns, *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

3.3.1 Nasal/oral vowels

This section will focus on the analysis of acoustic differences within pairs of nasal-oral vowels. Formant and NAF values averaged per target phoneme and per child group, as well as the p-values associated with group difference tests, are available in Table 5.5. Considering nasal-oral pairwise comparisons in terms of Euclidean distances in the F1/F2/F3 plane, an auditory group*pair interaction is observed ($\chi^2(7) = 201.6$; p < .001). The CI group exhibits higher values for 5 out of 8 pairs, indicating a greater differentiation in terms of oropharyngeal configuration for these pairs, namely $|\tilde{\alpha}/-|o|$, $|\tilde{\beta}/-|o|$, $|\tilde{\beta}/-|o|$, $|\tilde{\beta}/-|u|$, and $|\tilde{\epsilon}/-|a|$ pairs (see Figure 5.1). An interaction between elicitation type (naming vs. repetition), pair, and group is observed ($\chi^2(21) = 330.6$; p < .001). Indeed, the CI group show higher Euclidean distances between oral and nasal vowels in the repetition condition for all pairs except $/\tilde{a}/-/a/$ and $/\tilde{\epsilon}/-/a/$, while the TH group shows higher values in the repetition condition for $|\tilde{\alpha}|/|a|$, $|\tilde{\beta}|/|s|$, $|\tilde{\epsilon}|/|a|$, and $|\tilde{\epsilon}|/|\epsilon|$. A significant CS exposure group*pair interaction is also found ($\chi^2(14) = 309.55$; p < .001), with the TH group showing lower values than the CI/CS0 and CI/CS1 groups for $\frac{5}{-0}$ and $\frac{5}{-\sqrt{u}}$, while the CI/CS0 group shows the highest values compared to other groups for $\tilde{\alpha}/-\sigma/$ and the lowest for $\tilde{\epsilon}/-\epsilon/\epsilon$. An interaction between elicitation type (naming vs. repetition), pair, and CS exposure group is also observed ($\chi^2(35) =$ 466.1; p < .001). While the CI/CS1 group showed higher values in the repetition condition for all the pairs except $\tilde{z}/a/a$, the CI/CS0 group is characterized by higher values only for $\frac{3}{-u}$ and $\frac{2}{\epsilon}$, with, conversely, lower values in the repetition condition for $\tilde{\epsilon}/-\epsilon$ and $\tilde{\alpha}/-a$. An interaction between chronological/auditory age group, auditory status group, and pair is observed. Indeed, an auditory age group effect is only observed in the $\frac{5}{-u}$ pair, with decreasing values for age groups following 3;7-4;6. In the TH group, a chronological age group effect was observed in $(\tilde{a}/-a), (\tilde{a}/-b), and (\tilde{a}/-b), with decreasing values in older$

age groups. When comparing the groups based on age of implantation, there's an observed interaction effect between the age of implantation groups and pair ($\chi^2(14) = 299.1$; p < .001). Specifically, the group of children with later implantation (CI/LI) shows significantly higher values than the group of children with early implantation (CI/EI) for the pair / $\tilde{3}$ /-/s/.



Figure 5.1: Means and 95% confidence intervals of the Euclidean distances and delta NAF values for the different nasal/oral pairs among the CS exposure groups (TH, CI/CS0, and CI/CS1).

The statistical analysis of nasal/oral differences in terms of NAF values revealed an interaction between auditory status group and pair ($\chi^2(7) = 201.5$; p< .001), with significantly higher values in the TH group for the $/\tilde{a}/-/o/$, $/\tilde{a}/-/o/$, $/\tilde{a}/-/o/$, $/\tilde{a}/-/o/$ $\sqrt{3}$, $\sqrt{3}$ - \sqrt{u} and $\sqrt{\epsilon}$ - \sqrt{a} pairs. An interaction between elicitation type, group, and pair ($\chi^2(21) = 155.9$; p < .001) was also observed. Indeed, while TH children benefited from repetition which results in an increase in nasal-oral differences in terms of NAF for the pairs $\langle \tilde{a} / - \langle a \rangle$, $\langle \tilde{a} / - \langle b \rangle$, $\langle \tilde{b} / - \langle b \rangle$ and $\langle \tilde{b} / - \langle u \rangle$, for children in the CI group this is only the case for the pairs $\tilde{\varepsilon}/\tilde{\varepsilon}/a$ and $\tilde{\varepsilon}/a/a$. On the contrary, children in the CI group showed a decrease in NAF values in the repetition condition for the pairs $|\tilde{\alpha}|/|a|$, $|\tilde{\alpha}|/|o|$, $|\tilde{\beta}|/|o|$, $|\tilde{\beta}|/|o|$ and $|\tilde{\beta}|/|u|$. Considering CS exposure, an interaction between CS exposure and pair is observed ($\chi^2(14) = 131.6$; p < .001). Indeed, the CI/CS0 group had lower values compared to the two other groups for the $\frac{3}{-0}$ pair and lower compared to the TH group for the $\frac{3}{-3}$ pair. The TH group shows the highest values compared to the other groups for the $\tilde{\epsilon}/-a/a$ pair. An interaction between elicitation type and CS exposure group ($\chi^2(2) = 62$; p < .001), as well as between elicitation type, CS group, and pair ($\chi^2(35) = 280.9$; p < .001), was observed. Indeed, while children in the TH and CI/CS0 groups benefited from the repetition condition by seeing their nasal/oral difference values in terms of NAF increase, children in the CI/CS1 group see their overall values decrease. The increase in values in the repetition condition was found significant in the TH group for the $/\tilde{a}/-/a/$ pairs, $/\tilde{a}/-/s/$, $/\tilde{s}/-/s/$, $/\tilde{s}/-/u/$ and in the CS0 group for the pairs $(\tilde{a}/-/s)$, $(\tilde{s}/-/u)$, $(\tilde{\epsilon}/-/\epsilon)$ and $(\tilde{\epsilon}/-/a)$. In the CS1 group, values were significantly lower in the repetition condition for the pairs $/\tilde{a}/-/\mathfrak{H}/, /\tilde{\mathfrak{H}}/-/\mathfrak{H}/, /\tilde{\mathfrak{H}}/-/\mathfrak{H}/$. Again, an interaction between chronological/auditory age group, auditory status group, and pair is observed ($\chi^2(52) = 323.2$; p < .001). Indeed, a chronological age effect was observed for $|\tilde{a}|-o|$, $|\tilde{b}|-\varepsilon|$ and $|\tilde{\epsilon}|-a|$ in the TH group with no increasing chronological/auditory age effect on values in the CI group. In comparing the groups formed on the basis of age of implantation, an interaction effect between age of implantation and the pair is observed ($\chi^2(14) = 108.1$; p < .001). Specifically, the group of children with early implantation (CI/EI) exhibited significantly higher values than the group of children with later implantation (CI/LI) for the pair $\frac{3}{-3}$.

3.3.2 Fricative consonants

Concerning spectral peak values, an auditory status group effect is observed, indicating lower values in the CI group ($\chi^2(1) = 9.4$; p = 0.002). A significant interaction effect is observed between group and phoneme type ($\gamma^2(5) = 23.9$; p < 0.001), with significant group differences noted for the phonemes /f/, /s/, and /z/, suggesting a more posterior place of articulation for these segments in the CI group (see Figure 5.2). This spectral peak decreased values have an impact on the distinction of the different places of articulation : the CI group shows no significant differences between places of articulation among the voiceless /f/-/s/, /s/-/ſ/ and the voiced fricatives $\frac{y}{-z}$ and $\frac{z}{-3}$, while this phonemes are significantly distinguished in the TH group (/f-s/ : z = 5.8; p<.001 - /v-z/ : z = 11.2 ; p<.001 - $\frac{z}{-3}$: z =10.8; p<.001). An elicitation type*auditory status group interaction effect is observed ($\chi^2(5)=506.6$; p=.05). Indeed, while the repetition condition led to increasing spectral peak values in the TH group, it led to decreased values in the CI group. This effect is significant in the TH group for /f/ (naming: 7566Hz - repetition: 9342Hz; t(1890)=-2.5 ; p=.01) and marginal in the CI group for /v/ (naming : 6538Hz - repetition : 4641Hz ; t(1890)=1.8 ; p=.07). An interaction between chronological/auditory age group, auditory status group and phoneme effect is observed ($\chi^2(35) = 66.0$; p = 0.001) : while no chronological/auditory group effect appears in the CI group, an effect of chronological age is observed in the TH group, with spectral peak values decreasing with age for /f/ and /s/, resulting in improved distinction of articulation places among voiceless fricatives /f/, /s/, /ʃ/. A CS exposure grouping effect ($\chi^2(2)=14.7$; p<.001) as well as an interaction between CS grouping and phoneme ($\chi^2(10)=28.4$; p=.001) are obtained : spectral peak values are significantly lower in the CI/CS0 group compared to the TH group (z= -3.5; p=.001) and marginally to the CI/CS1 groups (z=-2.1; p=.09), while the TH and the CI/CS1 group had similar mean values. Regarding phoneme type, CI/CS0 had significantly lower values for /f/ compared to TH (z= -4.4; p<.001) and CI/CS1 group (z= -2.7; p=.02), as well as marginally lower values than TH group for /f/(z=-2.1; p=.08) and /v/(z=-2.2; p=.08). For /s/ and /z/, TH group has significantly higher spectral peak values than the other two groups. An effect of age of implantation group ($\chi^2(2) = 10.1$; p = .006) as well as an interaction between age of implantation group and phoneme type is observed ($\chi^2(10) =$ 30.5; p < .001). Specifically, values are generally lower in the late implantation group compared to the TH group (z = -2.9; p = .008), with this difference being significant for the phoneme /z/(z = -3.6; p < .001).



Figure 5.2: Means and 95% confidence intervals of the spectral peak, ampDiff and levelD values of the different fricative segments of the CI and TH groups.

AmpDiff values, which reflects amplitude differences between mid- and lowfrequency ranges within the fricative spectrum, exhibited an auditory status group effect ($\chi^2(1) = 3.5$; p = .05), with lower values in the TH group, as well as a group*phoneme interaction effect ($\chi^2(5) = 13.5$; p =.02) with significantly lower values in the TH group for /s/ (z= 2.8; p=.004) and /z/ (z= 2.9; p=.003). The higher values observed in the CI group may indicate greater reinforcement of mid-frequency areas compared to TH children. No elicitation type effect was observed. A voicing type effect is observed ($\chi^2(1)=71.6$; p<.001), with a significant decrease of the voiced fricatives ampDiff values in the TH (z = 7.4; p<.001) and the CI group (z=4.3; p<.001), as expected. An interaction between chronological/auditory age group, auditory status group and phoneme are obtained ($\chi^2(15) =$ 56.7; p<.001) : ampDiff values increase with chronological age in the TH group for all phonemes except /f/, while CI group displays a decrease of the values in the older auditory age group for /s/. An interaction between CS exposure and phoneme is observed ($\chi^2(10) = 34.4$; p<.001), with significantly higher values in the CI/CS1 group compared to the CI/CS0 (z= -2.3 ; p=.06) and TH groups (z = 3.5; p=.001) whereas the CI/CS0 group had significantly higher AmpDiff values for /s/ compared with the TH group (z = 2.9; p=.01). No effect of implantation group is observed on the ampDiff values.

Regarding the levelD values, which reflects sound level differences between the mid- and high frequency ranges, a significant group effect was observed, with significantly higher values in the CI group ($\chi^2(1) = 5.6$; p =.01) as well as a group*phoneme interaction effect ($\chi^2(5) = 98.6$; p < 0.001), with values significantly higher for /f/, /s/ and /z/ in the CI group. The higher values of the levelD values in the CI group indicate less reinforcement of high frequencies compared to children in the TH group. An interaction between elicitation type and group was observed ($\chi^2(5) = 47.4$; p<.001), with repetition condition leading to higher levelID values in the CI group only (naming: 6.7dB – repetition: 8.9dB; t(1891) = -2.4; p=.01). This trend was significant for /v/ in the CI group (naming : 4.8dB) - repetition : 10.3dB ; t(1869) = -1.9; p=.04), while in the TH group the repetition condition led to significantly decreased values for /f/ (naming : 3.9dB - repetition : 0.2dB; t(1832) = 2.1; p=.03) and marginally so for /f/ (naming : 7.3dB – repetition : 3.4dB ; t(1835) = 1.9 ; p=.06). Considering voicing, a marginal group*voicing interaction effect was observed ($\chi^2(1) = 2.7$; p=.09), with a significant decrease of levelD values for the voiced fricatives only in the TH group (z= -2.6; p=.007). An interaction between chronological/auditory age group, auditory status and phoneme was observed ($\chi^2(15) = 25.4$; p = 0.04), with no chronological/auditory age group effect in the CI group, compared to decreased values in

older children of the TH group for /f/, /s/, /ʃ/ and /z/. A CS exposure grouping effect ($\chi^2(2) = 7.3$; p =.02) as well as an interaction between CS grouping and phoneme were observed ($\chi^2(10) = 106.9$; p<.001). Indeed, levelD values were significantly higher in general in the CI/CS0 group compared to the TH group, and TH group had significantly higher values for the phoneme /s/ and /z/ compared to the other two groups. An elicitation type*CS exposure group interaction effect was also retrieved ($\chi^2(2)=10.1$; p=.006), with higher values for CI/CS0 group for /f/ compared to CI/CS1 ($\chi^2(157) = 2.3$; p=.06) and TH group ($\chi^2(210)=1.9$; p<.001), with significantly lower values for /z/. CI/CS1 had lower values than the CI/CS0 group for /ʃ/ in the repetition condition ($\chi^2(231) = 2.6$; p=.02). An effect of age of implantation ($\chi^2(2) = 6.1$; p = .04) in interaction between group and phoneme type ($\chi^2(10) = 55.7$; p < .001) was observed. Specifically, the later implanted children showed significantly higher values than the TH children (z = 2.45; p = .04) for the phonemes /f/ and /s/.

3.3.3 Stop consonants

An interaction between auditory status group and voicing type (voiced vs. voiceless) was observed on the VOT of the stop consonants ($\chi^2(1) = 30.58$; p<.001), with higher VOT for voiceless stops and lower for voiced stops in the TH group when compared to the CI group. Phoneme*group pairwise comparisons shown that this group effect was significant for the voiceless stop /t/ and the voiced /b/ and /d/ (see Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3: Means and 95% confidence intervals of the VOT values of the different voiced/voiceless stops among the CI and TH groups.

An elicitation type effect ($\chi^2(1) = 6.4$; p=.01) as well as an interaction between elicitation type, auditory status group and voicing type ($\chi^2(3) = 39.6$; p<.001) is observed. Indeed, VOT values are overall higher in the repetition condition, particularly for the voiceless stops, in the TH group (naming : 39.9ms - repetition : 46.9ms; z=7-6.95; p=.02), and to a greater extent in the CI group (naming : 33.2ms – repetition : 43.8ms; z=-10.6; p=.001), allowing them to reach similar mean values than in the TH group. An interaction between chronological/auditory age group and auditory status group is observed ($\gamma^2(10) = 48.4$; p<.001). Indeed, in the TH group, an increase of the mean values from younger to older age groups is observed for voiced and voiceless stops, while no (chronological or auditory) age effect is observed in the CI group. A CS exposure grouping*voicing type interaction is observed ($\chi^2(2)=10.92$; p=.004), with the CI/CS0 group showing higher VOT values for voiced stops compared to the CI/CS1 (t(68)=-0.015; p=.08) and TH groups (t(68)=-0.021; p=.002), whereas the CI/CS1 group shows the lowest VOT values for the voiceless stops (t(68)=-0.011; p=.003). Phoneme*CS grouping pairwise analysis reveals that the higher values in the CI/CS0 group is significant for voiced /b/ and /g/ compared to the other groups, while CI/CS1 children

shows higher values for /d/ compared to TH children. The CI/CS1 group shows lower values than the TH group for voiceless /t/ and /k/. An interaction between CS exposure grouping, voicing type and elicitation type is also observed ($\chi^2(7)=40.9$; p<.001), with a significant increase of the voiceless stops VOT in the repetition condition in the CI/CS1 group (naming : 32ms - repetition : 42.3ms ; z=-2.6; p=.007), this increase being only marginal in the CI/CS0 group (naming : 36ms - repetition : 46ms ; z = -1.7 ; p=.08). An interaction effect is observed between age of implantation and voicing type in plosives ($\chi^2(2) = 34.5$; p < .001). Specifically, children in the late implantation group showed significantly longer negative VOT values than children in the TH group (z = 2.7; p = .02). An interaction effect appears between age of implantation and phoneme type ($\chi^2(10) = 47.5$; p < .001), with the lengthening of negative VOTs in the late implantation group being significant for the phonemes /b/ and /d/.

3.3.4 Multiple factor analysis of acoustic measures

A multiple factor analysis was conducted, integrating subject-averaged values of NAF and Euclidean distances in F1-F2-F3 plane between each nasal vowel and the averaged values of the associated oral vowels, the differences between positive and negative VOT values, as well as spectral peak values by location (/f/-/v/ - $\frac{|s|-|z|}{-}$ and ampDiff and levelD mean values. These variables were grouped according to the type of segment characterized (fricative, stop, nasal/oral vowels) but also the production mechanism associated (place vs. frication noise for fricatives, formant vs. NAF values for vowels). Among the 8 dimensions generated, the first three will be analyzed, capturing 61.84% of the explained variance. The first dimension, contributing to explaining 28.5% of the total variance, is more correlated with groups of variables associated with fricative consonants (place = 0.79; frication = 0.62) and with spectral peak variables (SP /s/-/z/ = 0.79; SP /f/-/v/ = 0.78), while variables associated with frication quality are negatively correlated (level D = -0.8, amp Diff = -0.44). In other words, positive values on the first dimension indicate high values of spectral peaks as well as lower values of levelD and ampDiff (indicating more reinforcement of high frequencies in the frication), while negative values indicate lower spectral peaks and higher values of levelD and ampDiff (enhancement of mid-range frequencies in the frication). The correlations between additional categorical variables and dimension 1 show that children in the CI group are negatively associated with the dimension (-0.63), whereas children in the TH group are positively associated with the dimension (0.93). The second dimension, contributing 21.5% of the total variance, is associated with the variable related to nasal/oral differences in terms of NAF values (0.47), with positive correlations associated with the NAF values mean differences (0.69), as well as with the variable associated with VOT values (0.54) and negatively with spectral peak of the posterior fricatives $/\int /-/3/$ (-0.63). Positive values are then associated with greater nasal/oral distinction based on NAF values and greater voiced/voiceless VOT values distinction. An association is observed with categorical supplementary variables of chronological/auditory age group, with the older age group positively correlated with the dimension (0.66) and younger negatively correlated (-0.69). The third dimension, contributing 16.8% of the total variance, is associated with the variable related to nasal/oral differences in terms of F1-F2-F3 E.D. (0.63) with positive correlations associated with the of the F1-F2-F3 E.D. mean differences (0.79), but negatively with the variable associated with VOT values (-0.54). A link with chronological/auditory age group is observed, with the dimension being negatively correlated with the older chronological/auditory age group is observed, with the dimension being negatively correlated with the older chronological/auditory age group (-0.47).

Figure 5.4 illustrates the distribution of children from the CI and TH groups along dimensions 1 and 2 (left) and 1 and 3 (right), along with ellipses representing 95% confidence intervals around the group means. The ellipses of the two groups are primarily distinguished on dimension 1, with children from the TH group located on the positive side and CI on the negative side. This is consistent with the analyses on fricatives, showing a clear effect of auditory status on productions, with children in the CI group exhibiting lower spectral values, as well as higher levelD values indicating less utilization of high frequencies in their noise frication. On dimension 2, the group mean tends more towards positive values for the TH group and negative values for the CI group, while on dimension 3, both groups are close to 0. It is important to note the large variability around the ellipses. Note the contrasting situation between the two groups in the dimension 1/dimension2 plan: only children from the TH group are situated in the extreme right-hand quadrant (values greater than 1 in dimensions 1 and 2) and only children from the CI group in the extreme left-hand quadrant (values less than -1 in dimensions 1 and 2), testifying to contrasting profiles.



Figure 5.4: Scatter plot of statistical individuals based on dimensions 1 and 2 (left) and 1 and 3 (right) of the multiple factor analysis. Ellipses represent confidence intervals around the mean points of TH and CI groups.

Considering the other group variables, different trends between the CI/CS0 and CI/CS1 groups for dimensions 2 and 3 can be observed in Figure 5.5 (top graphs). Indeed, on dimension 2, the ellipse of CI/CS1 children tends more towards negative values, while the CS0 group leans towards around zero, with more variability. The CI/CS1 group tends to distinguish less nasal/oral vowels based on the NAF values. For dimension 3, the CI/CS1 group has average values towards positive values, showing less nasal/oral distinction based on F1-F2-F3 E.D. values, whereas the CI/CS0 group is situated in negative values with again a large variability. Considering the chronological age groups (middle graphs), we can see a trend for younger children to be positioned more to the right on dimension 1, in negative values on dimension 1, and positive on dimension 2. It seems that younger chronological age group 2;6-3;6 (age group represented only by children from the TH group) produce their fricatives with high spectral peaks with frication noise rich in high frequencies, while they mark the nasal/oral distinction more based on the oropharyngeal configuration (F1-F2-F3 E.D.) and less on nasal resonance. This effect is attenuated when considering auditory age, thus including children from the CI group within the 2;6-3;6 age group. When considering implantation age groups on dimension 1, early implanted children (CI/EI) have their average values intermediate between those of the late implantation group and (CI/LI) the TH group. It can also be seen that the CI/EI group is situated towards negative values on dimension 2, while the group with later implantation seems to be more situated towards positive values for dimension 3.



Figure 5.5: Individuals plot representing ellipses around the mean values of the groups based on exposure to CS (top graphs), chronological age (middle-top graph), auditory age (middle-bottom graphs), and age of implantation (bottom graphs), according to dimensions 1 and 2 (left side) and dimensions 1 and 3 (right side).

3.4 Link between phonological performance and acoustic dimensions.

The study of correlations between various phonological scores and error types with the three dimensions of multiple factor analysis has revealed moderate and significant correlations between dimension 2, related to the marking of nasal/oral distinctions by NAF values, and various phonological scores among the CI and TH groups (see Table 5.6).

Factor analysis dimension	Group	% correct phonemes (PCP)	% correct nasal vowel (PCN)	% cor- rect fricatives (PCF)	% correct stops (PCS)	% vowel nasaliza- tion	% vowel denasaliza- tion	% voicing errors	% devoicing errors
1	CI	0,19	0,11	0,23	0,19	-0,006	-0,03	-0,44*	0,01
	TH	-0,07	-0,23	-0,17	-0,05	-0,02	0,21	0	0,35*
2	CI	0,45*	0,42*	0,46*	0,47*	-0,07	-0,18	-0,26	-0,33
2	TH	0,46**	0,54***	0,54***	0,45**	-0,31**	-0,38**	0	-0,25
2	CI	0,11	0,2	0,06	0,07	-0,22	-0,18	0,15	0,11
3	TH	0,05	0,18	0,03	0,08	-0,03	-0,11	0,19	0,047

Table 5.6: Correlations between phonology and acoustic analysis. Legend: ns, *p<.05, **p<.01,</th>***p<.001</td>

In this regard, high values on the dimension, indicating a better nasal/oral distinction in terms of NAF as well as a better marking of the distinction between voiced and voiceless stops, are associated with better phonological performance. Among children in the TH group, it is also observed that dimension 2 is negatively correlated with the occurrence of errors in oral vowel nasalization and nasal vowel denasalization. A negative correlation between dimension 1 values and the number of voiced errors is observed in the CI group, while a positive correlation is observed in the TH group with the number of voiceless errors.

4. Discussion

The present study investigates the phonological and phonetic skills of a group of 23 children with cochlear implants (CI) and 47 children with typical hearing (TH) through the analysis of productions obtained with a naming task. Phonological skills are examined by assessing correct phoneme scores, while phonetic skills are studied through acoustic analysis of three types of segments: nasal and oral vowels, fricative consonants, and stop consonants. These segments have been chosen because each is primarily supported by rather contrasting acoustic cues, namely low-frequency cues, high-frequency cues, and temporal information, respectively. The effect of auditory status, as well as the effects of chronological/auditory age, exposure to Cued Speech, and age at implantation, are studied. Factor analyses were conducted on all acoustic variables, and the resulting dimensions were correlated with phonological scores.

4.1 Phonological form retrieval of the target words

It was hypothesized that, given the perceptual limitations of children with CI, their ability to retrieve the phonological form of their target words could be impacted, with repercussions both lexically (target word retrieval) and phonologically (accuracy of the retrieved phonological form). At the lexical level, children in the TH group demonstrated greater ease in retrieving target words, as evidenced by their significantly higher percentage of spontaneous naming (84%), as well as their higher percentage of retrieval based on phonological cueing. Children in the CI group showed lower percentages in spontaneous naming (77%) and relied more on repetition (18%). Semantic and phonological cueing provided little assistance in target retrieval, suggesting differences in lexical storage rather than access difficulties compared to their typically hearing peers, who benefited to a greater extent from phonological prompts. A considerable number of studies investigating lexical production in children with cochlear implants have shown comparable performances to typically hearing peers of the same chronological age (Caselli et al., 2012; Luckhurst et al., 2013) or when matched for auditory age (Duchesne et al., 2009) or in early implanted children (Connor et al., 2006; Maner-Idrissi et al., 2009; Manrique et al., 2004; Rinaldi et al., 2013). Other studies show more moderate lexical performances (Nittrouer et al., 2018; Young & Killen, 2002) or with clear difficulties identified (Cambra et al., 2021). Our results seem to align more with these studies, with significantly lower performance than those of children with typical hearing, without a positive effect of chronological, auditory age, or age of implantation. However, a beneficial effect of exposure to Cued Speech is observed, with performances among children exposed to Cued Speech reaching those of the TH group. These findings support literature that has highlighted a positive impact of Cued Speech on children with CIs, both for perceptual skills (Leybaert and LaSasso, 2010; Van Bogaert et al., 2023) and productive abilities (Machart et al., 2021). Studies have also shown a positive impact on early lexical development (Moreno-Torres & Torres, 2008; Rees & Bladel, 2013). Cued Speech, providing complete visual access to all distinctive features of speech sounds, may enable the child to develop more precise phono-

143

logical representations and thus be more efficient in the storage and retrieval of lexical targets.

On the phonological level, lower performances are also observed in children in the CI group for all types of targeted phonemes: fricatives, nasals, and stops. Certain types of errors were predominantly found in children in the CI group, such as voicing errors, denasalization of nasal vowels, stopping, or fricativization. While stopping errors have been previously reported in children with moderate (Teveny & Yamaguchi, 2023) and profound deafness (Baudonck et al., 2010), and can be classified, along with denasalization errors, as typical errors in development according to Jakobson's markedness theory (Jakobson, 1968), voicing and fricativization errors suggest a more atypical developmental profile. Furthermore, we did not find any effects of chronological/auditory age or age of implantation on phonological scores and error patterns, suggesting more an effect of auditory status than developmental delay. These results support the notion of phonological development constrained by the limitations of the CI described previously, which may lead to underspecified phonological representations and consequently result in production errors. Within this study, this proposition is supported by the observation of a positive effect of exposure to Cued Speech on performances, although scores of CS1 group do not reach the levels of typically hearing children. The group exposed to CS also made fewer errors of oral vowels nasalization, which is consistent with previous studies on vowel nasality perception (Fagniart et al., 2024a) and production (Fagniart et al., in press), as well as fewer errors of fricativization, indicating greater stability of phonological representations regarding manner of articulation.

4.2 Nasal-oral vowels distinction

The acoustic analyses characterizing the distinction between nasal and oral vowels reveal an increased marking of the nasal/oral contrast based on indices related to oropharyngeal configuration (formant values) in the CI group compared to TH group. This result is consistent with previous findings obtained in a pseudo-word repetition task and supports the hypothesis that CI children may be more inclined to employ perceptually salient acoustic cues both in perception and production (Fagniart et al., 2024, in press). However, the results showed lower values of NAF, representing the degree of nasalization predicted based on a series of acoustic indices related to nasal resonance, suggesting a lesser exploitation of nasal resonance through velopharyngeal opening to distinguish nasal and oral vowels. As

described in section 1, indices related to nasal resonance, primarily carried by low-frequency information associated with fine spectral resolution, are more likely to be poorly transmitted by the CI. This could explain the difficulties observed in phonological production (percentage of correct nasals and (de)nasalization errors), as already noted in the literature on nasal/oral vowel perception (Bouton et al., 2012; Borel, 2015; Borel et al., 2019; Fagniart et al., 2024a). These perceptual difficulties may therefore lead to atypically specified phonological representations (marking related more to visually accessible cues such as information related to oropharyngeal configuration), thus resulting in these atypical productions compared to hearing peers. Children exposed to CS exhibit the lowest values in terms of NAF, suggesting a productive profile even more reliant on a phonological system constructed around the most salient cues to access the distinctive features of their oral language. Specifically, in the case of nasal vowels, this relies more on oropharyngeal configurations at the expense of cues related to nasal resonance. The comparison of productions according to the type of elicitation (spontaneous naming or repetition of the target word) supports these findings. Indeed, while children in the TH group improve the marking of nasal-oral distinction in repetition condition for both types of cues as well as NAF values, children in the CI group see their values increase only for the F1-F2-F3 E.D. cue, and on the contrary, their NAF values decrease. In perception, they thus seem to be able to correctly exploit visually accessible information (lip rounding, mouth opening) but not the information related to velopharyngeal opening.

4.3 Fricatives production

Regarding the acoustic study of fricatives, the results confirmed various findings already reported in the literature. Indeed, lower acoustic values had been observed for the center of gravity of fricatives in children with CI (Yang and Xu, 2023), as well as in French-speaking children (Grandon and Vilain, 2020). However, these studies had been limited to the investigation of fricatives /s/-/z/ or all voiceless fricatives in French (/f/,/s/,/J/), and this observation is here extended to voiced segments. The differences between groups were significantly observed for the phonemes /f/, /s/, and /z/, whose spectral peaks are on average higher than those of segments /J/ and /3/, characterized by lower values. This is entirely consistent with the acoustic limitations in high frequencies mentioned previously. These lowered thresholds also result in a lack of distinction among the three places of articulation among children in the CI group, as the peaks of the segments /f,v/, /s,z/, and /J, 3/ are not significantly different. An effect of CS is observed to produce /f/ and marginally for /ʃ/, with values for the CI/CS1 group approaching those of the TH group. However, it is noteworthy that the distinction between the three places of articulation is still not significant in this group. Unlike the productive skills of nasal vowels, the contribution of CS is only moderate for the distinct production of the places of articulation of fricatives. The use of manual cues to provide visual support during the perception of fricative segments may not be enough to develop sufficiently specified representations. It is possible that the acoustic limitations for this distinction are too significant to be compensated for using CS, or that these segments, being among the last to be acquired in the development of children with typical hearing, may be even more challenging for children with CIs. To our knowledge, there is no study documenting fricative productions in terms of frication noise among CI users. The results of the present study show a clear tendency in the CI group to express frication by exploiting energy in mid-range frequencies and less in high frequencies, unlike children with typical hearing. This trend could also directly result from the perceptual limitations of the implant, restricting the perception of frequency ranges above approximately 8000 Hz. Indeed, the quality of fricative noise can only be perceived auditorily, with no visual/temporal cues supporting this type of production. This is supported by the study of values in the repetition condition: while TH children see improvements in their productions during repetition (increased spectral peaks, increased energy in high frequency resulting in decreased levelD values), children with CIs, on the contrary, experience slight deterioration in their productions (lower spectral peaks, increased levelD values). The perceptual limitations of CIs do not allow them to access the acoustic information related to the characteristics of fricative segments, thus preventing them from benefiting from repetition for these segments. Possible difficulties in adequately perceiving characteristics related to fricative sound could explain the higher occurrence of errors in articulation mode for stopping or fricativization errors observed in the study, and more broadly in the literature among individuals with moderate (Teveny and Yamaguchi, 2023) or severe deafness (Baudonck et al., 2010). However, an effect of the age of implantation on levelD values was observed, with higher values (and thus less reinforcement in high frequencies) in children with late implantation. It is therefore possible that early implantation allows, to some extent, better exploitation of high-frequency information, despite the technical limitations of the implant, due to the stimulation provided during the sensitive periods of the development of auditory cortical areas.

4.4 Voiced/voiceless stops production

Regarding the production of the voicing feature of stop consonants, a differentiated group effect is observed depending on the type of segments. Indeed, for voiceless consonants, there is a shortening of VOT values in the CI group compared to the TH group, which is congruent with the literature (Uchanski and Geers, 2003; Horga and Liker, 2006; Grandon et al., 2017). However, in Grandon's study (Grandon et al., 2017) on French-speaking children, only the phoneme /k/ showed a significant shortening in the CI group, whereas in the present study, it is precisely the phonemes /p/ and /t/ that are significantly shorter in terms of VOT. Grandon had suggested that obtaining a difference only on the phoneme /k/ could be attributed to a difficulty in coordinating the articulatory gesture, as /k/has the longest positive VOT in canonical production. However, it is noteworthy that the children in Grandon's study were in a higher age range (6;6-10;6). This difference may explain why, within the TH group, the productions were not sufficiently differentiated between the places of articulation of the voiceless segments, as the average positive VOT of /k/ (45ms) differed little from /t/ (44ms). As a result, the results did not show differences between the CI and TH groups for this phoneme, but rather for the more anterior phonemes /p/ and /t/, whose values were significantly lower in the CI group. Children in the CI group seem to have difficulty coordinating the articulatory gestures associated with the production of voiced stops in a picture naming task. However, when these segments are to be produced in repetition, children in the CI group produce the segments with elongation, allowing them to reach values similar to those of children in the TH group: thus, they are capable of effectively exploiting the acoustic information related to VOT to adjust their productions. On the other hand, for voiced segments, it is the TH group that exhibits a shortening of VOT values, for the phonemes /b/ and /d/. The study of the effects of exposure to CS showed that it mainly involves an elongation of VOT values found among children in the CI/CS1 group. It is possible that relying on temporal cues is a more prevalent strategy in the CI/CS0 group.

4.5 Acoustic profiles

The factorial analyses revealed two distinct trends in the productive profiles of the three investigated segments. Firstly, Dimension 1, which discriminates children well according to their auditory status, consisted of variables related to the quality of fricative production, both in terms of spectral peak and in terms of the utilization of high-frequency energy in frication. It was observed that children in the TH group were predominantly situated on the positive values on the dimension 1, indicating fricatives with high average spectral peak values, and frication noise containing a higher concentration of high frequencies. Dimension 2, on the other hand, was mainly associated with marking the nasal/oral distinction in terms of NAF values, but also, to a lesser extent, with the distinction between voiced and voiceless stop consonants. It is quite interesting to note that among children in both groups, positive correlations are observed between the values on this dimension and various phonological scores. Better marking of the nasal/oral distinction in terms of nasal resonance thus seems to be associated with better phonological performances, both among TH and CI children. Therefore, despite significantly lower NAF values among CI children, there seems to be some variability in the exploitation of nasal resonance cues, which may contribute to part of the variability in linguistic outcomes. In this regard, it is more surprising to see that Dimension 3, more associated with marking vowel nasality through cues related to oropharyngeal configuration (E.D. F1-F2-F3), is not positively correlated with phonological scores in the CI group. One might have expected that this marking strategy, reflecting a greater reliance on information assumed to be better coded by the CI, would be beneficial phonologically overall. In the study by (Fagniart et al., in press) the use of this strategy was associated with better intelligibility of nasal and oral segments. This study seems to indicate that this improvement in segment production is not necessarily associated with better phonological performances overall. These findings support the notion that while the perception-production of fricatives remains critical among the CI population, despite aids such as CS, the perception/production of nasal/oral vowels and stops entails significant variability, which may indicate possible compensations of the perceptual system in children with CIs. These findings are important to consider in the management and evaluation of language skills in children with CIs, to refine auditory stimulation techniques more based on perceptual skills accessible through the CI for critical segments, such as nasal vowels, and to quickly diagnose difficulties that may manifest subclinically.

The various findings of this study must be viewed considering certain limitations. Indeed, it is challenging to assemble a sizable sample with homogeneous characteristics among children with CIs, which complicates the generalization of results. Nevertheless, the results presented here are largely supported by existing literature and can therefore be taken seriously. Regarding the acoustic analyses, it should be noted that the target words were selected to create a list with frequent words, easily imaginable, and with low age of acquisition. These constraints did not allow for controlling various elements, such as phonemic neighborhood or overall syllabic context. Protocols targeting specific segments, with better control over parameters influencing the acoustic characteristics of productions, could be developed to address this bias in future investigations.

5 Conclusion

This study aimed to investigate and correlate phonological and phonetic skills through the analysis of picture naming tasks among children with CIs and their hearing peers. The following observations can be highlighted:

- Children in the CI group exhibit more difficulties in lexical and phonological domains, which may be compensated for by exposure to Cued Speech.
- CI users can exploit visually accessible information (such as oropharyngeal configuration) or information better coded by the CI to compensate for their perceptual difficulties, as noted in the production of nasal/oral vowels or voiced/voiceless stops, particularly among children using CS.
- Distinctive features relying on information not accessible through the implant and less compensable visually and/or temporally, such as the distinction of fricative consonants, are critical among CI children.
- Adequate exploitation of nasal resonance in distinguishing nasal/oral vowels is associated with better phonological performances.

These findings emphasize the perceptual system's ability to adapt and compensate for the limitations of CIs, a phenomenon that should be prioritized in children's management. Segments most at risk, such as fricative consonants, warrant particular attention to avoid significant phonological underspecification and associated linguistic delays.

Chapter 6 Lexical, morphological and morphosyntactic skills

After focusing on the production skills of different types of phonetic segments, the present chapter now aims to study the phonological, lexical, and morphosyntactic skills within the sample of children from the second data collection. However, for this article, which specifically examines group effects between children with cochlear implants (CI) and children with typical hearing, 4 children with CIs were excluded due to family bilingualism. Although these children have French as their first language, exposure to a second language in the family context could interfere with their linguistic skills and bias the group comparisons, as only monolingual children constitute the group of children with typical hearing. Therefore, the study focuses on a subgroup of 19 children with CIs compared to 47 children with typical hearing. The results from a picture-naming task, as well as the analysis of narrative productions by the children, are examined to extract developmental scores at the phonological, lexical, and morphosyntactic levels, which are then described and analyzed in relation to one another.

As the manuscript of this thesis is being finalized, this study is about to be submitted to the journal Frontiers in Human Neuroscience.

Abstract

Introduction: Significant variability in the language performance of children with CI is widely recognized in the literature, particularly concerning morphosyntactic (MS) skills. The perceptual limitations of the CI, which can lead to phonological difficulties, may be responsible for this increased vulnerability in grammatical abilities. In this context, the present study focuses on the morphophonemic processing of items distinguished by nasal and oral vowels in the French language - the feature of vowel nasality being known as challenging for

the CI population. Links between these performances and phonological and grammatical production skills will also be explored.

Method: Nineteen children with cochlear implants (CI) and forty-seven children with typical hearing (TH) were assessed for phonological skills through a picturenaming task, perceptual skills through a task involving the sentence/word-picture matching task with word target containing nasal versus oral vowels, and morphosyntactic production skills through narrative productions. Various measures of linguistic complexity (MLU, verbs/utterances) and lexical diversity (D index) were evaluated among our groups and linked to perceptual and productive phonological performances. Chronological/auditory age, the timing of implantation, exposure to Cued Speech (CS), and the socio-economic status of the parents were also studied.

Results: Specific difficulties in processing items distinguished by nasal and oral vowels were observed among the children with CI, as well as lower performance in narrative production, as reflected in MLU, verbs/utterances ratio, and the occurrence of complex function words or verb tenses, as well as in the lexical diversity index. Specific links were observed between phonological and morphosyntactic components among the children with CI in correlational analyses. Different performance profiles were observed, which could be linked to the significant variability reported in the literature.

Conclusions: The perceptual limitations of the CI have a significant impact on the linguistic development of children with CI, with various sources of variability as well as possibilities for compensation, notably through the use of multimodal speech perception stimulation methods such as CS.

Keywords: morphosyntactic skills, lexical skills, language development, cochlear implants

1. Introduction

The development of language in prelingually deaf children with unilateral or bilateral cochlear implants (CIs) has been the subject of numerous investigations in recent decades. One element is widely agreed upon among researchers: the performance of children with CIs is extremely variable. Some children reach the level of their typically hearing (TH) peers, while others display delayed or even atypical profiles. This variability in performance is not equally distributed across language components: difficulties are most frequently reported in the phonological (Bouton et al., 2012; David et al., 2021; Nittrouer et al., 2018) and morphosyntactic (MS) components (Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Le Nor-

mand & Thai-Van, 2023; Rinaldi et al., 2013). Indeed, despite the undeniable benefits of the cochlear implantation in auditory perception and in promoting the emergence of spoken language, the cochlear implant does not transmit the sound signal with the same precision as typical hearing. The sound transmitted by the implant is particularly limited in its spectral resolution and can be imprecise in certain frequency ranges, impacting the processing of some segmental and suprasegmental aspects of speech. Furthermore, the period of auditory deprivation before implantation can lead to a lack of stimulation of the auditory pathways during sensitive periods of the development of auditory brain areas. These factors can affect certain language components more severely. The aim of the present study is to examine the phonological and morphosyntactic skills of French-speaking children with CIs compared to their typically hearing peers. The study will particularly focus on vowel nasality, a distinctive feature of the French phonological system that supports several grammatical marks and has been recognized in the literature as being vulnerable to perception difficulties in both adults and children with CIs.

1.1. Grammatical skills in children with CI(s)

Despite the undeniable benefits of cochlear implantation on the linguistic development of deaf children, morphosyntactic (MS) development remains an area of language subject to persistent difficulties in this population. Indeed, lower performances are reported in formal tests evaluating perceptive and productive skills (Bourdin et al., 2016; Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Schorr et al., 2005; Young & Killen, 2002). Linguistic corpus analyses have shown lower values in linguistic development cues such as MLU (Mean Length of Utterance) and/or difficulties in the use of free and bound grammatical morphemes (Hansson et al., 2017; Majorano et al., 2024; Nittrouer et al., 2018; Szagun, 2001). The emergence of function words in the early development of grammar does not follow the same course as in typically hearing children, with greater difficulties in producing complex, less salient, unstressed function words such as pronouns (subject, object, relative), possessive and modal verbs or prepositions. It is suggested that CI users tend to store lexical representations more than phonological ones (Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014), facilitating the acquisition of content words such as nouns or main verbs over function words (Le Normand, 2004; Le Normand & Thai-Van, 2023). Studies that have jointly examined lexical and morphosyntactic components in the same children with CI have shown disparities in performance levels. Indeed, lexical development often appears to be more

equivalent to that of peers with typical hearing (Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Rinaldi et al., 2013), with some authors observing a one-year gap between lexical and morphosyntactic development (Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014). This gap is suggested to be due to the greater prominence of lexical elements in spoken language compared to grammatical words. Moreover, morphological and syntactic variations are more complex to teach/learn formally than vocabulary words (Hage, 2005).

While these difficulties are evident when children with CIs are studied as a group, the study of individual profiles shows substantial variability. Indeed, some studies report performances equivalent to those of typically hearing peers for about 50% of the children matched by chronological age (Geers et al., 2003), auditory age (Guo & Spencer, 2017), or vocabulary size (Jung & Ertmer, 2018). Different inter-individual variability factors can contribute to a certain degree of variability in performance. The effect of auditory age, defined as the age from exposure to auditory stimulation through a CI, has been regularly tested on linguistic components, with contrasting findings depending on the studies. While various authors observe significantly improved linguistic performances with advancing auditory age (Caselli et al., 2012; Flipsen & Kangas, 2014; Nicholas & Geers, 2007; Szagun, 2004a; Wie, 2010), others do not report any influence of auditory age (Duchesne et al., 2009; Hess et al., 2014; Rinaldi et al., 2013). The role of parental socio-economic status (SES), often assessed through parental education, remains a topic of debate. Some studies have found significant associations between family SES and linguistic outcomes (Geers et al., 2009; Huber & Kipman, 2012; Szagun & Stumper, 2012) or grammatical development (Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014). However, other research has found no significant links between SES and these linguistic measures (Moreno-Torres et al., 2016). Different elements can contribute to an effect of parental education : high-SES mothers has been observed to tend to speak more and with greater syntactic complexity (Huttenlocher et al., 2002; Vasilyeva et al., 2008) or with a more frequent use of certain parental language facilitation strategies, such as expansion (Szagun & Stumper, 2012). However, a recent meta-analysis on the role of various elements of the family environment highlights the positive impact of parental input during the early years of life, with more heterogeneous effects concerning the level of parental education (Holzinger et al., 2020). Language stimulation modes can also contribute to variability in children's performances. While several studies highlight the importance of stimulating oral language through an oral-only communication mode, compared to communication that combines oral language and sign language - formerly referred to as total communication (Dunn et al., 2014; Geers et al., 2003; Meyer et al., 1998; Niparko et al., s. d.; Peterson et al., 2010) - recent studies outline the benefits of introducing oral/sign language bilingualism to expose the child to a fully accessible communication system as early as possible (Delcenserie et al., 2024). Different methods of language rehabilitation can impact language development: in this regard, Cued Speech (Cornett, 1967) is a manual code used in addition to spoken language to supplement lip-reading, making all the phonological contrasts of an oral language visually accessible. The benefits of its integration into the care of children with CIs have been recognized in speech perception (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert & LaSasso, 2010; Van Bogaert et al., 2023) and speech production (Machart et al., 2024), as well as in morphosyntactic production (Hawes, 2004). Among others, these various individual and environmental characteristics have been identified as potential sources of variability, but none can clearly explain the disparities in performance or predict whether a child with a CI will achieve performances equivalent to those of hearing peers. Note that some authors have also observed MS performance in children with CI that is comparable to that of children with specific language impairment (SLI) (Benassi et al., 2021; Bourdin et al., 2016; Majorano et al., 2024), suggesting atypical language development.

1.2. Relationship between processing limitations and grammatical development

Despite the constant evolution of sound coding devices, cochlear implants are still incapable of completely coding and transmitting the auditory signal, as the fine acoustic details are often too complex to be processed by even the most recent devices (for a description of the sources of degraded performance in speech sound coding via the implant, see Başkent et al., 2016). This limitation impacts the quality of the phonological representations in prelingually deaf children, which directly affects their phonological skills as well as their overall linguistic skills, particularly their grammatical skills.

The increased vulnerability of morphosyntactic skills in cases of perceptual and/or phonological limitations has been explained by various models developed to explain SLI, where these skills are most severely affected (Parisse & Maillart, 2007). For instance, the surface hypothesis (Leonard et al., 1992) suggests that grammatical morphemes are more vulnerable due to their typical final positions

and placement in unstressed syllables. The cognitive operation of attributing a grammatical mark is also complex, making these morphemes more likely to be processed imprecisely, impacting grammatical development in both perception and production. Joanisse & Seidenberg (1998) propose a theoretical model that also emphasizes the lack of perceptual salience of morphological markers, adding that the root cause of difficulties lies initially in perceptual issues. This leads to difficulties in perceiving and categorizing phonological contrasts of the language and results in underspecified phonological representations. Since morphosyntactic markers primarily rely on contrasts between morphophonological forms, they are likely to be problematic in this context. The mapping hypothesis (Chiat, 2001) complements these propositions by postulating that developmental language disorders are related to a deficit in mapping between a phonological form and its concept/referent, which can then affect lexical and morphosyntactic development. However, lexical and morphosyntactic items do not hold the same value in terms of conceptual representation: concepts associated with lexical item are more frequently linked to visual, social, or emotional cues, unlike grammatical marks which rely solely on phonological cues from the spoken chain. According to this model, grammatical words are more vulnerable than nouns, and a concreteness effect can affect all classes of words.

In the case of children with hearing loss, the limitation and/or degradation of auditory input, causing a perceptual deficit, will be even more pronounced on these less salient and more abstract elements of the language, such as grammatical morphemes. This could explain why the morphosyntactic level is most often deficient compared to the lexical level in this population (Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014; Rinaldi et al., 2013), with lexical items benefiting from greater salience and concreteness effects. This could be corroborated by the study of Hansson et al. (2017) which found a strong link between the level of phonological development, assessed through a non-word repetition task, and skills in sentence comprehension as well as grammatical accuracy, evaluated through narrative production in children with CIs aged 5 to 9 years. The authors attributed these difficulties to imprecise phonological representations due to degraded auditory input, impacting the processing of grammatical morphemes both in processing and morphosyntactic production. In the same vein, an interesting pilot study found improvement in morphosyntactic development among children benefiting from intensive exposure to CS (Hawes, 2004). The author suggested that perceptual deficits could be mitigated by providing more

complete audiovisual information, emphasizing the less salient elements of language, such as grammatical morphemes, through the use of CS.

The perceptual limitations of CI are likely to cause difficulties not only at the segmental level but also at the suprasegmental level, which can also contribute to MS difficulties. Indeed, it has been observed that the CI population experiences difficulties in correctly processing information related to F0 frequency and its variations, causing challenges in identifying emotions based on prosody (Chatterjee et al., 2015, 2023; Everhardt et al., 2020; Richter & Chatterjee, 2021) or difficulties in musical processing (Steel et al., 2020). Suprasegmental elements of language are known to be crucial in early language development and are considered a prerequisite for MS development in typically hearing children through prosodic bootstrapping. Various studies have thus proposed that MS difficulties in children with CI may be prosodic, particularly in studies focusing on the acquisition of determiners. Indeed, various studies have shown difficulties in the acquisition of this type of function words (Hilaire et al., 2002; Majorano et al., 2024; Moreno-Torres & Torres, 2008; Szagun, 2004b). This vulnerability in acquiring determiners is entirely consistent with the previously mentioned perceptual limitations, related to the lower perceptual and conceptual salience of these function words, but also with an atypical development of prosodic representations. However, this latter hypothesis has not been verified in French: a study by Le Normand demonstrated that children with CIs do benefit from prosodic bootstrapping (Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014). The author observed more omissions of determiners before bisyllabic words than monosyllabic ones, indicating sensitivity to the dominant iambic metric structure in French consistent with what is observed in typically hearing children (Demuth & Tremblay, 2008). Although difficulties seem to be present in processing F0 variations, it appears that children with CIs are still able to use rhythmic information from the language to perceive its metric structure.

These various elements from the literature provide a partially explanatory framework for the increased difficulties potentially encountered by children with CI in MS development. Difficulties in processing certain speech sounds as well as suprasegmental acoustic features supporting prosodic patterns are likely to affect the acquisition of grammatical morphemes. The present study will particularly focus on the nasality feature in French vowels.

Speech sound processing: focus on nasality feature in French

The difficulties in the processing of speech sounds by CI users affect more severely certain phonological features carried by acoustic cues less precisely coded by the CI (Bouton et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2021; Moon & Hong, 2014; Peng et al., 2019). This is particularly the case for the place of articulation of consonants and especially fricative consonants, as well as the nasality feature in French vowels. In French, as in approximately 20% of the world's languages (Borel, 2015), nasality is a distinctive feature of the vocalic system. The [nasal] vs. [oral] specification allows for the distinction of minimal pairs at the lexical level, but also morphophonological oppositions that serve as grammatical markers.

However, vowel nasality is carried by fine acoustic cues that require optimal spectral resolution processing skills, which is precisely problematic in the processing of the sound signal by the CI. Various experimental studies have thus shown difficulties in the identification and discrimination of nasal and oral vowels in both children and adults with CI(s) (Borel, 2015; Borel et al., 2019; Bouton et al., 2012; Fagniart et al., 2024a). CI users tend to have difficulty distinguishing a nasal vowel from a close oral counterpart in terms of oropharyngeal configuration. Their perceptual difficulties, mainly concerning the processing of the nasal quality of the vowel, so that the identification/discrimination of nasal and oral vowels is primarily carried out through the exploitation of cues better coded by the CI, such as formant frequencies. These perceptual difficulties manifest in specific productive profiles. Indeed, children with CIs judged to be the most intelligible are those who distinguish nasal and oral vowels using acoustic cues related to oropharyngeal configuration (formant frequencies) and length differences rather than presence or absence of nasal resonance (Fagniart et al., in press).

High variability in performance is notable in the above-mentioned studies, with significantly higher performance among children who have integrated CS early and intensively into their care and family context. It is thus assumed that CI children are capable of compensating for their perceptual difficulties related to sound processing by the CI through the activation of multimodal speech perception mechanisms, exploiting visual cues related to lip-reading and the manual cues of CS in addition to the incomplete sound signal. This variability in performance is also observed in the use of the acoustic cues associated with nasal resonance: some children seem to control the nasal/oral quality of their productions

more adequately, and this ability has also been shown to correlate with phonological development (Fagniart et al., 2024b).

1.4. The present study

Through a review of the scientific literature, it has been observed that many studies report increased vulnerability in the development of morphosyntactic skills among children with CIs. While most authors agree that the perceptual limitations of the sound transmitted by the CI, combined with delayed access to oral input, are primarily responsible for these children's difficulties, some authors emphasize the effect of specific individual and/or environmental, which can explain part of the performance variability.

The objective of the present work is to delve deeper into the phonological hypothesis of morphosyntactic difficulties in children with CIs, under the assumption that the acoustic limitations related to sound processing by the CI lead to imprecisions in phonological processing, thereby impacting linguistic abilities. The variability in speech sound processing skills, linked on one hand to the etiological characteristics of deafness, anatomical peculiarities and surgical conditions of the implantation, and on the other hand, to the variability in the use of strategies to compensate for initial difficulties, could help explain, at least partially, the variability in linguistic performance. Grammatical competence is particularly vulnerable in this regard due to the lower salience of grammatical morphemes in spoken language and, in French, the richness of morphophonological processes that convey grammatical markers (Le Normand & Thai-Van, 2023).

In this context, we have chosen to study more precisely the processing skills of different morphemic oppositions in grammatical contexts and lexical contexts (minimal pairs), as well as morphosyntactic production skills and their links with phonological skills in groups of children with cochlear implants and their typical-ly-hearing peers. Morphemic oppositions involving the feature of vowel nasality are targeted. Indeed, it has been shown that the nasal vowel feature is poorly perceived among the CI population, leading to difficulties in discrimination and particularities in production, but with possible compensation strategies and notable variability. The opposition between nasal and oral vowels is part of the phonological mechanisms underlying certain grammatical oppositions in French, such as grammatical number in /il va/ ("he goes") vs. /il v3/ ("they go").

First, a customized comprehension task designed at studying morphophonological processing will be introduced. The inclusion of different types of morphophonological oppositions, some of which being based on vowel nasality, will allow us to assess the impact of perceptual difficulties on morphological processing skills in different grammatical (gender and number marking) and lexical (minimal pairs) contexts. The various scores obtained from this comprehension task will also be linked to different morphosyntactic production scores obtained through narrative production, in order to study the connections between potential morphological processing difficulties and grammatical skills within the two groups of children. The link between performance in morphological processing and MS production will be studied in connection with the level of phonological development of the children, assessed through a picture-naming task. Attention will also be given to the suprasegmental elements that may influence MS skills. Indeed, it has been shown that in French, determiners are more easily acquired before monosyllabic words than bisyllabic words, indicating a sensitivity to the predominantly two-foot rhythmic structure of French. A previous study (Le Normand & Thai-Van, 2023) confirmed that French-speaking children with CI(s) exhibit similar profiles, indicating a prosodic bootstrapping mechanism equivalent to that of typically hearing (TH) children. These findings will be re-examined in the present study and correlated with the productive MS skills of the children. Finally, building on the findings from the literature regarding the impact of environmental factors on linguistic development in general and morphosyntax in particular, the effect of different individual and environmental variables on MS skills will be studied.

Several objectives are pursued:

- To document the skills in morphological processing skills in grammatical and lexical contexts. We hypothesize that phrases distinguished by the nasal vowel feature will cause greater difficulties for children with CI;
- To document grammatical production skills through the analysis of narratives. Similar studies have already been conducted in French with younger children (Le Normand, 2004; Le Normand & Thai-Van, 2023), highlighting an atypical acquisition trajectory of function words in young children with CI compared to children with typical hearing. This study will focus on children from older age groups and aim to document performance in morphosyntactic production, the production of various function words and

different tenses of conjugation, as well as several types of grammatical errors among the groups of children. In particular, attention will be given to omissions of determiners before monosyllabic or bisyllabic words in order to study the children's sensitivity to the prosodic characteristics of French;

- To study the role of different variables proposed as contributing to morphosyntactic development and to the variability of performances observed among CI users in the literature. These variables include the level of phonological development, the level of maturation through the study of chronological and auditory age effects, as well as environmental variables such as parents' socioeconomic status and the level of Cued Speech exposure. The level of lexical development and its links with grammatical skills will also be examined in order to distinguish between overall effects of linguistic development and specific relationships among certain components.

2. Method

2.1. Participants

A group of children with typical hearing (TH group) and a group of children with cochlear implants (CI group) participated in the study. The TH group consisted of 47 French-speaking children with typical hearing, with an average age of 56 ± 7 months, who did not exhibit any learning delays or auditory disorders. The CI group comprised 19 French-speaking children (mean chronological age: 64 ± 2 months) with congenital bilateral profound hearing loss, 18 of whom had bilateral implants and one child with a unilateral implant. All CI participants received oralist auditory rehabilitation, both at their rehabilitation center and in their family environment. This group was further divided based on their exposure to Cued Speech: 7 children were not exposed to CS (CS0 group), 5 were occasionally exposed during speech therapy sessions (CS- group), while 7 were exposed early in their development and intensively, both in speech therapy and in their family context (CS+ group). Implantation age groups were also created: children who received their first implant before 18 months were considered early implantations (CI/EI, n=12), and those implanted after 18 months were considered late implantations (CI/LI, n=7). This criterion was selected to align with various studies showing significant benefits from implantation before 18 months (Sharma et al., 2020).

Subject	Sex	Chronological age (years ; months)	Age at first implantation (months)	Implantation age group: early (EI) – late (LI)	Auditory age group	Implantation type	CS expo- sure group	SES level
CI1	М	4;6	9	EI	3;7-4;6 y	Bilateral	CS0	Low
CI2	Μ	6;5	39	LI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0	Low
CI3	F	5;10	15	EI	4;7-7 y.	Bilateral	CS0	Low
CI4	F	6;7	7	EI	4;7-7 y.	Bilateral	CS0	High
CI5	F	6;6	31	LI	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS+	Low
CI6	F	4;7	7	EI	3;7-4;6 y.	Unilateral	CS+	High
CI7	F	7;3	13	EI	4;7-7 y.	Bilateral	CS-	Low
CI8	Μ	4;7	13	EI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS-	Low
CI9	Μ	4;9	13	EI	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS+	High
CI10	Μ	4;6	12	EI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS-	High
CI11	F	4;6	18	LI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS-	Low
C12	F	6;9	20	LI	4;7-7 y.	Bilateral	CS+	High
C13	Μ	6;0	23	LI	3;7-4;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0	Low
CI14	F	3;9	12	EI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0	Low
CI15	F	5;0	32	LI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS+	Low
CI16	F	3;8	11	EI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS-	Low
CI17	Μ	4;11	17	EI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS0	High
CI18	F	6;7	13	EI	4;7-7 y.	Bilateral	CS+	Low
CI19	F	5;0	21	LI	2;6-3;6 y.	Bilateral	CS+	Low

To study the effects of maturation within our groups, we created age groups based on the auditory age of the CI participants and the chronological age of the TH children. Three groups were formed: 2;6-3;6 years (TH: N = 10; CI: N = 9), 3;7-4;6 years (TH: N = 10; CI: N = 5), 4;7-7 years (TH: N = 28; CI: N = 5).

The socio-economic status (SES) level of the children was also studied based on the education levels of both parents, by averaging the number of years they had spent in education, following the method of Le Normand (2022) according to Desrosières' classification (Desrosières et al., 1983). Two categories were determined: the high level, which includes education levels between high school and postgraduate degree (CI: N = 13; TH: N = 35), and the low level, which includes education from elementary school to a high school degree (CI: n = 6; TH: n = 12). The list of CI participants and their characteristics is presented in Table 6.1.
2.2. Tasks

2.2.1. Naming task

The children first completed a picture-naming task. The target words (n = 48) for this task were selected by the authors to include all French phonemes in initial, medial, and final syllable positions. The target words were also chosen for their early age of acquisition (referring to Chalard et al., 2003) to facilitate retrieval by the children (Philippart De Foy et al., 2018).

The target word pictures were presented to the child one at a time via a booklet, and the child was asked to orally name each picture. If the child did not respond or if the produced word did not match the target (e.g., semantic paraphasia or a random response), different prompts were provided. First, semantic cues related to the target word were given (e.g., "you can use it when it rains" for /paʁaplui/ - *umbrella*). If the target word was still not produced, a phonological cue was offered by providing the initial phoneme (e.g., "it starts with /s/" for /suri/ - *mouse*). If these two cues were insufficient for the child to retrieve the target word, the experimenter would say the word and ask the child to repeat it.

2.2.2. Comprehension task

The comprehension consisted in a sentence/word-picture matching task. A word or a short sentence was presented auditorily to the children, and they were asked to point to the corresponding picture in a pair of images. The task included a total of 28 items. The differences between the target words/sentences and their distractors involved : 13 number markings (e.g., "il va" - /il va/ (*he goes*) vs. "ils vont" - /il v3/ (*they go*)], 7 gender markings (e.g., "boulanger" - /bulãʒɛ/ (*baker – male*) vs. "boulangère" - /bulãʒɛʁ/ (*baker – female*)] and 8 lexical minimal pairs [e.g., "bain" - /bɛ̃/ (*bath*) vs. "banc" - /bɑ̃/ (*bench*)]. These different grammatical and lexical distinctions were based on various phonological contrasts: oral/nasal (n= 10), oral/oral (n= 3), or nasal/nasal (n= 3) vowel substitutions, as well as phonemic additions (n= 12). The list of items and an illustration of the testing interface are available in Appendix 4.

The children were presented with two images (the target image and the distractor) on a tablet. They listened to the target word or sentence through an audio recording played via loudspeakers (Bose Soundlike). The sound level was controlled to reach an average level of 60 dB. The children were then asked to point to the corresponding target image among the two images. Five practice items were provided before the task to ensure the children understood the instructions and to adjust the sound volume for optimal listening of the stimuli.

2.2.3. Narrative production tasks

Two narrative production tasks were proposed to the children: an induced narrative task and a free narrative task.

The first narrative task was the induced narrative. In the initial phase, a story with images was presented to the children. An animated story was shown on a tablet, with the animations illustrating the story to provide visual support, while a filmed narrator told the story. In order to prevent the child from focusing solely on the narrator or the animations, thereby missing information, the phases of narration by the speaker and the animation phases alternated without overlapping, allowing the child to shift from one to the other. Afterward, the child was asked to retell the story using the animations previously shown as visual support. The purpose of the induction phase was to present a story containing various twists and turns that would introduce past, future, and conditional tenses/modes, as well as gender and number markers. The goal was to encourage varied productions of grammatical markers and verb tenses from the children. The full elicited narrative, along with an illustration of the presentation interface, is available in Appendix 5.

The free narrative task involved presenting the wordless picture book "Frog, Where Are You?" (Mayer, 1969). The child was shown the book and asked to tell the story.

2.3. Procedure

The children completed the four tasks in a quiet environment, in the presence of the experimenter and, in some cases, their speech therapist. The tasks were administered in the following order: first, the picture-naming task, followed by the induced narrative production task, the comprehension task, and finally, the free narrative production task. The total testing time ranged between 35 and 60 minutes. Breaks were proposed to the children between tasks. All of the children's productions were recorded using an H5 Zoom portable audio recorder.

2.4. Measures

2.4.1. Phonological score

The children's productions in the naming task were annotated by an initial examiner and subsequently verified by the first author using the Phon 3.1 software (Hedlung & Rose, 2020). The software, by comparing the target phonological form with the actual production as annotated, was able to extract various phonological accuracy scores. In this study, we will focus solely on a global score of percentage of correct phonemes (PCP). A more comprehensive description of the children's phonological as well as acoustic analyses of the productions are available in a previous study (Fagniart et al., 2024a).

2.4.2. Sentence/word-picture matching task scores

For the comprehension task, d' scores were calculated for all scores related to a specific category. First, scores were computed for each type of grammatical markers involved in the comprehension task (gender and number), as well as for all the items including minimal pairs. Second, specific d' scores were calculated for each of the phonological contrasts conveying the distinction between the target and the distractor: contrasts between nasal and oral vowels, oral and oral vowels, nasal and nasal vowels, or the phonological process of phonemic addition. d'scores were obtained by subtracting the normalized, centered, and standardized values of hit (correct detection) and false alarm (incorrect detection) rates, according to the signal detection theory (MacMillan & Creelman, 1991). Extreme scores of 0 and 1 were converted to 0.01 and 0.99, respectively, to allow for Z-score conversion.

2.4.3. Grammatical production scores and error types

The children's productions from the audio recordings of the narratives were transcribed using PHON (Hedlung & Rose, 2020) and then exported to the Computerized Language Analysis (CLAN) software (MacWhinney, 2000) for the purpose of conducting a morphosyntactic annotation of the words in the narratives using the MOR and POST functions (Parisse & Le Normand, 2000). The KidEval program was used to extract various cues of morphosyntactic development, while also classifying the different function words produced and the verb tenses used.

For the study, we focused on the following cues for analysis, known to be indicators of morphosyntactic development or linked to morphosyntactic complexity:

- Mean Length of Utterance (MLU) in morphemes (MLUm)
- The verb/utterance ratio: determining the number of utterances containing a main verb
- The number of the following function and content words: prepositions, pronouns, demonstrative pronouns, reflexive pronouns, object pronouns, subject pronouns, adjectives, adverbs, articles, possessive determiners, conjunctions, number of regular verbs, copula verbs, modal verbs, auxiliary verbs, and possessive verbs. The raw counts of these different grammatical words were divided by the total number of words produced by the child, in order to obtain a relative measure that is not influenced by sample size.
- Verb forms related to variations in tenses and moods: present, past simple (judged as equivalent to the "imparfait" in French), past perfect (judged as equivalent to the "participe passé" in French), conditional, and future. The raw counts of these different verb forms were divided by the total number of verbs produced by the child.

The annotated narratives were also reviewed by the first author to identify different types of errors, which will be analyzed. The errors observed included:

- Noun agreement errors in number ("les <u>cheval</u>" /leʃə<u>val</u>/ i.e. "the (plural) horse (singular)" instead of "les chevaux" - /leʃə<u>vo</u>/ - i.e. "the (plural) horses (plural)") and gender ("la boulanger" - /labulãʒe/ - i.e. "the baker (male)" instead of "la boulangère" - /labulãʒɛʁ/ - i.e. "the baker (female)")
- Verb agreement errors in number ("les amis <u>vient</u>" /lezami<u>vjɛ</u>/ i.e. "the friends <u>is</u> coming" instead of "les amis <u>viennent</u>" /lezami<u>vjɛn</u>/ i.e. "the friends <u>are</u> coming").
- Verb form errors: auxiliary ("*il a parti*" /ilapaʁti/ instead of "*il est parti*" /ilɛpaʁt/), form ("*ils se marier*" /ilsəmaʁje/ instead of "*ils se mariaient*" /ilsəmaʁjɛ/), overgeneralization ("*il parta*" /ilpaʁta/ instead of "*il partit*" /ilpaʁti/)
- Substitution of function words: preposition ("*il tombe sur la fenêtre*" /ilt5bsyslafənɛts/ instead of "*il tombe par la fenêtre*" /ilt5bpaslafənɛts/), contracted article ("*de le cheval*" /dələfəval/, instead of "*du cheval*" /dyfəval/), clitic pronoun ("*il le regarde (mention to a female character*)" /illəsəgasd/, instead of "*il la regarde*" /illasəgasd/), others

- Deletion of function words: determiners in general and before monosyllabic ("chien" /ʃəval/, instead of "le chien" /ləʃjɛ̃/) vs bisyllabic nouns ("cheval" /ʃəval/, instead of "le cheval" /ləʃəval/), prepositions ("il tombe la fenêtre" /il tɔ̃b la fənɛtʁ/ instead of "il tombe par la fenêtre" /iltɔ̃bpaʁlafənɛtʁ/)
- Addition of function words: pronominal redundancy ("*le garçon il va*" /ləgaʁsõilva/, instead of "*le garçon va*" /ləgaʁsõilva/), various additions

In order to also obtain an indicator related to the level of lexical development, the lexical diversity index D, derived from the VOCD procedure in KidEval (Duran et al., 2004), was computed. This index was created to avoid being influenced by sample size, unlike the Type/Token Ratio (TTR) index, which increases with the size of the corpus. The index is calculated based on a mathematical model of the probability that a new word will be introduced as the corpus lengthens. This mathematical model is compared to the actual produced corpus to obtain the D index. This index has proven to be more reliable for evaluating corpora of different sizes and has demonstrated its ability to discriminate between different types of speakers (Duran et al., 2004).

2.5. Statistical analysis

Linear generalized mixed models, employing the lme4 package (version 1.1-34; Bates et al., 2015) within the R software (R Core Team, 2022), were used to compare groups among the various measures on the children's speech productions. The models were constructed using the different independent variables of interest, namely:

- Auditory status: cochlear implant children (CI) ; typical hearing children (TH)
- CS exposure : CS0 = no CS exposure ; CS- = occasional CS exposure ;
 CS+ = early and frequent CS exposure ; TH
- Auditory age group: 2;6-3;6 / 3;7-4;6 / 4;7-7
- Implantation age group : CI/EI = early (< 18m.) ; CI/LI = late (> 18 m.) ; TH
- Socio-economic status (SES) : low-SES ; high-SES

The interaction between auditory status*auditory age group and auditory status*SES were also tested. A random intercept effect for each subject was included in the models. The significance of fixed effects was evaluated using Chi-squared tests and corresponding p-values, performed through the ANOVA function in the Car package (Fox & Weisberg, 2018) applied to the model. Additionally, posthoc analyses were carried out using the emmeans package (Lenth et al., 2023). Pearson correlation coefficients were calculated between the different measures.

3. Results

3.1. Phonological accuracy

The percentages of correct phonemes produced in the naming task were analyzed to document phonological accuracy. Children in the CI group had significantly lower percentages of correct total phonemes (CI: 76.7 - TH: 90.6; $\chi^2(1)=$ 25.78; p<.001). CS exposure displayed a significant effect ($\chi^2(3)=28.75$; p<.001), with the CS0 and CS+ showing significantly lower score compared to TH group (CS0 = 72.5; CS- = 82.2; CS+ = 76.8; TH = 90.6). An effect of auditory age group ($\chi^2(2)=10.36$; p=.005) as well as an interaction effect between auditory age group and auditory status ($\chi^2(2)=10.2$; p=.006) was observed. Specifically, the performance of children in the TH group increased with advancing age group, while in the CI group, the 3;7-4;6 age range showed lower scores compared to the other groups. No effect of implantation age or SES level was observed.



3.2. Sentence/word-picture marching task

Figure 6.1: Means and error bars corresponding to ± one standard deviation of scores partitioned according to the types of grammatical markers and types of phonological oppositions, as well as the total scores on the sentence/word picture matching task for the CI and TH groups. Significant differences between groups are indicated with * (p<.05), ** (p<.005) or *** (p<.001). p-values at the margin of significance (between .1 and .05) are represented by (*).

A marginal group effect favoring the TH group was observed for minimal pairs (2.97 vs 2.13; $\beta = 0.78$, SE = 0.44, t(64) = 1.74; p = .08). No effect of auditory status was observed for number and gender markers. Considering the phonological mechanisms involved in grammatical oppositions, a significant effect of auditory status, favoring the TH group, was observed only for oppositions based on distinctions between nasal and oral vowels (2.48 vs 1.53; $\beta = 0.95$, SE = 0.42, t(64) = 2.25; p = .02). No significant effects were found for distinctions between nasal and oral vowels, or phonemic additions (see Figure 6.1).

A marginal effect of CS exposure was observed only on items where the distinction was marked by nasal/oral vowels ($\chi^2(3) = 7.1$; p = .06), with the CSgroup showing the lowest values. An effect of implantation age group was also observed on these items ($\chi^2(3) = 6.1$; p = .04), with the group implanted after 16 months showing lower values than the TH group. An interaction effect between chronological/auditory age group was observed on scores for minimal pairs ($\chi^2(2) = 6.99$; p = .02) and on items with nasal/oral vowel distinctions ($\chi^2(2) = 7.05$; p = .03), with children in the TH group showing increased scores with advancing age, while in the CI group, children in the intermediate age group (3;7-4;6 years) had the lowest scores. No effect of socio-economic level groupings was found.

3.3. Results of narrative productions

3.3.1. Developmental cues

Measure	Narrative type	CI (mean)	TH (mean)	p-values
MILIMamhamaa	Elicited	4.54	5.59	.01
(MLUm)	Free	5.03	5.92	.04
(MLOIII)	p-values	.03	.03	
	Elicited	0.72	0.82	NS
Verbs/Utterances	Free	0.67	0.86	.01
	p-values	NS	NS	
	Elicited	26.8	39.4	<.001
D	Free	23.7	31.4	.005
	p-values	NS	<.001	

Table 6.2 presents the mean values of MLUm, the verb/utterance ratio, as well as the lexical index D values by type of narrative and by group (CI and TH).

Table 6.2: Means and p-values of the test associated with MLUm values, verb/utterances ratio, and D index according to the type of narrative and group (CI - TH). NS = non-significant values.

A significant effect of auditory status was observed on MLUm values, favoring the TH group ($\beta = 0.89$; SE = 0.42; t(64) = 2.08; p = .04). This effect was present for both the elicited narrative ($\beta = -1.05$, SE = 0.42; t(64) = -2.46; p = .01) and the free narrative ($\beta = -0.89$, SE = 0.42; t(64) = -2.09; p = .04). An effect of narrative type was observed in both groups ($\beta = -0.49$; SE = 0.27; t(64) = -2.1; p = .03), with higher MLUm values in the free narrative. Similarly, children in the TH group generally achieved a better verb/utterance ratio ($\beta = 0.19$; SE = 0.07; t(64) = 2.56; p = .01). This effect was only present for the free narrative ($\beta = -0.19$; SE = 0.07; t(64) = -2.56; p = .01). A marginal interaction effect was observed between narrative type and auditory status ($\chi^2(1) = 3.22$; p = .07), with children in the CI group having a better verb/utterance ratio in the elicited narrative, whereas this ratio was equivalent between the two tasks in the TH group. The lexical diversity index *D* also showed a significant overall group effect in favor of the TH group ($\beta = 8.13$; SE = 2.66; t(64) = 3.05; p = .003), with children in the TH group exhibiting higher values for the induced narrative ($\beta = -12.6$; SE = 2.67; t(64) = -4.7; p < .001) and the free narrative ($\beta = -8.13$; SE = 2.67; t(64) = -3.05; p = .003). An effect of the type of narrative was observed on the *D* values ($\chi^2(1) = 30.02$; p < .001), as well as a marginal auditory status*task interaction ($\chi^2(1) = 3.02$; p = .08), with the induced narrative causing higher *D* to a greater extent among children in the TH group.

An effect of CS exposure was observed on the lexical diversity index ($\chi^2(3) = 20.12$; p < .001), with significantly lower scores in the CS0 and CS+ groups compared to the TH group (CS0: 25.3 vs. CS-: 28.0 vs. CS+: 23.2 vs. TH: 35.6), as well as a CS*task interaction ($\chi^2(3) = 7.8$; p = .04), with the observed differences appearing only in the elicited narrative. An effect of the auditory age group was also observed on the *D* index ($\chi^2(2) = 13.36$; p = .001), with children who had late implantation having significantly lower scores than children in the TH group. No effect of socio-economic level groupings was found.

A significant auditory age group effect ($\chi^2(2) = 33.46$; p<.001) as well as a marginal interaction effect between auditory age group and auditory status ($\chi^2(2) = 4.78$; p = .09) was observed for the MLUm scores, as well as for the verb/utterance ratio ($\chi^2(2) = 28.05$; p < .001) and for the lexical diversity index ($\chi^2(2) = 8.75$; p = .01), with both groups showing increased scores with advancing age groups.

3.3.2. Function words

Table 6.3 displays the mean percentages of function and content words produced in the CI and TH groups., as well as the p-values of the tests evaluating the effects of auditory status, CS exposure, and age groupings.

Word type	CI mean	TH mean	Auditory status ef- fect	Auditory age group effect	Auditory age group ef- fect*auditory status group effect	CS ex- posure effect	Implantation age group effect
Preposition	6.5	9.1	<.001	.02	.04	.002	
Pronoun total	0.4	0.6					
Demonstrative pro.	1.8	1.3		<.001		.03	
Reflexive pro- noun	0.6	1.3	<.001	.05		<.001	.002
Object pronoun	0.2	0.4	.01				
Subject pronoun	11.9	12		.08			
Adjective	2.1	2.3					
Adverb	3.4	3.9		.08			
Article deter- miner	12.6	13.8	.04	.05	.06		
Possessive det.	1	1.8	.002			.002	
Conjunction	5.6	4.3	.01			.002	.02
Regular verb	6.5	8.5	.001	<.001		.009	
Copula verb	0.64	0.45		<.001			
Modal verb	2.4	2.8					
Auxiliar verb	6.1	4.6	.01			.006	.004

Table 6.3: Means of the percentages of occurrence of different function and content words according to the CI and TH groups, and p-values associated with the different group comparisons.

Effects of auditory status in favor of the TH group were observed for the percentages of prepositions, reflexive and object pronouns, article and possessive determiners, as well as regular and auxiliary verbs. A significant effect of CS exposure is observed on the average percentages of prepositions ($\chi^2(3) = 14.46$; p = .002), with the highest values found in the CS+ group, followed by CS- and CSO. An effect is also observed for the percentages of reflexive pronouns ($\chi^2(3) =$ 13.36; p = .003), possessive determiners ($\chi^2(3) = 14.78$; p=.002), conjunctions ($\chi^2(3) = 13.94$; p=.003) and regular verb ($\chi^2(3) = 11.36$; p=.009), with significantly lower values for the CS- group. However, the CS- group shows higher percentages of demonstrative pronouns ($\chi^2(3) = 6.56$; p = .03) and auxiliar verbs ($\chi^2(3) =$ 12.25; p = .006). Regarding the implantation age groups, fewer percentages of reflexive pronouns ($\chi^2(2) = 12.11$; p = .002), conjunctions ($\chi^2(2) = 7.38$; p = .02) and auxiliar verbs ($\chi^2(2) = 10.78$; p = .004) are observed in children who were implanted after 18 months. No effect of socio-economic level groupings was found.



Figure 6.2: Mean percentages of occurrence by function words according to auditory age groups and CI and TH groups.

Chronological/auditory age group effects are observed for all function words percentages except for adjectives, object pronouns, possessive determiners, modal verbs, and auxiliary verbs, whose values remain stable across groups. Figure 6.2 illustrates the averaged percentages of the different function words based on age group and auditory status: a general trend of increasing average values for most function words can be seen in both groups, except for determiners in the CI group, which show a decrease in the 3;7-4;6 age group, and for prepositions, where percentages increase in the 4;7-7y group for the CI group but remain stable after 3;7y for the TH group. In both groups, the percentage of demonstrative pronouns and copula verbs decreases with age.

3.3.3. Verbal morphology

Table 6.4 provided the averaged percentages of verbal forms produced by children in the CI and TH groups, as well as the p-values of the tests examining the effect of auditory status, CS exposure, and age groups.

	CI	TH	Auditory status effect	Auditory age group effect	Auditory age group effect*group effect	CS ex- posure effect	Implantation group effect
Present	54.6	47.6	.06	<.001			.01
Conditional	0.6	1.7	.04				
Future	0	0.6	.04				
Past simple	3.9	10.2	.01	<.001		.09	.03
Past perfect	17.7	11.5	.001			.004	
Infinitive	9.1	10.8			.01		

 Table 6.4: Means of the percentages of occurrence of different verbal forms according to the CI and TH groups, and p-values associated with the different group comparisons.

Significant effects in favor of the TH group were observed for the conditional, future, and past simple tenses, as well as a marginal effect on the production of the present tense. In contrast, children in the CI group produced significantly more past perfect verbs. An effect of exposure to CS is observed for the use of the past perfect ($\chi^2(3) = 12.94$; p = .004), with higher values for the CS+ group, and marginally for the past simple tense ($\chi^2(3) = 6.3$; p = .09), with lower values for the CS- group. An effect of the age at implantation is observed for the use of the present ($\chi^2(2) = 8.3$; p = .01) and the past simple tense ($\chi^2(2) = 6.93$; p = .03), with lower average values among children whose implantation occurred after 18 months. No effect of socio-economic level groupings was found.



Figure 6.3: Mean percentages of occurrence of verbal forms according to auditory age groups and CI and TH groups.

Figure 6.3 illustrates age effects: both groups showed an increase in values with advancing age groups for the past simple tense and a decrease for the present tense. An interaction was found for infinitives ($\chi^2(2) = 7.98$; p = .01), with percentages decreasing in the CI group while increasing in the TH age groups.

3.3.4. Errors

Table 6.5 displays the mean of percentages of the different types of errors among the CI and TH groups, as well as the p-values of the tests associated with the different variables of interest.

effect group auditory effect eff group 	;roup ect
Nominal Number 0.03 0.02 .08	
Gender 0.36 0.16 .05	
<i>i.e. det+noun</i> .042 0.14 .001 <.001	
Verbal Number 0.12 0.05 .04 .01	
Auxiliary 0.07 0.03 .03	
Verbal tense Overgeneralization 0.01 0.09	
Form 0.2 0.09 .05 .0)2
Determiners 3.47 0.39 <.001 .01 <.001 .00	02
Omission bef. 1 syll. noun 0.65 0.08 <.001 .05 .002 <.001 <.0)01
<i>bef. 2 syll. noun</i> 2.1 0.3 .001 .005 <.001 .00	04
Addition Pronominal 1.6 0.77 .007 .009	
Other 0.12 0.04 .03 .05 .0)7

Table 6.5: Means of the percentages of occurrence of different error types according to the CI and
TH groups, and p-values associated with the different group comparisons.

An effect of auditory status was observed in verbal agreement in number $(\chi^2(2) = 3.89; p = .04)$ and nominal agreement in gender $(\chi^2(3) = 8.54; p = .01)$, including determiner-noun agreement in gender $(\chi^2(2) = 10.7; p = .001)$, verbal tense form errors $(\chi^2(3) = 3.71; p = .05)$, the omission of determiners $(\chi^2(2) = 11.69; p = <.001)$ and prepositions $(\chi^2(2) = 11.67; p = <.001)$, as well as the addition of various elements $(\chi^2(2) = 4.59; p = .03)$ and pronominal redundancies $(\chi^2(3) = 7.16; p = .007)$. Children in the CI group made more of these types of errors than children in the TH group. Regarding determiners, it is noteworthy that children in the CI group significantly omit determiners more often before two-syllable words than one-syllable words (t(64) = -3.58; p < .001), whereas the children of the TH group do not show a syllabic context effect on the number of omissions.

An effect of exposure to CS is observed on the number of preposition omissions ($\chi^2(3) = 13.46$; p = .003), with more errors of this type in the CS+ group, as well as for verbal agreement in number (chi2(3) = 9.9; p =.01) and the agreement between determiner and noun in gender ($\chi^2(3) = 17.84$; p< .001), with more errors in the CS- group. An effect of CS is also observed on the number of added function words ($\chi^2(3) = 7.5$; p = .05) and pronominal redundancy ($\chi^2(3) = 7.16$; p = .007), with fewer errors of this type in the CS- group. More error of determiner omissions were found in the CS0 group (chi2(3)= 19.7; p<.001). Regarding implantation age, an effect is observed on the number of verb form errors ($\chi^2(2) =$ 7.59; p = .02), the number of determiner omission ($\chi^2(2) = 11.86$; p = .002), and marginally on the number of added function words ($\chi^2(2) = 5.26$; p = .07) with fewer errors in the group who received their CI < 18m. An interaction effect between SES and auditory status is observed for the number of determiner omissions in front of bisyllabic words ($\chi^2(1) = 3.68$; p = .05), with fewer occurrences of this type of error in children with low SES.

Interaction effects between chronological/auditory age groups and hearing status were observed in the number of auxiliary substitutions ($\chi^2(2) = 7$; p = .03), with a decrease in the CI group as age increased, while remaining very low across age groups in the TH group. The same interaction was observed for the number of determiner omissions ($\chi^2(2) = 8.28$; p = .01), with a significant decrease in this type of error in the oldest age group within the TH group, while being more frequent in the 3;7-4;6 age group in the CI group, both for determiners before monosyllabic ($\chi^2(2) = 11.97$; p = .002) and bisyllabic words ($\chi^2(2) = 10.3$; p = .005).

3.4. Links Between Receptive and Productive Tasks and Phonological Scores

Figure 6.4 represented the different correlation scores for the CI and TH groups between the phonological development score (PCP), on one hand, and the averaged lexical diversity index of the two narratives (D) on the other hand, with the different sub-scores of the sentence/word-picture matching tasks.



Figure 6.4: Pearson coefficients and associated significance levels between phonological scores, lexical diversity scores, and the various scores on the pointing task. Solid arrows refer to the CI group, while dashed arrows refer to the TH group. Significant correlations are indicated with * (p<.05), ** (p<.005) or *** (p<.001).

Regarding the type of opposition, the phonological score was significantly and strongly correlated with the scores of number markers and the scores on minimal pairs, and moderately correlated with the scores of gender markers among children in the CI group. D scores were moderately correlated with number marks score. Among children in the TH group, a moderate and significant link was observed between the PCP score and the score on minimal pairs, as well as between the D scores and gender markers. Concerning scores according to the type of phonological mechanism, strong and significant links were observed between the phonological scores and the sub-scores related to the nasal-oral distinction and phonemic additions in the CI group. The sub-score related to phonemic additions was also moderately correlated with the phonological and D scores. A moderate and significant link was observed between the phonological score and the sentence/word-picture matching task scores related to the distinction between nasal and oral vowels in the TH group.

Figure 6.5 represents the different correlation coefficients for the CI and TH groups between the phonological development score (PCP) on one hand, and the averaged lexical diversity index of the two narratives (D) on the other hand, with

the morphosyntactic development indices MLUm and the verb/utterances ratio, as well as with the number of verbs in the imperfect tense, reflexive pronouns, grammatical errors, and pronominal redundancies. This choice of verbal tense, function word, and error was made by selecting those that showed significant differences in terms of auditory status in the previous analyses of this study (section 3.3).



Figure 6.5: Pearson coefficients and associated significance levels between phonological scores, lexical diversity scores, and the grammatical scores and error types. Solid arrows refer to the CI group, while dashed arrows refer to the TH group. Significant correlations are indicated with * (p<.05), ** (p<.005) or *** (p<.001).

The MLUm and verb/utterances indices both exhibited strong and significant correlations with the phonological score among children in the CI group, and moderately with the TH group. These same cues showed moderate to strong correlations with the D score, but only within the TH group. In the TH group, weak to moderate correlations were observed between the number of verbs in the imperfect tense and the number of reflexive pronouns with the PCP and D scores, correlations that were not observed in the CI group. The phonological scores were strongly negatively correlated with the presence of determiner deletions in both groups, and moderately negatively with the D score in the TH group. The presence of pronominal redundancies was positively and moderately correlated with the phonological score in the TH group.

Figure 6.6 presented the different sub-scores of the sentence/word-picture matching task with the morphosyntactic development index MLUm.



Grammatical score

Figure 6.6: Pearson coefficients and associated significance levels between sentence/word-picture matching task scores and MLUm values. Solid arrows refer to the CI group, while dashed arrows refer to the TH group. Significant correlations are indicated with * (p<.05), ** (p<.005) or *** (p<.001).

Moderate to strong significant links were observed between number markers and minimal pairs with MLUm in both groups. Regarding phonological mechanisms, a strong and significant link was observed between the MLUm score and the sub-score related to distinctions between nasal and oral vowels in children in the CI group, with this link being moderate in the TH group. A moderate link was also observed between MLUm and the sub-score related to distinctions between nasal vowels and to phonemic additions in both groups. Note that similar relationships are generally observed between these different scores and the verb/utterance ratios, with the exception of the presence of additional strong (CI) and moderate (TH) correlations with gender marking (CI: 0.64; p = .003 - TH: 0.38; p = .008) and with the score implying distinction between two nasal vowels (CI: 0.38; p = .1 - TH: 0.36; p = .2). It is also interesting to note a moderate negative correlation between the omission of determiners before monosyllabic words and the subscore related to distinctions between nasal and oral vowels in both groups (CI: -0.46; p = .04 - TH: -0.31; p = .03), while this same sub-score shows a significant negative correlation with the omission of determiners before monosyllabic words only in the TH group (CI: -0.33; p = .2 - TH: -0.37; p = .009).

4. Discussion

The present study aimed to investigate, within a group of children with cochlear implants (CI) and their typically hearing (TH) peers, grammatical production skills through narrative production, as well as morphophonological reception skills targeting grammatical marks and minimal pairs based on the distinction between French nasal and oral vowels. The study examined the relationships between these skills and phonological skills, assessed through a picture-naming task. Various individual and environmental variables such as chronological/auditory age, socio-economic status (SES) level, exposure to Cued Speech (CS), and the age of implantation were also considered.

4.1. Grammatical and lexical morphemes processing

In the morpheme identification task, an effect of auditory status was observed only for the minimal pairs and the score that included items where the morphemic opposition was carried by nasal vs. oral vowels. This finding supports the hypothesis of increased difficulty in processing certain phonological features, specifically vowel nasality, which has a significant impact on morphemic processing. These results are in line with difficulties in identification and discrimination of nasal and oral vowels already observed in children with CI(s) (Fagniart et al., 2024a). Given that the minimal pairs mostly consisted of oppositions between nasal and oral vowels, it is not surprising that the score associated with minimal pairs was generally lower than that of typically hearing children. In contrast, the observation that scores differed significantly between groups for the items carrying distinctions between nasal and oral vowels, but not across all scores related to gender and number marking, seem to support the perceptual hypothesis of MS difficulties encountered by children with CIs, rather than a global grammatical deficit as proposed by some authors (Benassi et al., 2021; Majorano et al., 2024).

4.2. Narrative productions skills

The analysis of narrative productions revealed significantly lower scores in developmental cues in CI children, specifically lower MLU (mean length of utterance) and D (lexical diversity index) values, as well as a lower verb/utterance ratio. Lower MLU values have already been reported in the literature (Hansson et al., 2017; Majorano et al., 2024; Nittrouer et al., 2018; Szagun, 2001), which has led to conclusions about increased vulnerability in MS skills among CI children in production. The verb/utterance ratio highlights the number of complete sentences, meaning those that include a main verb. The ratio of the CI group is significantly lower than that of the TH group (ranging from 0.72 for the induced narrative to 0.67 for the free narrative, compared to 0.82 and 0.86 in the TH group). A significant proportion of utterances are incomplete in the CI group, which has also been observed in a study of Italian-speaking children (Majorano et al., 2024), and further supports the observation of grammatical difficulties in these children. It is noteworthy that an effect of the type of narrative elicitation is observed in both groups for MLUm values, with higher values in the free narrative, whereas only the CI group shows a higher verb/utterance ratio in the induced narrative. It appears that presenting a prior model encouraged the children in this group to use verbs in their sentences, enabling them to reach the level of the TH children.

The analysis of function words revealed differences between our groups in the production of prepositions, reflexive and object pronouns, articles and possessive determiners, and regular verbs, with these occurring more frequently in the CI group. In contrast, demonstrative and subject pronouns, as well as adjectives, adverbs, and copula or modal verbs, were produced similarly in both groups. Conjunctions and auxiliary verbs, however, were observed in a greater proportion in the CI group. This differentiated effect of auditory status on the acquisition of function words had already been observed in French (Le Normand, 2004;Le Normand & Thai-Van, 2023) and was attributed to the more or less lexicalizable and/or accented status of certain function words, giving them a perceptual advantage. The study of verb tenses and mode produced by the children revealed a higher usage of the conditional, past simple and future in the TH group, while the infinitives were produced equivalently in the groups. Given the MS difficulties observed in our sample, it is not surprising to see more difficulties in using complex tenses like the past simple, future or conditional, as these tenses are associated with complex and less salient morphophonological oppositions in spoken language and are complex in terms of reference, especially in the case of the conditional. The children in the CI group seem to use the present past perfect more often. The present mark tenses are frequent and relatively stable in French, and the use of an auxiliary can be more perceptually salient in past perfect, with a past participle phonologically stable.

The analysis of errors revealed more errors in nominal agreement (within the determiner+noun relationship) in CI children, as well as more deletions of determiners and prepositions, along with more pronominal redundancies, various addi-

tions and errors of verbal tense form. Morphological errors related to gender marking have also been previously observed in children with CI in French (Le Normand & Thai-Van, 2023) as well as in other languages (Moreno-Torres & Torres, 2008; Szagun, 2004a), with difficulties in grammatical morphology manifesting as morpheme substitutions. These errors in verbal or nominal agreement, manifested through substitutions, suggest a potential grammatical deficit and/or specific processing difficulties. However, in our sample, the children also made a number of omissions of function words, particularly prepositions and determiners. Determiner omissions have been suggested as a sign of perceptual difficulties (Moreno-Torres & Torres, 2008) and/or prosodic difficulties (Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014; Le Normand & Thai-Van, 2023). In line with Le Normand (Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014), we evaluated whether the occurrence of determiner omissions was more or less frequent depending on whether the following word was monosyllabic or bisyllabic. The children in the CI group showed a clear effect of the syllabic context of the noun on determiner omission, with bisyllabic words being more vulnerable. This effect is a sign of the correct use of relevant suprasegmental cues in the French language, where the iambic metric structure (alternation of strong-weak syllables in binary foot) is dominant (Demuth & Tremblay, 2008). Similar to Le Normand's (2014) study, our data suggest a benefit of prosodic bootstrapping in morphosyntactic development, most likely through the use of acoustic information (segmental lengths and intensity) associated with the rhythmicity of the speech stream. This developmental profile is similar to that of typically hearing (TH) children in early grammar (Demuth & Tremblay, 2008). These findings, combined with the observation of substitution-type errors, may suggest that children with CI experience difficulties of mixed origin: perceptual difficulties lead to challenges in mastering verbal and nominal agreements, associated with developmentally delayed bootstrapping mechanisms.

An integrative explanatory approach for these various findings is provided by Moreno-Torres (Moreno-Torres & Moruno-López, 2014). In that study, the authors observed different error profiles in suprasegmental aspects compared to hearing peers, which may suggest a tendency of CI children to reproduce correct syllabic sequences of the language without accessing the complete prosodic structure (perception of prosodic variations related to F0). The authors integrate their various findings into theoretical models of speech motor control (Hickok, 2012), proposing that the segmental elements of speech rely on both auditory-motor and somatosensory-motor cues. While the former cues are the first to be employed in development due to early guidance by auditory feedback, the latter cues are used later during the initial stages of speech production (babbling, first words). The literature suggests to Moreno-Torres and colleagues that children with cochlear implants (CI) are more efficient in using auditory-motor cues, allowing them to quickly acquire a certain number of segments and the syllabic structure of their language after implantation. However, they face difficulties arising from their perceptual limitations, explaining the challenges in mastering certain phonological features. In contrast, they find it harder to rely on somatosensory-motor cues, which are more closely associated with phonemic units and implicit learning, possibly explaining the increased difficulty in perceiving consonantal and prosodic units. In this context, the authors propose a deficit in the use of the dorsal stream of the brain, based on the dual-stream processing model (Friederici, 2012; Hickok & Poeppel, 2004). According to this theory, the dorsal stream is associated with auditory-motor motor integration responsible for segmental-level processing, while the ventral stream, associated with auditory-motor conceptual integration, is used for semantic-lexical access. This hypothesis also highlights difficulties in implicit learning associated with the dorsal stream deficit, which may explain the increased dependence on explicit teaching and the significant inter-individual variability characteristic of this population. This explanatory framework is fully consistent with the observations of the present study: children with cochlear implants (CI) struggle more to acquire function words, whose conceptual representation is less prominent and less easily accessible through explicit teaching. This leads to difficulties such as substitutions and omissions of morphemes, also due to incomplete perception of the prosodic elements of the language.

It is important to note that the children in the CI group also exhibited lower performance in terms of lexical diversity. This finding might seem contradictory to the literature that suggests a preservation of lexical skills (Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Rinaldi et al., 2013). However, a similar result was obtained in narrative productions by Le Normand & Thai-Van (2023). Methodological differences could explain this discrepancy between studies, as those reporting a selective grammatical deficit typically employed formal language assessment tests, which mainly involved tasks such as naming or picture identification to assess receptive and/or productive lexical levels. In contrast, the language mechanisms involved in narrative production are more complex and closer to an ecological language production situation. Our present data corroborate the author's findings, suggesting that lexical development might also pose long-term challenges for children with CI. The fact that the children in our study did not benefit from prior narrative presentation during the elicited narrative task in terms of lexical diversity, unlike the TH group children who show higher D values in the elicited narrative task, seems to indicate a greater vulnerability in processing lexical items presented in their linguistic environment.

4.3. Is there a link between lexical, phonological and grammatical abilities?

The relationships between the phonological, morphosyntactic, and lexical components of language among our groups of children showed different profiles consistent with specific difficulties encountered by CI children.

Regarding the task of processing grammatical and lexical morphemes, strong links were observed between phonological skills and the gender and number marking scores only among children in the CI group. Children with better phonological skills were able to more effectively process gender and number markings within sentences. A strong link in CI children and a moderate one in TH children was also observed between the phonological score and both the minimal pairs and the sub-score associated with items distinguished by nasal and oral vowels. This finding is not surprising, as these two scores are directly related, as discussed in section 4.1. The fact that these scores are not correlated with the lexical diversity score among children with CI indicates a specific relationship between the phonological and morphophonological processing levels, not mediated by differences in overall language development. These observations corroborate the links observed between syntactic comprehension and phonological scores previously noted among Swedish children (Hansson et al., 2017). However, there are links between the lexical diversity index and gender markings in TH children and number markings in CI children, which may reflect effects related to differences in general linguistic level for these scores. The correlation between the phonemic addition score with both the phonological and lexical scores in the CI group also supports this.

The cues of grammatical development in production are very strongly correlated with phonological skills in the CI group and moderately in the TH group. It should be noted that MLUm scores are also correlated with the lexical index only in TH children. This observation further supports the particular interdependence between phonological and MS levels in CI children, whereas TH children seem to see their linguistic measures evolve more conjointly, as evidenced by the positive correlations observed between phonological and lexical scores on other cues, such as the number of uses of the imperfect tense, and the number of reflexive pronouns, and negatively with the number of omissions. TH children with better grammatical skills are also those with better phonological and lexical scores. This profile is not identical in CI children, phonological scores showing moderate to strong positive links with reflexive pronouns and negative correlation with determiner omissions, but not with the lexical score. Only the verb/utterance ratio shows a joint link with both phonology and lexicon. These specific links among CI children between their phonological and morphosyntactic abilities are consistent with phonological theories of MS difficulties proposed to explain the language disorders encountered by children with SLI (Chiat, 2001; Joanisse & Seidenberg, 1998; Leonard et al., 1992; Parisse & Maillart, 2008). The phonological difficulties presented here by children with CI, stemming from the perceptual limitations of the CI, more severely affect MS development due to the lack of perceptual and conceptual prominence of grammatical elements in the linguistic input.

The observation of the links between the different scores of the morpheme identification task shows connections between the processing of number markings and MLUm and the verb/utterance ratio in both groups, which is not surprising. The processing of gender markings, on the other hand, is associated with the verb/utterance ratio. A strong link in CI children and a moderate one in TH children is observed between MLUm values and, on the one hand, the scores related to minimal pairs and, on the other hand, the scores related to distinctions between nasal and oral vowels, as well as nasal and nasal vowels, but also more moderately with the score related to phonemic additions. Children who are proficient at discriminating grammatical and lexical items distinguished by nasal vowels, either from each other or from oral vowels, also tend to have higher MLUm values and more complete sentences (containing a verb). These same children also make more pronominal redundancy errors—a type of error that seems positively associated with morphophonological development. Additionally, a link is observed between the processing of nasal and oral vowels and a reduction in the number of determiner omissions before monosyllabic words in both groups. This is not surprising either: both skills can be attributed to better perceptual processing at both the segmental level (discrimination of nasal and oral vowels-fine spectral processing) and the suprasegmental level (presence of determiners before monosyllabic words—prosodic bootstrapping) in line with Moreno-Torres & Moruno-López (2014).

These various results seem to support the hypothesis of variability in MS performance that can be explained by different degrees of perceptual processing in children with CIs. Indeed, several studies have shown evidenced variability in performance in the discrimination and production of nasal and oral vowels among these children. The ability to adequately exploit cues related to nasal resonance has also been shown to be positively correlated with phonological development in a subgroup of children (Fagniart et al., 2024b), some of whom are included in the present study.

4.4. Individual and environmental factors

Different individual factors have also been studied, such as exposure to Cued Speech (CS) among the children in the CI group, with one group not exposed to it (CS0), another group exposed occasionally (CS-), and a group exposed early and intensively (CS+). The results obtained were rather surprising. One might have expected a positive effect of the CS across all measures, with gradually increasing performances between CS0, CS-, and CS+. Indeed, the use of this manual code, which visually represents all the phonological contrasts of the language, has shown a beneficial effect on receptive (Van Bogaert et al., 2023) and productive skills (Machart et al., 2024), as well as on lexical (Fagniart et al., 2024b; Moreno-Torres & Torres, 2008) and MS skills (Hawes, 2004). However, the results in this study are more inconsistent. Specifically, the group with occasional exposure (CS-) stands out distinctly from the other two groups across almost all the evaluated components. In fact, the children in this group show the lowest performances in the morpho-phonemic processing of items that differ by nasal and oral vowels, obtain a lower verb/utterances ratio, produce fewer reflexive pronouns, conjunctions and possessive determiners, use the past simple tense less frequently, and make more agreement errors between determiners and nouns in terms of gender. On the other hand, they achieve a higher lexical diversity score than the other groups, produce more demonstrative pronouns, and make fewer erroneous additions of function words.

These various results, in light of the different elements of literature discussed above, suggest a developmental profile that is more focused on surface aspects with greater ease in vocabulary development and the acquisition of more easily lexicalized function words (demonstratives), while experiencing significant difficulties in MS development (more verb-less utterances, poor verbal and lexical morphology). Referring to the dual-route model (Hickok & Poeppel, 2004) mentioned by Moreno-Torres for the CI population, these performances suggest a preferential use of the ventral pathway for information processing, which is more focused on lexico-semantic acquisition, to the detriment of the dorsal pathway, which is focused on segmental development. It may seem contradictory that these same children scored better in phonological production, although this is not incompatible since this measure was taken within the context of a picture-naming task, involving isolated target words. Given the good lexical performances of these children, it is possible that the words in the task, which are of low acquisition age, benefit from good overall phonological representations. However, the processing skills of these children do not seem sufficient to perceive fine phonetic details in the auditory signal, as evidenced by their lower performances in distinguishing nasal and oral vowels. It therefore seems that occasional exposure to CS is not sufficient to help the perceptual system adapt and compensate for the limitations of the CI in exploiting relevant acoustic cues that are better encoded by the CI. This is in line with recommendations regarding the use of CS in French (Charlier, 2020): a necessary condition for linguistic development facilitated by CS is sustained and almost daily coding frequency, with favorable conditions being early exposure (before 18 months) and within family interactions-conditions met by the children in the CS+ group. These findings are consistent with previous studies on the perception and production of nasal and oral vowels, in which children with occasional exposure to CS were significantly less proficient than their peers with intensive and early exposure (Fagniart et al., 2024a; Fagniart et al., in press).

However, it is surprising to observe only a few differences between the group not exposed to CS (CS0) and the CS+ group. Indeed, apart from higher use of prepositions and pronouns in the CS+ group, we did not observe significant differences in the performances of the two groups, either in the sub-scores reflecting perceptual skills in nasal-oral vowel discrimination or in general linguistic performance. The benefits of early and sustained exposure to a method that highlights the multimodality of speech perception are notable in the CS+ group, but they do not seem to be the only sources favorable to higher linguistic development. Since the groups were equivalent in terms of chronological and auditory ages and implantation age, we did not identify any characteristics of the children in this group that could explain their high performances. As mentioned previously, children with CI have more difficulty with implicit learning and are therefore more dependent on environmental conditions: it is possible that variables not controlled for in this study, such as the level of parental involvement (Holzinger et al., 2020; Moeller et al., 2013), the level of linguistic stimulation, or additional therapeutic methods, may have played a role.

The effects of implantation age observed in the study support the positive impact of early implantation, in this case before 18 months. Indeed, children with later implantation showed lower occurrence values of more complex MS markers, such as reflexive pronouns, the use of the past simple tense. Additionally, children with later implantation scored lower in processing items that differed by nasal and oral vowels, as well as having a lower lexical diversity index. The beneficial effect of early implantation is thus evident across various components of language, which can be explained by effective electro-acoustic stimulation during the sensitive periods of linguistic development in line with some previous studies (Gao et al., 2021, 2021; Karltorp et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2020; Tamati et al., 2022).

The effects of chronological age for the TH group and auditory age for the CI group showed more varied results. Indeed, in many of the evaluated domains, the performance of children in the TH group increased with age, whereas this increase was not as consistent in the CI group. Indeed, the intermediate age group (3;7-4;6 years) showed lower performances than both the younger (2;6-3;6 years) and older (4;7-7 years) groups. This was observed in phonological production scores, scores related to the processing of minimal pairs and nasal/oral vowels and the number of determiner omissions. It should be highlighted that these age effects should, of course, be interpreted with caution: the experimental design was not longitudinal, so the different age groups are independent and may therefore suffer from uncontrolled inter-individual variability, leading to effects not related to maturation. This seems to be the case among the CI group: no factor controlled in the study could identify the reasons for the lower performances observed in this age group—especially since this effect is not consistent across the different tests. Nevertheless, the expected auditory age effects were observed for the number of verbs per utterance, the lexical diversity index, and the use of different verb tenses.

The socio-economic status (SES) of the parents was controlled and tested across our different variables, as this factor has shown an impact on language outcomes (Geers et al., 2009; Huber & Kipman, 2012; Szagun & Stumper, 2012) as well as on early grammatical acquisition (Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014) in children with CI. Our study did not support these findings, as no SES effect was observed among the children in the CI group in the evaluated linguistic components. It is possible that the age range targeted for the study, which is older than that of Le Normand's study, might partially explain these results. As children grow older, they may become less dependent on their family environment in favor of interactions in school or recreational activities. It is also possible that parental education was not a determining factor reflecting more favorable conditions for language stimulation in our sample: indeed, the level of education has been shown to have mixed and heterogeneous effects across studies (Holzinger et al., 2020).

4.5. Limitations

Although this study has allowed for the formulation of numerous findings in connection with the literature, it suffers from various limitations that are important to put into perspective. The first potential bias of the study is the limited sample size, which is characteristic of studies involving CI users. It is indeed complex to recruit a relatively homogeneous but also contrasting sample encompassing all the variables of interest (here, exposure to CS, implantation age, chronological/auditory age). The inter-individual variability characteristic of the CI population complicates the interpretation of the various observed effects, especially given the small sample sizes. Moreover, it would be interesting to replicate this type of study to investigate different language components jointly but in a longitudinal manner, to obtain more reliable developmental data. Different environmental variables could be controlled in studies of this type, such as parental involvement or parenting practices known to have a positive impact on language development.

5. Conclusions

This study allowed for the examination of the connections between phonological and morphosyntactic components in children with CI, with a focus on the processing skills related to the phonological feature of vowel nasality in French.

Several findings were made:

- Morphological processing difficulties were observed in children with CI in items involving phonological contrasts between nasal and oral vowels;
- Children with CI produced shorter MLU (Mean Length of Utterance), fewer complete sentences, and fewer complex function words in their narratives compared to children in the TH group;
- A specific link was observed between phonological and morphosyntactic skills in children with CI;
- Significant variability in performance was observed, with a positive impact of implantation occurring before 16 months, as well as an impact of different language rehabilitation methods.

These findings highlight the importance of early efforts to establish a stable and complete phonological system by implementing specific rehabilitation methods tailored to the perceptual limitations of children with CI. In this regard, early and sustained exposure to CS showed beneficial results in this study. Underspecified phonological representations, associated with a processing mode more focused on salient lexical elements of language, can potentially lead to significant linguistic difficulties.

Chapter 7

Phonetic, phonological, morphologic, lexical and morphosyntactic skills: an integrative study

This final study aims to link the production profiles of the various segments, as investigated in Chapter 5, with the phonological, lexical, and morphosyntactic skills described in Chapter 6, using factor analyses and hierarchical classification analysis. This approach allows children to be ranked according to their overall acoustic and linguistic performances, thereby observing their similarities and dissimilarities. This study includes an initial analysis of all the children recruited during the second data collection, namely 23 children with cochlear implants and 47 children with typical hearing. Unlike in Study 6 (previous chapter), the four children with a bilingual family background have been included. Indeed, since the study consists of individual profile analyses, it will be easier to observe whether these children show performances differing from those of monolingual children without biasing group comparisons. A second analysis presents the performances of a subgroup of children with cochlear implants who underwent the same assessment one year apart, allowing for a longitudinal comparison. The analyses presented in this chapter have not yet been compiled into a manuscript submitted for publication.

1. Introduction

Language skills of children with cochlear implants (CI) have been extensively examined to determine whether they can reach the language level of their peers with typical hearing. These studies report varied findings across different components of language: performances below those of children with typical hearing are frequently reported in the phonological (Bouton et al., 2012; Gaul Bou-

191

chard et al., 2007) and morphosyntactic (Bourdin et al., 2016; Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Le Normand & Thai-Van, 2023) domains, with, however, significant variability. Lexical development is more often reported as being less affected (Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Rinaldi et al., 2013). These variable linguistic performances can be explained, on the one hand, by delayed access to oral input during the pre-implantation phase, but also by the perceptual limitations related to sound processing by the CI (see chapter X, section X for more details). The perceptual limitations are likely to have a greater impact on certain speech sounds carried by fine-grained acoustic cues, such as vowel nasalization (Borel, 2015; Bouton et al., 2012; Fagniart et al., 2024a) or consonant places of articulation (Bouton et al., 2012; Cheng & Chen, 2020; Medina et al., 2004; Peng et al., 2019), particularly when they are carried by acoustic information in the high-frequency ranges like fricative consonants (Grandon, 2016; Mildner et al., 2006; Reidy et al., 2017; Todd et al., 2011; Warner-Czyz & Davis, 2008). However, despite these perceptual limitations, a majority of children with CI manage to form phonological representations of vulnerable acoustic features, as evidenced by their above-chance abilities in identifying and discriminating nasal and oral vowels and an almost equivalent (sometimes even superior) level of intelligibility compared to same-age peers (Fagniart et al., in press). Children with CI, having had to build their phonological representations based on limited oral input, may have relied more on acoustic cues that are better transmitted by the CI, such as temporal cues or formant frequency cues—as long as the peak frequencies are not too close and/or high - particularly when these cues are accompanied by visible articulatory gestures (lip rounding, aperture). Additionally, variability was also noted in the perception of vowel nasalization (Fagniart et al., 2024a) and in the use of production mechanisms for the nasal-oral distinction related to nasal resonance cues (Fagniart et al., in press). Moreover, better mastery of the nasaloral distinction through nasal resonance was also positively correlated with the overall phonological level in a previous study (Fagniart et al., 2024b).

In this context, it is not surprising to observe significant variability in performance. The development of lexical and morphosyntactic components, which relies on the memorization of precise and appropriate phonological forms, may be hindered by under-specified phonological and phonetic representations. The increased vulnerability of the morphosyntactic component compared to the lexical level and the close links between phonological and morphosyntactic levels in a population with language difficulties have been seen as reflecting, on the one hand, the lower perceptual salience of grammatical elements in the spoken chain compared to highlighted lexical elements. On the other hand, lexical elements benefit from more concrete conceptual substance and are also easier to teach explicitly (Hage, 2005). These propositions form the basis of phonological theories of morphosyntactic difficulties in children with specific language impairments (Chiat, 2001; Joanisse & Seidenberg, 1998; Leonard et al., 1992; Parisse & Maillart, 2008). Convergent findings were made in a previous study on children with CI (see chapter 6): specific correlations between phonological and morphosyntactic levels were observed, with children of the same age with CI showing a correlation between all language levels, including the lexical level.

1.2. Aims of the study

In this context, it seems particularly interesting to attempt to link the specific perceptual difficulties of children with cochlear implants (CI) to their linguistic performance in the phonological, lexical, and morphosyntactic domains. Indeed, the significant variability observed among CI users in their ability to process vulnerable segments could partly explain the variability observed in phonological performance, and, consequently, in morphosyntactic abilities, as the latter depend on a precisely specified phonological representation.

To this end, two groups of children were recruited: one group of children with CI and one group of children with typical hearing, matched by chronological or auditory age. Note that in the present study, perceptual abilities will not be directly investigated but will be assessed through acoustic analyses of the production of segments encompassing a large range of acoustic correlates and posing various challenges for sound transmission through the CI. In this regard, three types of segments will be studied:

nasal vowels compared to their phonological (/ã/-/a/, /ã/-/s/, /ɛ̃/-/ɛ/) or phonetic (/ã/-/ɔ/, /ã/-/o/, /ɔ̃/-/u/, /ɛ̃/-/a/) counterparts according to the matching proposed by Borel and used in previous experimental paradigms (Fagniart et al., 2024a; Fagniart et al., in press). Two production strategies for the production of vowel nasalization will be acoustically investigated: the degree of nasal resonance, knowing that the distinction between oronasal and oral-only resonance is carried by fine acoustic cues that are highly vulnerable in CI processing; and the specific oropharyngeal configuration of the target vowel through formant measurements, these cues being

more likely to be exploited through CI in situations where the vowel's formants are well distinct and associated with visible articulatory dimensions (jaw opening, lip rounding).

- fricative consonants (/f/-/s/-/ʃ/-/v/-/z/-/ʒ/) considered for their specific places of articulation through the study of spectral peaks, as well as for their degree of frication noise through the study of acoustic energy in mid and high frequencies. Indeed, specific difficulties have been observed in differentiating between fricatives places of articulation (Giezen et al., 2010; Hedrick et al., 2011; Lane et al., 2001; Mildner & Liker, 2008; Reidy et al., 2017), but also in exploiting the high-frequency energy in frication noise (Fagniart et al., 2024b, 2024a). These two difficulties directly reflect the perceptual challenges posed by the limited high frequency coding by the CI.
- voiceless stop consonants compared to their voiced counterparts, their distinction being based on temporal acoustic correlates (Voice Onset Time) that are supposed to be well coded by the CI. However, the literature has shown contradictory results (Bouton et al., 2012; Giezen et al., 2010; Grandon et al., 2017; Horga & Liker, 2006; Peng et al., 2019; Uchanski & Geers, 2003), again showing some variability in the ability of children with CI to exploit the cues related to the voicing feature in stops.

The production abilities associated with these different segments, assessed through acoustic measurements, will thus be linked to linguistic performance. Four components will be investigated:

- Morphemic processing abilities in grammatical and lexical contexts through scores in a sentence/word-picture matching task, with particular attention paid to items contrasting nasal and oral vowels.
- The level of phonological development as assessed through a picture naming task.
- Lexical level through the observation of the number of first-attempt retrievals of lexical targets in picture naming, as well as through lexical diversity indices in narrative production.
- Morphosyntactic level by analyzing Mean Length of Utterance (MLU) indices as well as various markers of morphosyntactic complexity within narrative accounts.

Different objectives are pursued:

- To observe the performance of children with CI in comparison to their peers with typical hearing.
- To observe the relationships between the various acoustic and linguistic variables among participants through a factor analysis.
- To determine whether the factor analysis allows for the emergence of performance profiles among the children, which may or may not correspond to their hearing status.

Different potential sources of variability in performance will also be studied in accordance with elements from the literature, namely:

- Chronological/auditory age,
- The socioeconomic status of the parents,
- The age of implantation,
- The level of exposure to Cued Speech.

2. Method

2.1. Participants

A group of children with typical hearing (TH group) and another group of children with cochlear implants (CI group) were recruited for the study. The TH group included 47 monolingual French-speaking children with typical hearing, averaging 56±13 months of age, who did not present any learning delays or auditory disorders. The CI group consisted of 23 French-speaking children (mean age: 67±15 months) with congenital bilateral profound hearing loss. Among them, 22 had bilateral implants, and one child had a unilateral implant. All CI participants underwent oralist auditory rehabilitation, both at their rehabilitation centers and within their family environments. All the children were monolingual French speakers except for four children who came from bilingual family environments: two were French-Portuguese bilinguals, and two were French-Arabic bilinguals. The CI group was divided based on their exposure to Cued Speech (CS): 8 children had no exposure to CS (CS0), while 15 were exposed to CS during speech therapy sessions (2 to 3 sessions per week) and/or in their family settings (CS1). The group was also categorized by implantation age: those who received their first implant before 16 months were classified as early implantations (CI/EI, n=12), while those implanted after 16 months were classified as late implantations (CI/LI, n=11). The age of 16 months was selected in alignment with studies indicating significant benefits from implantation before 18 months (Sharma et al., 2020). Based on the distribution of implantation ages, we lowered the threshold to 16 months to create comparable groups in terms of numbers. All participants took part in an initial testing session (T1). The socio-economic status (SES) level of the children was also studied based on the education levels of both parents, by averaging the number of years they had spent in education, following the method of Le Normand (2022) according to Desrosières' classification (Desrosières et al., 1983). Two categories were determined: the high level, which includes education levels between high school and postgraduate degree (CI: N = 15; TH: N = 35), and the low level, which includes education from elementary school to a high school degree (CI: n = 8; TH: n = 12). The entire group of children with cochlear implants was re-contacted to conduct a second testing one year later. Thirteen children from the total sample were available for this second assessment (T2), allowing for a longitudinal comparison of their performance. The list of participants and their characteristics are presented in Table 7.1.

Subject	Sex	Chronological age (months)	Age at first im- planta- tion (months)	Implanta- tion age group: early (EI) – late (LI)	Hearing age (months)	Implanta- tion type	CS ex- posure group	SES level	Bilinguism	T2
CI1	В	54	9	EI	45	Bilateral	CS0	Low	No	No
CI2	В	77	39	LI	38	Bilateral	CS0	Low	No	No
CI3	G	70	15	EI	55	Bilateral	CS0	Low	No	No
CI4	G	79	7	EI	72	Bilateral	CS0	High	No	No
CI5	G	78	31	LI	57	Unilateral	CS+	Low	No	No
CI6	G	55	7	EI	48	Bilateral	CS+	High	No	No
CI7	G	87	13	EI	74	Bilateral	CS-	Low	No	No
CI8	В	55	13	EI	42	Bilateral	CS-	Low	No	No
CI9	В	57	13	EI	44	Bilateral	CS+	High	No	Yes
CI10	В	54	12	EI	42	Bilateral	CS-	High	No	Yes
CI11	G	54	18	LI	36	Bilateral	CS-	Low	No	Yes
CI12	В	66	9	EI	57	Bilateral	CS-	High	Yes	Yes
CI13	G	87	24	LI	63	Bilateral	CS-	High	Yes	Yes
CI14	G	94	26	LI	68	Bilateral	CS-	Low	Yes	Yes
C15	G	83	23	LI	60	Bilateral	CS-	Low	Yes	Yes
C16	G	81	20	LI	61	Bilateral	CS+	High	No	Yes
C17	В	72	20	LI	52	Bilateral	CS0	Low	No	No
CI18	G	45	23	LI	22	Bilateral	CS0	Low	No	Yes
CI19	G	60	12	EI	48	Bilateral	CS+	Low	No	No
CI20	G	44	32	LI	12	Bilateral	CS-	Low	No	Yes
CI21	В	59	11	EI	48	Bilateral	CS0	High	No	Yes
CI22	G	79	17	LI	62	Bilateral	CS+	Low	No	Yes
CI23	G	60	13	EI	47	Bilateral	CS+	Low	No	Yes

Table 7.1: Characteristics of the CI children.

2.2. Tasks

2.2.1. Naming task

A picture-naming task was first proposed to the children. Forty-eight target words were selected in the construction of this task to ensure the inclusion of all French phonemes in initial, medial, and final syllable positions. These words were also chosen for their early age of acquisition (based on Chalard et al., 2003) to facilitate retrieval by the children (for more details, see Philippart De Foy et al., 2018). The list of target words used in the task can be found in Appendix 3.
The target word pictures were presented one at a time in a booklet, and the child was asked to name each picture orally. If the child did not respond or if the word produced did not match the target (e.g., semantic paraphasia or a random response), different prompts were provided. First, semantic cues related to the target word were given (e.g., "you can use it when it rains" for /paʁaplui/ - umbrella). If the target word was still not produced, a phonological cue was provided by giving the initial phoneme (e.g., "it starts with /s/" for /suri/ - mouse). If these two cues were insufficient for the child to retrieve the target word, the experimenter would say the word and ask the child to repeat it.

2.2.2. Sentence/word-picture matching task (SWPMT)

A comprehension task followed, consisting of a sentence/word-picture matching activity. A word or short sentence was presented auditorily to the child through audio recordings, and the child was then asked to point to the corresponding picture between the target image and a distractor. The distractors were chosen to form a minimal pair with the target. The task included a total of 28 items. The differences between the target words/sentences and their distractors involved : 13 number markings (e.g., "il va" - /il va/ (he goes) vs. "ils vont" - /il v5/ (they go)], 7 gender markings (e.g., "boulanger" - /bulãʒe/ (baker – male) vs. "boulangère" -/bulãʒɛʁ/ (baker – female)] and 8 minimal pair variations [e.g., "bain" - /bɛ̃/ (bath) vs. "banc" - /bɑ̃/ (bench)]. These different grammatical and lexical distinctions were reflected in various phonological contrasts: oral/nasal (n= 10), oral/oral (n= 3), or nasal/nasal (n= 3) vowel substitutions, as well as phonemic additions (n= 12). The list of items and an illustration of the testing interface are available in Appendix 4.

The children were presented with two images (the target image and the distractor) on a tablet. They listened to the target word or sentence through an audio recording played via loudspeakers (Bose Soundlike). The sound level was controlled to reach an average level of 60 dB. The children were then asked to point to the corresponding target image among the two images. Five practice items were provided before the task to ensure the children understood the instructions and to adjust the sound volume for optimal listening of the stimuli.

2.2.3. Narrative production tasks

Two narrative production tasks were proposed to the children: an induced narrative task and a free narrative task. The first narrative task was the induced narrative. Initially, a story with animations was presented to the children. This animated story was shown on a tablet, where the animations illustrated the story to provide visual support, while a recorded narrator told the story. To ensure that the child did not focus solely on the narrator or the animations and miss important information, the narration and animation phases alternated without overlapping, allowing the child to switch between them. After the complete presentation of the story, the child was asked to retell the story using the previously shown animated images as visual support. The purpose of the induction phase was to present a story containing various twists and turns that introduced various verbal tenses et modes (past, future, conditional), as well as gender and number markers, to encourage varied productions of grammatical markers and verb forms from the children. The full elicited narrative, along with an illustration of the presentation interface, is available in Appendix 5.

The free narrative task involved presenting the wordless picture book frequently used in clinical practice and research, "Frog, Where Are You?" (Mayer, 1969). The child was shown the book and asked to tell the story.

2.3. Procedures

The children completed the four tasks in a quiet environment, accompanied by the experimenter and, in some cases, their speech therapist. The tasks were administered in the following order: first, the picture-naming task, followed by the induced narrative production task, the comprehension task, and finally, the free narrative production task. The total testing time ranged between 35 and 60 minutes, with breaks offered to the children between tasks. All of the children's productions were recorded using an H5 Zoom portable audio recorder, and the responses to the sentence/word picture-matching task were noted during the session. The tests conducted with the subgroup of 13 children, one year apart, were carried out in the same manner.

2.4. Measures

Various measures were collected to describe the production profiles in terms of acoustic features and phonological, morphological, lexical, and morphosyntactic components. The different measures, described below, were averaged per subject to enable the performance of factorial analyses representing each child on the dimensions extracted from the set of measures.

2.4.1. Acoustic measures

The complete description of the collected measures and the semi-automated analysis procedure of the audio signals is provided in Chapter 3, 4 and 5 and will only be partially described in this section.

The acoustic description of vowels aimed to study the two main aspects of nasal/oral vowel production: the adoption of an articulatory configuration specific to the vowel quality, on one hand, and the resonance with the nasal cavities (only for nasal vowels) on the other hand. To investigate the acoustic characteristics associated with oropharyngeal configuration, formant values were examined. For the study of nasal resonance, Nasalization from Acoustic Features (NAF) values (Carignan et al., 2023) were generated. A total of 6605 vowels were analyzed. To investigate the strategies used in the phonetic implementation of the phonological contrast between nasal and oral vowels, paired comparison analyses were conducted. These analyses considered the phonetic $(/\tilde{\alpha}/-/\mathfrak{0}/, /\tilde{\alpha}/-/\mathfrak{0}/, /\tilde{\mathfrak{0}}/-/\mathfrak{0}/, /\tilde{\mathfrak{0}}/-/\mathfrak{0}/$ /u/, $\tilde{\epsilon}/-a/$) and phonological ($\tilde{a}/-a/$, $\tilde{a}/-s/$, $\tilde{\epsilon}/-\epsilon/$) proximity of oral-nasal pairs in French (Borel, 2015). For each child, each produced nasal vowel was paired with all orally produced vowels that were phonetically or phonologically similar, resulting in a listing of all oral/nasal pairs produced. A total of 30,402 pairs were formed, allowing for comparisons of acoustic cues within each nasal-oral pair. Euclidean distances in the F1-F2-F3 (Bark) planes and differences between NAF values were examined for each pair. In the present study, two measures were selected for inclusion in the factor analyses:

- The Euclidean distances on the F1-F2-F3 plane between phonological and phonetic nasal-oral pairs.
- The NAF value differences between phonological and phonetic nasal-oral pairs.

The acoustic characterization of fricative consonants was conducted using recently developed measures (Shadle et al., 2023), which allowed for the identification of spectral peaks related to the place of articulation for each segment, i.e., the location of airflow obstruction, and the quality of the frication noise by analyzing intensity ratios across low, mid, and high-frequency bands. A total of 1,917 fricatives were analyzed. Three measures were selected for the factor analyses:

- Spectral peak differences between anterior (/f/-/v/) and median (/s/-/z/) fricatives, and between median and posterior (/f/-/3/) fricatives, to reflect the distinction between the three places of articulation.

- AmpDiff values, which represent the energy ratio between low- and midfrequency ranges of the frication noise.
- LevelD values, which represent the energy ratio between mid- and high-frequency ranges of the frication noise.

A "good" frication noise source should have a significant portion of acoustic energy in the mid and, particularly, high frequencies. Therefore, a good noise source should result in high AmpDiff values (as mid frequencies are reinforced compared to lows) and low LevelD values (indicating a large proportion of energy in high frequencies).

For the acoustic characterization of the voicing feature in stop consonants, Voice Onset Time (VOT) measurements were conducted. A total of 3,012 stops were analyzed. For the study, a composite measure was created by calculating the difference between the average VOT values of voiced stops and the average VOT values of voiceless stops.

2.4.2. Phonological score

The children's productions in the naming task were initially annotated by an examiner and subsequently verified by the first author using the Phon 3.1 software (Hedlung & Rose, 2020). The software compared the target phonological form with the actual annotated production, enabling the extraction of various phonological accuracy scores. In this study, we will focus exclusively on a global score of the percentage of correct phonemes (PCP).

2.4.3. Sentence/word-picture matching task scores

In the sentence/word-picture matching task scores, d' scores were computed for all types of grammatical markers involved: gender and number, as well as for minimal pairs. These scores also accounted for the different phonological mechanisms underlying the contrasts between the target and the distractor, such as contrasts between nasal and oral vowels, oral and oral vowels, nasal and nasal vowels, or phonemic addition. The d' scores were calculated by subtracting the normalized, centered, and standardized values of the hit rate (correct detection) and the false alarm rate (incorrect detection), following signal detection theory (MacMillan & Creelman, 1991). Extreme values of 0 and 1 were adjusted to 0.01 and 0.99, respectively, to facilitate Z-score conversion. For the factorial analyses, the total score for all items, as well as the scores specifically targeting items that contrasted based on a morphophonological alternation between oral and nasal vowels, were used.

2.4.4. Narrative production scores and error types

The children's narrative productions, captured in audio recordings, were transcribed using PHON (Hedlung & Rose, 2020) and then exported to the Computerized Language Analysis (CLAN) software (MacWhinney, 2000). This allowed for a morphosyntactic annotation of the words in the narratives using the MOR and POST functions (Parisse & Le Normand, 2000). The KidEval program was employed to extract various indices of morphosyntactic development and to categorize the different function words and verb tenses used.

Within the factorial analyses, we included the following cues:

- Mean Length of Utterance (MLU) in morphemes (MLUm). This index is commonly used to assess the level of morphosyntactic development and has also shown significant differences between the CI and TH groups in the previous study (chapter 6).

- The number of reflexive pronouns. This complex function word demonstrated effects related to both auditory status (CI vs. TH) and exposure to CS, as well as the age at which the CI was implanted (chapter 6).

- The frequency of past simple tense usage among verbs. Indeed, the imperfect tense requires the use of bound grammatical morphemes, and differences in its usage were observed between our groups in the previous study.

Various types of errors were identified and categorized by the first author of the article. In the factorial analyses conducted, only errors related to the deletion of determiners before monosyllabic versus bisyllabic nouns were retained. Indeed, these errors were previously found to be significantly more frequent in the CI group and were influenced by the age at which the CI was implanted and the exposure to CS.

We also included a measure of lexical diversity, the D index, obtained using the VOCD procedure in CLAN. This index provides a probability of introducing a new word as the length of a corpus increases, allowing for a value that is not influenced by the corpus size (Duran et al., 2004).

2.5. Statistical analysis

Multiple factor analyses were performed using the FactoMineR package (Husson et al., 2024), and graphical representations were generated with Factoex-

tra (Kassambara & Mundt, 2020). These analyses were conducted on a dataset containing subject-wise averages of various acoustic measures, aggregated as means and converted into z-scores, including:

- Variables related to the marking of the distinction between nasal and oral vowels: averages of the differences between all phonologically and phonetically paired nasal-oral vowel pairs on indices related to nasal resonance (NAF) (NAF_phono and NAF_phone in the model) and on the Euclidean distances in the F1, F2, F3 plane (F123 phono and F123 phone).
- Variables related to the distinction of fricative places of articulation: differences in the average spectral peak values between anterior fricatives /f-v/ and medial fricatives /s-z/ (SP_1_2), and between medial fricatives /s-z/ and posterior fricatives /ʃ-ʒ/ (SP_2_3).
- Variables related to the representation of average and high frequency ranges in frication: average values of the ampDiff and levelD ratios.
- Variable related to the distinction between voiced and voiceless plosive consonants in terms of VOT: VOT_UV_V.
- Variables related to morphemic processing, including the total score on the sentence/word picture-matching task (SWPM_tot) and the score for items specifically contrasted by a morphophonological alternation between oral and nasal vowels (SWPM_or_nas).
- Variables related to performance in picture naming tasks: the average percentage of correct phonemes in naming (PCP) and the percentage of firstattempt elicitation (Naming).
- Variables related to performance in narrative tasks: the mean length of utterance in morphemes (MLUm), the lexical diversity index (*D* index), the number of uses of the imperfect tense (Simple_past), the number of reflexive pronouns (Refl_pro), the number of determiner omissions before onesyllable words (Det_del_1syll) and two-syllable words (Det_del_2syll).

The children's characteristics were added to the models as supplementary variables, without influencing the construction of the dimensions, to enable the observation of the characteristics of individuals positioned along the different dimensions. After establishing the dimensions in the factorial analysis, hierarchical ascending classifications (Husson et al., 2024) were performed to form clusters related to the children's performance, as summarized across the different axes. This method involves establishing dissimilarity indices between individuals and an aggregation index between classes of individuals, resulting in a dendrogram that represents the ascendant grouping of individuals. This approach was chosen to classify various performance profiles of the children independently of their auditory status. The classification was based on the first three dimensions of the factor analysis, representing 52.9% of the explained variance. The resulting hierarchical tree (dendogram) was used to determine an optimal cut-off point, allowing for the selection of groups that balances differentiating the overall group without being overly simplistic according to a method described by Cornillon et al. (2018).

To identify the profiles of the different clusters formed, group comparison analyses were conducted using generalized linear mixed models, controlling for the random effect associated with the subject, employing the lme4 package (version 1.1-34; Bates et al., 2015) and emmeans package (Lenth et al., 2023) within the R software (R Core Team, 2022).

3. Results

3.1. Results at T1

3.1.1 Principal components analysis (PCA)

The factor analysis extracted 19 dimensions corresponding to the number of variables implemented in the model. Only the first three dimensions, accounting for 52.9% of the cumulative variance, will be described. Figure 7.1 illustrates the contribution of the different variables within the three dimensions The correlation values between the different variables and each of the three dimensions are available in Appendix 8.



Figure 7.1: Correlation circle of the initial variables for dimensions 1 and 2 (left) and 2 and 3 (right), according to their degree of contribution to the construction of the axes (indicated by the length of the arrows).

Dimension 1, representing 30.7% of the explained variance, appeared to be directly related to performance in linguistic tasks. Indeed, the variables most contributing to the positive values of the axis are MLUm (0.8), PCP (0.8), the number of spontaneous naming in the naming task (0.8) and the sentence/word-picture matching task score related to nasal and oral vowels (0.73), Strong correlations with Dimension 1 were also observed for the lexical diversity score D (0.61) and the use of the imperfect tense (0.62). On the negative values of the axis, the deletion of articles for one-syllable (-0.64) and two-syllable (-0.75) words were the

most significant contributors. Dimension 2, representing 11.3% of the explained variance, was directly associated with the acoustic marking of the distinction between nasal and oral vowels. The most contributing variables on the positive values of the axis are those related to NAF values (NAF_phono: 0.59, NAF_phone: 0.69) and the values related to Euclidean distances in F1-F2-F3 (F123_phono: 0.67, F123_phone: 0.59). Dimension 3 (10.9% of the explained variance) was associated on its positive values primarily with high average values of the levelD ratio (0.82) and, to a lesser extent, ampDiff (0.45), as well as with the marking of the nasal-oral distinction through Euclidean distances in F1-F2-F3 (F123_phono: 0.3, F123_phone: 0.47). On the other hand, Dimension 3 was negatively associated with the marking by the NAF index (NAF_phono: -0.38, NAF_phone: -0.31) and the distinction of the medial and posterior places of articulation of fricatives (SP2_3: -0.36).



Figure 7.2: Individual plots according to dimensions 1 and 2 (left) and 2 and 3 (right) based on the CI and TH groups with associated 95% confidence interval ellipses.

Figure 7.2 displays a clear tendency for the CI group of children to position themselves on the negative side of Dimension 1 compared to the TH group (on the positive side), indicating lower values across the linguistic scores. Dimension 2 did not appear to discriminate between the groups, with both groups tending to position near zero. The distribution of the groups on Dimension 2 and Dimension 3 showed a clear tendency on Dimension 3, with the CI group positioning more on the positive side, indicating a stronger marking of nasal-oral vowels based on the F1-F2-F3 Euclidean distance indices and higher values of the levelD and ampDiff ratios. However, it is important to note an important variability in the distribution of children within the CI group. Figure 7.3 represents 95% confidence interval ellipses around the groups formed by the different levels of exposure to CS and the age of implantation.



Figure 7.3: Plots of individuals representing 95% confidence interval ellipses around the mean values of the groups, based on exposure to CS (top graphs) and age of implantation (bottom graphs), according to dimensions 1 and 2 (left side) and dimensions 2 and 3 (right side).

Regarding the level of exposure to CS, the different groups of CI children did not distinguish themselves on Dimension 1, but show slight differences on the

other dimensions: the CS- and TH groups are, on average, positioned at similar levels on Dimensions 2 and 3, with mean values close to the zero axes, while the CS0 group was found in the negative values on Dimension 2 and intermediate compared to CS+ in the positive values on Dimension 3. Regarding the age of implantation groups, the CI groups again did not distinguish themselves on Dimension 1, but they do on Dimensions 2 and 3, with the late implantation group (>16m) positioned more in the negative values on Dimension 2, and the early implantation group having the most positive values on Dimension 3.

3.1.2. Hierarchical Ascendant Classification (HAC)

To precisely categorize the different profiles of performance in terms of acoustic and linguistic production, unsupervised classification analyses, specifically hierarchical clustering, were conducted using the three dimensions of the factorial analysis. A significant drop in inertia gain was observed at a height of 0.7, where the dendrogram splits the sample into four clusters, as illustrated in Figure 7.4.



Figure 7.4: Dendrogram of the hierarchical ascending classification (left) and graph showing the distribution of inertia related to the cut-off heights (top right).



cluster 💽 1 🔺 2 🔳 3 🕂 4



Dim1 (30.7%) Dim2 (11.3%) Figure 7.5: Distribution of the 4 clusters along PCA dimensions 1 and 2 (left) and dimensions 2 and

3 (right).

Cluster 1 was clearly set apart from the other groups on Dim 1 and therefore seems to be associated with the lowest linguistic performance, while Cluster 2 was in an intermediate position, with Clusters 3 and 4 being clearly positioned on the right side of the Dim 1 axis in a similar manner. Cluster 1 also distinguished itself from the other clusters by positioning in the negative values of axis 2, while the other clusters were located near zero. The clusters showed distinct tendencies on Dim 3: clusters 1 and 3 were positioned in the positive values, with cluster 3 to a greater extent, and cluster 4 in the negative values. Cluster 2 exhibited significant variability on Dim 3.

To identify the characteristics of the children from the different clusters, various variables were analyzed. Table 7.2 shows the counts based on auditory status and the average ages of each group, along with the p-values from the associated Chi-square independence test or Kruskal-Wallis test.

Variable	Groups	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	p-values (Chi- squared/Kruskal- wallis test)
Auditory status (N)	CI	5	14	4	0	
	TH	0	17	6	25	<.001
	Total	5	31	10	25	
Chronological age (months)	CI	71.6	64.3	72.7	NA	NS
	TH	NA	47.7	54.1	63.5	<.001
	Total	71.6	55.1	61.6	63.5	<.001
Auditory age (months)	CI	49.8	47.4	54.5	NA	NS
	TH	NA	47.7	54.1	63.5	<.001
	Total	49.8	47.4	54.3	63.5	<.001
SES level (N)	Low	4	13	2	8	NC
	High	1	18	8	17	IN S

Table 7.2: Counts or means of the different clusters based on auditory status, chronological and auditory age, and SES with associated group comparison tests (Chi-square or Kruskal-Wallis).

It can be observed that while Cluster 1 was composed only of children from the CI group (n=5), Cluster 4 consisted solely of children from the TH group (n=25). Clusters 2 and 3 had equivalent proportions of children from both groups. In terms of chronological age groups, the children from the TH group were younger in Cluster 2 than in clusters 3 and 4, while the children in Cluster 1 were the oldest in the CI group. In terms of auditory ages, the CI children were statistically equivalent across the three clusters. It is also noteworthy that in Cluster 2, the children from both the CI and TH groups had equivalent auditory ages. Additional Chi-square independence tests were conducted on the children's characteristics to see if any could explain differences between clusters. No effect of gender ($\chi^2(3) = 1.17$; p =.7), presence of bilingualism in the family ($\chi^2(3) = 2.72$; p =.4) or socio-economic status ($\chi^2(1) = 5.7$; p =.12) were found. Characteristics specific to the children in the CI group were also studied within this group (Table 7.3).

Variable	Groups	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	p-values (Chi-squared)	
	CS0	2	3	2		
CS (N)	CS-	1	8	0	NS	
	CS+	2	3	2		
Implantation age	<16m.	2	8	1	NS	
group (N)	>16m.	3	6	3	IND	

 Table 7.3: Counts of the clusters based on CS exposure and implantation age groups among CI children with associated group comparison tests (Chi-square).

The distributions of the children among clusters were equivalent according to the level of exposure to CS ($\chi^2(4) = 5.24$; p = .3) and the age of implantation group ($\chi^2(2) = 1.44$; p = .5).

To further explore the general findings regarding linguistic performance and production profiles observed through the dimensions of the factor analysis, comparisons of the raw values of the different variables studied were conducted and summarized in Figure 7.6. The analysis of the different scores allows for a more detailed characterization of the four clusters.

Cluster 1: This cluster, composed solely of children with cochlear implants, represented the lowest linguistic performance, with significantly lower values of MLUm (2.92), PCP and number of spontaneous naming compared to the other three clusters. Regarding the lexical diversity index D and the sentence/word-picture matching task scores (total score and items containing nasal-oral oppositions), this cluster had performances equivalent to those of cluster 2 and lower than those of clusters 3 and 4. On the acoustic level, the values marking the nasal-oral distinction were also lower than in the other three clusters for NAF values but are statistically equivalent in terms of F1-F2-F3 Euclidean distances. Concerning the production of fricatives, the average spectral peak values for their medial vs. posterior places of articulation were significantly lower than those of the other clusters. Regarding the VOT values of plosives, the difference between voiced and voiceless plosives was significantly less marked than in cluster 4.



Figure 7.6: Mean values with 95% confidence interval of initial PCA variables, grouped by clusters (X-axis) and differentiated by auditory status (color).

<u>Cluster 2:</u> The children in cluster 2, composed of the same proportion of children from the CI and TH groups, showed higher values than those of cluster 1 across various linguistic variables: MLUm, PCP and number of correct elicitations, but lower than those of clusters 3 and 4, and also lower than cluster 4 for D values. On the acoustic level, they showed higher marking values for distinguishing nasal-oral vowels than cluster 1 for NAF values (for both phonological and phonetic pairs), and higher values than cluster 4 in the distinction of "phonetic" pairs by Euclidean distances in the formant space. The children in this cluster showed better marking of the medial and posterior places of articulation of fricatives than cluster 1 but poorer than group 4, while the levelD values in this group were equivalent to those of clusters 1 and 4. This cluster did not differ from the others in terms of the distinction between voiced and voiceless plosives.

<u>Cluster 3:</u> This cluster showed higher values compared to clusters 1 and 2 for MLUm, PCP, D values and number of spontaneous naming, and equivalent to cluster 4. On the phonetic level, the group had marking scores by the NAF index equivalent to clusters 2 and 3 for NAF values for phonological and phonetic nasal-oral pairs, but higher than cluster 4 for marking of phonological pairs by the Euclidean distances in the formant space. This cluster marked the distinction be-

tween the medial and posterior places of articulation of fricatives less than cluster 4 and has the highest levelD values.

<u>Cluster 4:</u> The children in this cluster generally showed the highest linguistic performances. These were equivalent to those of cluster 3 for different measures but have higher number of uses of the past simple, and reflexive pronouns. On the phonetic level, this cluster exhibited the lower F1-F2-F3 Euclidean distance values on the marking of nasal-oral distinction. However, the distinction between the medial and posterior places of articulation was the highest in this cluster.

The mean difference values between the Euclidean distances on F1-F2-F3 for phonological pairs, spectral peaks of the anterior and medial places of articulation for fricatives, as well as the ampDiff index, were statistically equivalent between all the clusters.

It should be noted that for clusters 2 and 3, which include equivalent proportions of children from the CI and TH groups, tests were conducted to observe the effect of auditory status, cluster, and the interaction between these variables on the different measures. Significantly higher values in the TH group, regardless of the cluster, were observed for PCP values ($\chi^2(1) = 3.5$; p = .05), and the score for items involving nasal/oral distinction ($\chi^2(1) = 3.4$; p = .06). Acoustically, a group effect favoring the TH group was also observed for NAF values in the marking of nasal/oral distinction for phonological ($\chi^2(1) = 4.39$; p = .03) and phonetic ($\chi^2(1)$ = 3.42; p = .05) pairs. Higher values for the ampDiff ratio ($\chi^2(1) = 4.44$; p = .03) and levelD ($\chi^2(1) = 3.41$; p = .05) were also noted in the CI group.

3.2. Results at T2

A subgroup of 13 children with cochlear implants, drawn from the total study sample, repeated all the experimental tasks a second time (T2), one year after the first (T1). The characteristics of these 13 children are detailed in Table 7.1 (section 2.1).

3.2.1. T1-T2 performance comparisons

Figure 7.7 illustrates the average values obtained by the CI subgroup of children during the two assessments.



Figure 7.7: Boxplot of the values for the different variables of interest for the CI subgroup at T1 and T2. Significant differences between T1 and T2 are indicated with * (p<.05), ** (p<.005) or *** (p<.001).

Repeated measures analyses demonstrated that performance evolved significantly in the linguistic domain: the values increase for MLUm ($\beta = 1.26$; SE = 0.25; t(12) = 5.04; p < .001), the number of reflexive pronoun usages ($\beta = 4.5$; SE = 1.15; t(12) = 3.95; p = .001), the percentage of correct phonemes ($\beta = 5$; SE = 1.4; t(12) = 2.55; p = .003), the number of spontaneous namings ($\beta = 7$; SE = 2.02; t(12) = 3.46; p = .004), and the lexical diversity index D ($\beta = 11.4$; SE = 7.07; t(12) = 2.81; p = .01). Regarding the acoustic variables, changes were observed in relation to fricative consonants: there was an improvement in the distinction between medial and posterior places of articulation ($\beta = 1203$; SE = 276; t(12) = 4.36; p < .001), as well as an increase in ampDiff values ($\beta = 1.57$; SE = 0.75; t(12) = 2.1; p = .05). Note that for most measures, the variability of performance decreased at T2.

3.2.2. Factorial analysis and hierarchical classification

The data of the children in the subgroup were projected onto the initial factorial plane by predicting the coordinates on the previously obtained dimensions. This allowed us to position the children in the subgroup across the different dimensions and to compare their positions between T1 and T2. Figure 7.8 illustrates the differences in positioning between the two assessments on PCA dimensions 1/2 and 2/3.



Figure 7.8: Individual plot of children at T1 and T2 on dimensions 1 and 2 (left) and dimensions 2 and 3 (right). The arrows connect the coordinates between the two assessments.

Observation of the shifts along Dimension 1 showed, to varying degrees depending on the participants, a movement towards the positive values of the axis, indicating an improvement in linguistic performance. On Dimension 2, the trends of movement towards positive (N=7) or negative values (N=6) were divided among the subjects. On Dimension 3, however, there was a more general trend towards negative values (N=10), which could signify a better exploitation of nasal resonance cues in the distinction between nasal and oral vowels, and/or a more adequate phonetic realization of fricatives (better distinction of places of articulation; better frication noise). It should be noted that some participants, such as IC10 and IC12, exhibited only very slight shifts between T1 and T2.

Based on the coordinates of the performances in T2 projected onto the initial factorial plane, it was possible to locate the T2 children's performances within the

previously formed clusters. Table 7.4 provides information on the assignment of the subgroup of subjects to clusters for the performances in T1 and T2, while also providing the chronological and auditory ages of these children at both assessments.

		Cluster				
Subjects	CA - T1	HA - T1	- T1	CA - T2	HA - T2	- T2
IC9	57	44	2	69	56	2
IC10	54	42	2	66	54	2
IC11	54	36	2	66	48	2
IC12	66	42	2	71	57	2
IC13	87	61	2	99	73	2
IC14	94	71	1	106	83	2
IC15	83	63	2	95	75	2
IC16	81	61	3	96	76	4
IC18	45	33	2	60	48	3
IC20	44	33	2	58	47	2
IC21	59	42	3	74	57	3
IC22	79	66	3	61	48	3
IC23	60	39	2	75	54	3
Mean	66,4	48,7		76,6	59,7	

Table 7.4: Chronological (CA) and auditory ages (AA), along with cluster assignments at Testing 1and Testing 2, for the CI subgroup of children.

It can be observed that only four children changed clusters: IC16 moved from Cluster 1 to Cluster 2, IC20 and IC25 moved from Cluster 2 to Cluster 3, and IC18 moved from Cluster 3 to Cluster 4. The other children remained in the same clusters as in T1.

Figure 7.9 represents the performances on the different variables of interest during T1 and T2, focusing on the four participants who changed clusters.



Figure 7.9: Performance of the 4 children who changed clusters between T1 and T2 across the different variables of interest.

For subject IC16, who joined Cluster 2 at T2, the changes were mainly observed in terms of an increase in the percentage of correct phonemes and spontaneous naming, a decrease in determinant omissions in front of monosyllabic words (with an increase in front of bisyllabic words), an increase in the marking of nasal-oral distinctions in terms of oropharyngeal configuration, as well as better distinction between the places of articulation of fricatives. The improvements for the other subjects were more related to the overall linguistic scores, with increases in MLUm values, use of the imperfect tense and personal pronouns in narratives, as well as in lexical diversity. Subject IC20 also showed better marking through oropharyngeal configuration in the production of nasal/oral vowels, better distinction of fricative places of articulation, and higher ampDiff values.

4. Discussion

The aim of this study was to jointly examine the production profiles of children with CI and children with TH on three segments which acoustic correlates pose different challenges to the implant (nasal/oral vowels, fricative, and plosive consonants), in relation to their phonological, lexical, and morphosyntactic linguistic skills. To do this, factor analyses were conducted, leading to the creation of clusters via hierarchical clustering. Various influencing factors were considered, such as chronological/auditory age, parents' socioeconomic status, exposure to sign language (SL), and the age at which the implant was received. A subgroup of children with CI also completed the tasks a second time, one year after the first data collection session, allowing for a comparison of their performance over time, from a longitudinal perspective.

The factor analysis revealed three dimensions explaining approximately 50% of the total variance. The first dimension was directly related to all linguistic performance: phonological scores, the number of spontaneous namings in the picture-naming task, lexical diversity scores, sentence/word-picture matching scores, as well as scores related to morphosyntactic development. This dimension clearly distinguished the children according to their auditory status, with children in the CI group generally exhibiting weaker linguistic performances. The association of various linguistic competencies-phonological, lexical, and morphosyntacticseems to show a relatively homogeneous joint development of these performances within our sample. This might seem to contradict some literature suggesting a special status of lexical competencies compared to other linguistic skills, which could be more preserved due to the greater perceptual and conceptual salience of lexical elements in language representations (Caselli et al., 2012; Duchesne et al., 2009; Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014; Rinaldi et al., 2013). However, this finding has not always been confirmed, other studies such as (Cambra et al., 2021; Fagniart et al., 2024b; Le Normand & Moreno-Torres, 2014) highlighting an increased vulnerability of children with CI also in lexical skills.

PCA Dimensions 2 and 3 were related to acoustically defined speech production profiles: while high performance on axis 2 demonstrated the ability to distinguish nasal-oral contrasts regardless of the production strategy (oral vs. oro-nasal resonance; adoption of a specific oropharyngeal configuration), dimension 3 differentiated between the two production strategies to implement the nasal-oral distinction. On this dimension, the groups of children were again well distinguished: children in the CI group were more positioned toward the positive values, indicating a greater tendency to mark the nasal-oral distinction through distinct oropharyngeal configurations, as opposed to the TH children, who more often employed oral vs. nasal resonance. This finding was not unexpected since it corroborates observations made on speech productions obtained through the repetition of pseudowords containing nasal and oral vowels (Fagniart et al., in press). It should be noted that dimension 3 was also associated with the quality of fricative production (levelD values) and the distinction between medial and posterior places of articulation for fricative consonants, with children in the CI group being associated with lower quality (higher levelD values) and less distinct productions.

The hierarchical classifications based on the dimensions of the factor analysis allowed for the division of the sample of children into four clusters. These clusters were very distinct on Dimension 1, which relates to linguistic performance, and on Dimension 3, which relates to nasal-oral vowel distinction through nasal resonance vs. oropharyngeal configuration. Two highly contrasting profiles emerged from the cluster formation through hierarchical classification, which particularly drew our attention. While Cluster 4, composed solely of children from the TH group, exhibited the highest linguistic performance, the children in Cluster 1, composed entirely of children with cochlear implants (CI), displayed the lowest linguistic performance. These differences did not seem to be related to age: although the children in Cluster 1 had a lower auditory age compared to the children in Cluster 4, their average auditory age was equivalent to that of the CI children in Clusters 2 and 3, and even to the TH children in Cluster 2, yet they did not reach the same performance levels. These children, whose performance remained significantly below that of peers with the same auditory age, might represent the atypical developmental profiles suggested by some authors (Benassi et al., 2021; Majorano et al., 2024) and/or contribute to the variability in performance that is generally present and somewhat difficult to explain as noted in the literature. Clusters 1 and 4 were also very distinct on their speech production profiles. Children in Cluster 4 marked the nasal/oral vowels distinction using typical production mechanisms (oral vs. oro-nasal resonance, specific oral configuration), clearly distinguished between the places of articulation of fricatives with frication noise involving mid and high-frequency ranges, and clearly contrasted voiced and unvoiced plosives in terms of VOT. In contrast, children of Cluster 1 showed little marking of the nasal/oral distinction using cues reflecting the presence or absence of nasal resonance, with no compensation by increased marking in terms of oropharyngeal configuration. The places of articulation of fricative segments, marked by high-frequency cepstral peaks, were poorly distinguished, with frication noise primarily involving mid frequencies only. Voiced/unvoiced plosives were also less distinguished in terms of VOT. This productive profile seemed to fully reflect the impact of the specific sound transmission limitations of the CI: limitations in the perception of fine spectral details in low frequencies (impacting nasal/oral vowel distinction) and in the perception of high frequencies in general (places of articulation of fricatives - frication noise). However, these children did not seem to compensate for these perceptual difficulties by better exploiting the acoustic cues supposedly better coded by the implant, such as temporal cues (VOT for voicing of plosives) or cues related to oropharyngeal configuration (formant frequencies). These significant and poorly compensated perceptual difficulties, resulting in underspecified phonological representations, are likely to impact overall linguistic abilities, as observed in the children of this group. These findings are consistent with the link between phonological and linguistic development proposed in various models developed in the context of specific language impairments (Chiat, 2001; Joanisse & Seidenberg, 1998; Leonard et al., 1992), which apply in this case to the perceptual limitations associated with CI.

Clusters 2 and 3, composed of equivalent proportions of children from the CI and TH groups, present intermediate profiles in terms of linguistic performance. Cluster 2, for instance, showed superior performance compared to Cluster 1 across all linguistic measures, while Cluster 3 differed from Cluster 4 only in the use of more complex grammatical markers (reflexive pronouns, imperfect tense). Acoustically, Cluster 2 and Cluster 3 differed slightly: children of both groups exhibit a relatively balanced marking of the nasal-oral distinction between production strategies based on nasal resonance and oropharyngeal configuration. While both groups equally distinguished the places of articulation of fricatives, children of Cluster 3 have the highest levelD values, indicating a lower concentration of high-frequency ranges in their frication noise. It is noteworthy that an auditory status effect was similarly observed in both clusters: within these groups, CI children have lower nasal resonance marking values compared to TH children, but higher oropharyngeal configuration marking. As to levelD values, they are consistently lower (with less concentration of energy in high frequencies) in the TH children. Therefore, these two subgroups of CI children in Cluster 2 and 3 appear to exhibit speech productions that are influenced by the specific limitations

of CI, reducing their ability to exploit cues that are imprecisely coded by the implant (nasal resonance, high-frequency energy), but unlike the children in Cluster 1, they have implemented effective compensatory strategies. Indeed, the marking of the nasal-oral distinction through the overuse of oropharyngeal configuration cues has been reported as having a significant impact on the intelligibility of productions (Fagniart et al., in review). Furthermore, the fact that these children correctly distinguish voiced and unvoiced plosive segments using VOT demonstrates good exploitation of the temporal cues supposed to be more precisely coded by CI. More generally, an effective exploitation of temporal cues by children with CI has been reported to have a positive impact on spectral resolution processing (Landsberger et al., 2019), as well as on their performance in the identification and discrimination of nasal and oral vowels (Fagniart et al., 2024a). These various elements could explain why their linguistic performance was higher compared to Cluster 1.

An attempt was made to investigate whether the participants' characteristics could account for their distribution within the clusters. An effect of chronological age on the distribution between clusters was observed in the TH group: the average age of the children was progressively higher between Clusters 2, 3, and 4, reflecting a gradual development of linguistic skills and mastery of phonetic distinction mechanisms. The speech production profile of the TH children within Cluster 3 was more surprising, since older ones showed a lower representation of high frequencies in frication noise and an emphasis on marking the nasal-oral distinction through oropharyngeal configuration. The presence of such a profile among typically hearing children may illustrate significant inter-individual variability in the development of productive skills in the general population, which, however, did not seem to significantly impact linguistic development, as evidenced by the high linguistic performance of this group. Regarding the children in the CI group, the differences between clusters could not be explained by chronological age or auditory age, as the three clusters had equivalent mean values. However, the gap between the ages of children in the CI and TH groups was not the same between clusters, depending on whether chronological age or auditory age was considered. Indeed, while the children in the CI group were on average older in terms of chronological age than the children in the TH group within Clusters 2 and 3, it was found that children with CI had average auditory ages equivalent to the chronological age of TH children within Cluster 2. The intermediate performance of CI children in this cluster could therefore be explained by delayed

exposure to auditory input through the CI and may be related to the literature showing equivalent linguistic performance between TH and CI children when they are matched by auditory ages (Guo & Spencer, 2017). In this sense, the children with CI in Cluster 3 may have represented a more advantageous profile, since their average auditory age was lower than the chronological age of the TH children in the same group whereas they presented equivalent productive mechanisms indicating advanced exploitation of compensatory mechanisms, leading to high linguistic levels.

The different characteristics of all participants as well as specific information related to the CI group (early implantation, exposure to CS) did not reveal any statistic relation with the distribution between clusters. It therefore appears that within our sample, compensatory strategies for perceptual difficulties may (or may not) be implemented independently of multimodal stimulation through CS or linked to an early implantation profile. These results contrast with previous findings in the literature regarding the positive impact of early implantation (Karltorp et al., 2020; Kral et al., 2019; Sharma et al., 2020; Tamati et al., 2022) or CS exposure (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert et al., 2016; Leybaert & LaSasso, 2010; Machart et al., 2024; Van Bogaert et al., 2023). However, it is possible that the present analyses, which encompass both acoustic production performance and various linguistic measures, capture a greater amount of inter-individual variability than studies focusing on a single aspect of language or speech. The combination of all these aspects of language studied together reveals profiles that did not clearly identify favorable or unfavorable factors. It is noteworthy that a previous study, specifically evaluating morphosyntactic skills in a subgroup of the children from the present study, found equivalent performances between children who were not exposed to CI and those who were exposed early and consistently (study 5 - chapter 6). This suggests that among some of the non-exposed to CS and later implanted children, uncontrolled favorable factors within the study and/or natural variability allowed them to achieve high linguistic competence. It is conceivable that favorable environmental conditions, such as strong parental involvement, appropriate follow-ups, and adequate oral language stimulation, may have led to better linguistic performances.

Although the statistical analyses did not reveal any significant links between individual variables and the cluster distribution, a qualitative analysis of the characteristics of the children in the cluster with low linguistic performance and imprecise acoustic production profile in Cluster 1 highlights certain conditions that may be considered unfavorable for the linguistic development of children with CIs. Firstly, 3 out of the 5 children received their first implant after the age of two, which could represent an unfavorable condition for speech development given the demonstrated importance of early implantation (Karltorp et al., 2020; Kral et al., 2019; Sharma et al., 2020; Tamati et al., 2022). Moreover, among 4 of the 5 children in this cluster, the socio-economic status (SES) of the parents was low. Although SES, as evaluated by the average level of parental education, has shown mixed results in the literature (Holzinger et al., 2020), some authors have observed links with linguistic development and suggested that wealthier families may have greater access to information and a better understanding of the mechanisms related to deafness which is a prerequisite to an adequate child support (Moreno-Torres et al., 2016). Access to these resources could be related to the quality of interactions and the level of oral stimulation in the family context, and perhaps also to the family's level of involvement, all of which can contribute to language development. On the contrary, less affluent families might find themselves more deprived and have fewer resources to implement appropriate support for their child's language development. As these aspects (family involvement, quality and quantity of oral stimulation) were not evaluated in the present study, these assumptions remain hypothetical and would require further investigation in future studies. Moreover, it should be noted that among these children of Cluster 1, 2 are not exposed to Cued Speech (CS), while 2 others have only occasional exposure, and only 1 child has regular and early exposure. The positive impact of exposure to CS has been demonstrated in numerous studies involving children with cochlear implants (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert et al., 2016; Machart et al., 2024; Van Bogaert et al., 2023), as the visualization of language contrasts through the manual cues of CS can help compensate for their perceptual difficulties. However, the exposure needs to be early, regular, and highly sustained to constitute a favorable condition for development (Charlier, 2020). In Chapter 6, it was observed that the CS- group, exposed only occasionally to CS, achieved the lowest performances in grammatical production. Although, again, no statistical effect could establish a link between CS exposure and the distribution among clusters, Cluster 1 mostly comprises children who do not present favorable conditions for exposure to this method, which has shown beneficial effects on speech and language development. Finally, it should also be noted that one child is raised in a bilingual environment (this element will be discussed later), and another child in the cluster is only unilaterally implanted. Bilateral implantation has been shown

to facilitate sound localization and speech perception in noise (Dunn et al., 2010; Müller et al., 2002), and it also appears to be favorable for better perception of speech sounds through what is termed "perceptual redundancy" of spectral information across both cochlear implants (Sarant et al., 2014). A positive effect of bilaterality has been suggested, given the higher results obtained in the identification and discrimination of nasal and oral vowels among children with bilateral cochlear implants (Fagniart et al., 2024a) compared to a study that tested children with unilateral cochlear implants (Bouton et al., 2012). It is possible that participant IC6, despite a high socioeconomic status and early implantation, may have been disadvantaged by a unilateral implantation in the evaluated performances.

The comparison of the performance of the subgroup of children with cochlear implants (CIs) who were tested one year apart revealed a group trend towards improved linguistic skills (MLU, use of reflexive pronouns, percentage of correct phonemes, naming, lexical diversity) as well as improvements in the quality of fricative consonant production, with better distinction between medial and posterior places of articulation and increased representation of mid-range frequencies in frication noise (higher ampDiff values). These changes may explain the shifts in these children along the dimensions of the factor analysis after projecting their new data onto the initial model: a movement towards positive values on dimension 1 (better linguistic skills) and negative values on dimension 3 that seemed related to improvements in the quality of fricative production-the indices related to nasal vowels did not change. The fact that the children in this subgroup generally improved in distinguishing fricative places of articulation acoustically but not in mastering aspects related to the nasal resonance of vowels is interesting when linked to the spectral and articulatory characteristics of these segments. As explained in detail in Chapter 2, the processing of spectral resolution, necessary for distinguishing the nasal or oral nature of a vowel, primarily depends on the fine spectral processing of low-frequency information. However, low frequencies are more likely to be imprecisely encoded through the CI, with various sources of variability related to the depth of electrode insertion and different etiological, anatomical, and surgical conditions. This variability likely explains the initial varying levels of mastery in distinguishing nasal-oral vowels using nasal resonance in production, without leading to clear improvements over time. In contrast, for fricative consonants, perceptual limitations related to processing high-frequency information could be compensated for through linguistic experience by mastering somatosensory correlates and visually perceiving different places of articulation.

Indeed, the different places of articulation for fricatives lead to labial differences that are visually accessible. The more effective development of multimodal speech perception through maturation and linguistic experience could have led to greater mastery of this distinction in production, despite the associated perceptual limitations. The fact that only the ampDiff values, related to the presence of midrange frequencies in the frication noise, and not the levelD values, related to the presence of very high frequencies, show improvement, is further evidence for the persistence of these perceptual limitations in high frequencies.

The hierarchical clustering of the new data resulted in few changes in cluster distribution, with only 4 out of the 13 children changing clusters. It is encouraging to observe that one of the children included in the most disadvantaged cluster, Cluster 1, has moved to one of the intermediate performance clusters, Cluster 2. Notably, this child is among the oldest, both in terms of auditory and chronological age, and comes from a bilingual family environment. Family bilingualism is suggested as a risk factor in the linguistic development of deaf children, necessitating additional close monitoring (Vukkadala et al., 2018). This observation has been made in other studies that highlight the significant impact of factors potentially associated with bilingualism, such as socio-economic status and/or parental involvement (Deriaz et al., 2014). In children with CIs, these findings are more nuanced, with some studies reporting lower performance among bilingual children (Deriaz et al., 2014) but sometimes equivalent performance compared to monolingual children (Sosa & Bunta, 2019; van der Straten Waillet et al., 2023). Again, the authors emphasize the importance of the family environment, parental involvement, and the level of oral stimulation the child receives in both languages. It is worth noting that this child also presented two additional risk factors, namely a low average level of parental education and a first implantation after the age of 18 months. These factors, combined with family bilingualism, may have contributed to a developmental profile significantly delayed compared to peers. However, the transition to Cluster 2 indicates that the child's developmental profile does not appear to be atypical and can positively evolve through maturation and experience. Concerning the three other children who changed clusters, it is worth noting various factors that could be considered favorable: these three children had an implantation age of under two years, and two of them benefited from early and sustained exposure to Cued Speech (CS). Participant IC16 even achieved performances that allowed them to access Cluster 4, which initially only consisted of children with typical hearing and the highest linguistic performances.

It is also noteworthy that this participant comes from a high socioeconomic status (SES) family, which could be an additional favorable factor. However, among all the participants who completed the second testing, the majority of the children (9 out of 13) remained in the same cluster, indicating a progression in performance that did not allow them to catch up with the superior linguistic performances of Clusters 3 and 4, despite their advancement in chronological and auditory age. This subgroup of children, therefore, remains within Cluster 2 and now shows a discrepancy between their average auditory age and the average chronological age of the typically hearing children assigned to this cluster in the initial model. This result could support findings in the literature from longitudinal studies showing a slower rate of acquisition in groups of children with cochlear implants (Chilosi et al., 2013; Moreno-Torres et al., 2016). This slower rate of acquisition could be explained by the need for adequate use of the compensatory strategies previously described at the perceptual-productive level. These strategies may require more cognitive resources and result in language development that aligns with that of typically hearing children with a lower chronological and auditory age.

Although this study provides numerous perspectives for future investigations, it has several limitations that should be considered. Firstly, the small number of participants and the difficulties in balancing the sample in terms of chronological/auditory ages, age of implantation, exposure to CS, etc., require a cautious interpretation of the findings. Furthermore, the longitudinal approach was only partial: only a portion of the subgroup of CI children could be recruited for the second session of data collection, which did not allow for an examination of the progression of the overall performances and the entirety of each cluster, thus limiting interpretations of potential influencing factors. It would have also been beneficial to have more data points and a longitudinal perspective for children with typical hearing as well. The age effects in this group should be observed cautiously, as they were studied based on samples of different age groups.

5. Conclusion

The overall study of performance in the phonological, lexical, and morphosyntactic domains, as well as the speech production profiles based on the acoustic analyses of a variety of phonetic segments, has highlighted various profiles among a group of children with cochlear implants (CI) compared to their typically hearing peers:

- A group of children with difficulties across all investigated linguistic skills, combined with speech production profiles suggesting significant and poorly compensated perceptual difficulties. These profiles, although interpreted cautiously given the small sample size, may be associated with late implantation ages, low socioeconomic status (SES), and lack of or limited sustained exposure to Cued Speech (CS).
- Two groups of children with linguistic performances equivalent to those of typically hearing children of the same auditory ages, with speech production profiles showing the use of compensatory strategies for perceptual difficulties related to CI.
- A progression in performance over a one-year interval for only 4 out of 13 children with CI, indicating a difficulty in developing skills at a rate equivalent to that of typically hearing children.

Chapter 8 General discussion

The objective of this general discussion is to synthesize the main findings that provide elements of an answer to our primary research question, which investigates the links between perceptual limitations and grammatical development. This will be followed by a more precise discussion of the different potential sources of variability that have been studied. Next, we will reflect on the issues related to sensitive periods in language development and concluding with a proposed model of potential sources of variation in the language performance of children with CI, as well as the clinical perspectives arising from the various findings and the limitations of the studies conducted.

1. Perceptual limitations

Before addressing the links between the perceptual limitations of cochlear implants (CI) and linguistic components, we will focus on the studies that have investigated these limitations through a perceptual study and three productionfocused studies, emphasizing the particularly effective adaptation and compensation abilities observed in certain groups of children.

1.1. A constrained but adaptative and compensatory perceptual system

The first study (*Perception of the vowel nasality feature* - Chapter 2) investigated perceptual skills through identification and discrimination tasks involving pseudowords containing nasal vowels as well as oral vowels that are close phonologically or phonetically, according to the classification proposed by Borel (2015). The CI children's performance was significantly lower than that of the typically hearing (TH) children in the identification task, and more difficulties were observed in the discrimination of phonetic pairs (Fagniart et al., 2024a). These difficulties support the hypothesis of an increased challenge in perceiving the acoustic correlates related to nasal resonance, which are carried by fine acoustic cues and require optimal spectral resolution skills especially in the lowfrequency range. However, the performance was much higher than that observed in studies involving adults (Borel, 2015; Borel et al., 2019) and unilaterally implanted children (Bouton et al., 2012). We suggested that the perceptual system of children born deaf and implanted early could be better adapted to the degraded CI signal compared to post-lingually deaf adults (Landsberger et al., 2019), and that there might also be a beneficial effect of "binaural redundancy" (Sarant et al., 2014) due to the use of bilateral implants in processing fine spectral signals, which could have advantaged the children in the sample. The level of Cued Speech (CS) exposure also showed effects, with children who had early and sustained exposure (CS+) achieving better scores than those with occasional exposure. Furthermore, the performance of these CS+ children was positively correlated with the prevalence of temporal cues among the stimulus characteristics. This suggests that exposure to CS, by making phonological contrasts visually explicit, may promote the use of salient cues that are both well-coded by the CI and relevant for discriminating between French oral and nasal vowels, hence the better performance of CS+ children.

These different propositions were supported by the results of the second study (Production of oral and nasal vowels - see chapter 3), which focused on the same children's productive skills in distinguishing between French nasal and oral vowels. Perceptual judgments revealed that the oral and nasal vowels produced by CS+ children were best identified, since they achieved slightly higher scores than the TH children and significantly higher than the CS- children (Fagniart et al., in press). The CS- children had their nasal vowel productions judged as less nasalized on perceptual scales and had more "intermediate" productions (neither judged very oral nor very nasal). Acoustic analyses showed that the distinction between nasal and oral vowels was more often based on vowel length and cues related to the oropharyngeal configuration (formant frequencies) in CI children, particularly CS+ children, compared to TH children. Conversely, NAF measures, which reflect the degree of nasal resonance, were significantly lower among CI children. These data once again reflected, on the one hand, the limitations inherent in the CI's coding of the sound signal affecting the children's ability to process (Borel, 2015; Borel et al., 2019; Bouton et al., 2012; DiNino & Arenberg, 2018; Henry et al., 2005; Horn et al., 2017) and therefore to produce phonetic cues related to nasal resonance, and on the other hand, the possibility of compensating for these difficulties by using perceptually advantageous cues. Vowel duration and formant frequencies are likely to be better encoded by the implant, with the latter being associated with visually accessible configurations (at least when they involve articulatory movements such as lip rounding or jaw opening). This production profile was more frequently found among the most intelligible children, the CS+ children, and was also associated with the productions that were best discriminated in terms of nasality by the judges.

The studies exploring the production of fricative segments (Chapters 4 - Production of fricative consonants - and 5 - Consonant and vowel production: an integrative study) also supported the findings in the literature regarding the increased vulnerability of these segments, which perception rely primarily on acoustic information in the high-frequency ranges that approach the limits of CI coding (Loizou, 2006; Reidy et al., 2017). The perceptual limitations related to these segments were evident, on the one hand, in generally lower spectral peak values and less distinct places of articulation among fricatives (Giezen et al., 2010; Hedrick et al., 2011; Lane et al., 2001; Mildner & Liker, 2008; Reidy et al., 2017), and on the other hand, in a distribution of fricative noise energy that was more concentrated in the low and mid frequencies, which is associated with a weaker constriction force (Fagniart et al., 2024c, 2024b). These production patterns may explain the deficits observed when phonological accuracy was measured, which revealed more atypical errors such as fricativization and voicing errors (Fagniart et al., 2024c). Unlike nasal and oral vowels, fricative segments seem to benefit less from acoustic correlates that could compensate for the challenges in processing high frequencies with CI, since less beneficial impact from CS exposure is observed for fricatives (Chapter 4 and 5). However, it should be noted that in the last study (Phonetic, phonological, morphologic, lexical and morphosyntactic skills : an integrative study - Chapter 7), the productive performances, as evaluated using a picture-naming task, showed a marked improvement in the ability to distinguish between fricatives after a one-year interval. It is possible that with more linguistic experience, the children were better able to use the visual cues related to the places of articulation of these segments and/or to improve their productive skills through proprioceptive feedback associated with different places of articulation. However, this improvement was not observed in the levelD values. LevelD values reflect the use of high frequencies in fricative noise; the fact that these values do not change indicates clear limitations of the perceptual system that cannot be compensated for by exploiting accessible cues - as no visual cues are available to perceive this production mechanism.

Concerning the voicing feature of plosives, as studied through voice onset time (VOT), a strictly temporal measure, the results were consistent with those in the literature (Grandon et al., 2017; Horga & Liker, 2006; Uchanski & Geers, 2003), showing shorter positive VOTs for voiceless plosives but longer negative VOTs for voiced plosives during a naming task. However, it is noteworthy that for the items requiring repetition of the target word by the experimenter, the children's productions aligned with those of typically hearing children regarding positive VOTs, indicating a potential to adequately use the temporal cue related to the distinction.

The studies summarized so far collectively allow us to assert that the perceptual system of prelingually deaf children is able to adapt and compensate for perceptual limitations using other, relevant acoustic cues at their disposal, in order to adequately process the phonological contrasts present in the phonological systems of their native language. These compensatory mechanisms depend on the set of acoustic correlates associated with phonological contrasts, as evidenced by the more challenging difficulties to compensate for in fricative segments. As they are also variably observed among the children, the impact of activating multimodal speech perception through CS is particularly interesting to consider.

1.2. Multimodality of speech perception

In these first studies that were carried out as part of our research on the perceptual and productive profiles in the document, a positive impact of exposure to CS was observed on the use of relevant acoustic cues and, consequently, on the compensatory mechanisms in the perceptual system. This was particularly noted both in the perception and production of the distinction between nasal and oral vowels within pseudowords, as well as in frequent words during a picture-naming task. We hypothesize that this advantage is directly related to better integration of visual cues through lip-reading, combined with an internalized representation of the manual cues of CS. The visualization of phonological contrasts enabled by CS promoted attention to the relevant cues for discriminating the phonological contrasts of the language - in the case of vowel nasality, through the use of temporal and visual cues. This effect was also observed in the distinction of the places of articulation of fricative consonants, whose acoustic correlates are less available due to their representation in high-frequency ranges but whose articulatory characteristics may be partially accessible visually.

These data support findings in the literature that demonstrate a benefit in language development for children with cochlear implants, both in terms of perception and production (Bouton et al., 2011; Leybaert et al., 2016; Leybaert & La-Sasso, 2010; Machart et al., 2024; Van Bogaert et al., 2023). Children exposed to Cued Speech early and intensively seem to develop more stable phonological representations that incorporate information from manual cues, as evidenced by studies on multimodal speech perception that combine auditory information, lip reading, and manual cues (Bayard et al., 2014). The observation in Chapter 2 of auditory confusions between vowels coded at the same place (/u/ - /ɛ/) is consistent with these findings.

Leybaert & LaSasso (2010) identified five main reasons why exposure to Cued Speech (CS) for children with cochlear implants (CIs) can provide optimal conditions for language learning. First, the most obvious reason is that CS, through its visual contribution to speech perception, facilitates the acquisition of the phonological contrasts of the language. The perceptual limitations associated with the CI, which cannot be disambiguated through lip reading, are compensated by the visualization provided by the CS system, thus enabling the formation of a complete phonological system. Second, exposure to CS draws attention to lipreading and provides effective training in this skill, which has been demonstrated experimentally (Colin et al., 2008). Third, CS facilitates the natural development of language. Indeed, it has been observed that cochlear implantation can lead to an overconfidence on strictly auditory abilities, both in the child and in their surroundings, potentially resulting in the overuse of compensatory mental strategies (top-down processes) and, consequently, in underdeveloped auditory representations. In this sense, exposure to CS can help avoid this pitfall by making the sublexical elements of language fully accessible, as evidenced by better results in segmental perception (Fagniart et al., 2024a; Van Bogaert et al., 2023) and production (Fagniart et al., 2024ba; Fagniart et al., in press; Machart et al., 2024), as well as in morphosyntactic development (Hawes, 2004; Leybaert & LaSasso, 2010, results of studies 5 and 6). Furthermore, for individuals who received an implant later in life, the benefits of cochlear implantation are greater if they were previously exposed to CS (Archbold et al., 2008; Kos et al., 2009). This exposure

may help prepare the auditory system to receive input of the same syllabic and sequential rhythmic nature, further supporting the benefits of this method. Finally, this method has been recognized for improving speech intelligibility in noisy environments (Leybaert & LaSasso, 2010), which are common in learning contexts or peer interactions. These various elements may contribute to the better language performances observed among children with early and intensive exposure to CS. However, it should be noted that early and intensive exposure seems to be necessary conditions to derive significant benefits for language, as evidenced by the lower performances as well as the acoustic production profiles within the linguistic components of children with occasional exposure (CS- group).

2. Phonological, lexical and morphosyntactic development

After this thorough investigation of the perceptual-productive profiles of children with cochlear implants (CI) compared to their typically hearing peers, we also examined in Chapters 6 and 7 the phonological, lexical, and morphosyntactic components of their developing linguistic abilities. As a group, children with CIs showed significantly lower performance across all the linguistic components investigated. This was evidenced by lower scores in phonological accuracy for the different segments studied, weaker lexical performance as evidenced by fewer spontaneous naming responses in a picture-naming task, and less lexical diversity in narrative tasks. In terms of grammatical skills, children with CIs showed shorter mean utterance lengths in terms of morphemes (MLUm), fewer utterances containing a verb, poorer verbal morphology, fewer complex function words and more morphological errors than their typically hearing peers.

2.1. Relationship between phonology and morphosyntax

To investigate the hypothesis that there is a perceptual/phonological origin for the increased difficulties in the morphosyntactic domain, grammatical skills were linked, on the one hand, with phonological skills and, on the other hand, with lexical scores. This was done to distinguish between connections due to a general maturation effect of the linguistic system and those specifically related to the phonological system. The results from Chapter 6 highlighted a special link between phonological accuracy and grammatical development in children in the CI group, whereas children in the TH group showed more equal contributions from phonological and lexical stages to their grammatical performance. This suggests
that grammatical development in children with CIs is more dependent on phonological skills, which in turn depend on the limitations imposed on the perceptual system and its capacity for adaptation/compensation. Furthermore, we found specific difficulties in morphemic processing in children with CI, in this case in dis-

criminating items whose morphophonological opposition is based on distinctions between nasal and oral vowels. This indicates that the difficulties in grammatical processing were not generalized but were specifically related to with the perceptual challenges characteristic of children with CIs.

This specific link between phonological and morphosyntactic skills is entirely consistent with the phonological theories of MS development in developmental language disorders (Chiat, 2001; Joanisse & Seidenberg, 1998; Leonard et al., 1992), which state that perceptual limitations affect the perception and production of morphemes, particularly regarding grammatical morphemes which are more vulnerable due to their lower perceptual and conceptual salience. However, this can also be associated with various studies that have demonstrated specific difficulties in verbal working memory in children with cochlear implants (CI) compared to other cognitive functions (Nicastri et al., 2024). Two main hypotheses have been proposed to explain the verbal working memory difficulties in children with cochlear implants (CI): the auditory scaffolding theory and the phonological bottleneck hypothesis. According to the first, hearing is inherently designed for processing information of a temporal and sequential nature, which develops from the very first auditory experiences (Conway & Christiansen, 2005). Thus, any delay in exposure to these auditory experiences will delay the acquisition of these sequential processing functions, directly impacting linguistic skills that rely specifically on sequential patterns. The primary source of this delay is the period of auditory deprivation itself. This hypothesis is supported by various authors who position the linguistic difficulties of CI children within the cognitive domain rather than purely the sensory one (Conway et al., 2009, 2014; Kronenberger et al., 2014; Pisoni et al., 2016). The second main hypothesis, the phonological bottleneck hypothesis, based on previous studies in dyslexia (Bar-Shalom et al., 1993), suggests that the difficulties in verbal memory are mainly caused by poor phonological awareness. This hypothesis is based on the observation of particularly high phonological difficulties compared to other linguistic components, explained by degraded auditory representations due to the processing limitations of the CI. These degradations, mainly affecting spectral structures, are suggested to "curtail" the children's ability to adequately use phonological representations

to store verbal material within short-term verbal memory. According to this hypothesis, the origin of the difficulties is sensory, resulting from the degradation of the auditory signal by the CI.

Nittrouer et al. (2017) specifically confronted these two hypotheses in a study evaluating serial recall skills in 46 children with CIs and 47 children with typical hearing. Various predictors of the measures obtained were collected, including levels of phonological awareness, vocabulary, and non-verbal IQ. The study confirmed a significant deficit in storage and processing skills in the serial recall task in the CI group, as well as different predictors among the two groups. While the variance in serial recall scores for the typical hearing (TH) group was mainly explained by their level of phonological awareness, the performance of the CI group children was better explained by their vocabulary level. The authors discuss the notion of lexical restructuring to explain this difference. According to this theoretical proposition, lexical acquisition involves an initial phase of memorizing holistic forms, with unanalyzed phonological structures, which eventually leads to a mature system composed of well-defined items structured phonologically (Luce & Pisoni, 1998). This restructuring goes hand in hand with a gradually finer processing of the spectro-temporal details of the signal. Given their perceptual limitations that restrict their ability to develop a fine sensitivity to phonetic features and associated phonological structures, children with CIs may encounter difficulties in performing this lexical restructuring. Consequently, the development of their verbal memory may rely on coarse phonological representations, which are less effective for storage.

These explanatory perspectives seem of great interest to us because, on the one hand, they highlight, through the notion of lexical restructuring, that it is possible that the memorization of phonological representations may occur more on underspecified structures for children with CIs, which aligns with our initial hypotheses. On the other hand, the effects on verbal working memory may also help to explain the specific link between phonological and morphosyntactic skills in the children of our studies: the quality of phonological representations has a direct impact not only on phonological accuracy but also on verbal working memory skills. The perception and production of morphosyntactic patterns require the manipulation of precise phonological units that must be maintained in memory long enough to be processed. A significant link between verbal memory performances and linguistic outcomes has been observed in many studies involving children

with CIs (Romano et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2022). Moreover, cognitive processing limitations have also been suggested as interpretative avenues for the morphosyntactic difficulties in children with CIs (Bourdin et al., 2016), particularly in cases of determiner omissions (Szagun, 2001).

2.2. Acoustic-linguistic interface

By introducing a score for the processing of morphophonological alternations based on the presence of nasal or oral vowels in study 5 (*Consonant and vowel production: an integrative study* - chapter 6) and linking speech production patterns with grammatical skills, we aimed to more directly study the impact of the specific perceptual difficulties due to CI limitations on associated grammatical skills. The very specific difficulties found in CI children in processing nasal and oral vowels in grammatical and lexical contexts, compared to other morphophonological oppositions, demonstrate difficulties that are closely related to perceptual challenges.

The strong correlations observed between the score for these morphophonological opposition morphemes (nasal vs. oral vowels) and the MS development score (MLUm) further indicate that children who are more adept at processing fine phonetic details, such as those carried by vowel nasality, are also more likely to achieve higher grammatical production skills. The ability of children to manage and compensate for perceptual limitations through a more effective use of relevant acoustic cues appears to be associated with better linguistic performance. The study of clusters formed by pooling all variables characterizing children in terms of phonetic and linguistic aspects confirms this hypothesis: the group of children with the lowest performance is the one that shows few signs of compensating for the specific difficulties associated to CIs.

3. Effects of implantation age: evidence in favor of sensitive periods of development?

Through the study of the effects of implantation age, numerous findings have been made regarding the CI population, highlighting the need to minimize the period of auditory deprivation, especially in prelingually deaf children, to quickly stimulate the cortical areas dedicated to auditory processing and their connections to language regions. Early implantation thus limits the colonization of auditory areas by other modalities, which can occur due to the brain's plasticity in response to auditory deprivation (Kral et al., 2016, 2019). Numerous studies have demonstrated the beneficial impact of early implantation on language development: some support the benefits of implantation before the age of 2 years (Nicholas & Geers, 2007), others argue that implantation between 12–18 months at the latest is necessary for optimal development (Kral et al., 2019), or even 9 months (Karltorp et al., 2020).

With regard to the studies carried out within this thesis, different effects of implantation age were observed for the different linguistic components evaluated. Indeed, implantation age effects were observed on both perceptive and productive skills for nasal and oral vowels (implantation age of 10 months, studies 1 - Perception of the vowel nasality feature - and 2 – Production of oral and nasal vowels), on skills in marking the nasal-oral difference (study 3 - Production of fricative consonants), on the distinction of the places of articulation for fricatives, and on the presence of high-frequency energy in the frication noise (study 3 - Production of fricative consonants - and 4 - Consonant and vowel production: an integrative study). Generally, the speech production profiles of early-implanted children were closer to those of children with typical hearing, as shown by the representations of the implantation age groups during the factorial analysis conducted on all acoustic measures (figure 5.5, chapter 5). In contrast, the second factorial analysis, which included linguistic measures in addition to acoustic measures (figure 7.3 – chapter 7), did not show an advantage for early-implanted children: the CI groups (implanted before or after 16 months) were distinctly different from the TH children across the factorial axes. We observed very few effects of implantation age regarding the linguistic components: no effect was observed on phonological scores, naming abilities, or MLUm scores. Only lexical diversity and the use of some function words (auxiliaries, reflexive pronouns) or verb forms (imperfect tense) showed an advantage for earlier-implanted children.

Moreno-Torres and colleagues (Moreno-Torres et al., 2016) tested the hypothesis of the existence of short sensitive periods for the development of "lower-level skills" in speech processing and speech production, in contrast to "higher-level" language skills, which might benefit from a longer sensitive period. They base this hypothesis on the dual-pathway model (Hickok, 2012; Hickok & Poeppel, 2004), which proposes that the brain's speech processing system comprises a dorsal pathway that integrates auditory-motor information required for segmental

processing and a ventral pathway that integrates auditory-conceptual information required for lexical processing. While the dorsal pathway uses fine acoustic details to integrate auditory representations with motor patterns, the ventral pathway, primarily dedicated to linking auditory representations to semantic information, relies only on coarse acoustic information. These two pathways normally work together to develop the phonological system, lexical-semantic knowledge, and grammatical skills.

The authors draw on findings in the literature concerning deficits in the development of lower-level skills (presumably more closely associated with the dorsal pathway and characterized by a very short sensitive period of development, according to the authors). In contrast, for higher-level skills, more variability in performance is observed, which may be related to the functioning of the ventral pathway with a longer sensitive period. The authors tested their hypothesis by examining the impact of implantation age and environmental factors (parental involvement and socioeconomic status - SES) on different measures of phonological accuracy and on various linguistic measures in children who received their implants before age 2 compared to their typical hearing peers. Significant correlations were observed between implantation age and the level of precision in producing the place of articulation for consonants, while environmental factors were correlated with linguistic measures (phonological, lexical, and morphosyntactic) as well as measures of precision in the manner of articulation and voicing features.

The authors attributed these differences to the fact that difficulties in processing the acoustic cues relevant for place of articulation are directly related to the CI technical limitations and depend on short sensitive periods in the development of the perceptual system. In contrast, measures related to acoustic features that are better encoded by the cochlear implant (CI) are less dependent on these short developmental periods because they are less affected by the CI's sound coding limitations. Higher-level skills are more closely related to environmental conditions. Indeed, a high SES and strong family involvement provide resources to compensate for CI-related limitations, with CI children in the study benefiting and achieving performances similar to those of typical-hearing children on higherlevel linguistic measures. Children less advantaged by their environment developed more slowly, lacking sufficient external support to compensate for their difficulties. According to the authors, developing higher-level skills in children implanted before the age of 2 depends largely on experience.

The differential effects between our implantation age groups on segmental perception and production skills, which are considered 'lower skills,' and other skills associated with 'higher skills', may support the findings of these authors. Early implantation promotes stimulation of highly demanding perceptual systems associated with processing a degraded and imprecisely coded input by the CI. The authors' findings could be extended to the compensation strategies discussed in this thesis. Early implantation may promote better adaptation to signal constraints within the 'lower skills,' thereby improving the functioning of the brain's dorsal processing pathway. It is more challenging for us to provide evidence for the involvement of environmental factors, as these were only approached in our study through parental education levels, which showed very few effects, even within the 'higher skills.' It is possible that this single measure did not capture the full effect of the environment and family involvement, which could explain some of the variability in performance. However, it is worth noting a higher prevalence of children with low SES levels within the cluster showing the weakest perceptual, productive, and linguistic performances, which could contribute to reflecting on the impact of the environment on overall language skills.

4. Sources of variations: a synthesis model

Before concluding this discussion on the limitations and perspectives of this thesis, we would like to put into perspective the main focus of our work, namely the study of perceptual limitations and their impact on linguistic components, in relation to all the factors involved, directly related to deafness and affecting the language of children with CI. We propose a preliminary integrative model as a basis for discussion (Figure 8.1).

In this synthesis model, it is proposed that deafness associated with cochlear implantation has a direct impact on three elements: first, it delays access to auditory input, thus to an oral language environment; second, it leads to several perceptual limitations even with the support of the implant; and; third, it is likely to cause, at least during the pre-implantation period and in the early postimplantation phase, a limitation in the quantity and possibly the quality of verbal exchanges between the child and their immediate surroundings. These different elements lead to various sources of influence on language development: delayed access to oral language is defined in the model as source A, resulting in a lack of stimulation of the auditory cortical areas and their connections with other language-related areas, thereby impacting language skills. The perceptual limitations related to the degraded auditory signal transmitted by the cochlear implant (CI) lead to sources of influence B, C, and D.

Indeed, these perceptual limitations will impact, on the one hand, phonetic discrimination skills, affecting the quality of phonological representations, which in turn limits the memorization and manipulation of appropriate fully specified phonological forms associated with lexical and grammatical morphemes (source B). On the other hand, these limitations will also affect the ability to process prosodic patterns, especially those carried by variations in fundamental frequency, leading to underspecified prosodic representations and thereby impacting the perception of salient elements in the oral utterances and the whole speech segmentation process (source C). These same difficulties are likely to cause pragmatic challenges (e.g., processing emotional prosody, understanding implicit language), which can also affect language skills by limiting opportunities for complex interactions. Similarly, the perceptual limitations related to sound processing by the CI also have a negative effect on speech perception in noise (source D), potentially reducing the quantity and quality of interactive exchanges in noisy environments commonly encountered in daily life. Source of influence E synthesizes the impact of these different factors and the limited quantity and quality of interactive language exchanges that are crucial for language development.

Based on this provisional integrative model, one can see that the questions that interested us in the context of this work primarily focused on source of influence B (the links between perceptual limitations and language) through the study of the effects of CS exposure, and, to some extent, on source A through the study of the effects of auditory age and implantation age. The effects related to limitations in the development of the prosodic system were also briefly addressed through questions about the prosodic bootstrapping of lexical acquisition and the study of determiner production. However, in order to achieve the "full picture", it would be necessary to consider the countless additional sources of mutual influence that may have played a role in the development mechanisms of the language components investigated, particularly through the medium of pragmatic skills, which are highly dependent on the quality of early and daily interactions to which children are exposed.



Figure 8.1: Synthetic model of the different sources of influence on language development in deaf children with cochlear implants (CIs). The arrows represent a causal link, and the double arrows represent an interaction effect between elements.

These different sources of variation interact with individual and environmental factors, which can constitute risk or protective factors, a notion borrowed from the environmental models of Bronfenbrenner (1994). In this context, late or unilateral implantation in cases of profound bilateral deafness could be considered risk factors, while the use of multisensory speech perception methods, such as CS, or high parental involvement could constitute protective factors.

Language development involves many sources of variability in typical hearing children, and even more so in deaf children with CI. The work carried out here has led to reflections on the nature of the sources of influence on overall language performance, providing perspectives for clinical and research investment. However, it is obviously necessary to maintain a holistic vision of the child and the different sources of influence on their language and communication development.

5. Clinical implications

The present thesis reveals various findings that raise concerns about the impact of the perceptual limitations of CI on linguistic development but also provide encouraging insights by observing possibilities for compensating for these limitations through the perceptual system.

Clinically, it seems essential to promote, by all means and as early as possible, the use of relevant and well-coded acoustic cues by the child's CI. To achieve this, the activation of multimodal speech perception cues through a method such as Cued Speech appears highly beneficial. However, its implementation must be both early and intensive, requiring significant parental involvement. The high results obtained by a group of children not exposed to CS also lead to questioning other sources that enable children to develop good language skills and utilize perceptual compensation strategies. In this regard, auditory-verbal therapy, a therapeutic approach focusing on training auditory perception, could also be an interesting option. This method is based on the premise that it is necessary to stimulate intensively perceptual auditory pathways and includes sessions with a practitioner and family coaching. The goal is to enhance the child's receptive skills through listening activities and regular assessments of objectives to adjust the follow-up. Recent studies have shown its positive impact on perceptual skills (Binos et al., 2021), similar to exposure to CS (Van Bogaert et al., 2023), suggesting that this approach could also be beneficial. It is entirely possible that by focusing on auditory attention and through the feedback received from people in their environment, the child may be more likely to access relevant acoustic details to discriminate sounds in their environment. It would be interesting to study further the impact of this type of method on the production skills of segments carried by fine acoustic cues to observe whether their positive impact compensates for the perceptual limitations of CIs, similarly to intensive exposure to CS. It should be noted that the parental involvement required by the method may also provide the environmental benefits extensively detailed in the literature. In the same vein, highvariability perceptual training programs also deserve our attention. This wellknown technique, which facilitates the acquisition of a second language, is part of an approach based on auditory training by using verbal material from multiple speakers in various phonetic contexts. This method has been proposed to demonstrate consistent long-term progress and a more substantial transfer of skills to production (Lively et al., 1993; Logan et al., 1991). Its application to the cochlear implant population has recently been tested in both adults (Miller et al., 2017) and Mandarin-speaking children (Zhang et al., 2024) and has shown benefits in the perception of lexical tone.

Parental involvement in the interventions for deaf children has been shown to be a crucial factor in language development (Ligny & Ciardelli, 2020; Moeller et al., 2013). Although this factor was not directly studied in this research, it was noted that inconsistent use of Cued Speech (CS) might not provide the benefits of this method for language acquisition (CS- group). It therefore seems essential to align with parents on the appropriate stimulation method, ensuring that they understand and integrate its significance to promote continuity between therapeutic follow-ups and the home environment. In this regard, it is also important to ensure that the approach suits the parents in terms of resources, to avoid implementing methods that may be disregarded in long term.

Furthermore, it seems highly beneficial to develop tools that allow for a detailed assessment of the specific difficulties related to the perceptual limitations of the implant, as well as possible compensation strategies. The acoustic analyses conducted in the present studies have highlighted the preferential use of certain acoustic cues, the observation of which could be highly relevant in diagnosis and clinical follow-up. However, these types of analyses are very time-consuming and not necessarily accessible in practice; therefore, it would be of great interest to develop tools that are accessible to clinicians and focused on these needs. Additionally, the specific links observed between phonological accuracy and morphosyntactic development highlight the importance of ensuring the quality and stability of phonological representations in monitoring children with grammatical difficulties. Appropriate interventions could help to work effectively on the perception and production of morphophonological alternations carried by "at-risk" acoustic correlates.

6. Limitations and future research directions

The various studies presented in this thesis, although providing interesting avenues for reflection, suffer from limitations that require caution when interpreting the results. As with much research on the population of CI users, the two samples of children with CI(s) recruited for the studies were relatively small. With such limited samples, studies of associated characteristics (exposure to Cued Speech, age groups, etc.) are even more restricted. Statistical precautions were implemented to limit uncontrolled random effects related to variability within the groups through modeling with random effects. Nonetheless, the small size of the different subgroups inevitably affects the statistical power and generalizability of the results.

Furthermore, it should be noted that the acoustic analyses conducted in studies 3, 4, 5, and 6 were based on productions from a naming task in which it was not possible to control the phonetic and syllabic context of each target segment the objective was mainly to select frequent words with a low age of acquisition. It is essential to control these aspects in acoustic analyses. However, precautions were also taken in this regard: for example, by eliminating the extreme part at the beginning and at the end of the segment for vowels and fricative consonants, and by using a multitaper spectrum to limit the impact of coarticulation effects on fricatives. The Voice Onset Time measurements, however, could have been affected by both the phonetic context and the speech rate of the children; thus, the results should be interpreted with caution.

Finally, a major limitation of the study is the lack of information regarding the children's family environment, particularly the level of parental involvement in care and the level of verbal stimulation received in the family context. These variables could have had a considerable uncontrolled impact on the study and may have contributed to some unexpected results. The impact of these elements could be further documented in future studies.

7. Conclusion

Beyond the observations of significant difficulties related to deafness and the processing of sound by the CI, the various studies carried out in the context of the present thesis also highlighted the substantial capacity of the perceptual system to adapt to the degraded sound signal and to compensate for difficulties through effective strategies. There is inter-individual variability in the use of these strategies, which can be partially traced to the methods of management (advantage of CS) and the timing of implantation.

Meaningful connections between these adaptive skills and linguistic abilities were also identified, with first overall phonological performance being linked to MS performance, and second profile analyses including all linguistic skills resulting in some profiles that combine poor adaptive capacity with weak linguistic performance. It seems essential to focus on the perceptual system's compensation mechanisms to encourage their use in the care and monitoring of children with CIs.

References

- Anand, A. K., Suri, N., Ganesh, J., Vepuri, R., Kumar, R., & Tiwari, N. (2022).
 Comparison of Outcomes in Unilateral and Bilateral Pediatric Cochlear
 Implants : Our Experience. *Indian Journal of Otolaryngology and Head & Neck Surgery*, 74(S1), 707-713. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12070-021-02458-3
- André-Faber, C. (2006). La langue en mouvements : Méthode de sensibilisation à la phonologie du français. Éditions Modulaires Européennes.
- Archbold, S., Harris, M., O'Donoghue, G., Nikolopoulos, T., White, A., & Lloyd Richmond, H. (2008). Reading abilities after cochlear implantation: The effect of age at implantation on outcomes at 5 and 7 years after implantation. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 72(10), 1471-1478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2008.06.016
- Aronoff, J. M., & Landsberger, D. M. (2013). The development of a modified spectral ripple test. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 134(2), 217-222. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.4813802
- Ashokumar, M., Guichet, C., Schwartz, J.-L., & Ito, T. (2023). Correlation between the Effect of Orofacial Somatosensory Inputs in Speech Perception and Speech Production Performance. *Auditory Perception & Cognition*, 6(1-2), 97-107. https://doi.org/10.1080/25742442.2022.2134674

- Bar-Shalom, E. G., Crain, S., & Shankweiler, D. (1993). A comparison of comprehension and production abilities of good and poor readers. *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 14(2), 197-227. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0142716400009553
- Başkent, D., Gaudrain, E., Tamati, T. N., & Wagner, A. (2016). Perception and Psychoacoustics of Speech in Cochlear Implant Users. In *Scientific Foundations of Audiology Perspectives from Physics, Biology, Modeling, and Medicine* (A. T. Cacace, E. de Kleine, A. G. Holt, P. van Dijk (Eds.), p. 285-319). Plural Publishing. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Chapter-12-Perception-and-Psychoacoustics-of-Speech-Ba%C5%9Fkent-

Gaudrain/1f189835c2daad7438b552010a038974b0e178de

- Başkent, D., & Shannon, R. V. (2005). Interactions between cochlear implant electrode insertion depth and frequency-place mapping. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 117(3), 1405-1416. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.1856273
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67(1). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Baudonck, N., Dhooge, I., D'haeseleer, E., & Van Lierde, K. (2010). A comparison of the consonant production between Dutch children using cochlear implants and children using hearing aids. *International Journal of Pediat*-

ric	Otorhinolaryngology,	74(4),	416-421.
https://de	oi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2010.01.017	,	

- Baudonck, N., Van Lierde, K., D'haeseleer, E., & Dhooge, I. (2015). Nasalance and nasality in children with cochlear implants and children with hearing aids. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 79(4), 541-545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2015.01.025
- Bayard, C., Colin, C., & Leybaert, J. (2014). How is the McGurk effect modulated by Cued Speech in deaf and hearing adults? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00416
- Benassi, E., Boria, S., Berghenti, M. T., Camia, M., Scorza, M., & Cossu, G. (2021). Morpho-Syntactic Deficit in Children with Cochlear Implant : Consequence of Hearing Loss or Concomitant Impairment to the Language System? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(18), 9475. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18189475
- Ben-Shachar, M., Lüdecke, D., & Makowski, D. (2020). effectsize : Estimation of Effect Size Indices and Standardized Parameters. *Journal of Open Source Software*, 5(56), 2815. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.02815
- Bertrand, F., & Maumy-Bertrand, M. (2009). *BioStatR : Initiation à La Statistique Avec* R (p. 4.0.1) [Jeu de données].
 https://doi.org/10.32614/CRAN.package.BioStatR
- Binos, P., Nirgianaki, E., & Psillas, G. (2021). How Effective Is Auditory–Verbal Therapy (AVT) for Building Language Development of Children with

Cochlear Implants? A Systematic Review. *Life*, 11(3), 239. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11030239

- Blacklock, O. (2004). Characteristics of variation in production of normal and disordered fricatives, using reduced-variance spectral methods. [Phd, University of Southampton]. https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/420069/
- Boersma, P., & Weenink, D. (2023). *Praat : Doing Phonetics by Computer*. https://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/praat/
- Bonfils, P., & Avan, P. (2005). Evaluation du système auditif. In Précis d'audiophonologie et de déglutition : Tome 1–L'oreille et les voies de l'audition (Dulgerov P., Remacle M., Vol. 1). Solal.
- Boone, D. R. (1966). Modification of the voices of deaf children. *Volta Review*, 68, 686-692.
- Borel, S. (2015). Perception auditive, visuelle et audiovisuelle des voyelles nasales par les adultes devenus sourds. Lecture labiale, implant cochléaire, implant du tronc cérébral. Université Sorbonne Paris Cité.
- Borel, S., Serniclaes, W., Sterkers, O., & Vaissière, J. (2019). L'identification des consonnes et voyelles nasales par les adultes implantés cochléaires franco-phones. *Audiology Direct*, 3, 1. https://doi.org/10.1051/audiodir/201903001
- Bourdin, B., Ibernon, L., Le Driant, B., Levrez, C., & Vandromme, L. (2016). Troubles morphosyntaxiques chez l'enfant sourd et chez l'enfant dyspha-

sique : Similarités et spécificités: *Revue de neuropsychologie*, *Volume 8*(3), 161-172. https://doi.org/10.1684/nrp.2016.0386

- Bouton, S., Bertoncini, J., Serniclaes, W., & Cole, P. (2011). Reading and Reading-Related Skills in Children Using Cochlear Implants : Prospects for the Influence of Cued Speech. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, *16*(4), 458-473. https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/enr014
- Bouton, S., Serniclaes, W., Bertoncini, J., & Colé, P. (2012). Perception of Speech Features by French-Speaking Children With Cochlear Implants. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 55(1), 139-153. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2011/10-0330)
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1994). Ecological models of human development. *International encyclopedia of education*, 3(2), 37-43.
- Calabrino, A. (2006). EFFETS ACOUSTIQUES DU DÉBIT SUR LA PRODUCTION DE LA PAROLE CHEZ DES LOCUTEURS ENFANTS ET ADULTES. Actes du Xe Colloque des étudiants en sciences du langage, 61-83.
- Cambra, C., Losilla, J. M., Mena, N., & Pérez, E. (2021). Differences in picture naming between children with cochlear implants and children with typical hearing. *Heliyon*, 7(12), e08507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08507
- Canfarotta, M. W., O'Connell, B. P., Giardina, C. K., Buss, E., Brown, K. D., Dillon, M. T., Rooth, M. A., Pillsbury, H. C., Buchman, C. A., Adunka, O.

- F., & Fitzpatrick, D. C. (2021). Relationship Between Electrocochleography, Angular Insertion Depth, and Cochlear Implant Speech Perception Outcomes. *Ear* & *Hearing*, *42*(4), 941-948. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.000000000000985
- Carignan, C. (2014). An acoustic and articulatory examination of the "oral" in "nasal": The oral articulations of French nasal vowels are not arbitrary. *Journal of Phonetics*, 46, 23-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wocn.2014.05.001
- Carignan, C. (2021). A practical method of estimating the time-varying degree of vowel nasalization from acoustic features. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 149(2), 911-922. https://doi.org/10.1121/10.0002925
- Carignan, C., Chen, J., Harvey, M., Stockigt, C., Simpson, J., & Strangways, S. (2023). An investigation of the dynamics of vowel nasalization in Arabana using machine learning of acoustic features. *Laboratory Phonology*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.16995/labphon.9152
- Carlson, M. L. (2020). Cochlear Implantation in Adults. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(16), 1531-1542. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1904407
- Carlyon, R. P., & Goehring, T. (2021). Cochlear Implant Research and Development in the Twenty-first Century : A Critical Update. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, 22(5), 481-508. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-021-00811-5

- Caselli, M. C., Rinaldi, P., Varuzza, C., Giuliani, A., & Burdo, S. (2012). Cochlear Implant in the Second Year of Life: Lexical and Grammatical Outcomes. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 55(2), 382-394. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2011/10-0248)
- Chadee, T. (2013). Influences de l'écrit sur la perception auditive : Le cas de locuteurs hindiphones apprenant le français. Université Toulouse le Mirail.
- Chalard, M., Bonin, P., Méot, A., Boyer, B., & Fayol, M. (2003). Objective ageof-acquisition (AoA) norms for a set of 230 object names in French : Relationships with psycholinguistic variables, the English data from Morrison et al. (1997), and naming latencies. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 15(2), 209-245. https://doi.org/10.1080/09541440244000076
- Charlier, B. (2020). Communication et qualité de vie. In Surdités de l'enfant et de l'adulte. Bilans et interventions orthophoniques (Leybaert J., Borel S.). De Boeck Supérieur.
- Chatterjee, M., Feller, A., Kulkarni, A. M., & Galvin, J. J. (2023). Emotional prosody perception and production are linked in prelingually deaf children with cochlear implants. *JASA Express Letters*, 3(12), 127601. https://doi.org/10.1121/10.0023996
- Chatterjee, M., Zion, D. J., Deroche, M. L., Burianek, B. A., Limb, C. J., Goren, A. P., Kulkarni, A. M., & Christensen, J. A. (2015). Voice emotion recognition by cochlear-implanted children and their normally-hearing peers.

- Chen, M. Y. (1995). Acoustic parameters of nasalized vowels in hearing-impaired and normal-hearing speakers. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 98(5), 2443-2453. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.414399
- Chen, M. Y. (1997). Acoustic correlates of English and French nasalized vowels. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *102*(4), 2360-2370. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.419620
- Chen, T., & Guestrin, C. (2016). XGBoost: A Scalable Tree Boosting System. Proceedings of the 22nd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, 785-794. https://doi.org/10.1145/2939672.2939785
- Cheng, H.-S., Niziolek, C. A., Buchwald, A., & McAllister, T. (2021). Examining the Relationship Between Speech Perception, Production Distinctness, and Production Variability. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 15, 660948. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.660948
- Cheng, K., & Chen, X. (2020). The Effects of Intrinsic Acoustic Cues on Categorical Perception in Children with Cochlear Implants. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, 10(5), 110. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijel.v10n5p110

- Chiat, S. (2001). Mapping theories of developmental language impairment: Premises, predictions and evidence. *Language and Cognitive Processes*, *16*(2-3), 113-142. https://doi.org/10.1080/01690960042000012
- Chilosi, A. M., Comparini, A., Scusa, M. F., Orazini, L., Forli, F., Cipriani, P., & Berrettini, S. (2013). A Longitudinal Study of Lexical and Grammar Development in Deaf Italian Children Provided With Early Cochlear Implantation. *Ear & Hearing*, 34(3), 28-37. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.0b013e31827ad687
- Ciardelli, R., & Ligny, C. (2020). Bilan étiologiques des surdités de l'enfant. In Surdités de l'enfant et de l'adulte. Bilans et interventions orthophoniques.
 (Borel S., Leybaert J.). De Boeck Supérieur.
- Colin, C., Leybaert, J., Charlier, B., Mansbach, A.-L., Ligny, C., Ventura, M., & Deltenre, P. (2008). Apport de la modalité visuelle dans la perception de la parole. *Cahiers de l'audition*, *21*(2), 42-49.
- Connor, C. M., Craig, H. K., Raudenbush, S. W., Heavner, K., & Zwolan, T. A. (2006). The Age at Which Young Deaf Children Receive Cochlear Implants and Their Vocabulary and Speech-Production Growth : Is There an Added Value for Early Implantation?: *Ear and Hearing*, 27(6), 628-644. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.aud.0000240640.59205.42
- Conway, C. M., & Christiansen, M. H. (2005). Modality-Constrained Statistical Learning of Tactile, Visual, and Auditory Sequences. *Journal of Experi-*

mental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 31(1), 24-39. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.31.1.24

- Conway, C. M., Deocampo, J. A., Walk, A. M., Anaya, E. M., & Pisoni, D. B. (2014). Deaf Children With Cochlear Implants Do Not Appear to Use Sentence Context to Help Recognize Spoken Words. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 57*(6), 2174-2190. https://doi.org/10.1044/2014 JSLHR-L-13-0236
- Conway, C. M., Pisoni, D. B., & Kronenberger, W. G. (2009). The Importance of Sound for Cognitive Sequencing Abilities : The Auditory Scaffolding Hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(5), 275-279. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01651.x
- Cornett, R. O. (1967). Cued speech. American Annals of the Deaf, 112(1), 3-13.
- Cornillon, P.-A., Guyader, A., Husson, F., Jégou, N., Josse, J., Klutchnikoff, N.,
 Le Pennec, E., Matzner-Lober, E., Rouvière, L., & Thieurmal, B. (2018).
 Classification non supervisée. In *R pour la statistique et la science des données*. (Husson François). Saic Edition.
- Corretge, R. (2019). Praat Vocal Toolkit [Logiciel]. http://www. praatvocaltoolkit.com
- Crnkovic, V. (2005). La polyclinique SUVAG. Connaissances surdité, 15, 31-32.
- David, C., Tuller, L., Schweitzer, E., Lescanne, E., Bonnet, -Brilhault Frédérique, Gomot, M., & Ferr, é S. (2021). Does Phonological Complexity Provide a Good Index of Language Disorder in Children With Cochlear Implants?

Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 64(11), 4271-4286. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021_JSLHR-20-00642

- Delattre, P. (1954). Les Attributs Acoustiques De La Na-Salité Vocalique Et Consonantique. *Studia Linguistica*, 8(1-2), 103-109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9582.1954.tb00507.x
- Delattre, P., & Monnot, M. (1968). THE ROLE OF DURATION IN THE IDENTIFICATION OF FRENCH NASAL VOWELS. *IRAL - International Review of Applied Linguistics in Language Teaching*, 6(1-4). https://doi.org/10.1515/iral.1968.6.1-4.267
- Delcenserie, A., Genesee, F., & Champoux, F. (2024). Exposure to sign language prior and after cochlear implantation increases language and cognitive skills in deaf children. *Developmental Science*, 27(4), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.13481
- Delvaux, V. (2002). Contrôle et connaissance phonétique : Les voyelles nasales du français. Université Libre de Bruxelles.
- Delvaux, V. (2012). Les voyelles nasales du français. Aérodynamique, articulation, acoustique et perception. Peter Lang. https://www.peterlang.com/document/1108931
- Delvaux, V., Demolin, D., Soquet, A., & Kingston, J. (2004). La perception des voyelles nasales du français. *Actes des XXVèmes JEP*, 157-160.
- Delvaux, V., & Metens, T. (2002). Propriétés acoustiques et articulatoires des voyelles nasales du français. XXIVèmes Journées d'étude sur la parole.

Demuth, K., & Tremblay, A. (2008). Prosodically-conditioned variability in children's production of French determiners. *Journal of Child Language*, 35(1), 99-127. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0305000907008276

Deriaz, M., Pelizzone, M., & Fornos, A. P. (2014). Simultaneous Development of
2 Oral Languages by Child Cochlear Implant Recipients. *Otology & Neurotology*, 35(9), 1541-1544.
https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.00000000000497

- Desrosières, A., Goy, A., & Thévenot, L. (1983). L'identité sociale dans le travail statistique : La nouvelle nomenclature des professions et catégories socio-professionnelles. *Economie et statistique*, 152(1), 55-81. https://doi.org/10.3406/estat.1983.4721
- Detey, S. (2005). Interphonologie et représentations orthographiques. Du rôle de l'écrit dans l'enseignement / apprentissage du français oral chez des étudiants japonais. Université Toulouse le Mirail.
- Dettman, S. J., Dowell, R. C., Choo, D., Arnott, W., Abrahams, Y., Davis, A., Dornan, D., Leigh, J., Constantinescu, G., Cowan, R., & Briggs, R. J. (2016). Long-term Communication Outcomes for Children Receiving Cochlear Implants Younger Than 12 Months : A Multicenter Study. *Otology* & *Neurotology*, 37(2), e82-e95. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.00000000000015
- DiNino, M., & Arenberg, J. G. (2018). Age-Related Performance on Vowel Identification and the Spectral-temporally Modulated Ripple Test in Children

With Normal Hearing and With Cochlear Implants. *Trends in Hearing*, 22, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1177/2331216518770959

- DiNino, M., Arenberg, J. G., Duchen, A. L. R., & Winn, M. B. (2020). Effects of Age and Cochlear Implantation on Spectrally Cued Speech Categorization. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 63(7), 2425-2440. https://doi.org/10.1044/2020_JSLHR-19-00127
- Ditges, R., Barbieri, E., Thompson, C. K., Weintraub, S., Weiller, C., Mesulam,
 M.-M., Kümmerer, D., Schröter, N., & Musso, M. (2021). German Language Adaptation of the NAVS (NAVS-G) and of the NAT (NAT-G):
 Testing Grammar in Aphasia. *Brain Sciences*, 11(4), 474.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11040474
- Duchesne, L., Sutton, A., & Bergeron, F. (2009). Language Achievement in Children Who Received Cochlear Implants Between 1 and 2 Years of Age:
 Group Trends and Individual Patterns. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 14(4), 465-485. https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/enp010
- Dulguerov, P. (2005). Surdités de transmission. In Précis d'audiophonologie et de déglutition : Tome 1–L'oreille et les voies de l'audition. (Dulguerov P., Remacle M., Vol. 1). Solal.
- Dunn, C. C., Noble, W., Tyler, R. S., Kordus, M., Gantz, B. J., & Ji, H. (2010).
 Bilateral and Unilateral Cochlear Implant Users Compared on Speech Perception in Noise. *Ear & Hearing*, *31*(2), 296-298.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.0b013e3181c12383

- Dunn, C. C., Walker, E. A., Oleson, J., Kenworthy, M., Van Voorst, T., Tomblin, J. B., Ji, H., Kirk, K. I., McMurray, B., Hanson, M., & Gantz, B. J. (2014).
 Longitudinal Speech Perception and Language Performance in Pediatric Cochlear Implant Users : The Effect of Age at Implantation. *Ear & Hear*-*ing*, *35*(2), 148-160. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.0b013e3182a4a8f0
- Dunoyer de Segonzac, M. (1991). Pour que vibre la dynamique naturelle de la parole. E. Robert.
- Duran, P., Malvern, D., Richards, B., & Chipere, N. (2004). Developmental Trends in Lexical Diversity. *Applied Linguistics*, 25(2), 220-242. https://doi.org/10.1093/applin/25.2.220
- Escudé, B., James, C., Deguine, O., Cochard, N., Eter, E., & Fraysse, B. (2006). The Size of the Cochlea and Predictions of Insertion Depth Angles for Cochlear Implant Electrodes. *Audiology and Neurotology*, *11*(Suppl. 1), 27-33. https://doi.org/10.1159/000095611
- Eshaghi, M., Darouie, A., & Teymouri, R. (2022). The Auditory Perception of Consonant Contrasts in Cochlear Implant Children. *Indian Journal of Otolaryngology and Head & Neck Surgery*, 74(S1), 455-459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12070-020-02250-9
- Everhardt, M. K., Sarampalis, A., Coler, M., Başkent, D., & Lowie, W. (2020). Meta-Analysis on the Identification of Linguistic and Emotional Prosody in Cochlear Implant Users and Vocoder Simulations. *Ear & Hearing*, 41(5), 1092-1102. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.00000000000863

- Faes, J., & Gillis, S. (2016). Word initial fricative production in children with cochlear implants and their normally hearing peers matched on lexicon size. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 30(12), 959-982. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699206.2016.1213882
- Fagniart, S., Charlier, B., Delvaux, V., Harmegnies, B., Huberlant, A., Piccaluga, M., & Huet, K. (2024b). Consonant and vowel production in children with cochlear implants : Acoustic measures and multiple factor analysis. *Frontiers in Audiology and Otology*, 2, 1-22. https://doi.org/doi: 10.3389/fauot.2024.1425959
- Fagniart, S., Charlier, B., Delvaux, V., Harmegnies, B., Huberlant, A., Piccaluga, M., & Huet, K. (2024c). Production of fricative consonants in French-speaking children with cochlear implants and typical hearing: Acoustic and phonological analyses. *Proc. Interspeech* 2024, 877-881. https://doi.org/10.21437/Interspeech.2024-871
- Fagniart, S., Delvaux, V., Harmegnies, B., Huberlant, A., Huet, K., Piccaluga, M.,
 & Charlier, B. (in press). Producing nasal vowels without nasalization?
 Perceptual judgments and acoustic measurements of nasal/oral vowels produced by children with cochlear implants and typically hearing peers.
 Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research.
- Fagniart, S., Delvaux, V., Harmegnies, B., Huberlant, A., Huet, K., Piccaluga, M.,Watterman, I., & Charlier, B. (2024a). Nasal/Oral Vowel Perception inFrench-Speaking Children With Cochlear Implants and Children With

Typical Hearing. Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 67(4), 1243-1267. https://doi.org/10.1044/2024 JSLHR-23-00274

- Fagyal, Z., Kibbee, D., & Jenkins, F. (2006). French: A Linguistic Introduction. Cambridge University Press.
- Fan, X., Yang, T., Fan, Y., Song, W., Gu, W., Lu, X., Chen, Y., & Chen, X. (2023). Hearing outcomes following cochlear implantation with anatomic or default frequency mapping in postlingual deafness adults. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-023-08151-1
- Fant, G. (1960). Acoustic Theory of Speech Production : With Calculations Based on X-ray Studies of Russian Articulations. Mouton.
- Fletcher, S. G., Mahfuzh, F., & Hendarmin, H. (1999). Nasalance in the Speech of Children With Normal Hearing and Children With Hearing Loss. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 8(3), 241-248. https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360.0803.241
- Flipsen, P. J., & Kangas, K. (2014). Mean Length of Utterance (MLU) in Children with Cochlear Implants. *The Volta Review*, 114(2), 135-155. https://doi.org/10.17955/tvr.114.2.744
- Forrest, K., Weismer, G., Milenkovic, P., & Dougall, R. N. (1988). Statistical analysis of word-initial voiceless obstruents : Preliminary data. *The Journal* of the Acoustical Society of America, 84(1), 115-123. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.396977

- Fortune, T. W., Woodruff, B. D., & Preves, D. A. (1994). A New Technique for Quantifying Temporal Envelope Contrasts: *Ear and Hearing*, 15(1), 93-99. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003446-199402000-00011
- Fougeron, C., & Smith, C. L. (1993). French. Journal of the International Phonetic Association, 23(2), 73-76. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025100300004874
- Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2018). An R Companion to Applied Regression (SAGE Publications, Inc). https://www.john-fox.ca/Companion/index.html
- Friederici, A. D. (2012). Language Development and the Ontogeny of the Dorsal Pathway. *Frontiers in Evolutionary Neuroscience*, 4, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnevo.2012.00003
- Friesen, L. (2019). What is a cochlear implant? [Image]. Cochlear Implant Brain And Behavior Lab. https://cochlearimplant.lab.uconn.edu/cochlearimplant-information/resources-for-people-with-cochlear-implants/
- Gao, Q., Wong, L. L. N., & Chen, F. (2021). A Review of Speech Perception of Mandarin-Speaking Children With Cochlear Implantation. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 15, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2021.773694
- Gaudrain, E., & Başkent, D. (2018). Discrimination of Voice Pitch and Vocal-Tract Length in Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear & Hearing*, 39(2), 226-237. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.000000000000480
- Geers, A. E., Moog, J. S., Biedenstein, J., Brenner, C., & Hayes, H. (2009). Spoken Language Scores of Children Using Cochlear Implants Compared to

Hearing Age-Mates at School Entry. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, *14*(3), 371-385. https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/enn046

- Geers, A. E., Nicholas, J. G., & Sedey, A. L. (2003). Language Skills of Children with Early Cochlear Implantation: *Ear and Hearing*, 24(Supplement), 46-58. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AUD.0000051689.57380.1B
- Giezen, M. R., Escudero, P., & Baker, A. (2010). Use of Acoustic Cues by Children With Cochlear Implants. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 53(6), 1440-1457. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2010/09-0252)
- Gifford, R. H., Noble, J. H., Camarata, S. M., Sunderhaus, L. W., Dwyer, R. T., Dawant, B. M., Dietrich, M. S., & Labadie, R. F. (2018). The Relationship Between Spectral Modulation Detection and Speech Recognition : Adult Versus Pediatric Cochlear Implant Recipients. *Trends in Hearing*, 22, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1177/2331216518771176
- Grandon, B. (2016). Développement typique et atypique de la production de parole : Caractéristiques segmentales et intelligibilité de la parole d'enfants porteurs d'un implant cochléaire et d'enfants normo-entendants de 5 à 11 ans. [Université Grenoble Alpes]. https://theses.hal.science/tel-01690615
- Grandon, B., Martinez, M.-J., Samson, A., & Vilain, A. (2020). Long-term effects of cochlear implantation on the intelligibility of speech in French-speaking children. *Journal of Child Language*, 47(4), 881-892. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0305000919000837

- Grandon, B., & Vilain, A. (2020). Development of fricative production in Frenchspeaking school-aged children using cochlear implants and children with normal hearing. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 86, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2020.105996
- Grandon, B., Vilain, A., Lœvenbruck, H., Schmerber, S., & Truy, E. (2017). Realisation of voicing by French-speaking CI children after long-term implant use: An acoustic study. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 31(7-9), 598-611. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699206.2017.1302511
- Green, P., & MacLeod, C. J. (2016). SIMR : An R package for power analysis of generalized linear mixed models by simulation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(4), 493-498. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12504
- Guberina, P. (1963). Verbo-Tonal Method and its application to the rehabilitation of the deaf. *Report of the Proceedings of the International Congress on education of the deaf*, 279-293.
- Guevara, N., & Macherey, O. (2018). Traitement du signal. In Surdités : Actualités, innovations et espoirs. (Elsevier Health Sciences).
- Guo, L.-Y., & Spencer, L. J. (2017). Development of Grammatical Accuracy in English-Speaking Children With Cochlear Implants: A Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 60*(4), 1062-1075. https://doi.org/10.1044/2016_JSLHR-H-16-0182
- Hage, C. (2005). De la communication au langage : Développement du langage oral chez l'enfant atteint de déficience auditive profonde. In *L'acquisition*

du langage par l'enfant sourd : Les signes, l'oral et l'écrit. (C. Transler, J. Leybaert, J. E. Gombert, p. 121-146). Solal.

- Hansson, K., Ibertsson, T., Asker-Árnason, L., & Sahlén, B. (2017). Phonological processing, grammar and sentence comprehension in older and younger generations of Swedish children with cochlear implants. *Autism & Developmental Language Impairments*, 2, 239694151769280. https://doi.org/10.1177/2396941517692809
- HAS. (2012). Le traitement de la surdité par implants cochléaires ou du tronc cé-rébral. (Bon usage des technologies médicales). Haute Autorité de Santé.
- Hawes, V. (2004). Développement de la morphosyntaxe chez 5 enfants sourds porteurs d'un implant : Complémentarité des informations auditives et visuelles. [Mémoire de fin d'étude].
- Hawks, J. W., Fourakis, M. S., Skinner, M. W., Holden, T. A., & Holden, L. K.(1997). Effects of formant bandwidth on the identification of synthetic vowels by cochlear implant recipients. *Ear and Hearing*, *18*(6), 479-487.
- Hedlung, G., & Rose, Y. (2020). Phon (Version 3.1) [Logiciel]. https://phon.ca
- Hedrick, M., Bahng, J., von Hapsburg, D., & Younger, M. S. (2011). Weighting of cues for fricative place of articulation perception by children wearing cochlear implants. *International Journal of Audiology*, 50(8), 540-547. https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2010.549515
- Henry, B. A., & Turner, C. W. (2003). The resolution of complex spectral patterns by cochlear implant and normal-hearing listeners. *The Journal of the*

Acoustical Society of America, 113(5), 2861-2873. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.1561900

- Henry, B. A., Turner, C. W., & Behrens, A. (2005). Spectral peak resolution and speech recognition in quiet : Normal hearing, hearing impaired, and cochlear implant listeners. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *118*(2), 1111-1121. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.1944567
- Hess, C., Zettler-Greeley, C., Godar, S. P., Ellis-Weismer, S., & Litovsky, R. Y.
 (2014). The Effect of Differential Listening Experience on the Development of Expressive and Receptive Language in Children With Bilateral Cochlear Implants. *Ear & Hearing*, 35(4), 387-395. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.00000000000023
- Hickok, G. (2012). Computational neuroanatomy of speech production. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *13*(2), 135-145. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3158
- Hickok, G., & Poeppel, D. (2004). Dorsal and ventral streams : A framework for understanding aspects of the functional anatomy of language. *Cognition*, 92(1-2), 67-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2003.10.011
- Hilaire, G., Régol, V., & Jisa, H. (2002). Développement morpho-phonologique de deux enfants en train d'acquérir le français après un implant cochléaire.
- Holder, J. T., Dwyer, N. C., & Gifford, R. H. (2020). Duration of Processor Use Per Day Is Significantly Correlated With Speech Recognition Abilities in

Adults With Cochlear Implants. *Otology & Neurotology*, *41*(2), 227-231. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.00000000002477

- Holzinger, D., Dall, M., Sanduvete-Chaves, S., Saldaña, D., Chacón-Moscoso, S.,
 & Fellinger, J. (2020). The Impact of Family Environment on Language
 Development of Children With Cochlear Implants : A Systematic Review
 and Meta-Analysis. *Ear & Hearing*, *41*(5), 1077-1091.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.00000000000852
- Horga, D., & Liker, M. (2006). Voice and pronunciation of cochlear implant speakers. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 20(2-3), 211-217. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699200400027015
- Horn, D. L., Dudley, D. J., Dedhia, K., Nie, K., Drennan, W. R., Won, J. H., Rubinstein, J. T., & Werner, L. A. (2017). Effects of age and hearing mechanism on spectral resolution in normal hearing and cochlear-implanted listeners. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 141(1), 613-623. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.4974203
- House, A. S., & Stevens, K. N. (1956). Analog Studies Of The Nasalization Of Vowels. Journal of Speech and Hearing Disorders, 21(2), 218-232. https://doi.org/10.1044/jshd.2102.218
- Huber, M., & Kipman, U. (2012). Cognitive Skills and Academic Achievement of Deaf Children with Cochlear Implants. *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, 147(4), 763-772. https://doi.org/10.1177/0194599812448352

- Husson, F., Josse, J., Le, S., & Mazet, J. (2024). *FactoMineR : Multivariate Exploratory Data Analysis and Data Mining* (Version 2.11) [Logiciel]. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/FactoMineR/index.html
- Huttenlocher, J., Vasilyeva, M., Cymerman, E., & Levine, S. (2002). Language input and child syntax. *Cognitive Psychology*, 45(337-374).
- Ismail, F. Y., Fatemi, A., & Johnston, M. V. (2017). Cerebral plasticity: Windows of opportunity in the developing brain. *European Journal of Paediatric Neurology*, 21(1), 23-48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpn.2016.07.007
- Ito, T., Tiede, M., & Ostry, D. J. (2009). Somatosensory function in speech perception. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(4), 1245-1248. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0810063106
- Jahn, K. N., Arenberg, J. G., & Horn, D. L. (2022). Spectral Resolution Development in Children With Normal Hearing and With Cochlear Implants : A Review of Behavioral Studies. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 65(4), 1646-1658. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021_JSLHR-21-00307
- Jakobson, R. (1968). Child Language: Aphasia and Phonological Universals. Walter de Gruyter.
- Jesus, L. M. T., & Shadle, C. H. (2002). A parametric study of the spectral characteristics of European Portuguese fricatives. *Journal of Phonetics*, 30(3), 437-464. https://doi.org/10.1006/jpho.2002.0169

- Joanisse, M. F., & Seidenberg, M. S. (1998). Specific language impairment : A deficit in grammar or processing? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *2*(7), 240-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(98)01186-3
- Jung, J., & Ertmer, D. J. (2018). Grammatical Abilities in Young Cochlear Implant Recipients and Children With Normal Hearing Matched by Vocabulary Size. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 27(2), 751-764. https://doi.org/10.1044/2018 AJSLP-16-0164
- Karltorp, E., Eklöf, M., Östlund, E., Asp, F., Tideholm, B., & Löfkvist, U. (2020).
 Cochlear implants before 9 months of age led to more natural spoken language development without increased surgical risks. *Acta Paediatrica*, 109(2), 332-341. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.14954
- Kassambara, A., & Mundt, F. (2020). *factoextra : Extract and Visualize the Results of Multivariate Data Analyses* (Version 1.0.7) [Logiciel]. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/factoextra/index.html
- Kelly, J. (s. d.). The Ear | Biology of Aging. [Image]. Consulté 9 mars 2024, à l'adresse https://courses.lumenlearning.com/atd-herkimerbiologyofaging/chapter/audition-and-somatosensation/#m46577-figch14_01_04
- Kiersch, S. (2024). Démystifier la langue parlée complétée pour mieux comprendre son utilisation. [Image]. AQEPA Provincial.
- Kim, J., & Chin, S. B. (2008). Fortition and lenition patterns in the acquisition of obstruents by children with cochlear implants. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 22(3), 233-251. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699200701869925
- Klinck, V., Devos, P., & Borel, S. (2020). Système d'appareillages auditifs. In Surdités de l'enfant et de l'adulte. Bilans et interventions orthophoniques.
 (Borel S., Leybaert J.). De Boeck Supérieur.
- Koenig, L. L., Shadle, C. H., Preston, J. L., & Mooshammer, C. R. (2013). Toward improved spectral measures of /s/: Results from adolescents. *Journal* of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research: JSLHR, 56(4), 1175-1189. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2012/12-0038)
- Kos, M.-I., Deriaz, M., Guyot, J.-P., & Pelizzone, M. (2009). What can be expected from a late cochlear implantation? *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 73(2), 189-193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2008.10.009
- Kral, A., Dorman, M. F., & Wilson, B. S. (2019). Neuronal Development of Hearing and Language : Cochlear Implants and Critical Periods. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 42(1), 47-65. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevneuro-080317-061513
- Kral, A., Kronenberger, W. G., Pisoni, D. B., & O'Donoghue, G. M. (2016). Neurocognitive factors in sensory restoration of early deafness : A connectome model. *The Lancet Neurology*, *15*(6), 610-621. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00034-X

- Kronenberger, W. G., Colson, B. G., Henning, S. C., & Pisoni, D. B. (2014). Executive Functioning and Speech-Language Skills Following Long-Term Use of Cochlear Implants. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 19(4), 456-470. https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/enu011
- Landsberger, D. M., Padilla, M., Martinez, A. S., & Eisenberg, L. S. (2018).
 Spectral-Temporal Modulated Ripple Discrimination by Children with Cochlear Implants. *Ear and hearing*, 39(1), 60-68. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.00000000000463
- Landsberger, D., Stupak, N., Green, J., Tona, K., Padilla, M., Martinez, A., Eisenberg, L., & Waltzman, S. (2019). Temporal Modulation Detection in Children and Adults With Cochlear Implants : Initial Results. *Otology & Neurotology, 40, e311-e315.*https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.00000000002122
- Lane, H., Matthies, M., Perkell, J., Vick, J., & Zandipour, M. (2001). The Effects of Changes in Hearing Status in Cochlear Implant Users on the Acoustic Vowel Space and CV Coarticulation. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 44(3), 552-563. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2001/043)
- Le Normand, M. T., & Moreno-Torres, I. (2014). The role of linguistic and environmental factors on grammatical development in French children with cochlear implants. *Lingua*, *139*, 26-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lingua.2013.02.012

- Le Normand, M.-T. L. (2004). Evaluation du lexique de production chez des enfants sourds profonds munis d'un implant cochléaire sur un suivi de trois ans. *Rééduction Orthophonique*, 217.
- Le Normand, M.-T., & Thai-Van, H. (2023). Early grammar-building in French-speaking deaf children with cochlear implants : A follow-up corpus study. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 58, 1204-1022.
- Lenth, R. V., Bolker, B., Buerkner, P., Giné-Vázquez, I., Herve, M., Jung, M., Love, J., Miguez, F., Riebl, H., & Singmann, H. (2023). *emmeans : Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means* (Version 1.8.8) [Logiciel]. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/emmeans/index.html
- Leonard, L. B., McGregor, K. K., & Allen, G. D. (1992). Grammatical Morphology and Speech Perception in Children With Specific Language Impairment. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 35(5), 1076-1085. https://doi.org/10.1044/jshr.3505.1076
- Leybaert, J., Bayard, C., Colin, C., & LaSasso, C. J. (2016). Cued speech and cochlear implants : A powerful combination for natural spoken language acquisition and the development of reading. In *The Oxford handbook of deaf studies in language* (Marschark M., Spencer P.E.). Oxford University Press.

- Leybaert, J., & Colin, C. (2007). Le rôle des informations visuelles dans le développement du langage de l'enfant sourd muni d'un implant cochléaire: *Enfance*, *Vol. 59*(3), 245-253. https://doi.org/10.3917/enf.593.0245
- Leybaert, J., & LaSasso, C. J. (2010). Cued Speech for Enhancing Speech Perception and First Language Development of Children With Cochlear Implants.
 Trends in Amplification, 14(2), 96-112. https://doi.org/10.1177/1084713810375567
- Ligny, C., & Ciardelli, R. (2020). Facteurs prédictifs influançant l'évolution de l'enfant sourd. In *Surdités de l'enfant et de l'adulte. Bilans et interventions orthophoniques.* (Borel S., Leybaert J.). De Boeck Supérieur.
- Liker, M., Mildner, V., & Šindija, B. (2007). Acoustic analysis of the speech of children with cochlear implants : A longitudinal study. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 21(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699200400026991
- Lina-Granade, G., & Truy, E. (2017). Stratégie diagnostique et thérapeutique devant une surdité de l'enfant. *Journal de Pédiatrie et de Puériculture*, 30(5-6), 228-248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpp.2017.09.011
- Lisker, L., & Abramson, A. S. (1964). A Cross-Language Study of Voicing in Initial Stops: Acoustical Measurements. WORD, 20(3), 384-422. https://doi.org/10.1080/00437956.1964.11659830
- Lively, S. E., Logan, J. S., & Pisoni, D. B. (1993). Training Japanese listeners to identify English /r/ and /l/. II : The role of phonetic environment and talker variability in learning new perceptual categories. *The Journal of the Acous*-

tical Society of America, 94(3), 1242-1255. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.408177

- Logan, J. S., Lively, S. E., & Pisoni, D. B. (1991). Training Japanese listeners to identify English /r/ and /l/: A first report. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 89(2), 874-886. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.1894649
- Loizou, P. C. (2006). Speech processing in vocoder-centric cochlear implants. *Advances in Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 64, 109-143. https://doi.org/10.1159/000094648
- Luce, P. A., & Pisoni, D. B. (1998). Recognizing spoken words : The neighborhood activation model. *Ear and Hearing*, *19*, 1-36.
- Luckhurst, J. A., Lauback, C. W., & Unterstein VanSkiver, A. P. (2013). Differences in Spoken Lexical Skills: Preschool Children with Cochlear Implants and Children with Typical Hearing. *The Volta Review*, 113(1), 29-42. https://doi.org/10.17955/tvr.113.1.729
- Machart, L., Loevenbruck, H., Tiede, M., & Ménart, L. (2024). Exposure to Canadian French Cued Speech Improves Consonant Articulation in Children With Cochlear Implants: Acoustic and Articulatory Data. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 8, 1-27.
- Machart, L., Loevenbruck, H., Vilain, A., Meloni, G., & Puissant, C. (2021, juin).
 Speech production in children with cochlear implants: Contribution of
 French Cued Speech. *ICPLA 2021 International Clinical Phonetics and Linguistics Association (ICPLA)*. https://hal.science/hal-04273513

- MacMillan, N. A., & Creelman, C. D. (1991). *Detection theory : A user's guide*. Cambridge University Press.
- MacWhinney, B. (2000). *The CHILDES Project : Tools for analyzing talk. Third Edition.* (Version 27) [Logiciel]. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Maeda, S. (1993). ACOUSTICS OF VOWEL NASALIZATION AND ARTICULATORY SHIFTS IN FRENCH NASAL VOWELS. In Nasals, Nasalization, and the Velum (p. 147-167). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-360380-7.50010-7
- Majorano, M., Persici, V., Santangelo, M., Ferrari, R., Bertelli, B., Florit, E., Lavelli, M., Bastianello, T., Guerzoni, L., & Cuda, D. (2024). Narrative skills and language comprehension in preschool children with cochlear implants :
 A comparison with children with Developmental Language Disorder or typical development. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, *109*, 106424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2024.106424
- Maner-Idrissi, G. L., Rouxel, G. , Pajon, C., Dardier, V., Gavornikova-Baligand, Z., Tan-Bescond, G., & Godey, B. (2009). Cochlear implant and lexical diversity development in deaf children : Intra- and interindividual differences. *Current Psychology Letters*, Vol. 25, Issue 2, 2009. https://doi.org/10.4000/cpl.4910
- Manrique, M., Cervera-Paz, F. J., Huarte, A., & Molina, M. (2004). Advantages of Cochlear Implantation in Prelingual Deaf Children before 2 Years of

Age when Compared with Later Implantation. *The Laryngoscope*, *114*(8), 1462-1469. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005537-200408000-00027

- Martinand-Flesch, D., Le Floch Bazin, M., & Pratlong-Renault, C. (2016). Les enfants sourds appareillés : Spécificités du bilan et rééducation. In *Intervention dans les troubles du langage oral et de la fluence. Guide de l'orthophoniste*. (Kremer J-M., Lederlé E., Maeder C., Vol. 4, p. 113-152). Lavoisier.
- Matagne, L., Bissot, J., & Borel, S. (2020). Spécificités de l'implant cochléaire. In Surdités de l'enfant et de l'adulte. Bilans et interventions orthophoniques.
 (Borel S., Leybaert J.). De Boeck Supérieur.

Mayer, M. (1969). Frog, where are you? (Dial Press).

- Medina, V., Loundon, N., Busquet, D., Petroff, N., & Serniclaes, W. (2004). Perception catégorielle des sons de parole chez des enfants avec implants cochléaires. *JEP-TALNRECITAL*. Journées d'Etude de la Parole (JEP).
- Medina, V., & Serniclaes, W. (2009). Development of voicing categorization in deaf children with cochlear implant. *Interspeech 2009*, 152-155. https://doi.org/10.21437/Interspeech.2009-55
- Mertens, G., Van De Heyning, P., Vanderveken, O., Topsakal, V., & Van Rompaey, V. (2022). The smaller the frequency-to-place mismatch the better the hearing outcomes in cochlear implant recipients? *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 279(4), 1875-1883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-021-06899-y

- Meyer, T. A., Svirsky, M. A., Kirk, K. I., & Miyamoto, R. T. (1998). Improvements in Speech Perception by Children With Profound Prelingual Hearing Loss: Effects of Device, Communication Mode, and Chronological Age. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 41(4), 846-858. https://doi.org/10.1044/jslhr.4104.846
- Mildner, V., & Liker, M. (2008). Fricatives, affricates, and vowels in Croatian children with cochlear implants. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 22(10-11), 845-856. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699200802130557
- Miller, N., Nath, U., Noble, E., & Burn, D. (2017). Utility and accuracy of perceptual voice and speech distinctions in the diagnosis of Parkinson's disease, PSP and MSA-P. *Neurodegenerative Disease Management*, 7(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.2217/nmt-2017-0005
- Moeller, M. P., Carr, G., Seaver, L., Stredler-Brown, A., & Holzinger, D. (2013).
 Best Practices in Family-Centered Early Intervention for Children Who
 Are Deaf or Hard of Hearing: An International Consensus Statement. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 18(4), 429-445.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/ent034
- Moniteur Belge. (2003). Decret du 22/10/2003 decret relatif à la reconnaissance de la langue des signes. [Image].
- Moniteur Belge. (2023, décembre 1). Arrêté ministériel modifiant la liste jointe comme annexe 1re à l'arrêté royal du 25 juin 2014 fixant les procédures, délais et conditions en matière d'intervention de l'assurance obligatoire

soins de santé et indemnités dans le coût des implants et des dispositifs médicaux invasifs.

- Montagu, J. (2007). Analyse acoustique et perceptive des voyelles nasales et nasalisées du Français parisien [These de doctorat, Paris 3]. https://www.theses.fr/2007PA030148
- Moon, I. J., & Hong, S. H. (2014). What Is Temporal Fine Structure and Why Is It Important? *Korean Journal of Audiology*, 18(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.7874/kja.2014.18.1.1
- Moreno-Torres, I., Madrid-Cánovas, S., & Blanco-Montañez, G. (2016). Sensitive periods and language in cochlear implant users. *Journal of Child Lan*guage, 43(3), 479-504. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0305000915000823
- Moreno-Torres, I., & Moruno-López, E. (2014). Segmental and suprasegmental errors in Spanish learning cochlear implant users : Neurolinguistic interpretation. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 31, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2014.04.002
- Moreno-Torres, I., & Torres, S. (2008). From 1-word to 2-words with cochlear implant and cued speech : A case study. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 22(7), 491-508. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699200801899145
- Müller, J., Schon, F., & Helms, J. (2002). Speech Understanding in Quiet and Noise in Bilateral Users of the MED-EL COMBI 40/40+ Cochlear Implant System: *Ear and Hearing*, 23(3), 198-206. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003446-200206000-00004

- Nambi, A. (2023). Envelope Analysis. [GitHub]. https://github.com/ arivudainambi84/EnvelopeAnalysis
- Neumeyer, V., Harrington, J., & Draxler, C. (2010). An acoustic analysis of the vowel space in young and old cochlear-implant speakers. *Clinical Linguistics* & *Phonetics*, 24(9), 734-741. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699206.2010.491173
- Nguyen, L. H. P., Allegro, J., Low, A., Papsin, B., & Campisi, P. (2008). Effect of Cochlear Implantation on Nasality in Children. *Ear, Nose & Throat Journal*, 87(3), 138-143. https://doi.org/10.1177/014556130808700307
- Nicastri, M., Dincer D'Alessandro, H., Baccolini, V., Migliara, G., Sciurti, A., De Vito, C., Ranucci, L., Giallini, I., Greco, A., & Mancini, P. (2024). Executive functions in preschool and school-age cochlear implant users : Do they differ from their hearing peers? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 281(2), 579-600. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-023-08260-x
- Nicholas, J. G., & Geers, A. E. (2007). Will They Catch Up? The Role of Age at Cochlear Implantation in the Spoken Language Development of Children With Severe to Profound Hearing Loss. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 50(4), 1048-1062. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2007/073)
- Nicolaidis, K. (2004). Articulatory variability during consonant production by Greek speakers with hearing impairment : An electropalatographic study.

Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics, 18(6-8), 419-432. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699200410001703574

- NIDCD. (2024). Cochlear Implants (Hearing and Balance) [Fact Sheet]. National Institute of Deafness and Other Communication Disorders. https://www.nidcd.nih.gov/health/cochlear-implants
- Niparko, J. K., Tobey, E. A., Thal, D. J., Eisenberg, L. S., Wang, N.-Y., Quittner,
 A. L., & Fink, N. E. (s. d.). Spoken Language Development in Children
 Following Cochlear Implantation. *American Medical Association*, 303, 1498-1506.
- Nittrouer, S., Caldwell-Tarr, A., Low, K. E., & Lowenstein, J. H. (2017). Verbal Working Memory in Children With Cochlear Implants. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 60*(11), 3342-3364. https://doi.org/10.1044/2017 JSLHR-H-16-0474
- Nittrouer, S., Muir, M., Tietgens, K., Moberly, A. C., & Lowenstein, J. H. (2018).
 Development of Phonological, Lexical, and Syntactic Abilities in Children
 With Cochlear Implants Across the Elementary Grades. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 61*(10), 2561-2577.
 https://doi.org/10.1044/2018 JSLHR-H-18-0047
- Parisse, C., & Le Normand, M. L. (2000). Automatic disambiguation of morphosyntax in spoken language corpora. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 32*(3), 468-481. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03200818

- Parisse, C., & Maillart, C. (2007). Phonology and syntax in French children with SLI: A longitudinal study. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 21(11-12), 945-951. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699200701610634
- Parisse, C., & Maillart, C. (2008). Interplay between phonology and syntax in French-speaking children with specific language impairment. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 43(4), 448-472. https://doi.org/10.1080/13682820701608209
- Park, L. R., Gagnon, E. B., Thompson, E., & Brown, K. D. (2019). Age at Full-Time Use Predicts Language Outcomes Better Than Age of Surgery in Children Who Use Cochlear Implants. *American Journal of Audiology*, 28(4), 986-992. https://doi.org/10.1044/2019_AJA-19-0073
- Peng, Z. E., Hess, C., Saffran, J. R., Edwards, J. R., & Litovsky, R. Y. (2019). Assessing Fine-Grained Speech Discrimination in Young Children With Bilateral Cochlear Implants. *Otology & neurotology : official publication* of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology, 40(3), 191-197. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAO.00000000002115
- Peterson, N. R., Pisoni, D. B., & Miyamoto, R. T. (2010). Cochlear implants and spoken language processing abilities : Review and assessment of the literature. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 28(2), 237-250. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2010-0535

- Philippart De Foy, M., Delvaux, V., Huet, K., Monnier, M., Piccaluga, M., & Harmegnies, B. (2018, juin 7). Un protocole de recueil de productions orales chez l'enfant préscolaire : Une étude préliminaire auprès d'enfants bilingues. Journées d'étude de la Parole, Aix-en-Provence, France. https://orbi.umons.ac.be/handle/20.500.12907/4749
- Pisoni, D. B., Cleary, M., Geers, A. E., & Tobey, E. A. (1999). Individual Differences in Effectiveness of Cochlear Implants in Children Who Are Prelingually Deaf: New Process Measures of Performance. *Volta Review*, *101*(3), 111-164.
- Pisoni, D. B., Kronenberger, W. G., Chandramouli, S. H., & Conway, C. M. (2016). Learning and Memory Processes Following Cochlear Implantation : The Missing Piece of the Puzzle. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00493
- R Core Team. (2022). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. [Logiciel]. https://www.R-project.org/
- Rees, R., & Bladel, J. (2013). Effects of English Cued Speech on Speech Perception, Phonological Awareness and Literacy : A Case Study of a 9-Year-Old Deaf Boy Using a Cochlear Implant. *Deafness & Education International*, 15(4), 182-200. https://doi.org/10.1179/1557069X13Y.000000025
- Reidy, P. F., Kristensen, K., Winn, M. B., Litovsky, R. Y., & Edwards, J. R.(2017). The Acoustics of Word-Initial Fricatives and Their Effect onWord-Level Intelligibility in Children with Bilateral Cochlear Implants.

Ear and hearing, 38(1), 42-56. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.000000000349

- Richter, M. E., & Chatterjee, M. (2021). Weighting of Prosodic and Lexical-Semantic Cues for Emotion Identification in Spectrally Degraded Speech and With Cochlear Implants. *Ear & Hearing*, 42(6), 1727-1740. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.00000000001057
- Rinaldi, P., Baruffaldi, F., Burdo, S., & Caselli, M. C. (2013). Linguistic and pragmatic skills in toddlers with cochlear implant. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 48(6), 715-725. https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12046
- Romano, D. R., Kronenberger, W. G., Henning, S. C., Montgomery, C. J., Ditmars, A. M., Johnson, C. A., Bozell, H. D., Yates, A. D., & Pisoni, D.
 B. (2021). Verbal Working Memory Error Patterns and Speech-Language Outcomes in Youth With Cochlear Implants. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 64(12), 4949-4963. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021 JSLHR-21-00114
- Rosen, S. (1992). Temporal information in speech : Acoustic, auditory and linguistic aspects. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B: Biological Sciences*, 336(1278), 367-373.
- Rouger, J., Fraysse, B., Deguine, O., & Barone, P. (2008). McGurk effects in cochlear-implanted deaf subjects. *Brain Research*, 1188, 87-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2007.10.049

- Rouger, J., Lagleyre, S., Démonet, J.-F., Fraysse, B., Deguine, O., & Barone, P. (2012). Evolution of crossmodal reorganization of the voice area in cochlear-implanted deaf patients. *Human Brain Mapping*, *33*(8), 1929-1940. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21331
- Ryalls, J., Larouche, A., & Giroux, F. (2003). Acoustic comparison of CV syllables in French-speaking children with normal hearing, moderate-to-severe and profound hearing impairment. *Journal of Multilingual Communication Disorders*, 1(2), 99-114. https://doi.org/10.1080/1476967021000042137
- Sarant, J., Harris, D., Bennet, L., & Bant, S. (2014). Bilateral Versus Unilateral Cochlear Implants in Children : A Study of Spoken Language Outcomes. *Ear and Hearing*, 35(4), 396-409. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.00000000000022
- Sauvaget, E., & Tran Ba Huy, P. (2005). Surdités de perception. In Précis d'audiophonologie et de déglutition : Tome 1–L'oreille et les voies de l'audition (Dulguerov P., Remacle, M., Vol. 1). Solal.
- Schorr, E. A., Fox, N. A., van Wassenhove, V., & Knudsen, E. I. (2005). Auditory-visual fusion in speech perception in children with cochlear implants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(51), 18748-18750. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0508862102
- Schwartz, J.-L. (2010). A reanalysis of McGurk data suggests that audiovisual fusion in speech perception is subject-dependent. *The Journal of the Acousti-*

cal Society of America, *127*(3), 1584-1594. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.3293001

- Sfakianaki, A., Nicolaidis, K., & Kafentzis, G. P. (2024). Temporal, spectral and amplitude characteristics of the Greek fricative /s/ in hearing-impaired and normal-hearing speech. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699206.2023.2301308
- Shadle, C. H., Chen, W.-R., Koenig, L. L., & Preston, J. L. (2023). Refining and extending measures for fricative spectra, with special attention to the highfrequency range). *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 154(3), 1932-1944. https://doi.org/10.1121/10.0021075
- Sharma, S. D., Cushing, S. L., Papsin, B. C., & Gordon, K. A. (2020). Hearing and speech benefits of cochlear implantation in children : A review of the literature. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 133, 109984. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2020.109984
- Simon, F., Roman, S., Truy, E., Barone, P., Belmin, J., Blanchet, C., Borel, S., Charpiot, A., Coez, A., Deguine, O., Farinetti, A., Godey, B., Lazard, D., Marx, M., Mosnier, I., Nguyen, Y., Teissier, N., Virole, B., Lescanne, E., & Loundon, N. (2019). Guidelines (short version) of the French Society of Otorhinolaryngology (SFORL) on pediatric cochlear implant indications. *European Annals of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Diseases*, *136*(5), 385-391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anorl.2019.05.018

- Sosa, A. V., & Bunta, F. (2019). Speech Production Accuracy and Variability in Monolingual and Bilingual Children With Cochlear Implants : A Comparison to Their Peers With Normal Hearing. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 62(8), 2601-2616. https://doi.org/10.1044/2019 JSLHR-S-18-0263
- Stackhouse, J., & Wells, B. (1993). Psycholinguistic assessment of developmental speech disorders. *European Journal of Disorders of Communication*, 28(4), 331-348. https://doi.org/10.3109/13682829309041469
- Steel, M. M., Polonenko, M. J., Giannantonio, S., Hopyan, T., Papsin, B. C., & Gordon, K. A. (2020). Music Perception Testing Reveals Advantages and Continued Challenges for Children Using Bilateral Cochlear Implants. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 3015. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.03015
- Styler, W. (2017). On the acoustical features of vowel nasality in English and French. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 142(4), 2469-2482. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.5008854
- Svirsky, M. A., Jones, D., Osberger, M. J., & Miyamoto, R. T. (1998). The effect of auditory feedback on the control of oral-nasal balance by pediatric cochlear implant users. *Ear and Hearing*, 19(5), 385-393.
- Szagun, G. (2001). Language Acquisition in Young German- Speaking Children with Cochlear Implants : Individual Differences and Implications for Con-

ceptions of a 'Sensitive Phase'. *Audiology and Neurotology*, 6(5), 288-297. https://doi.org/10.1159/000046134

- Szagun, G. (2004a). Individual differences in language acquisition by young children with cochlear implants and implications for a concept of 'sensitive phase'. *International Congress Series*, 1273, 308-311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ics.2004.08.016
- Szagun, G. (2004b). Learning by ear: On the acquisition of case and gender marking by German-speaking children with normal hearing and with cochlear implants. *Journal of Child Language*, 31(1), 1-30. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0305000903005889
- Szagun, G., & Stumper, B. (2012). Age or Experience? The Influence of Age at Implantation and Social and Linguistic Environment on Language Development in Children With Cochlear Implants. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 55(6), 1640-1654. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2012/11-0119)
- Tamati, T. N., Pisoni, D. B., & Moberly, A. C. (2022). Speech and Language Outcomes in Adults and Children with Cochlear Implants. *Annual Review* of Linguistics, 8(1), 299-319. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-linguistics-031220-011554
- Teveny, S., & Yamaguchi, N. (2023). Phoneme acquisition in French-speaking children with moderate hearing loss. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 37(7), 632-654. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699206.2022.2074309

- Todd, A. E., Edwards, J. R., & Litovsky, R. Y. (2011). Production of contrast between sibilant fricatives by children with cochlear implants. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 130(6), 3969-3979. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.3652852
- Truy, E., & Lina, G. (2003). Implantation cochléaire de l'enfant. Archives de Pédiatrie, 10(6), 554-564. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-693X(03)00144-1
- Uchanski, R. M., & Geers, A. E. (2003). Acoustic Characteristics of the Speech of Young Cochlear Implant Users : A Comparison with Normal-Hearing Age-Mates: *Ear and Hearing*, 24(Supplement), 90-105. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AUD.0000051744.24290.C1
- Van Bogaert, L., Machart, L., Gerber, S., Lœvenbruck, H., Vilain, A., & Consortium EULALIES. (2023). Speech rehabilitation in children with cochlear implants using a multisensory (French Cued Speech) or a hearing-focused (Auditory Verbal Therapy) approach. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 17, 1152516. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2023.1152516
- van den Bogaerde, B., Buré, M., & Fortgens, C. (2016). Chapter 14. Bilingualism and deaf education. In *The Linguistics of Sign Languages : An introduction* (Baker, A., van den Bogaerde B., Pfau R., Schermer T.). John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- van der Straten Waillet, P., Crowe, K., Charlier, B., & Colin, C. (2023, novembre 17). Speech Accuracy and Intelligibility of Bilingual Children with Cochle-

ar Implants. [Oral presentation]. American Speech Language and Hearing Association Conventio, Boston, MA.

- Vasilyeva, M., Waterfall, H., & Huttenlocher, J. (2008). Emergence of syntax : Commonalities and differences across children. *Developmental Science*, 11(1), 84-97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2007.00656.x
- Verhoeven, J., Hide, O., De Maeyer, S., Gillis, S., & Gillis, S. (2016). Hearing impairment and vowel production. A comparison between normally hearing, hearing-aided and cochlear implanted Dutch children. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 59, 24-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2015.10.007
- Virole, B. (2005). L'enfant sourd: Guidance parentale. In Précis d'audiophonologie et de déglutition: Tome 1–L'oreille et les voies de l'audition (Dulguerov P., Remacle M., Vol. 1). Solal.
- Vukkadala, N., Perez, D., Cabala, S., Kapur, C., & Chan, D. K. (2018). Linguistic and behavioral performance of bilingual children with hearing loss. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, *112*, 34-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2018.06.020
- Warner-Czyz, A. D., & Davis, B. L. (2008). The emergence of segmental accuracy in young cochlear implant recipients. *Cochlear Implants International*, 9(3), 143-166. https://doi.org/10.1179/cim.2008.9.3.143
- Wie, O. B. (2010). Language development in children after receiving bilateral cochlear implants between 5 and 18 months. *International Journal of Pe*-

diatric Otorhinolaryngology, 74(11), 1258-1266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2010.07.026

- World Health Organization. (2024). *Deafness and hearing loss: Key facts*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/deafness-and-hearing-loss
- Wouters, J., McDermott, H. J., & Francart, T. (2015). Sound Coding in Cochlear Implants : From electric pulses to hearing. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 32(2), 67-80. https://doi.org/10.1109/MSP.2014.2371671
- Yang, J., & Xu, L. (2021). Vowel Production in Prelingually Deafened Mandarin-Speaking Children With Cochlear Implants. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 64(2), 664-682. https://doi.org/10.1044/2020 JSLHR-20-00469
- Young, G. A., & Killen, D. H. (2002). Receptive and Expressive Language Skills of Children with Five Years of Experience Using a Cochlear Implant. Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology, 111(9), 802-810. https://doi.org/10.1177/000348940211100908
- Zeitler, D. M., Kessler, M. A., Terushkin, V., Roland, J. T., Svirsky, M. A., Lalwani, A. K., & Waltzman, S. B. (2008). Speech Perception Benefits of Sequential Bilateral Cochlear Implantation in Children and Adults : A Retrospective Analysis. 29(3).
- Zhang, H., Dai, X., Ma, W., Ding, H., & Zhang, Y. (2024). Investigating Perception to Production Transfer in Children With Cochlear Implants : A High

Variability Phonetic Training Study. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 67(4), 1206-1228. https://doi.org/10.1044/2023 JSLHR-23-00573

Zhang, H., Ma, W., Ding, H., Peng, G., & Zhang, Y. (2022). Phonological Awareness and Working Memory in Mandarin-Speaking Preschool-Aged Children With Cochlear Implants. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 65(11), 4485-4497. https://doi.org/10.1044/2022_JSLHR-22-00059

Information and consent form.

Information et consentement éclairé: Développement langagier d'enfants présentant une surdité et porteurs d'implant(s) cochléaire(s) et d'enfants normo-entendants

Fiche d'information

Présentation du cadre de la recherche

Cette recherche est réalisée dans la thèse de doctorat de Sophie Fagniart, menée à l'UMONS au sein du Service de Métrologie et Sciences du Langage.

Avant d'accepter de participer à cette recherche, merci de prendre le temps de lire les informations qui suivent. Ce formulaire vous explique les buts de ce projet de recherche et sa procédure. Il indique les coordonnées de la personne à contacter en cas de besoin. N'hésitez pas à poser toutes les questions que vous jugerez utiles à la personne qui vous présente ce document.

Nature de l'étude

L'étude vise à étudier la manière dont différents aspects du langage (la production des sons, l'acquisition du vocabulaire, la production des phrases) se développent chez de jeunes enfants présentant une surdité et porteurs d'implant(s) cochléaire(s), en comparaison avec les mêmes compétences investiguées chez des enfants normo-entendants du même âge.

De nombreuses études ont étudié différents aspects du langage chez les enfants présentant une surdité, mais peu ont étudié comment celles-ci se développaient ensemble. Or, par exemple, on peut soupçonner qu'un enfant présentant des difficultés à percevoir/produire certains sons de sa langue pourrait avoir des difficultés à comprendre/produire des phrases contenant ces classes de sons. Il est donc tout à fait intéressant d'évaluer dans une même étude ces différents aspects du langage chez des enfants à différents âges, et ce aussi bien chez des enfants présentant une surdité que chez des enfants n'ayant pas de difficultés auditives.

Déroulement de la participation

La participation à la recherche comprendra une séance d'approximativement 45 minutes, durant laquelle il sera demandé à l'enfant de nommer des images, de raconter une histoire à l'aide d'un support et de pointer une image en fonction de phrases entendues.

Au cours de cette séance,

la voix de votre enfant sera enregistrée ;

avec votre accord, votre enfant sera filmé (si vous ne souhaitez pas qu'il soit filmé, nous pourrons uniquement utiliser les enregistrements audio pour nos analyses);

 des renseignements concernant votre enfant seront collectés (p.ex. : environnement scolaire, familial, activités, ...);

□ des informations relatives à la santé de votre enfant seront collectées (p.ex. : développement psychomoteur, antécédents médicaux, ...).

Information et consentement éclairé: Développement langagier d'enfants présentant une surdité et porteurs d'implant(s) cochléaire(s) et d'enfants normo-entendants

Avantages, risques ou inconvénients possibles liés à la participation de votre enfant

Votre participation à cette recherche permettra de faire progresser les connaissances scientifiques concernant le développement du langage en général, et chez l'enfant présentant une surdité et porteur d'implant(s) cochléaire(s) en particulier. De plus, mieux comprendre comment se développent les capacités à produire des sons, produire des mots et des phrases permettra de contribuer à développer des outils plus précis pour l'évaluation langagières des enfants, et ainsi aider les praticiens à orienter les moyens de prise en charge.

Il est possible que le fait de réaliser la tâche demandée induise chez votre enfant une certaine fatigue, un certain stress, etc. Si cela se produit, l'enfant ne doit pas hésiter à en parler avec la personne qui mène l'entrevue. Au besoin, celle-ci pourra ajuster les modalités de passation et, le cas échéant, vous suggérer une liste des ressources disponibles dans votre région.

Participation volontaire et droit de retrait

Vous êtes libre de participer à ce projet. Vous pouvez refuser de répondre à certaines questions, de vous soumettre à certaines procédures, ou encore mettre fin à votre participation à tout moment, sans avoir à fournir de raisons et sans aucun préjudice. Si vous décidez de mettre fin à votre participation à l'étude, il est important d'en prévenir la personne responsable de la recherche (voir coordonnées ci-dessous). Celle-ci vérifiera auprès de vous si vous acceptez que vos données soient conservées pour l'étude ou si vous préférez qu'elles soient détruites.

Confidentialité et gestion des données

Dans les travaux et supports pédagogiques produits à partir de cette recherche, votre enfant ne sera jamais identifié(e) par son nom/prénom/initiales, mais par un code aléatoire (p.ex. Sujet 34). Les enregistrements audio et vidéo et leurs transcriptions seront traités afin de réduire au maximum les informations permettant de l'identifier (p.ex. bruitage des noms propres).

Les données personnelles collectées (nom, prénom, etc.) seront dissociées des autres données (enregistrements, données instrumentales) par "pseudonymisation" et seul le chercheur responsable aura accès à la clé permettant de les associer. Cette clé sera détruite avant une éventuelle mise à disposition des données auprès de chercheurs non associés au Service de Métrologie et Sciences du Langage de l'Université de Mons.

Tous les matériaux de la recherche (incluant les données pseudonymisées et enregistrements) seront conservés de manière sécurisée grâce à l'infrastructure fournie par l'Université de Mons.

Dans l'intérêt public, ces matériaux pourront éventuellement être mis à disposition d'autres chercheurs n'ayant pas directement participé à la présente recherche. Dans ce cas, un accès restreint sera supervisé par une infrastructure sécurisée répondant aux standards européens les plus élevés en termes de gestion de données de recherche et d'accès authentifié à cellesci (p.ex. plateforme CLARIN). Information et consentement éclairé: Développement langagier d'enfants présentant une surdité et porteurs d'implant(s) cochléaire(s) et d'enfants normo-entendants

Renseignements supplémentaires/Contact

Si vous avez des questions sur la recherche ou sur les implications de votre participation, si vous souhaitez vous retirer du projet ou désirez transmettre d'éventuels documents, veuillez contacter le chercheur responsable : Fagniart Sophie, logopède et assistante-doctorante à l'UMONS (0479/82 35 55 – sophie.fagniart@umons.ac.be).

Remerciements

Votre collaboration est très précieuse pour cette recherche et nous vous remercions vivement d'y participer.

Les résultats de la recherche seront disponibles lorsque le traitement des données sera réalisé. Si vous souhaitez recevoir un résumé des résultats, merci de préciser l'adresse postale ou électronique à laquelle vous le faire parvenir :

Adresse 1	
Adresse 2	

Mentions légales

La confidentialité est assurée sur bases des limites prescrites par les lois belges et européennes.

Le Responsable légal du traitement des données personnelles est l'Université de Mons, Place du Parc, 20 à 7000 Mons. Vous avez le droit de prendre connaissance des données vous concernant et de demander la rectification d'éventuelles données inexactes.

Pour tout renseignement en matière de vie privée, la Déléguée à la Protection des Données est Mme Graciela SCHIFFINO (UMONS, Place du Parc, 23 – 7000 MONS – dpo@umons.ac.be; 065/37.37.02).

Le cas échéant, vous pouvez introduire une réclamation auprès de l'Autorité de Protection des Données (https://www.autoriteprotectiondonnees.be). Information et consentement éclairé: Développement langagier d'enfants présentant une surdité et porteurs d'implant(s) cochléaire(s) et d'enfants normo-entendants

Formulaire de consentement (représentant légal)

Je soussigné(e)				_
autorise	à	participer	à	la
recherche intitulée : « Etude du développement langagier auprès d'enfai	nts	présentant	t ui	ne
surdité et porteurs d'implant(s) cochléaire(s) et d'enfants normo-entendants». J'ai pris			ris	
connaissance du formulaire et j'ai compris le but, la nature, ainsi que les éventuels avantages,				
risques et inconvénients du projet de recherche.				

Je suis satisfait(e) des explications, précisions et réponses que le chercheur m'a fournies, le cas échéant, quant à ma participation à ce projet.

Date: _____

Titre (père, mère, tuteur, curateur, etc.):_____

Signature:

Information letter.



Lettre d'information à destination des parents des enfants recrutés pour une étude portant sur_le développement du langage d'enfants présentant une surdité et porteurs d'implant(s) cochléaire(s)

Etude réalisée dans le cadre de la thèse de doctorat de Fagniart Sophie – UMONS – en collaboration avec le centre « Comprendre et parler ».

Madame, Monsieur,

Nous vous proposons de participer à une étude réalisée dans le cadre de la thèse de doctorat de Fagniart Sophie, réalisée à l'UMONS en collaboration avec le « Centre Comprendre et Parler ».

Cette lettre a pour objectif de vous donner des explications concernant l'étude et son déroulement. Vous pourrez prendre le temps de consulter ces informations afin de réfléchir à votre participation, mais aussi de poser vos questions auprès de l'investigatrice principale, Fagniart Sophie, que vous pouvez joindre par mail (<u>sophie.fagniart@umons.ac.be</u>) ou par téléphone (0479/82 35 55).

Quels sont les objectifs de l'étude ?

L'étude vise à étudier la manière dont différents aspects du langage (la production des sons, l'acquisition du vocabulaire, la production des phrases) se développent chez de jeunes enfants présentant une surdité et porteurs d'implant(s) cochléaire(s), en comparaison avec les mêmes compétences investiguées chez des enfants normo-entendants du même âge.

De nombreuses études ont étudié différents aspects du langage chez les enfants présentant une surdité, mais peu ont étudié comment celles-ci se développaient ensemble. Or, par exemple, on peut soupçonner qu'un enfant présentant des difficultés à percevoir/produire certains sons de sa langue, pourrait avoir des difficultés à comprendre/produire des phrases contenant ces classes de sons. Il est donc tout à fait intéressant d'étudier dans une même étude ces différents aspects du langage chez des enfants à différents âges, et ce aussi bien chez des enfants présentant une surdité que chez des enfants n'ayant pas de problèmes d'audition.

Mieux comprendre comment se développent les capacités à produire des sons, produire des mots et des phrases permettra de contribuer à développer des outils plus précis pour l'évaluation langagières des enfants, et ainsi aider les praticiens à orienter les moyens de prise en charge.

Comment se déroulera l'étude ?

L'investigatrice de l'étude, Fagniart Sophie, rencontrera votre enfant et lui proposera de réaliser quatre épreuves. L'ensemble de la passation devrait durer de 30 à 45 minutes.



Les épreuves consisteront en :

- 1) Une tâche de dénomination sur base d'image : Lors de cette épreuve, des images seront présentées à votre enfant, et celui-ci devra dire le mot de ce qui est représenté sur l'image. 48 images lui seront présentées au total, et des indices seront donnés afin de l'aider en cas de difficultés. Les mots choisis sont des mots fréquents au sein du vocabulaire des enfants. L'objectif de cette tâche est d'étudier la façon dont les enfants produisent des mots de vocabulaire, et la façon dont ils produisent les sons qui constituent ces mots.
- 2) Une première tâche de production de récit sur base d'images avec modèle préalablement présenté : Lors de cette seconde épreuve, une histoire sera présentée à votre enfant, au moyen d'un film présentant une personne racontant l'histoire, accompagnée d'images animées. A la fin de la présentation de l'histoire, votre enfant sera invité à raconter lui-même l'histoire qu'il a entendue, avec l'aide des images animées qu'il aura déjà vue. Il sera précisé à votre enfant qu'il ne doit pas s'inquiéter s'il ne se rappelle pas de toute l'histoire, car il pourra s'aider des images et inventer si besoin. L'objectif de cette tâche est d'étudier la façon dont les enfants produisent des mots et des phrases au sein d'une histoire.
- 3) Une tâche de désignation d'images sur input oral : Lors de cette épreuve, votre enfant entendra des mots ou de petites phrases, qu'il devra d'abord répéter. Ensuite, il devra choisir, parmi deux images, laquelle correspond à ce qu'il a entendu. Cette épreuve vise à étudier la façon dont les enfants peuvent percevoir et traiter de légères différences qui peuvent distinguer certains mots ou phrases (par exemple : bateau/bâton, il prend/ils prennent).
- 4) Une seconde tâche de production de récit sur base d'un livre imagé: Pour cette dernière épreuve, il sera demandé à votre enfant de raconter une histoire à l'aide d'un livre contenant des images. Cette fois-ci, votre enfant n'aura pas entendu une histoire racontée auparavant et sera donc libre de raconter l'histoire en suivant le livre imagé. Cette épreuve permettra également d'étudier la production des mots et des phrases de votre enfant, mais dans un contexte plus libre.

Afin de pouvoir analyser précisément les résultats aux épreuves, des informations seront recueillies à propos de votre enfant, afin d'en savoir plus, entre autre, sur son type de surdité, son âge d'implantation, son niveau de langage, mais aussi sur son environnement familial et scolaire. Pour cela, nous complèterons avec vous différents questionnaires, et des informations pourront être collectées auprès de vos praticiens du centre « Comprendre et Parler ».

Enregistrement audio et vidéo des épreuves

Les productions de votre enfant seront enregistrées au moyen d'un magnétophone, ce qui permettra de les analyser par la suite. Pour pouvoir analyser le plus précisément possible le langage de votre enfant durant les épreuves, nous souhaiterions pouvoir également filmer la passation.





Si vous ne souhaitez pas que des enregistrements vidéos soient faits pendant les épreuves, nous le comprendrons tout à fait et pourrons alors uniquement procéder aux enregistrements audio.

Les informations et enregistrements seront-ils confidentiels ?

Les enregistrements audio et vidéo seront strictement rendus anonymes et leurs contenus seront protégés. Seules les personnes directement impliquées dans l'étude, en ce compris l'investigatrice principale et les praticiens du centre « Comprendre et Parler », connaîtront l'identité de votre enfant. En effet, lors des analyses, votre enfant recevra un code d'identification afin que son nom n'apparaisse plus et qu'il ne puisse pas être identifié par des tierces personnes. Si des extraits des vidéos devait être utilisés au sein de communications scientifiques, le visage de votre enfant sera flouté afin d'éviter toute possibilité de le reconnaître. Les enregistrements et documents informatifs seront stockés au sein de dispositifs informatiques sécurisés et protégés.

Si vous le souhaitez, les résultats obtenus par votre enfant pourront être communiquées aux praticiens du centre « Comprendre et Parler » avec lesquels votre enfant est en contact, afin de pouvoir compléter les évaluations déjà réalisées et ainsi contribuer au suivi de votre enfant.

Comment se passera la participation à l'étude ?

Si vous décidez de participer à l'étude, vous serez contactés et/ou pourrez directement entrer en contact avec Sophie Fagniart, qui déterminera avec vous les moments qui conviennent le mieux pour réaliser la passation des épreuves. Il sera également possible de discuter du lieu le plus approprié pour la réalisation des testings : il est possible de les réaliser à votre domicile à votre meilleure convenance, ou sur rendez-vous au centre « Comprendre et Parler ».

Lors du rendez-vous, il vous sera demandé de compléter un document de consentement éclairé, qui attestera du fait que vous participez à l'étude sur base volontaire et que vous avez été informé du déroulement de l'étude. Ce document ne constitue aucunement en une obligation de participation : vous pouvez, à tout moment, décider de vous retirer de l'étude sans avoir à vous justifier auprès de l'investigatrice ou des praticiens du centre « Comprendre et Parler ».

Précautions sanitaires

Lors de la rencontre avec votre enfant, que celle-ci ait lieu à votre domicile ou au centre « Comprendre et Parler », toutes les précautions sanitaires seront prises afin d'éviter des risques de propagation des maladies transmissibles, en ce compris le COVID-19. Pour ce faire, l'investigatrice de l'étude que vous rencontrerez sera équipée d'un masque et d'une visière, et le matériel et les surfaces de contact seront nettoyés et désinfectés.

Qui contacter en cas de questions ?

Pour toute information complémentaire, n'hésitez pas à contacter Sophie Fagniart à l'adresse mail suivante : <u>sophie.fagniart@umons.ac.be</u> ou au numéro de téléphone suivant : 0479/823555.

Nous vous remercions très chaleureusement pour l'attention que vous porterez à cette étude.

List of target words for the picture-naming task (Studies 3, 4, 5, 6).

Item	Target word
1	Coucou ([kuku]) / Peekaboo
2	Langue ([lãg]) / Tongue
3	Cheveux ([ʃ(ə)vø]) / Hair
4	Nombril ([nɔ̃bʁil]) / Belly button
5	Pyjama ([piʒama]) / Pajamas
6	Echarpe ([eʃaʁp]) / Scarf
7	Pomme ([pom]) / Apple
8	Robe ([sob]) / Dress
9	Glace ([glas]) / Ice cream
10	Souris ([suʁi]) / Mouse
11	Livre ([livs]) / Book
12	Yaourt ([ja.ust]) / Yogurt
13	Fleur ([flœs]) / Flower
14	Cadeau ([kado]) / Gift
15	Porte ([post]) / Door
16	Tortue ([tɔʁty]) / Turtle
17	Poisson ([pwasõ]) / Fish
18	Etoile ([etwal]) / Star
19	Oiseau ([wazo]) / Bird
20	Chaussure ([ʃosyʁ]) / Shoe
21	Chaise ([ʃɛz]) / Chair
22	Crayon ([kвɛjɔ̃]) / Pencil
23	Pantalon ([pãtal5]) / Pants
24	Eléphant ([elefã]) / Elephant
25	Chien ([ʃjɛ̃]) / Dog
26	Cuillère ([kųijɛʁ]) / Spoon
27	Girafe ([ʒiкaf]) / Giraffe
28	Téléphone ([telefon]) / Telephone
29	Parapluie ([paвaplyi]) / Umbrella
30	Escalier ([ɛskalje]) / Staircase
31	Feuille ([fœj]) / Leaf
32	Doigt ([dwa]) / Finger
33	Banane ([banan]) / Banana
34	Panier ([panje]) / Basket
35	Grenouille ([gsənuj]) / Frog
36	Arbre ([asbs]) / Tree
37	Train ([tɛɛ̃]) / Train

38	Vache ([vaʃ]) / Cow
39	Carotte ([kaʁət]) / Carrot
40	Zèbre ([zɛbʁ]) / Zebra
41	Cloche ([klɔʃ]) / Bell
42	Champignon ([ʃɑ̃piŋɔ̃]) / Mushroom
43	Peigne ([pɛɲ]) / Comb
44	Bras ([bка]) / Arm
45	Parc ([равк]) / Park
46	Fourmi ([fuʁmi]) / Ant
47	Pingouin ([pɛ̃gwɛ̃]) / Penguin
48	Fromage ([fsomaʒ]) / Cheese

Illustration of the interface used for the induced narration task (Studies 5 and 6) (top) and the complete narrative (bottom). The lines delineate the sections of the narrative illustrated by the same animation sequence.



Il était une fois un fermier. Il s'appelait Jean. Jean vivait dans une ferme. Tous les jours, dans sa ferme, Jean s'occupait de ses animaux : il ramassait les œufs pondus par les poules, il tirait le lait de la vache, il lavait les cochons, il brossait le cheval.

Once upon a time, there was a farmer. His name was Jean. Jean lived on a farm. Every day, on his farm, Jean took care of his animals: he collected the eggs laid by the hens, milked the cow, washed the pigs, and brushed the horse.

Dans les champs, il récoltait la paille, le maïs et le blé avec son tracteur. *In the fields, he harvested straw, corn, and wheat with his tractor.*

Dans son potager, il récoltait les légumes : les carottes, les haricots, les petits pois, les pommes de terre, ...

In his vegetable garden, he harvested vegetables: carrots, beans, peas, potatoes, ...

Au marché, il vendait ses produits ; la boulangère du village lui achetait son blé, ses œufs, son lait et le boulanger lui achetait ses légumes : les carottes, les haricots, les petits pois, ... At the market, he sold his products; the village baker bought his wheat, eggs, and milk, and the baker bought his vegetables: carrots, beans, peas, ...

Il était bien dans sa ferme, mais il avait une idée dans sa tête, il avait très envie de vivre en ville ! Jean se disait : "Si je vivais en ville, je pourrais faire tant de choses ! »

He was happy on his farm, but he had an idea in his mind, he really wanted to live in the city! Jean thought: "If I lived in the city, I could do so many things!"

"Je me baladerais dans les rues animées, je verrais plein de gens bien habillés, j'achèterais de belles choses dans des beaux magasins. »

"I would walk around lively streets, I would see many well-dressed people, I would buy beautiful things in nice stores."

Un jour, il trouve un trésor dans son jardin ! Oh, plein de pièces d'or ! One day, he finds a treasure in his garden! Oh, lots of gold coins!

Avec son trésor, il peut faire ce dont il a envie : il achète un appartement dans une grande ville.

With his treasure, he can do what he wants: he buys an apartment in a big city.

Que c'est beau ! Il y a de grands immeubles, il y a du monde partout, il y a des belles voitures et de beaux camions !

How beautiful it is! There are tall buildings, there are people everywhere, there are beautiful cars and nice trucks!

Malgré sa joie du début, au bout de quelques temps, Jean commence à s'ennuyer. Le bruit des voitures et des camions l'énerve, les gens ne sont pas aussi gentils qu'il le pensait...

Despite his initial joy, after some time, Jean begins to feel bored. The noise of the cars and trucks annoys him, and people are not as nice as he thought...

Jean se sent seul, ses animaux lui manquent. Il aimerait trouver du calme et décide de se balader dans le parc. Il s'assied sur un banc, il est très triste.

Jean feels lonely, he misses his animals. He would like to find some peace and decides to take a walk in the park. He sits on a bench, feeling very sad.

Une belle dame s'assied à côté de lui et lui demande : "Bonjour, je m'appelle Jeanne. Comment allez-vous mon cher monsieur ? Vous avez l'air si triste !" "Bonjour, moi c'est Jean. Vous avez raison, je suis très triste. J'ai toujours voulu vivre en ville, mais je ne trouve plus ça si bien maintenant... Et vous, qu'en pensez-vous ?" A beautiful lady sits next to him and asks: "Hello, my name is Jeanne. How are you, my dear sir? You look so sad!" "Hello, I'm Jean. You are right, I am very sad. I always wanted to live in the city, but I don't find it so great anymore... And you, what do you think ?"

Jeanne répond : "Ah que je vous comprends ! Moi, je serai si heureuse d'aller vivre à la ferme".

Jeanne replies: "Oh, I understand you! I would be so happy to go live on a farm."

"Je travaillerai dans la ferme, et j'aurai beaucoup d'animaux : je tondrai des moutons pour faire de beaux pulls, je ramasserai les bons œufs des poules, je promènerai des chiens et chats, j'aurai un tracteur pour ramasser le blé, je vendrai mes produits au marché, ..."

"I would work on the farm, and I would have many animals: I would shear sheep to make beautiful sweaters, collect the good eggs from the hens, walk dogs and cats, have a tractor to harvest the wheat, and sell my products at the market, ..."

Quelques mois plus tard, Jean et Jeanne sont tombés très amoureux, et se sont mariés.

A few months later, Jean and Jeanne fell deeply in love and got married.

Ensemble, ils ont décidé de retourner vivre à la ferme de Jean. *Together, they decided to go back to live on Jean's farm.*

Ainsi, tous les jours, ils s'occuperont des animaux : ils tondront les moutons, ils brosseront les chevaux, ils laveront les cochons. Ils iront au marché vendre leurs produits, ils se baladeront en tracteur dans les champs. Ils seront très heureux, à deux dans leur ferme.

So, every day, they will take care of the animals: they will shear the sheep, brush the horses, and wash the pigs. They will go to the market to sell their products, and they will ride their tractor in the fields. They will be very happy, the two of them on their farm.

Illustration of the interface used for the sentence/word picture-matching task (Studies 5 and 6) for the first item (top) and the list of different stimuli presented (bottom).



Item	Picture 1	Picture 2
	Il fait un gâteau ([il fε ε̃ gato]) / He is	Ils font un gâteau ([il fõ $\tilde{\epsilon}$ gato]) / They are ma-
1	making a cake	king a cake
	Les motos ([le moto]) / The motor-	
2	cycles	Les manteaux ([le mãto]) / The coats
3	Boulanger ([bulãʒe]) / Baker (male)	Boulangère ([bulɑ̃ʒɛʁ]) / Baker (female)
4	Il aimait ([il ɛmɛ]) / He loved	Ils aimaient ([il εmε]) / They loved
5	Bain ([bɛ̃]) / Bath	Banc ([bã]) / Bench
6	Ils vont ([il vɔ̃]) / They go	Il va ([il va]) / He goes
	Il brossera ([il bкɔsəкa]) / He will	
7	brush	Ils brosseront ([il bɛɔsəɛɔ̃]) / They will brush
8	Les chiens ([le ʃj̃ɛ̃]) / The dogs	Les chiennes ([le jɛn]) / The female dogs
9	Il les lave ([il le lav]) / He washes them	Il le lave ([il lə lav]) / He washes it
10	Blanc ([blɑ̃]) / White	Blond ([blɔ̃]) / Blond
11	Il avait vu ([il avε vy]) / He had seen	Ils avaient vu ([il avε vy]) / They had seen
12	Les champs ([le ∫ã]) / The fields	Les chats ([le $\int a$]) / The cats

13	Elle dort ([ɛl dɔʁ]) / She sleeps	Elles dorment ([ɛl dɔʁm]) / They sleep
14	Amoureux ([amuʁø]) / In love (male)	Amoureuse ([amukøz]) / In love (female)
15	Les mentons ([le mãtõ]) / The chins	Les manteaux ([le mãto]) / The coats
16	Jeanne ([3an]) / Jeanne	Jean ($[3\tilde{\alpha}]$) / Jean
	Ils tondront ([il tõduõ]) / They will	
17	mow	Il tondra ([il tɔ̃dʁa]) / He will mow
18	Blanc ([blã]) / White	Blond ([blɔ̃]) / Blond
	Il la brosse ([il la bros]) / He brushes	
19	her	Il le brosse ([il lə bкоs]) / He brushes it
20	Les champs ([le ∫α̃]) / The fields	Les chats ([le $\int a$]) / The cats
	Elle les promène ([ɛl le pʁɔmɛn]) / She	Elle le promène ([ɛl lə pʁɔmɛn]) / She walks
21	walks them	him
22	Les pains ([le pɛ̃]) / The breads	Les pas ([le pa]) / The steps
23	Chevaux ([ʃəvo]) / Horses	Cheval ([[əval]) / Horse
	Il promène ses chiens ([il promen se	Il promène son chien ([il promen sõ [je]) / He
24	[j̃ɛ̃]) / He walks his dogs	walks his dog
25	Heureuse ([øвøz]) / Happy (female)	Heureux ([øвø]) / Happy (male)
26	Les lapins ([le lapɛ̃]) / The rabbits	Les lapines ([le lapin]) / The female rabbits
27	Œuf ([œf]) / Egg	Œufs ([ø]) / Eggs
28	Elle pond ([ɛl pɔ̃]) / She lays	Elles pondent ([ɛl pɔ̃d]) / They lay
Appendix 6

Appendix Figure 1a,b,c (Study 1): Spectra representing the stimuli used for discrimination and identification tasks. Each figure shows a nasal vowel (blue line) and its phonological (purple line) or phonetic (red line) oral correspondent.





Appendix 7

Appendix 7 Table 1 (Study 1): Rank Biserial Correlation Coefficients Between Identification Score and Different Acoustic Cues Collected for Vowel 1 and Vowel 2 of the Stimuli. Moderate correlations (between 0.3 and 0.5; Cohen, 1988) are italicized and strong correlations (greater than or equal to 0.5; Cohen, 1988) are in bold.

Vowel	Acoustic					
position	cue type	Acoustic cue	CI group	CI/CS- group	CI/CS+ group	TH group
1	Frequency	F1 (Hz)	0.150	0.110	0.220	0.240
		F2 (Hz)	-0.250	-0.260	-0.240	-0.480
		F2 (Hz)	-0.250	-0.290	-0.180	-0.150
	Bandwidth	bF1 (Hz)	0.270	0.290	0.240	0.610
		bF2 (Hz)	0.110	0.220	-0.090	-0.050
		bF3 (Hz)	0.070	-0.006	0.230	0.350
	Amplitude	aF1 (dB)	-0.310	-0.310	-0.330	-0.640
		aF2 (dB)	0.140	0.020	0.380	0.510
		aF3 (dB)	-0.240	-0.270	-0.190	-0.550
	Nasal poles de-	A1-P0 (dB)	-0.090	-0.140	-0.010	-0.300
	tection	A1-P1 (dB)	-0.320	-0.310	-0.380	-0.560
	Overall vowel intensity (dB)		-0.360	-0.420	-0.260	-0.490
	Temporal enveloppe (dB)		-0.190	-0.310	0.010	-0.060
2	Frequency	F1 (Hz)	0.060	-0.050	0.270	0.440
		F2 (Hz)	-0.160	-0.190	-0.110	-0.290
		F3 (Hz)	-0.140	-0.240	0.020	0.020
	Bandwidth	bF1 (Hz)	0.270	0.340	0.160	0.410
		bF2 (Hz)	0.050	0.140	-0.110	0.000
		bF3 (Hz)	0.030	0.040	0.010	0.140
	Amplitude	aF1 (dB)	-0.170	-0.210	-0.090	-0.420
		aF2 (dB)	-0.020	-0.130	0.180	0.240
		aF3 (dB)	-0.300	-0.390	-0.140	-0.310
	Nasal poles	A1-P0 (dB)	-0.230	-0.300	-0.110	-0.380
	detection	A1-P1 (dB)	-0.130	-0.120	-0.170	-0.240
	Overall vowel intensity (dB)		-0.250	-0.310	-0.140	-0.360
Temporal enveloppe (dB)			-0.100	-0.200	0.090	-0.090
Overall stimuli temporal enveloppe (dB)			-0.17	-0.3	0.05	0.17

Appendix 7 Table 2 (Study 1) : Eta-squared values associated with d' discrimination scores and the distances between the nasal/oral pairs of the acoustic cues collected for vowel 1 and vowel 2 of the stimuli. Small correlations (between 0.01 and 0.05) are italicized and moderate correlations (between 0.05 and 0.14) are in bold.

Vowel po-	Acoustic cue					
sition	type	Acoustic cue	CI group	CI/CS- group	CS/CS+ group	TH group
1	Frequency	F1 (Hz)	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.008
		F2 (Hz)	0.013	0.022	0.006	0.002
		F3 (Hz)	0.005	0.001	0.011	0.002
		F1F2 (Hz)	0.004	0.021	0.006	0.005
	Bandwidth	bF1 (Hz)	0.006	0.008	0.005	0.000
		bF2 (Hz)	0.000	0.011	0.007	0.003
		bF3 (Hz)	0.013	0.033	0.002	0.000
	Amplitude	aF1 (dB)	0.005	0.004	0.044	0.003
		aF2 (dB)	0.019	0.026	0.015	0.001
		aF3 (dB)	0.001	0.000	0.003	0.001
	Nasal poles	A1-P0 (dB)	0.000	0.002	0.002	0.007
	detection	A1-P1 (dB)	0.014	0.015	0.015	0.001
	Overall vowel	l intensity (dB)	0.011	0.009	0.013	0.000
	Enveloppe di	fference index	0.006	0.001	0.040	0.009
2	Frequency	F1 (Hz)	0.001	0.004	0.017	0.002
		F2 (Hz)	0.001	0.019	0.008	0.016
		F3 (Hz)	0.008	0.017	0.002	0.000
		F1F2 (Hz)	0.001	0.016	0.004	0.005
	Bandwidth	bF1 (Hz)	0.003	0.021	0.001	0.000
		bF2 (Hz)	0.015	0.032	0.005	0.000
		bF3 (Hz)	0.001	0.037	0.022	0.001
	Amplitude	aF1 (dB)	0.005	0.031	0.001	0.000
		aF2 (dB)	0.011	0.037	0.000	0.006
		aF3 (dB)	0.001	0.014	0.004	0.000
	Nasal poles	A1-P0 (dB)	0.003	0.006	0.000	0.000
	detection	A1-P1 (dB)	0.006	0.025	0.000	0.008
	Overall vowel	l intensity (dB)	0.004	0.033	0.003	0.001
Enveloppe difference index			0.009	0.002	0.060	0.001
Overall stimuli temporal enveloppe (dB)			0.000	0.020	0.015	0.012

Appendix 8

Study 6 - Chapter 7: Correlations between the different variables of the factorial model and the first three extracted dimensions.

Variable	Dim.1	Dim.2	Dim.3
NAF phono	0,483	0,599	-0,384
NAF_phone	0,439	0,688	-0,311
F123_phono	-0,007	0,668	0,302
F123_phone	-0,273	0,586	0,478
SWPM_tot	0,661	-0,027	0,401
SWPM_nas_or	0,730	0,013	0,371
LevelD	0,131	-0,060	0,822
AmpDiff	0,243	-0,060	0,458
SP_1_2	-0,176	0,146	0,177
SP_2_3	0,509	0,244	-0,360
VOT_UV_V	0,346	-0,224	-0,150
PCP	0,801	0,062	-0,058
Naming	0,802	0,142	0,202
VOCD	0,616	-0,281	-0,031
MLUm	0,797	-0,148	0,191
Simple_past	0,626	-0,210	-0,108
Refl_pro	0,458	-0,465	-0,118
Det_del_1syll	-0,639	-0,033	0,108
Det_del_2syll	-0,751	-0,045	0,123